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DEFINITIONS

The abbreviations or acronyms defined below ard tts®ughout this Form 10-K:

Abbreviation or Acronym

Definition

AFDC
ARO

AUT
Beaver
Biglow Canyon
Boardman
BPA

CAA
Colstrip
Coyote Springs
Dth

DEQ

EPA

ESA

ESS
FERC

IRP

ISFSI

kv
Moody’s
MW

MWa
MWh
NRC
NVPC
OATT
OPUC
PCAM
Port Westward
RPS

S&P

SEC
Trojan
USDOE
VIE

Allowance for funds used during construction
Asset retirement obligation

Annual Power Cost Update Tariff

Beaver natural gas-fired generating plant

Biglow Canyon Wind Farm

Boardman coal-fired generating plant

Bonneville Power Administration

Clean Air Act

Colstrip Units 3 and 4 coal-fired generating plant
Coyote Springs Unit 1 natural gas-fired generagilagt
Decatherm = 10 therms = 1,000 cubic feet of nagaal
Oregon Department of Environmental Quality
United States Environmental Protection Agency
Endangered Species Act

Electricity Service Supplier

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
Integrated Resource Plan

Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation
Kilovolt = one thousand volts of electricity
Moody’s Investors Service

Megawatts

Average megawatts

Megawatt hours

Nuclear Regulatory Commission

Net Variable Power Costs

Open Access Transmission Tariff

Public Utility Commission of Oregon

Power Cost Adjustment Mechanism

Port Westward natural gas-fired generating plant
Renewable Portfolio Standard

Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services

United States Securities and Exchange Commission
Trojan nuclear power plant

United States Department of Energy

Variable interest entity
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PART I

ITEM1. BUSINESS.
General

Portland General Electric Company (PGE or the Campeas incorporated in 1930 and is a verticaltggmated electric utility
engaged in the generation, purchase, transmigdigtnpution, and retail sale of electricity in thte of Oregon. The Company
operates as a cost-based, regulated electrig/pitilith revenue requirements and customer pricésriokined based on the forecasted
cost to serve retail customers, and a reasonaiel@faeturn as determined by the Public Utilityn@aission of Oregon (OPUC).
PGE’s retail load requirement is met with both Campowned generation and power purchased in thées@ie market. The
Company also participates in the wholesale markgtischasing and selling electricity and natura georder to obtain reasonably-
priced power for its retail customers. PGE is paliplowned, with its common stock listed on the Néark Stock Exchange, and
operates as a single segment, with revenues atslretested to its business activities maintainadl @malyzed on a total electric
operations basis.

PGE's state-approved service area allocation ofceqapately 4,000 square miles is located entireihin Oregon and includes 52
incorporated cities, of which Portland and Salemthe largest. The Company estimates that at tth@®€2012 its service area
population was 1.7 million , comprising approximaté4% of the state’s population. During 2012 , @@mpany added 5,888
customers and as of December 31, 2012 , servadlafdB28,354 retail customers.

PGE had 2,603 employees as of December 31, 20itR 808 employees covered under one of two sepagaements with Local
Union No. 125 of the International Brotherhood ¢dédErical Workers. Such agreements cover 775 aneh@dloyees and expire in
February 2015 and August 2014, respectively.

Available | nformation

PGE’s Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Report Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K andralments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 18¢al5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 198ztavailable and may be accessed
free of charge through the Investors section ofGbmpany’s Internet website at PortlandGeneral.aergoon as reasonably
practicable after the reports are electronicalldfiwith, or furnished to, the United States Sdimsgiand Exchange Commission
(SEC). Itis not intended that PGE’s website aritifiormation contained therein or connected tloebetincorporated into this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Information may alscoéained via the SEC Internet website at sec.gov




Table of Contents

Regulation and Rates

PGE is subject to both federal and state regulatitnich can have a significant impact on the openatof the Company. In addition
to those agencies and activities discussed belmnCbmpany is subject to regulation by certain rmvnental agencies, as described
in the Environmental Matters section in this ltem 1

Federal Regulation

PGE is subject to regulation by several federahaigs, including the Federal Energy Regulatory Ciasaion (FERC), the U.S.
Department of Transportation’s Pipeline and Hazasddaterials Safety Administration (PHMSA), and tiheclear Regulatory
Commission (NRC).

FERC Regulation

The Company is a “licensee,” a “public utility,” da “user, owner and operator of the bulk powetesys’ as defined in the Federal
Power Act, and is subject to regulation by the FER@atters related to wholesale energy activities)smission services, reliability
and cyber security standards, natural gas pipelmaloelectric projects, accounting policies aracfices, shorterm debt issuance
and certain other matters.

Wholesale Energy-PGE has authority under its FERC Market-Based SXaidff to charge market-based rates for wholesakrgy
sales. Re-authorization for continued use of satdsrrequires the filing of triennial market powsardies with the FERC. The
Company’s next triennial market power study is oludune 2013.

Transmissior—PGE offers transmission service pursuant to iterOfsccess Transmission Tariff (OATT), which is dileith the
FERC. As required by the OATT, PGE provides infatiotaregarding its transmission business on itsrtObecess Same-time
Information System, also known as OASIS. As of Deloer 31, 2012 PGE owned approximately 1,100 circuit miles ahsmissior
lines. For additional information, see the Transiois and Distribution section in this Item 1. andtem 2.—"“Properties.”

Reliability and Cyber Security Standa—Pursuant to the Energy Policy Act of 2005, the EHRs adopted mandatory reliability
standards for owners, users and operators of thepbwer system. Such standards, which are applidalPGE, were developed by
the North American Electric Reliability CorporatigdERC) and the Western Electricity Coordinatingu@cil (WECC), which has
responsibility for compliance and enforcement @fseh standards. These standards include Criticalstnficture Protection standar
a set of cyber security standards that providaméwork to identify and protect critical cyber assesed to support reliable
operation of the bulk power system.

Pipeline—The Natural Gas Act of 1938 and the Natural GdgyPéct of 1978 provide the FERC authority in neatt related to the
extension, enlargement, safety, and abandonmeutisdictional pipeline facilities, as well as tsportation rates and accounting for
interstate natural gas commerce. PGE is subjestidb authority as the Company has a 79.5% owneirsieigest in and is the
operator of record of the Kelso-Beaver Pipeling7anile interstate pipeline that provides natuiad tp the Company’s Port
Westward and Beaver plants. As the operator ofrdedGE is subject to the requirements and reguiatenacted under the Pipeline
Safety Laws administered by the PHMSA, which inelgdfety standards, operator qualification stargdand public awareness
requirements.

Hydroelectric Licensin—Under the Federal Power Act, PGE’s hydroelecteioagating plants are subject to FERC licensing
requirements. These include an extensive publieweprocess that involves the consideration of meue natural resource issues
and environmental conditions. PGE holds FERC liesrier the Company’s projects on the Deschutegk@taas, and Willamette
Rivers. For additional information, see the Envirmmtal Matters section in this Iltem 1. and Genegafiacilities section in Item 2.—
“Properties.”

Accounting Policies and Practic—Pursuant to applicable provisions of the Federald?d\ct, PGE prepares financial statemen
accordance with the accounting requirements oFEIRC, as set forth in its applicable
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Uniform System of Accounts and published accountaigases. Such financial statements are includedrniual and quarterly
reports filed with the FERC.

Short-term Debt—Pursuant to applicable provisions of the Fedeoald? Act and FERC regulations, regulated publititigts are
required to obtain FERC approval to issue certagusties. The Company, pursuant to an order isbyetle FERC on December
2011, is authorized to issue up to $700 milliosldrt-term debt through February 6, 2014.

NRC Regulation

The NRC regulates the licensing and decommissiooimyiclear power plants, including PGE'rojan nuclear power plant (Troja
which was closed in 1993. The NRC approved the 2G0%fer of spent nuclear fuel from a spent fualpo a separately licensed
dry cask storage facility that will house the foalthe plant site until a U.S. Department of Endkg8@DOE) facility is available.
Radiological decommissioning of the plant site wasipleted in 2004 under an NRC-approved plan, thighplant’s operating
license terminated in 2005. Spent fuel storagevities will continue to be subject to NRC regulationtil all nuclear fuel is removed
from the site and radiological decommissioninghef storage facility is completed. For addition&rmation on spent nuclear fuel
storage activities, see Note 7, Asset Retiremetig@tions in the Notes to Consolidated Financiat&nents in Item 8.—“Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.”

State of Oregon Regulation

PGE is subject to the jurisdiction of the OPUC, ethis comprised of three members appointed by @rsgmvernor to serve non-
concurrent four-year terms.

The OPUC reviews and approves the Company’s ngtiaits (see Ratemaking below) and establishes conditions of utility Seev

In addition, the OPUC regulates the issuance afrtexs, prescribes accounting policies and prastiand reviews applications to
sell utility assets and engage in transactions afiihated companies, as well as applicationsarfspns or entities seeking to acquire
substantial influence over a public utility. The l@® also reviews the Company’s generation and tr&ssom resource acquisition
plans, pursuant to an integrated resource plarprocgess.

Oregon’s Energy Facility Siting Council (EFSC) magulatory and siting responsibility for large efecgenerating facilities, high
voltage transmission lines, gas pipelines, ancdbeadive waste disposal sites. The EFSC also hpsmeibility for overseeing the
decommissioning of Trojan. The seven volunteer memnbf the EFSC are appointed to four-year term@t@gon’s governor, with
staff support provided by the Oregon Departmerircdrgy.

Integrated Resource Ple—Unless the OPUC directs otherwise, PGE is requodie with the OPUC an Integrated Resource Plan
(IRP) within two years of its previous IRP acknodgenent order. Based on direction from the OPUC, 3Equired to file its next
IRP in November 2013. The IRP guides the utilityhanv it will meet future customer demand and déssithe Company’s future
energy supply strategy, reflecting new technolqgiesrket conditions, and regulatory requiremenks primary goal of the IRP is
identify an acquisition plan for generation, tramsion, demand-side and energy efficiency resoutsalong with the Compars/’
existing portfolio, provides the best combinatidrerpected cost and associated risks and unceeiior PGE and its customers.
For additional information on PGE’s most recent |B&e “Future Energy Resource Strategy the Power Supply section in this
ltem 1.

Ratemakin—Under Oregon law, the OPUC is required to ensheieprices and terms of service are fair, non-alisoatory, and
provide regulated companies an opportunity to eareasonable return on their investments. Custpniazs are determined through
formal ratemaking proceedings that generally ineltestimony by participating parties, discovenblmuhearings, and the issuance
of a final order. Participants in such proceedingsich are conducted under established procedangidsiles, include PGE, OPUC
staff, and intervenors
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representing PGE customer groups. The followingteemore significant regulatory mechanisms andgedings under which
customer prices are determined:

General Rate CasedPGE periodically evaluates the need to changetiédl electric price structure to sufficientlyvas its
operating costs and provide a reasonable ratdwhreSuch changes are requested pursuant to arebemsive general rate
case process that includes a forecasted testdedatrfo-equity capital structure, return on equatyd overall rate of return.
Revenue requirements and retail customer pricegdsaare proposed based upon such factors. PGEtg@sest general
rate case was the 2011 General Rate Case, whiemieeeffective on January 1, 2011. In February 2BGE filed a general
rate case with a 2014 test year (2014 General ®ade). For additional information, see the Ovendestion in Item 7.—
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of FinanGahdition and Results of Operations.”

Power Cost:. In addition to price changes resulting from tleaeral rate case process, the OPUC has approvéalltveing
mechanisms by which PGE can adjust retail custqmiees to cover the Company’s Net Variable Powest€NVPC),
which consist of the cost of purchased power aetdsed in generation (including related transpiomecosts) less revenues
from wholesale power and fuel sales:

o Annual Power Cost Update Tariff (AUT). Under thasiff, customer prices are adjusted annuallyeftect the latest
forecast of NVPC. Such forecasts assume averageneddnydro conditions (based on seventy yearsredm flow data
covering the period 1928 - 1998) and current hygrerating parameters. The NVPC forecasts also asausrage wind
conditions (based on wind studies completed in eotion with the permitting process of the wind fafor PGE-owned
wind generation and expected operating conditionshiermal generating plants. An initial NVPC faast; submitted to
the OPUC by April 1st each year, is updated dusunch year and finalized in November of the same. \Bssed upon
the final forecast, new prices, as approved byaR&JC, become effective at the beginning of the naldndar year; an

o Power Cost Adjustment Mechanism (PCAM). Custoprares can also be adjusted to reflect a portigthefifference
between each year’s forecasted NVPC included oepr{baseline NVPC) and actual NVPC for the yeaddd the
PCAM, PGE is subject to a portion of the businéss or benefit associated with the difference betwactual NVPC
and baseline NVPC. The PCAM utilizes an asymmdtdeadband range within which PGE absorbs costmeeis, with
a 90/10 sharing of such variances between custoanerthe Company outside of the deadband. The deddiange is
fixed at $15 million below, to $30 million aboveadeline NVPC. Annual results of the PCAM are sutiie@application
of a regulated earnings test, under which a refuiidbccur only to the extent that it results in BG actual regulated
return on equity (ROE) for that year being no libss 1% above the Company’s latest authorized ROdallection will
occur only to the extent that it results in PGEEtual regulated ROE for that year being no gretiiem 1% below the
Company’s authorized ROE. A final determinatioranf customer refund or collection is made by th&JORhrough a
public filing and review typically during the seabhalf of the following year. For additional infoation, see the Results
of Operations section in Item 7.—"Management’s D&gion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resaf
Operations.”

Renewable EnergThe 2007 Oregon Renewable Energy Act (the Actldisteed a Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS)
which requires that PGE serve at least 5% of ttln®ad with renewable resources by 2011, 1592®i5, 20% by 2020,
and 25% by 2025. PGE met the 2011 requirement gmekces to have sufficient resources to meet thé 28quirements wit
additional resources included in its most recei®.[Rhe Act also allows Renewable Energy Credimjlteng from energy
generated from qualified renewable resources placesdrvice after January 1, 1995 and certified limpact hydroelectric
power resources, to be used to meet the Compam&dempliance obligation. For additional informatisee the Power
Supply section in this Item 1.

The Act also provides for the recovery in custoprézes of all prudently incurred costs required¢amnply with the RPS.
Under a renewable adjustment clause (RAC) mechaf&k can recover the revenue requirement of neewable
resources and associated transmission that aseehistcluded in prices. Under the RAC, PGE submifiing by April 1st of
each year for new renewable resources
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expected to be placed in service in the current, yeith prices to become effective January 1stheffbllowing year. In
addition, the RAC provides for the deferral andsaguent recovery of eligible costs incurred pricdanuary 1st of the
following year.

For additional information, see the “Legal, Regotgtand Environmental Matters” discussion in thee@iew section in Item 7.—
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations.”

Other ratemaking proceedings can involve chargeseatits related to specific costs, programs, tivities, as well as the recovery
or refund of deferred amounts recorded pursuaspeégific OPUC authorization. Such amounts are gdigarollected from, or
refunded to, retail customers through the use ppkmental tariffs.

Retail Customer Choice Progre—PGE's commercial and industrial customers havesgto pricing options other than cost-of-
service, including direct access and daily mankdéex based pricing. All commercial and industriadtomers are eligible for direct
access, whereby customers purchase their elegtitioih an Electricity Service Supplier (ESS), ar@EPcontinues to deliver the
energy to the customers. Large commercial and tndusustomers may elect to be served by PGE dailg market index based
price. Certain large commercial and industrial costrs may elect to be removed from cost-of-sempia@ng for a fixed three-year
or a minimum five-year term, to be served eitheahyESS or PGE under a daily market index baseeé.gParticipation in the fixed
three-year and minimum five-year opt-out prograsnsaipped at 300 average megawatts (MWa).

The majority of the energy supplied under PGE'saR€ustomer Choice program is provided to cust@ntieat have elected service
from an ESS under the minimum five-year opt-ougpam. In 2012 , ESSs supplied direct access custowith a total retail load
representing 6% of the Company'’s total retail epelgjiveries for the year. The maximum retail l@ddwed to be supplied under
the fixed three-year and minimum five-year optjorggrams would represent approximately 14% of tam@any's total retail
energy deliveries for 2012 .

The retail customer choice program has no matenipéct on the Company’s financial condition or @tigrg results. Revenue
changes resulting from increases or decreasesdirielty sales to direct access customers areauiigly offset by changes in the
Company’s cost of purchased power and fuel. Furtherprogram provides for “transition adjustmectiarges or credits to direct
access and market based pricing customers thattdfle above- or below-market cost of energy nessuowned or purchased by
the Company. Such adjustments are designed toestimatrthe costs or benefits of the program danéirly shift to those
customers that continue to purchase their enemyirements from the Company.

In addition to cost-of-service pricing, residenaald small commercial customers can select pastfigtions from PGE that include
time-of-use and renewable resource pricing.

Energy Efficiency Fundin—Oregon law provides for a “public purpose chargefund cost-effective energy efficiency measures,
new renewable energy resources, and weatherizagasures for lovincome housing. This charge, equal to 3% of retaiénues, i
collected from customers and remitted to the End@imgigt of Oregon (ETO) and other agencies for adstration of these programs.
Approximately $50 million and $51 million was caited from customers for this charge in 2012 andl26dspectively.

In addition to the public purpose charge, PGE edsaits to the ETO amounts collected under an EnEffigiency Adjustment tariff
to fund additional energy efficiency measures. Thiarge was approximately 2.7% and 1.8% of re¢@iénues for applicable
customers in 2012 and 2011, respectively. Undetatif, approximately $41 million and $28 milliamas collected from eligible
customers in 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Decoupling—The decoupling mechanism, authorized through 2i3li8fended to provide for recovery of margin lasta result of a
reduction in electricity sales attributable to @yeefficiency and conservation efforts by residairtind certain commercial
customers. The mechanism provides for collectioms fcustomers if weather adjusted use per cust@ewer than levels included
in the Company’s most recent general rate casdsat
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provides for customer refunds if weather adjustesl per customer exceeds levels included in the raoenht general rate case.

During 2012, PGE recorded an estimated refund ehifiion, which resulted from weather adjusted pse customer being slightly
higher than levels projected in the 2011 Generé¢ Rase. Pending review and approval by the OPWresulting refund to
customers would be expected over a one-year pbdagohning June 1, 2013. For 2011, the Company decban estimated refund of
$2 million, as weather adjusted use per customershightly higher than levels included in the 2@dneral Rate Case. After revie
the OPUC approved refunds to customers over a eaeperiod that began June 1, 2012.

Regulatory Accounting

PGE is subject to accounting principles generatyepted in the United States of America (GAAP), asé regulated public utility,
the effects of rate regulation are reflected irfiitancial statements. These principles providetierdeferral as regulatory assets of
certain actual or estimated costs that would otlserlve charged to expense, based on expected redova customers in future
prices. Likewise, certain actual or anticipatediitsethat would otherwise reduce expense can bermef as regulatory liabilities,
based on expected future credits or refunds t@mmests. PGE records regulatory assets or liabilitigss probable that they will be
reflected in future prices, based on regulatornemsar other available evidence.

The Company periodically assesses the applicalofitggulatory accounting to its business, conggeboth the current and
anticipated future rate environment and relatedaicting guidanceFor additional information, seeRegulatory Assets and
Liabilities ” in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Ridis, and Note 6, Regulatory Assets and Liabilifieshe Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in Iltem 8.—“FaialnStatements and Supplementary Data.”

Customers and Revenues

PGE generates revenue through the sale and debfetgctricity to retail customers. The Companwpabacts retail electric
operations exclusively in Oregon within a servicesaapproved by the OPUC. Within its service teryitthe Company competes
with: i) the local natural gas distribution compédny the energy needs of residential and commesgiate heating, water heating,
and appliances; and ii) fuel oil suppliers, priryafor residential customers’ space heating nekdaddition, the Company
distributes power to commercial and industrial oowrs that choose to purchase their energy supply &n ESS. The Company
includes such “direct access” customers in itsarust counts and energy delivered to such customéistotal retail energy
deliveries, as reflected in the tables below. Ret&enues include only delivery charges and ttarsadjustments for these
customers.

Retail Revenues
Retail customers are classified as residential,ngerial, or industrial, with no single customernesgenting more than 4% of PGE’s
total retail revenues or 5% of total retail deliesr While the 20 largest commercial and industriestomers constituted 11% of total

retail revenues in 2012 , they represented nirferdifit groups including high technology, paper nfacturing, metal fabrication,
health services, and governmental agencies.

10




Table of Contents

PGE's Retail revenues (dollars in millions), retaikergy deliveries (MWh in thousands), and averageber of retail customers

consist of the following for the years presented:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Retail revenues® (dollars in millions):
Residential $ 86( 50% $ 8717 51% $ 80z 48%
Commercial 63< 37 63¢ 37 601 36
Industrial 22¢ 13 22¢ 13 221 14
Subtotal 1,71¢ 10C 1,73¢ 101 1,62¢ 98
Other accrued (deferred) revenues, net 4 — (16) (D) 39 2
Total retail revenues $ 1,72¢ 100% $ 1,722 10(% $ 1,66¢ 10(%
Retail energy deliveries® (MWh in
thousands):
Residential 7,50¢ 3% 7,738 4C % 7,452 4C%
Commercial 7,402 39 7,41¢ 38 7,271 39
Industrial 4,28: 22 4,19¢ 22 4,00¢ 21
Total retail energy deliveries 19,19( 100% 19,34¢ 10C % 18,73: 10C%
Average number of retail customers:
Residential 723,441 87% 719,97 87% 717,71¢ 88%
Commercial 103,76t 13 102,94( 13 102,28: 12
Industrial 261 — 25k — 26E —
Total 827,46 10C% 823,17: 10C % 820,26¢ 10C%
@ Includes both revenues from customers who purctheseenergy supplies from the Company and revefraen the
delivery of energy to those commercial and indaktrustomers that purchase their energy from ESSs.
@ Includes both energy sold to retail customersematgy deliveries to those commercial and industtistomers that
purchase their energy from ESSs.
Additional averages for retail customers are dsvi:
Years Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Usage per customer (in kilowatt hours):
Residential 10,37 10,74( 10,38¢
Commercial 71,34 72,07t 71,14¢
Industrial 16,409,21 16,572,91 15,051,03
Revenue per customer (in dollars):
Residential $ 1,11: $ 1,16( $ 1,04¢
Commercial 6,041 6,194 5,82¢
Industrial 863,40: 900,80¢ 828,53t
Revenue per kilowatt hour (in cents):
Residential 10.7:¢ 10.8(¢ 10.1(¢
Commercial 8.41 8.5¢ 8.1¢
Industrial 5.2¢ 5.44 5.5C
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For additional information, see the Results of @fens section in Item 7.—‘Management’s Discussiod Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.”

In accordance with state regulations, PGE’s retastomer prices are determined through generateste proceedings and various
tariffs filed with the OPUC from time to time, aade based on the Company’s cost of service. Additip, the Company offers
different pricing options that include a daily merlprice option, renewable energy options, whiehadfered to residential and small
commercial customers, and time-of-use options.aéditional information on customer options, sd®etail Customer Choice
Program” within the Regulation and Rates section of tiésr 1. Additional information on the customer céssfollows.

Residentiacustomers include single family housing, multidenfly housing (such as apartments, duplexes, amd tmmes), mobil
homes, and small farms. Residential demand istsentd the effects of weather, with demand hisi@lty highest during the winter
heating season. Due to the increased use of ailittmming in PGE’s service territory, the summeak® have increased in recent
years. Economic conditions can also affect demeord the Company’s residential customers, as hedbdata suggests that high
unemployment rates contribute to a decrease in denRResidential demand is also impacted by endfgyemcy measures;
however, the Company’s decoupling mechanism isded to mitigate the financial effects of such nuees.

While the number of residential customers increahgthg 2012, total residential deliveries decrda&z®% compared to 2011 driv
by warmer weather conditions during the heatingsean 2012. During 2011, as a result of coolertheaduring the heating season
and an increase in the average number of custotogbresidential deliveries increased 3.8% compdo 2010.

Commercialkcustomers consist of hon-residential customersadeept energy deliveries at voltages equivaletttdse delivered to
residential customers. This customer class consist®st businesses, including small industrial pames, and public street and
highway lighting accounts.

Demand from the Company’s commercial customersrigesvhat less susceptible to weather conditions ttheunesidential class,
although weather does have an effect on commeterabnd. Economic conditions and fluctuations ialtemployment in the regic
can also lead to corresponding changes in enemggilé from commercial customers. Commercial demsuadspb impacted by
energy efficiency measures, the financial effe€tsluch are partially mitigated by the Company’sdepling mechanism.

In 2012, the unfavorable weather effects compariéd 2011 nearly offset the addition of an averafjever 800 new customers,
contributing to the 0.2% decrease in deliveriescimmercial customers compared with 2011, while Gmnegpn-farm employment
increased 1.2%. In 2011, the favorable weathecefisombined with the addition of an average oflge#0 new customers
contributed to the 2.0% increase in deliveriescimmercial customers compared with 2010, as Oregarfarm employment
increased 1.6%.

Industrial customers consist of non-residential customers adoept delivery at higher voltages than commentiatomers, with
pricing based on the amount of electricity deliveamd the applicable tariff. Demand from industcastomers is primarily driven t
economic conditions, with weather having little mepon this customer class.

A change in economic activity can lead to a changmergy demand from the Company’s industrial@ustrs. In 2012, the
Company’s industrial energy deliveries increasdd®compared to 2011, driven primarily by expansiotne high tech sector. In
2011, industrial deliveries rose 4.7% compareddtbi2as demand increased from certain paper praguctistomers, and the gene
economic conditions improved.

Other accrued revenues, rietlude items that are not currently in customéegs, but are expected to be in prices in a fypereod.
Such amounts include deferrals recorded under &@, fhe PCAM, and the decoupling mechanism. Fah&rrinformation on thes
items, see ‘State of Oregon Regulatidrin the Regulation and Rates section of this ltem
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Wholesale Revenues

PGE participates in the wholesale electricity mgplaee in order to balance its supply of power &eftrthe needs of its retalil
customers. Interconnected transmission systenteiwestern United States serve utilities with diedoad requirements and allow
the Company to purchase and sell electricity witharegion depending upon the relative price aradability of power, hydro
conditions, and daily and seasonal retail demanblégale revenues represented 3% of total revenweesch of 2012 and 2011.

The majority of PGE’s wholesale electricity salesa utilities and power marketers and is predontlgeshort-term. The Company
may net purchases and sales with the same courtierather than simultaneously receiving and deihgphysical power, with onl
the net amount of those purchases or sales requimaéet retail and wholesale obligations physycsdittled.

Other Operating Revenues

Other operating revenues consist primarily of gaingd losses on the sale of excess natural gaglhaswevenues from transmission
services, excess transmission capacity resalessgxfael oil sales, pole contact rentals, and alemtric services provided to
customers. Other operating revenues representeaf 88tal revenues in each of 2012 and 2011.

Seasonality

Demand for electricity by PGE's residential andatiesser extent, commercial customers is affdnyeskasonal weather conditions,
as discussed above. The Company uses heating alitgcdegree-days to determine the effect of waathghe demand for
electricity. Heating and cooling degree-days prevédmulative variances in the average daily tempsrdrom a baseline of 65
degrees, over a period of time, to indicate therp which customers are likely to use, or hasedy electricity for heating or air
conditioning. The higher the number of degree-dthes greater the expected demand for heating dingpo

The following table indicates the heating and auplilegree-days for the most recent three-yearghemlong with 15-year averages
for the most recent year provided by the Nationabttier Service, as measured at Portland Interét#arport:

Heating Cooling
Degree-Days Degree-Days
2012 4,16¢ 43€
2011 4,65( 362
2010 4,18 314
15-year average for 2012 4,23¢ 45€
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PGE’s all-time high net system load peak of 4,07%&kivatts (MW) occurred in December 1998. The Coryipall-time “summer
peak” of 3,949 MW occurred in July 2009. The foling/ tables present the Company’s average wintessanmaner loads for the
periods indicated along with the corresponding gdeald and month in which it occurred:

Winter Loads (MW)

Average Peak Month
2012 2,529 3,426 January
2011 2,612 3,555 January
2010 2,445 3,582 November

Summer Loads (MW)

Average Peak Month
2012 2,249 3,597 August
2011 2,233 3,340 September
2010 2,220 3,544 August

The Company tracks and evaluates both load gromdipaak load requirements for purposes of long-tead forecasting and
integrated resource planning as well as for pregageneral rate case assumptions. Behavior pattenservation, energy efficien
initiatives and measures, weather effects, econoomditions, and demographic changes all playairotletermining expected
future customer demand and the resulting resotinee€ompany will need to adequately meet thoseslaad maintain adequate
capacity reserves.
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Power Supply

PGE relies upon its generating resources as wshag- and long-term power and fuel purchase estgrto meet its customers’
energy requirements. The Company executes ecorthgpatch decisions concerning its own generatiod,garticipates in the
wholesale market as a result of those economi@tiibplecisions, in an effort to obtain reasonaligepl power for its retail
customers, manage risk, and administer its cutoaigtterm wholesale contracts. The Company alsoptes energy efficiency
measures to meet its energy requirements.

PGE’s generating resources consist of five thepialts (natural gas- and coal-fired turbines), sdwaroelectric plants, and a wind
farm located at Biglow Canyon in eastern Oregore ¥dlume of electricity the Company generates peddent upon, among other
factors, the capacity and availability of its geatgrg resources. Capacity of the thermal planteessmts the MW the plant is capable
of generating under normal operating conditions ofielectricity used in the operation of the plartie capacity of the Company’s
thermal generating resources is also affected Wyiearmhtemperatures. Capacity of both hydro and wjiewerating resources
represent the nameplate MW, which varies from d&mneargy expected to be received as these typgsrarating resources are
highly dependent upon river flows and wind condisiprespectively. Availability represents the patage of the year the plant was
available for operations, which reflects the impzfgplanned and forced outages. For a complefadistf these facilities, see “
Generating Facilities in Item 2.—"Properties.”

PGE's resource capacity (in MW) was as follows:

As of December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Capacity % Capacity % Capacity %
Generation:
Thermal:
Natural gas 1,172 28% 1,172 28% 1,157 24%
Coal 67( 16 67C 16 67C 14
Total thermal 1,84: 44 1,84: 44 1,82 38
Hydro® 48¢ 12 48¢ 12 48¢ 10
Wind @ 45( 11 45C 11 45C 9
Total generation 2,781 67 2,781 67 2,76¢€ 57
Purchased power:
Long-term contracts:
Capacity/exchange 16C 4 19C 4 54C 11
Hydro 58¢ 14 57¢ 14 74z 15
Wind 39 1 38 1 38 1
Solar 13 — 6 — — —
Other 117 3 11C 3 13t 3
Total long-term contracts 917 22 92¢ 22 1,45¢ 30
Short-term contracts 47¢E 11 45¢ 11 61z 13
Total purchased power 1,39 33 1,381 33 2,06¢ 43
Total resource capacity 4,17: 100% 4,16: 100% 4,83¢ 10C%

(1) Capacity represents nameplate and differs frpected energy to be generated, which is expéstethge from 195 MWa to 245 MWa,
dependent upon river flows.

(2) Capacity represents nameplate and differs frpected energy to be generated, which is expéstethge from 135 MWa to 180 MWa,
dependent upon wind conditions.
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For information regarding actual generating ougmd purchases for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2010 , see the
Results of Operations section of ltem 7.—“Managefsediscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditeomd Results of
Operations.”

Generation

The portion of PGE'’s retail load requirements gatest by its plants varies from year to year ardkiermined by various factors,
including planned and forced outages, availabditd price of coal and natural gas, precipitatioth smow-pack levels, the market
price of electricity, and wind variability.

Thermal PGE has a 65% ownership interest in Boardman, wihigberates, and a 20% ownership interest in @plsinits 3 and 4

Hydro

Wind

(Colstrip), which is operated by a third party. $aéwo coal-fired generating facilities providegegximately 19% of the
Company’s total retail load requirement in 2012mpared with 21% in 2011 and 26% in 2010 . The Camgjs three
natural gas-fired generating facilities, Port Westly Beaver, and Coyote Springs, provided appraeind 5% of its total
retail load requirement in 2012 , compared with 19011 and 24% in 2010 .

The thermal plants provide reliable power for tr@mrpany’s customers and capacity reserves. Theseroes have a
combined capacity of 1,842 MW, representing appnaxely 66% of the net capacity of PGE’s generat@gities.
Thermal plant availability, excluding Colstrip, w82% in 2012 , compared with 90% in 2011 and 942010 , while
Colstrip plant availability was 93% in 2012 , comgzhwith 84% in 2011 and 95% in 2010 .

The Company’s FERC-licensed hydroelectric projeotssist of Pelton/Round Butte on the DeschutesRiear Madras,
Oregon (discussed below), four plants on the ClagsaRiver, and one on the Willamette River. Theriges for these
projects expire at various dates ranging from 2038055. Although these plants have a combinedaigpaf 489 MW,
actual energy received is dependent upon riverdldmergy from these resources provided 10% of€trapany’s total
retail load requirement in 2012, 2011 , and 2044h availability of 99% in 2012 , compared witb@% in 2011 an®9%
in 2010 . Northwest hydro conditions have a sigaifit impact on the region’s power supply, with watanditions
significantly impacting PGE' cost of power and its ability to economicallypii&ce more expensive thermal generation
spot market power purchases.

PGE has a 66.67% ownership interest in the 450 MWOR/Round Butte hydroelectric project on the Deses River,
with the remaining interest held by the Confedeatatabes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Ore@aibes). A 50yeal
joint license for the project, which is operatedR$E, was issued by the FERC in 2005. The Tribee ha option to
purchase an additional undivided 16.66% intereBtditon/Round Butte at its discretion on or aftec@mber 31, 2021.
The Tribes have a second option to purchase awidedi0.02% interest in Pelton/Round Butte atismtion on or after
April 1, 2041. If both options are exercised by Thies, the Tribes’ ownership percentage wouldeerc50%.

Biglow Canyon Wind Farm (Biglow Canyon), located3herman County, Oregon, is PGE’s largest renenairgy
resource with 217 wind turbines with a total naragpktapacity of approximately 450 MW. It was corngdieand placed in
service in three phases between December 2007 aaguasf2010. The energy from Biglow Canyon provi@éa of the
Company’s total retail load requirement in both2@hd 2011 , and 4% in 2010 . Availability for Rigl Canyon wa98%
in 2012 , compared with 97% in 2011 and 96% in 20I0e expected energy from wind resources difiers the
nameplate capacity and is expected to range frdgrVil¥a to 180 MWa for Biglow Canyon, dependent upond
conditions.

Dispatchable Standby Generati(DSG)—PGE has a DSG program under which the Compangteat) operate, and monitor
customer-owned standby generators when neededdabpaak demand. The program helps provide operedsgyves for the
Company'’s generating resources and, when operatmgsupply most or all of DSG customer loads. ABecember 31, 2012 ,
there were 40 projects that together can provigecqmately 87 MW
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of diesel-fired capacity at peak times. In additittrere were 10 projects under construction thatapected to provide an additional
18 MW.

Fuel Supph—PGE contracts for natural gas and coal suppligsired to fuel the Company’s thermal generatingfslawith certain
plants also able to operate on fuel oil if neediedddition, the Company uses forward, swap, anbogontracts to manage its
exposure to volatility in natural gas prices.

Coal Boardmar—PGE has fixed-price purchase agreements thatgeamadal for Boardman into 2014. The coal is
obtained from surface mining operations in Wyomamgl Montana and is delivered by rail under two sspaen-
year transportation contracts which extend thraz@s.

PGE expects to begin seeking requests for propog48l13 for the purchase of coal to fill open piosis for 2014 an
beyond. The terms of any contracts and qualityoal are expected to be staged in alignment withithiag of the
installation of required emissions controls. Faditidnal information on Boardman'’s emissions colsreee “
Capital Requirementsin the Liquidity and Capital Resources sectiortém 7.—“Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiiems.” PGE believes that sufficient market suggplbf coal are
available to meet anticipated operations of Boardfoathe foreseeable future.

Natural Gas Port Westward and Beav—PGE manages the price risk of natural gas sumpli?ért Westward through financial
contracts up to 60 months in advance. Physicallmsfor Port Westward and Beaver are generallgimased withi
12 months of delivery and based on anticipatedaijoer of the plants. PGE owns 79.5%, and is theaipeof
record, of the Kelso-Beaver Pipeline, which dingcibnnects both generating plants to the Northwgstline, an
interstate natural gas pipeline operating betwegisB Columbia and New Mexico. Currently, PGE sparts gas ¢
the Kelso-Beaver Pipeline for its own use underma fransportation service agreement, with capadfityred to
others on an interruptible basis to the extentutibzed by the Company. PGE has access to 10380per day of
firm gas transportation capacity to serve the tam{s.

PGE also has contractual access through April 20hatural gas storage in Mist, Oregon, from whictan draw in
the event that gas supplies are interrupted arahemic factors require its use. This storage neayded to fuel both
Port Westward and Beaver. PGE believes that seffianarket supplies of gas are available to maetipated
operations of both plants for the foreseeable &tur

The Beaver generating plant has the capabilityperate on No. 2 diesel fuel oil when it is econahar if the
plant’s natural gas supply is interrupted. PGE &a@pproximate 7-day supply of ultra-low sulfursgiEfuel oil at
the plant site as of December 31, 2012 . The nuoperating permit for Beaver limits the numbegafions of fuel
oil that can be burned daily, which effectively listhe daily hours of operation of Beaver on foiél

Coyote Springs—PGE manages the price risk of natural gas sugplZbéyote Springs through financial contracts up
to 60 months in advance, while physical suppliesganerally purchased within 12 months of delivaerg based on
anticipated operation of the plant. Coyote Sprimtjjizes 41,000 Dth per day of natural gas wherratieg at full
capacity, with firm transportation capacity on taggpeline systems accessing gas fields in Alb@amada. PGE
believes that sufficient market supplies of gasaaalable for Coyote Springs for the foreseeabtare, based on
anticipated operation of the plant. Although Coy8fings was designed to also operate on fueswdlh capability

has been deactivated in order to optimize natwaslgperations.

Purchased Power

PGE supplements its own generation with power m@set in the wholesale market to meet its retad leguirements. The
Company utilizes short- and long-term wholesale gropurchase contracts in an effort to
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provide the most favorable economic mix on a vaei@ost basis. Such contracts have original teemging from one month to 53
years and expire at varying dates through 2055.

PGE's medium term power cost strategy helps miigia¢ effect of price volatility on its customersedo changing energy market
conditions. The strategy allows the Company to takstions in power and fuel markets up to fivergda advance of physical
delivery. By purchasing a portion of anticipateemgy needs for future years over an extended peliGE mitigates a portion of the
potential future volatility in the average costpofrchased power and fuel.

The Company’s major power purchase contracts coofsthe following (also see the preceding tableclwlsummarizes the average
resource capabilities related to these contracts):

Capacity/exchange-PGE has two contracts that provide PGE with fiapacity to help meet the Company’s peak loads.
The contract representing 10 MW of capacity expindday 2014 and the contract representing 150 M\sapacity expires
in December 2016.

Hydro—The Company has three contracts that provideh®purchase of power generated from hydroelectdepts with
an aggregate capacity of 98 MW and which expirevbeh 2015 and 2017. In addition, PGE has the fatigw

* Mid-Columbia hydre—PGE has long-term power purchase contracts witiaioepublic utility districts in the state
of Washington for a portion of the output of thrgalroelectric projects on the mid-Columbia RiveneTcontract
representing 159 MW of capacity expires in 2018 #wedcontract representing 181 MW of capacity eegin
2052. Although the projects currently provide atatf 340 MW of capacity, actual energy receivedependent
upon river flows.

+ Confederated Tribes-PGE has a long-term agreement under which the @oynpurchases, at market prices, the
Tribes’ interest in the output of the Pelton/Rolhdte hydroelectric project. Although the agreenmaowides 150
MW of capacity, actual energy received is dependpon river flows. The term of the agreement calasiwith
the term of the FERC license for this project, whéxpires in 2055. The Tribes may elect to selbitgput to
another party with a one year notice to PGE.

Wind—PGE has three contracts that provide for the @setof renewable wind-generated electricity anadchvkktend to
various dates between 2028 and 2035. Although thasteacts provide a total of 39 MW of capacitytuat energy received
is dependent upon wind conditions.

Solar—PGE has three agreements to purchase power gethématn photovoltaic solar projects, which expietvieen 2036
and 2037. These projects have a combined genexapegity of 7 MW. In addition, the Company opesasnd purchases
power from four solar projects with an aggregatamdroximately 6 MW of capacity.

Other—These primarily consist of longrm contracts to purchase power from various @mpatties, including other Paci
Northwest utilities, over terms extending into 2031

Short-term contracts—These contracts are for delivery periods of onatmap to one year in length. They are entered into
with various counterparties to provide additionahfenergy to help meet the Company’s load requamm

PGE also utilizes spot purchases of power in tlenaparket to secure the energy required to sesvetil customers. Such
purchases are made under contracts that rangeatiaiufrom 30 minutes to less than one month.delalitional information
regarding PGE’s power purchase contracts, see Ngt€ommitments and Guarantees, in the Notes te@ioiated Financial
Statements in Iltem 8.—“Financial Statements ancpeupentary Data.”
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Future Energy Resource Strategy

PGE's most recent IRP (2009 IRP) was acknowledged &¥ORUC in November 2010 and includes an action fiolathe acquisitio
of new resources and a 20-year strategy that estliong-term expectations for resource needs arifblpm performance. To meet
the projected energy requirements, the IRP incletesgy efficiency measures, new renewable ressunesv transmission
capability, new generation plants, and improvememexisting generation plants, as follows:

» Acquisition of 214 MWa of energy efficiency thugh continuation of Energy Trust of Oregon prograwith funding to be
provided from the existing public purpose charge tmough enabling legislation included in OregdRRS;

» Approximately 100 MWa of wind or other renewaldsources necessary to meet requirements of OeeB&% by 2015;

» Transmission capacity additions to interconmest and existing energy resources in eastern OriegBGE’s service
territory. For additional information on the Caseagrossing Transmission Project (Cascade Crossieg),Capital
Requirements and Financii” in the Overview section contained in Item 7.—“Magement’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations”;

* New natural gas generation facilities to help naglitional base load requirements estimated at@600 MW;
* New natural gas generation facilities to help npestk capacity requirements estimated at up to 200

» Seasonal peaking resources, consisting of 200d¥iidi-seasonal (winter and summer) peaking suppty 150 MW of
winter-only peaking supply; and

» Continued operations of the Boardman plantuidicig the addition of certain emissions controld tre continuation of coal-
fired operation of the plant through 2020. For #ddal information about emissions controls for Beardman plant, see *
Capital Requirementsin the Liquidity and Capital Resources sectiotem 7.—“Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

In accordance with PGE’s IRP and pursuant to the©B competitive bidding guidelines, the Comparsuid two RFPs during
2012 for additional resources, with one for capaaitd energy resources and another for renewatdeirees. The RFP for capacity
and energy resources is seeking approximately 300tv500 MW of baseload energy resources, 200 MWeaf-round flexible
and peaking resources, 200 MW of bi-seasonal pgakipply, and 150 MW of winter-only peaking supfihe flexible and peaking
resources are expected to be available in the 8023815 timeframe, with the baseload energy ressuezpected to be available in
the 2014 to 2017 timeframe. The RFP for renewateurces is seeking approximately 100 MWa of rebév@sources, which
would be expected to be available to meet PGE'$ 20duirements under Oregon’s renewable energylaten

PGE has evaluated the capacity and energy resdoiteseceived. PGE's benchmark proposal was saléotthe RFP seeking 200
MW of year-round flexible and peaking resources Bert Westward Unit 2 in the Capital Requiremeettion of Item 7.—
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations.” The Compariy ithe process of
negotiations with the top bidder from the final gHist for baseload energy resources. The bidiherfinal short list include power
purchase agreements and P@#ership options. In addition, PGE is in the pescef negotiating power purchase agreements f
seasonal peaking resources. Final resource sels@ie expected by mid-2013. The Company is evaietnewable resources bids
received, and expects a final short list by Mar@h2 with final resource selection by mid-2013. iAdependent evaluator selected
by the OPUC is helping conduct the RFP and revigwids to ensure an objective and impartial pracess

In November 2012, the Company filed an informatlamadate to its 2009 IRP, for which PGE is not mrsipg any changes to its
action plan and no action is required by the OPRGE is required to file its next IRP by Novembey 2913.
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Transmission and Distribution

Transmission systems deliver energy from generdiicigjties to distribution systems for final dediny to customers. PGE schedules
energy deliveries over its transmission systentaoalance with FERC requirements and operates alaading authority area (an
electric system bounded by interchange metering} iservice territory. In 2012, PGE delivered apmately 20 million megawatt
hours (MWh) in its balancing authority area throagiproximately 1,100 circuit miles of transmisslimes.

PGE's transmission system is part of the Westaeardonnection, the regional grid in the westernt&thiStates. The Western
Interconnection includes the interconnected trassion systems of 11 western states, two Canadainges and parts of Mexico,
and is subject to the reliability rules of the WE@@ the NERC. PGE relies on transmission contrgittsBonneville Power
Administration (BPA) to transmit a significant anmbwf the Company’s generation to its distributsystem. PGE’s transmission
system, together with contractual rights on othemgmission systems, enables the Company to inéegnal access generation
resources to meet its customers’ energy requiresnP@E’s generation is managed on a coordinates tzasbtain maximum load-
carrying capability and efficiency. The Companyansmission and distribution systems are locatddlimsvs:

» On property owned or leased by P(

* Under or over streets, alleys, highways andrgtiliblic places, the public domain and nationa¢$éts, and state lands under
franchises, easements or other rights that arergignsubject to termination;

» Under or over private property as a result of easgsobtained primarily from the record holderitét or

» Under or over Native American reservations urgtant of easement by the Secretary of the Interdease or easement by
Native American tribes

PGE’s wholesale transmission activities are regdléaly the FERC. In accordance with its OATT, PGIersfseveral transmission
services to wholesale customers:

» Network integration transmission service, a serttieg integrates generating resources to servié lagds
» Short- and long-term firm point-foeint transmission service, a service with fixetiveey and receipt points; a

* Non-firm point-to-point service, an “as availablegrvice with fixed delivery and receipt poil

These services are offered on a non-discrimindiasys, with all potential customers provided eqealess to PGE’s transmission
system in accordance with FERC Standards of Conduct

PGE’s current acknowledged IRP includes a proposa 800 kV transmission line referred to as the G#s€2rossing Transmissi
Project, or Cascade Crossing, that would help fugete electricity demand. The project would trartigpower from new and
existing energy resources in northeastern Oregtimet@€ompany’s service territory. For additiondbimation, see “Capital and
Financing” in the Overview section of Item 7.—*May@ment’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Ctadiand Results of
Operations.”

PGE continues to meet state regulatory requirentetdted to power distribution service quality aatiability. Such requirements
are reflected in specific indices that measuregmitiuration, outage frequency, and momentary powemruptions. The Company is
required to include performance results relatesketwice quality measures in annual reports fileth whie OPUC. Specific monetary
penalties can be assessed for failure to attaimnextjperformance levels, with amounts dependeni tipe extent to which actual
results fail to meet such requirements.

For additional information regarding the Compartygsmission and distribution facilities, se€ransmission and Distributiohin
Item 2.—“Properties.”
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Environmental Matters

PGE's operations are subject to a wide range af@mwental protection laws and regulations, whieht@in to air and water quality,
endangered species and wildlife protection, anduttmus material. Various state and federal agemegsdate environmental matters
that relate to the siting, construction, and openadf generation, transmission, and substatiottitias and the handling,
accumulation, cleanup, and disposal of toxic armhtdous substances. In addition, certain of the gamyis hydroelectric projects
and transmission facilities are located on propenger the jurisdiction of federal and state agesycnd/or tribal entities that have
authority in environmental protection matters. Tolowing discussion provides further information certain regulations that affect
the Company’s operations and facilities.

Air Quality

Clean Air Act—PGE’s operations, primarily its thermal generatents, are subject to regulation under the fdd&lean Air Act
(CAA), which addresses, among other things, pdeteunatter, hazardous air pollutants, and greesdngas emissions (GHGS).
Oregon and Montana, the states in which PGE fesldre located, also implement and administeaireportions of the CAA and
have set standards that are at least equal toalextandards.

In December 2011, the EPA issued new emissionsslinmider the CAA’s National Emission Standardsfarardous Air Pollutants
(NESHAP) to regulate air emissions from coal- aitdireed electric generating units. Emission limitsluded in the NESHAP are
based on the application of maximum achievablerobtéchnology (MACT). The Company believes the Blmaan plant should
meet the MACT requirements without additional calgitvestment, once installation of the emissiomstimls already anticipated to
meet the revised rules for S@nd NO,emissions at Boardman is complete. Those antidpadatrols include a Dry Sorbent
Injection system to be added to Boardman in 20tldn &stimated capital cost to the Company of $#fom including allowance

for funds used during construction (AFDC). DEQ suteovide for coal-fired operation at Boardmanedase no later than December
31, 2020.

The operator of the Colstrip plant has providedGoenpany with estimated costs for emissions comiadifications to Units 3 and
that may be necessary to meet the MACT requirenar@®lstrip. Based on this estimate, the Compapg&s that its share of the
costs, as a 20% owner of Units 3 and 4, will nateed $10 million.

Although regulation of mercury emissions is contéatgnl under NESHAP, the states of Oregon and Marttawe previously
adopted regulations concerning mercury emissioath Boardman and Colstrip meet the mercury compéaequirements in their
respective states.

PGE manages its air emissions by the use of lofursiulel, emissions and combustion controls anditoang, and SQallowances
awarded under the CAA. The current allowance inmgnand expected future annual gflowances, along with the recent and
planned installation of emissions controls, arécgrdted to be sufficient to permit the Companygdntinue to meet its compliance
requirements and operate its thermal generatinggpkt forecasted capacity for at least the nesdratyears.

Climate Change—No comprehensive GHG emissions legislation has beesidered and voted on by Congress since 2009.
However, state, regional, and federal legislatiferes continue with respect to establishing regataof greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions and their potential impacts on climatnge. The EPA has taken the lead role on climaagdpolicy utilizing existing
authority under the CAA to develop regulations. dgef focus for the Company include the following:

* In December 2010, the EPA announced a propas#idreent agreement with states and environmemnaipg that would
require the EPA to set GHG New Source Performamaedards (NSPS) for new and modified fossil foased power plan
and guidelines for state-developed NSPS for exjsources. The emissions standard for new gasaaidied electric
generating units was proposed in April 2012 and is
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expected to be finalized in the second quartel0@B2EPA is also expected to propose guidancedite-sleveloped NSPS
for existing sources, including modified sources2013.

* The State of Oregon has established a non-lgnalificy guideline that sets a goal to reduce Gltssions to 10% below
1990 levels by 2020. Although the guideline doelsmandate reductions by any specific entity nohide penalties for
failure to meet the goal, the Company is requiceteport to the DEQ the amount of GHG emissionslpeced along with th
total amount of energy produced or purchased by féGEonsumption in Oregon.

» During 2012, the Company submitted the firsuieed GHG emissions report applicable to its traission and distribution
system to both the EPA and the DEQ.

Any laws that would impose emissions taxes or mammgaeductions in GHG emissions may have a mdtienigact on PGE’s
operations, as the Company utilizes fossil fuelésimwn power generation and other companies wsle feiels to generate power t
PGE purchases in the wholesale market. PGE’s Be@ogote Springs, and Port Westward natural gasHiacilities, and the
Company’s ownership interest in Boardman and Qplstral-fired facilities, provide approximately 6686the Company’s net
generating capacity. If PGE were to incur increrabobsts as a result of changes in the regulategarding GHGSs, the Company
would seek recovery in customer prices.

Water Quality

The federal Clean Water Act requires that any felderense or permit to conduct an activity thatymasult in a discharge to waters
of the United States must first receive a watetityueertification from the state in which the agty will occur. In Oregon and
Montana, the Departments of Environmental Qualig/rasponsible for reviewing proposed projects utits requirement to ensure
that federally approved activities will meet waggrality standards and policies established bydkpective state. PGE has obtained
permits where required, and has certificates ofgdi@nce for its hydroelectric operations underfiRC licenses.

Threatened and Endangered Species and Wildlife

Fish Protectior—The federal Endangered Species Act (ESA) has gigmbtection to many populations of migratory figecies in
the Pacific Northwest that have declined signiftbaaver the last several decades. Long-term regopkans for these species have
caused major operational changes to many of tHenaghydroelectric projects. PGE purchases powdhé wholesale market to
serve its retail load requirements and has comsttagburchase power generated at some of the edféatilities on the mid€Golumbia
River in central Washington.

PGE is implementing a series of fish protection suees at its hydroelectric projects on the Claclamba&schutes, and Willamette
rivers that were prescribed by the U.S. Fish anliiMé Service and the National Marine Fisheriesv&® under their authority
granted in the ESA and the Federal Power Act. Assalt of measures contained in their operatingnbes, the Deschutes River and
Willamette River projects have been certified ag limpact hydro, with 50 MWa of their output inclutlas part of the Company’s
renewable energy portfolio used to meet the remerds of Oregon’s RPS. Conditions required withdperating licenses are
expected to result in a minor reduction in powerdpoiction and increase capital spending to modiyfécilities to enhance fish
passage and survival.

Avian Protectior—\Various statutory authorities as well as the Migna Bird Treaty Act have established civil, criminand
administrative penalties for the unauthorized takmigratory birds. Because PGE operates electitstission lines and wind
generation facilities that can pose risks to aergrof such birds, the Company is required to ravavian protection plan to reduce
risks to bird species that can result from Compapsrations. PGE has developed and implementedasptan for its transmission
and distribution facilities and continues the psxef developing a plan for its wind facilities.
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Hazardous Waste

PGE has a comprehensive program to comply withireipents of both federal and state regulationgedlto hazardous waste
storage, handling, and disposal. The handling @pubdal of hazardous waste from Company facilisesibject to regulation under
the federal Resource Conservation and RecoveryR€RA). In addition, the use, disposal, and cleproupolychlorinated
biphenyls, contained in certain electrical equiptpare regulated under the federal Toxic SubstaGossrol Act.

The Company’s coal-fired generation facilities, Blraan and Colstrip, produce coal combustion bypetsd(CCBs), which have
historically not been considered hazardous wastemtihe RCRA. The EPA continues to consider listivese residuals as hazard
wastes, which would likely have an impact on curdisposal practices and could increase the Conipangt of handling these
materials. A number of legislative initiatives astthllenges are underway to limit or remove the ERaility to regulate CCBs as
hazardous waste. The Company cannot predict trelp@smpact of this matter until the EPA providegher guidance on the
proposed rules. If PGE were to incur incrementatsas a result of changes in the regulationsCtdrepany would seek recovery in
customer prices.

PGE is also subject to regulation under the Congarsire Environmental Response Compensation andityakct (CERCLA),
commonly referred to as Superfund. The CERCLA mtesiauthority to the EPA to assert joint and séviaifzlity for investigation
and remediation costs for designated Superfung. Sitee EPA lists PGE as a Potentially ResponsiateyRPRP) on two Superfund
sites as follows:

Portland Harbor—A 1997 investigation by the EPA of a segment ofWidamette River known as the Portland Harbor edee
significant contamination of river sediments andrppted the EPA to subsequently include Portlandétann the federal
National Priority List as a Superfund site pursuan€ERCLA. The EPA initially listed sixty-nine PRFAncluding PGE as it has
historically owned or operated property near thierriln 2008, the EPA requested further informafrom various parties,
including PGE, concerning property several milegooel the original river segment and, as a resudt RRPs now number over
one hundred. In March 2012, a draft feasibilitydgtwas submitted to the EPA for review and appro&akecord of Decision is
expected from the EPA in 2015 on the various clgalternatives, which, as outlined in the feasibgtudy, could take up to :
years to complete and range in cost from $169anilio $1.8 billion. It is unclear for what portiahany, that PGE might be he
responsible.

Harbor Oil —The Harbor Qil site in north Portland is the looatdf a company that PGE engaged to process ukfdmipowel
plants and electrical distribution systems untD20The Harbor Oil facility continues to be utilizby other entities for the
processing of used oil and other lubricants. Int&aper 2003, the Harbor Oil site was included enféderal National Priority
List as a federal Superfund site and PGE was iecdwinong fourteen PRPs. In March 2012, the EPAcapgrthe remedial
investigation and stated that it intends to recommuin@ action on the site. A final Record of Deaisi® expected in March 2013.

For additional information on these EPA actiong, Bete 18, Contingencies, in the Notes to Constdai&inancial Statements in
Item 8.—“Financial Statements and SupplementaraDat

Under the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982, the @&Dis responsible for the permanent storage ambsis of spent nuclear fuel.
PGE has contracted with the USDOE for permanepbdil of spent nuclear fuel from Trojan that isetioin the Independent Spent
Fuel Storage Installation (ISFSI), an NRC-licensgdrim dry storage facility that houses the fuethe former plant site. The spent
nuclear fuel is expected to remain in the ISFSIl permanent off-site storage is available, whiemot likely to be before 2020.
Shipment of the spent nuclear fuel from the ISESIHff-site storage is not expected to be complptaxt to 2033. For additional
information regarding this matter, se&rbjan decommissioning activitiésn Note 7, Asset Retirement Obligations, in thet& to
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.—"“Fai@nStatements and Supplementary Data.”
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Certain risks and uncertainties that could havegm#icant impact on PGE’s business, financial cibioth, results of operations or
cash flows, or that may cause the Company’s actsallts to vary from the forward-looking statemestatained in this Annual
Report on Form 1-K, include, but are not limited to, those set lidoelow.

Recovery of PGE’s costs is subject to regulatory véew and approval, and the inability to recover cos may adversely affect
the Company’s results of operations.

The prices that PGE charges for its retail seryiassauthorized by the OPUC, are a major factdebermining the Company’s
operating income, financial position, liquidity,caaredit ratings. As a general matter, the Comsamaks to recover in customer
prices most of the costs incurred in connectiom it operation of its business, including, amotigiothings, costs related to
capital projects (such as the construction of reilifies or the modification of existing facilisg the costs of compliance with
legislative and regulatory requirements and théscofsdamage from storms and other natural dissdttawever, there can be no
assurance that such recovery will be granted. TREBOhas the authority to disallow the recoveryrof eosts that it considers
imprudently incurred. Although the OPUC is requitedstablish customer prices that are fair, jostr@asonable, it has significant
discretion in the interpretation of this standard.

In February 2013, PGE filed with the OPUC a 2014&al Rate Case with a 2014 test year. For additioformation regarding the
2014 General Rate Case, see the Overview sectibanof/.—“Management’s Discussion and Analysis ioaRcial Condition and
Results of Operations.” In both PGE2009 and 2011 general rate cases, overall pricedses approved by the OPUC were less
the Company’s initial proposals. Under such circiamees, PGE attempts to manage its costs at leepsstent with the reduced
price increases. However, if the Company is unabbo so, or if such cost management results ireased operational risk, the
Company’s financial and operating results coulétheersely affected.

Economic conditions that result in reduced demanddr electricity and impair the financial stability of some of PGE s
customers, could affect the Company s results of operations.

Unfavorable economic conditions in Oregon may tdsuleduced demand for electricity. Such reduciondemand could adversely
affect the Company’s results of operations and fasys. Economic conditions could also result inimecreased level of
uncollectable customer accounts and cause the Goispaendors and service providers to experiensé flaw problems and be
unable to perform under existing or future consact

Market prices for power and natural gas are subjecto forces that are often not predictable and whictktan result in price
volatility and general market disruption, adverselyaffecting PGE’s costs and ability to manage its emgy portfolio and
procure required energy supply, which ultimately caild have an adverse effect on the Company’s liquiti and results of
operations.

As part of its normal business operations, PGEmases power and natural gas in the open market shde and long term
contracts, which may specify variable-prices ouvas. Market prices for power and natural gasrdhgenced primarily by factors
related to supply and demand. These factors géynaralude the adequacy of generating capacityedaled and unscheduled
outages of generating facilities, hydroelectricegation levels, prices and availability of fuel smes for generation, disruptions or
constraints to transmission facilities, weatherdittons, economic growth, and changes in technalogy

Volatility in these markets can affect the availifpi price and demand for power and natural gastruption in power and natural ¢
markets could result in a deterioration of markatitlity, increase the risk of counterparty defaaffect regulatory and legislative
processes in unpredictable ways, affect wholesaleep prices, and impair PGE’s ability to manageeitergy portfolio. Changes in
power and natural gas prices can also affect thedtue of derivative instruments and cash requéets to purchase power and
natural gas. If power and natural gas prices deerfam those contained in the Compangxisting purchased power and natural
agreements, PGE may
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be required to provide increased collateral, witichld adversely affect the Company’s liquidity. @ersely, if power and natural
gas prices rise, especially during periods wherCihvmpany requires greater-tharpected volumes that must be purchased at
or short-term prices, PGE could incur greater cth&ta originally estimated.

The risk of volatility in power costs is partialfgitigated through the Annual Power Cost UpdatefféaUT) and the PCAM. PGE
files an annual AUT with an update of PGE's foréedshet variable power costs (baseline NVPC) teeflected in customer prices.
The PCAM provides a mechanism by which the Compamyadijust future customer prices to reflect aipof the difference
between each year’s baseline NVPC included in costgrices and actual NVPC. PGE is subject to qoof the business risk or
benefit associated with the difference betweena®iyPC and baseline NVPC by application of an amgtrical “deadband.” The
PCAM provides for a fixed deadband range of $13ionilbelow, to $30 million above, baseline NVPC.pAipation of the PCAM
requires that PGE absorb certain power cost inesshsfore the Company is allowed to recover anyuainiopom customers.
Accordingly, the PCAM is expected to only partiathitigate the potentially adverse financial impaaftforced generating plant
outages, reduced hydro and wind availability, intptions in fuel supplies, and volatile wholesatergy prices.

The effects of weather on electricity usage can adssely affect results of operations.

Weather conditions can adversely affect PGE’s regerand costs, impacting the Company’s resultpefations. Variations in
temperatures can affect customer demand for etégtrivith warmer-than-normal winters or cooler4thaormal summers reducing
the demand for energy. Weather conditions are ¢hemant cause of usage variations from normal sedgatterns, particularly for
residential customers. Severe weather can alsopdisnergy delivery and damage the Company’s tresssom and distribution
system.

Rapid increases in load requirements resulting fuoexpected adverse weather changes, particularbypled with transmission
constraints, could adversely impact PGE’s costahility to meet the energy needs of its custon@asversely, rapid decreases in
load requirements could result in the sale of exee®rgy at depressed market prices.

Forced outages at PGE's generating plants can incase the cost of power required to serve customergtause the cost of
replacement power purchased in the wholesale markegenerally exceeds the Company’s cost of generation

Forced outages at the Company’s generating planis cesult in power costs greater than those detun customer prices. As
indicated above, application of the Company’s PCédvld help mitigate adverse financial impacts aftsautages; however, the
cost sharing features of the mechanism do not geofiill recovery in customer prices. Inability scover such costs in future prices
could have a negative impact on the Company’s tesiiloperations.

The construction of new facilities, or modificatiors to existing facilities, is subject to risks thatould result in the disallowance
of certain costs for recovery in customer prices ohigher operating costs.

PGE's current position as a “short” utility requdrhat the Company supplement its own generatitimwdiolesale power purchases
to meet its retail load requirement. In additiand-term increases in both the number of custommreisdemand for energy will
require continued expansion and upgrade of PGHisrg¢ion, transmission, and distribution systenms@ruction of new facilities
and modifications to existing facilities could Héesated by various factors, including unanticipatkfiays and cost increases and the
failure to obtain, or delay in obtaining, necesgagymits from state or federal agencies or trilodities, which could result in failure
to complete the projects and the disallowance ghtecosts in the rate determination processdtiitmn, failure to complete
construction projects according to specificationgld result in reduced plant efficiency, equipmigiiure, and plant performance
that falls below expected levels, which could ims® operating costs.
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Adverse changes in PGE’s credit ratings could negatly affect its access to the capital markets anits cost of borrowed
funds.

Access to capital markets is important to PGE'$itglib operate its business and complete its ehpitojects. Credit rating agencies
evaluate PGE'’s credit ratings on a periodic basisvehen certain events occur. A ratings downgradgdcincrease the interest rates
and fees on PGE’s revolving credit facilities, i&sing the cost of funding day-to-day working apiquirements, and could also
result in higher interest rates on future long-telebt. A ratings downgrade could also restrict@oenpany’s access to the
commercial paper market, a principal source oftstesm financing, or result in higher interest ost

In addition, if Moody’s Investors Service (Moodyahd/or Standard and Poor’s Ratings Services (3&dR)ce their rating on PGE'’s
unsecured debt to below investment grade, the Coynpauld be subject to requests by certain whodesalinterparties to post
additional performance assurance collateral, wbalid have an adverse effect on the Company’sdityui

Current capital and credit market conditions could adversely affect the Company’s access to capitabst of capital, and
ability to execute its strategic plan as currentlyscheduled.

Access to capital and credit markets is importarRGE’s ability to operate. The Company potentitdlyes significant capital
requirements over the next two to five years anukets to issue debt and equity securities, as saogdo fund these requirements.
In addition, contractual commitments and regulateguirements may limit the Company’s ability tdajeor terminate certain
projects. For additional information concerning P&Eapital requirements, see€Capital Requiremerd” in the Liquidity and Capital
Resources section in Item 7.—“Management’s Disamsand Analysis of Financial Condition and Resoft®perations.”

If the capital and credit market conditions in theited States and other parts of the world detatégithe Company’s future cost of
debt and equity capital, as well as access toalapirkets, could be adversely affected. In addjtiestrictions on PGE’s ability to
access capital markets could affect its abilitgxecute its strategic plan.

PGE is subject to various legal and regulatory progedings, the outcome of which is uncertain, and relition unfavorable to
PGE could adversely affect the Company’s results afperations, financial condition or cash flows.

From time to time in the normal course of its bass PGE is subject to various regulatory procegsdiawsuits, claims and other
matters, which could result in adverse judgmerslesnents, fines, penalties, injunctions, or otledief. These matters are subject to
many uncertainties, the ultimate outcome of whi@nagement cannot predict. The final resolutionesfain matters in which PGE

is involved could require that the Company incypenditures over an extended period of time andrange of amounts that could
have an adverse effect on its cash flows and sestitiperations. Similarly, the terms of resolutomuld require the Company to
change its business practices and procedures, wbidh also have an adverse effect on its cashsflimancial position or results of
operations.

There are certain pending legal and regulatorygadings, such as those related to PGE's recovety iolvestment in Trojan, the
proceedings related to refunds on wholesale markesactions in the Pacific Northwest and the itigafon and any resulting
remediation efforts related to the Portland Hasitw, that may have an adverse effect on resultpefations and cash flows for
future reporting periods. For additional informaticee Item 3.—“Legal Proceedings” and Note 18, ti@gancies, in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.—"“Fai@nStatements and Supplementary Data.”
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Reduced stream flows and unfavorable wind conditiom can adversely affect generation from hydroelectriand wind
resources. The Company could be required to replaageneration from these sources with higher cost paw from other
facilities or with wholesale market purchases, whig could have an adverse effect on results of operans.

PGE derives a significant portion of its power dygppom its own hydroelectric facilities and thrdugpng-term purchase contracts
with certain public utility districts in the staté Washington. Regional rainfall and snow pack Is\agfect stream flows and the
resulting amount of generation available from thasdities. Shortfalls in low-cost hydro produatiavould require increased
generation from the Company’s higher cost therntaitp and/or power purchases in the wholesale maskéch could have an
adverse effect on results of operations.

PGE also derives a portion of its power supply faimd resources, for which the output is dependgoin wind conditions.
Unfavorable wind conditions could require increasslthnce on power from the Company’s other geivggaksources or power
purchases in the wholesale market, both of whiehdcbave an adverse effect on results of operations

Although the application of the PCAM could help igitte adverse financial effects from any decreagmiver provided by
hydroelectric and wind resources, full recoverany increase in power costs is not assured. Iabilifully recover such costs in
future prices could have a negative impact on the@any’s results of operations, as well as a réoludh renewable energy credits
and loss of production tax credits (PTCs) relatedind resources.

Legislative or regulatory efforts to reduce greenhose gas emissions could lead to increased capitaldeoperating costs and
have an adverse impact on the Company’s results operations.

Future legislation or regulations could resultimitations on greenhouse gas emissions from thepgaagis fossil fuel-fired
generation facilities. Compliance with any greerdegas emission reduction requirements could redRGE to incur significant
expenditures, including those related to carbouwcae@nd sequestration technology, purchase ofsernigllowances and offsets,
fuel switching, and the replacement of high-emgtigreneration facilities with lower emitting faciés.

The cost to comply with potential greenhouse gaissions reduction requirements is subject to sicgiit uncertainties, including
those related to: the timing of the implementatibemissions reduction rules; required levels ofssions reductions; requirements
with respect to the allocation of emissions alloees) the maturation, regulation and commerciabiratif carbon capture and
sequestration technology; and PGE's complianceratizes. Although the Company cannot currentlingstie the effect of future
legislation or regulations on its results of opiera, financial condition or cash flows, the castsompliance with such legislation
regulations could be material.

Under certain circumstances, banks participating inPGE's credit facilities could decline to fund advaces requested by the
Company or could withdraw from participation in the credit facilities.

PGE currently has unsecured revolving credit faediwith several banks for an aggregate amou#iZ06 million. These credit
facilities are available for general corporate pggs and may be used to supplement operating loashrid provide a primary
source of liquidity. The credit facilities may albe used as backup for commercial paper borrowings.

The credit facilities represent commitments bypheicipating banks to make loans and, in certases, to issue letters of credit.
The Company is required to make certain repredentato the banks each time it requests an adwamer one of the credit
facilities. However, in the event certain circunmetas occur that could result in a material advelhsamge in the business, financial
condition or results of operations of PGE, the Campmay not be able to make such representationgjich case the banks would
not be required to lend. PGE is also subject taitiethat one or more of the participating banksy/rdefault on their obligation to
make loans under the credit facilities.
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In addition, it is possible that the Company migbt be aware of certain developments at the timekes such a representation in
connection with a request for a loan, which cowddse the representation to be untrue at the tinge miad constitute an event of
default. Such a circumstance could result in a¢dthe banks’ commitments under the credit faesitand, in certain circumstances,
the accelerated repayment of any outstanding laéanbes.

Measures required to comply with state and federalegulations related to air emissions and water dis@arges from thermal
generating plants could result in increased capitaéxpenditures and operating costs and reduce gengirgg capacity, which
could adversely affect the Company s results of operations.

The Company is subject to state and federal reqp@ingés concerning air emissions and water dischdrgesthermal generation
plants. For additional information, see the Envinemtal Matters section in Item 1.—“BusinesEtiese requirements could advers
affect the Company’s results of operations by néagi(i) the installation of additional air emisam@and water discharge controls at
the Company’s generating plants, which could raauhicreased capital expenditures and (ii) chang@GE'’s operations that could
increase operating costs and reduce generatingitapa

Adverse capital market performance could result inreductions in the fair value of benefit plan assetand increase the
Company’s liabilities related to such plans. Sustaied declines in the fair value of the plans’ asset®uld result in significant
increases in funding requirements, which could advsely affect PGE’s liquidity and results of operatons.

Performance of the capital markets affects theevafiassets that are held in trust to satisfy &utbligations under the Company’s
defined benefit pension plan. Sustained advers&ehperformance could result in lower rates of mefior these assets than
projected by the Company and could increase PGHdifg requirements related to the pension plawlitighally, changes in
interest rates affect the Company'’s liabilities enthe pension plan. As interest rates decreasé;dmpany’s liabilities increase,
potentially requiring additional funding. In 201dlscount rates used to value the pension planrdtbubstantially. This decline,
combined with an increased actuarial loss relaigatibr year asset under performance, contribudexhtincrease in the pension
plan’s underfunded status from $147 million as eEBmber 31, 2011 to $191 million as of DecembeRB12.

Performance of the capital markets also affectdainevalue of assets that are held in trust tesBafuture obligations under the
Company’s non-qualified employee benefit plans,clthinclude deferred compensation plans. As chaimgiee fair value of these
assets are recorded in current earnings, decreaseslversely affect the Company’s operating reshitaddition, such decreases
can require that PGE make additional paymentstisfgits obligations under these plans.

For additional information regarding PGE’s conttiba obligations under its pension and non-quadifienefit plans, see “
Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitméritsthe Liquidity and Capital Resources sectiorntém 7.—“Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &ebults of Operations,” andPension and Other Postretirement Pldria Note
10, Employee Benefits, in the Notes to Consolid&iedncial Statements in Item 8.— “Financial Statats and Supplementary
Data.”

Failure of PGE’s wholesale suppliers to perform the contractual obligations could adversely affect he Company’s ability to
deliver electricity and increase the Company’s cost

PGE relies on suppliers to deliver natural gasl| aod electricity, in accordance with short- andgeerm contracts. Failure of
suppliers to comply with such contracts in a timalgnner could disrupt PGE’s ability to deliver élmity and require the Company
to incur additional expenses to meet the needs alistomers. In addition, as these contracts @xBiGE could be unable to contir
to purchase natural gas, coal or electricity om$eand conditions equivalent to those of existigigaments.
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Operational changes required to comply with both eisting and new environmental laws related to fish ad wildlife could
adversely affect PGE’s results of operations.

A portion of PGE’s total energy requirement is diggpwith power generated from hydroelectric anddvprojects. Operation of
these projects is subject to regulation relatethégorotection of fish and wildlife. The listing @rious species of salmon, wildlife,
and plants as threatened or endangered has resutigghificant operational changes to these ptejeégalmon recovery plans could
include further major operational changes to thggorgs hydroelectric projects, including those owiy PGE and those from which
the Company purchases power under long-term cdsatdacaddition, laws relating to the protectiomufjratory birds and other
wildlife could impact the development and operatdransmission lines and wind projects. Also, netgrpretations of existing
laws and regulations could be adopted or becomkcapfe to such facilities, which could further iease required expenditures for
salmon recovery and endangered species protectobreduce the amount of hydro or wind generaticailable to meet the
Company’s energy requirements.

PGE could be vulnerable to cyber security attackgjata security breaches or other similar events thatould disrupt its
operations, require significant expenditures or reglt in claims against the Company.

In the normal course of business, PGE collects;gs®es and retains sensitive and confidential muestand employee information,
as well as proprietary business information, areraies systems that directly impact the availghilftelectric power and the
transmission of electric power in its service tery. Despite the security measures in place, tragany’s systems, and those of
third-party service providers, could be vulnerableyber security attacks, data security breachesher similar events that could
disrupt operations or result in the release ofifgar confidential information. Such events abohuse a shutdown of service or
expose the Company to liability. In addition, then@pany may be required to expend significant chpitd other resources to prot
against security breaches or to alleviate problemused by security breaches. The Company mairitensance coverage against
some, but not all, potential losses resulting ftoese risks. However, insurance may not be adetduamtect the Company against
liability in all cases. In addition, PGE is subjéatthe risk that insurers will dispute or be ureta perform their obligations to the
Company.

Storms and other natural disasters could damage thEompany’s facilities and disrupt delivery of eledticity resulting in
significant property loss, repair costs, and reduad customer satisfaction.

The Company has exposure to natural disastersdinatause significant damage to its generationstnission, and distribution
facilities. Such events can interrupt the delivefglectricity, increase repair and service resionsexpenses, and reduce revenues.
Such events, if repeated or prolonged, can alsxiadustomer satisfaction and the level of regiyadversight. As a regulated utilit
the Company is required to provide service to adfomers within its service territory and generaliys been afforded liability
protection against customer claims related to serfdilures beyond the Company’s reasonable control

In PGE’s 2011 General Rate Case, the OPUC autlibtimeCompany to collect $2 million annually froetail customers for such
damages and to defer any amount not utilized irctineent year. The deferred amount, along withatfveual collection, would be
available to offset potential storm damage cosfatire years.

PGE utilizes insurance, when possible, to mitighéecost of physical loss or damage to the Compsamgperty. As cost effective
insurance coverage for transmission and distributiee property (poles and wires) is currently awdilable, however, the Company
would likely seek recovery of large losses to spigperty through the ratemaking process.

PGE is subject to extensive regulation that affectthe Company’s operations and costs.

PGE is subject to regulation by the FERC, the OP&id, by certain federal, state and local autheriieder environmental and ott
laws. Such regulation significantly influences @@mpany’s operating environment and can have attedin many aspects of its
business. Changes to regulations are ongoing,fen@dmpany cannot predict with certainty the futoerse of such changes or the
ultimate effect that they might have on its busines
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However, changes in regulations could delay or emhhg affect business planning and transactiorts sabstantially increase the
Company'’s costs.

PGE has a workforce with a significant number of erployees approaching retirement.

The Company anticipates higher averages of retinénages over the next ten years and will likelgdhéo replace a significant
number of employees in key positions. PGE’s abilitguccessfully implement a workforce successlan i dependent upon the
Company’s ability to employ and retain skilled mssional and technical workers. Without a skilledkforce, the Company would
face greater challenges in providing quality sexticits customers and meeting regulatory requindsn®oth of which could affect
operating results.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

None.

30




Table of Contents

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

PGE's principal property, plant, and equipmentlacated on land owned by the Company or land utieecontrol of the Company
pursuant to existing leases, federal or state $egneasements or other agreements. In some oetess and transformers are
located on customer property. The Company leasediporate headquarters complex, located in Pakt@regon. The Indenture
securing the Company’s First Mortgage Bonds caitstita direct first mortgage lien on substantiallytility property and
franchises, other than expressly excepted property.

Generating Facilities

The following are generating facilities owned by &s of December 31, 2012 :

Net
Facility Location Capacity @
Wholly-owned:
Hydro:
Faraday Clackamas River 46 MW
North Fork Clackamas River 58
Oak Grove Clackamas River 44
River Mill Clackamas River 25
T.W. Sullivan Willamette River 18
Natural Gas/Qil:
Beaver Clatskanie, Oregon 51€
Port Westward Clatskanie, Oregon 41C
Coyote Springs Boardman, Oregon 24¢€
Wind:
Biglow Canyon Sherman County, Oregon 45C
Jointly-owned @:
Coal:
3)
Baardmart Boardman, Oregon 374
Colstrip® :
oistrip Colstrip, Montana 29€
Hydro:
Pelton® .
Deschutes River 73
Round Butte” .
ound Bu Deschutes River 22E
Total net capacity 2,781 MW

(1) Represents net capacity of generating urdieasonstrated by actual operating or test experjeratenf electricity used in the operation of a
given facility. For wind-powered generating faédg, nameplate ratings are used in place of netaityp A generator's nameplate rating is
its full-load capacity under normal operating caiwtis as defined by the manufacturer.

(2) Reflects PGE ownership shai

(3) PGE operates Boardman and has a 65% ownershipst

(4) PPL Montana, LLC operates Colstrip and PGE has%a @@nership interes

(5) PGE operates Pelton and Round Butte and has a%&@@/nership interes



PGE’s hydroelectric projects are operated pursttaRERC licenses issued under the Federal PowefTAetlicenses for the
hydroelectric projects on the three different revekpire as follows: Clackamas River, 2055; Will&ea®iver, 2035; and Deschutes
River, 2055.
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Transmission and Distribution

PGE owns and/or has contractual rights associaitixdrensmission lines that deliver electricityrfiots Oregon generation facilities
to its distribution system in its service territ@yd also to the Western Interconnection. As ofdbdwer 31, 2012, PGE owned an
electric transmission system consisting of appraxaty 700 circuit miles of 500-kV line and 400 ciittmiles of 230-kV line. The
Company also has approximately 24,000 circuit nofggrimary and secondary distribution lines theliveer electricity to its
customers.

The Company also has an ownership interest indli@nrfing transmission facilities:

» Approximately 14% of the Montana Intertie frohetColstrip plant in Montana to BP&transmission system; ¢

« Approximately 19% of the California-Oregon AC Irtter a 4,800 MW transmission facility between J@ray, in northern
Oregon, and Malin, in southern Oregon near thef@aia border. The California-Oregon AC Intertieused primarily for
the transmission of interstate purchases and efkdectricity among utilities, including PGE.

In addition, the Company has contractual rightdh&ofollowing transmission capacity:

* Approximately 3,100 MW of firm BPA transmissifmom remote resources and markets on BPA'’s systeRE’'s service
territory in Oregon; and

» 200 MW of firm BPA transmission from mid-Colunabprojects in Washington to the northern end ofGh&fornia-Oregon
AC Intertie, near John Day, Oregon, and 100 MWhtoriorthern end of the Pacific DC Intertie, nealil@eOregon.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

Citizens' Utility Board of Oregon v. Public Utility Commission of Oregon and Utility Reform Project and ColleenO’ Neill v.
Public Utility Commission of Oregon, Public Utility Commission of Oregon Docket Nos. R 10, UE 88, and UM 989, Marion
County Oregon Circuit Court, Case No. 94C-10417, #hCourt of Appeals of the State of Oregon, the Oreyp Supreme Court,
Case No. SC 545653.

PGE, in its 1993 general rate filing, sought OP@@raval to recover through rates future decommissgpcosts and full recovery
of, and a rate of return on, its Trojan investm®@E’s request was challenged, but in August 18830PUC issued a Declaratory
Ruling in PGE’s favor. The Citizens’ Utility Boaf€CUB) appealed the decision to the Oregon Couktpgfeals.

In PGE's 1995 general rate case, the OPUC issued an(@@#5 Order) granting PGE full recovery of Trojaacdmmissioning cos

and 87% of its remaining undepreciated investmettié plant. The Utility Reform Project (URP) filad appeal of the 1995 Order
to the Marion County Circuit Court. The CUB alskedi an appeal to the Marion County Circuit Courltgnging the portion of the

1995 Order that authorized PGE to recover a rearits remaining undepreciated investment in Trojan

In April 1996, the Marion County Circuit Court issiia decision that found that the OPUC could nthi@ize PGE to collect a
return on its undepreciated investment in Trojdme T996 decision was appealed to the Oregon Coapmeals.

In June 1998, the Oregon Court of Appeals ruletttieOPUC did not have the authority to allow PG Eecover a rate of return on
its undepreciated investment in Trojan. The coamanded the matter to the OPUC for reconsideratfiés 1995 Order in light of
the court’s decision.

In September 2000, PGE, CUB, and the OPUC Stafédgiroceedings related to PGE’s recovery ofntestment in the Trojan
plant (Settlement). The URP did not participatéhim Settlement and filed a complaint with the OPd@&llenging PGE applicatiot
for approval of the accounting and ratemaking elemef the Settlement.
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In March 2002, the OPUC issued an order (Settlet@edér) denying all of the URP’s challenges andrapipg PGE’s application
for the accounting and ratemaking elements of #tdeBnent. The URP appealed the Settlement OrdéetMarion County Circuit
Court. Following various appeals and proceedings Qregon Court of Appeals issued an opinion iroet 2007 that reversed the
Settlement Order and remanded the Settlement @ydee OPUC for reconsideration.

As a result of its reconsideration of the Settlent@mler, the OPUC issued an order in September #@08equired PGE to refund
$33.1 million to customers. The Company complebeddistribution of the refund to customers, plusraed interest, as required.

In October 2008, the URP and the Class Action Bttsr{described in the Dreyer proceeding below)asately appealed the
September 2008 OPUC order to the Oregon Court peAls. On February 6, 2013, the Oregon Court ofe@fgpissued an opinion
that upheld the September 2008 OPUC order.

Drever, Gearhart and Kafoury Bros., LLC v. Portland General Electric Company, Marion County Circuit Court, Case
No. 03C 10639; and Morgan v. Portland General Eledt Company , Marion County Circuit Court, Case No. 03C 10640.

In January 2003, two class action suits were fibebllarion County Circuit Court against PGE. The mecase seeks to represent
current PGE customers that were customers durm@éhiod from April 1, 1995 to October 1, 2000 (@ut Class) and the Morgan
case seeks to represent PGE customers that weoenews during the period from April 1, 1995 to Qu#o 1, 2000, but who are no
longer customers (Former Class, together with thieedt Class, the Class Action Plaintiffs). Thasseek damages of $190 million
plus interest for the Current Class and $70 milpars interest for the Former Class, from the isiddo of a return on investment of
Trojan in the rates PGE charged its customers.

In April 2004, the Class Action Plaintiffs filedMotion for Partial Summary Judgment and in July208GE also moved for
Summary Judgment in its favor on all of the Clastigh Plaintiffs’ claims. In December 2004, the Jadjyranted the Class Action
Plaintiffs’ motion for Class Certification and RattSummary Judgment and denied PGE’s motion foni8ary Judgment. In
March 2005, PGE filed two Petitions with the Ore@upreme Court asking the Court to take jurisdiciad command the trial
Judge to dismiss the complaints, or to show caumsethey should not be dismissed, and seeking tauwvethe Class Certification.

In August 2006, the Oregon Supreme Court issuetirgron PGE’s Petitions abating these class agtiooeedings until the OPUC
responded with respect to the certain issues #thbben remanded to the OPUC by the Marion Coumtui€Court in the
proceeding described above.

In October 2006, the Marion County Circuit Coudusd an Order of Abatement in response to thegwlirthe Oregon Supreme
Court, abating the class actions for one year.

In October 2007, the Class Action Plaintiffs filedMotion with the Marion County Circuit Court tdtlthe abatement. In
February 2009, the Circuit Court judge denied thaidh to lift the abatement.

Puget Sound Energy, Inc. v. All Jurisdictional Se#rs of Energy and/or Capacity at Wholesale Into Elgric Energy and/or
Capacity Markets in the Pacific Northwest, Including Parties to the Western System Power Pool AgreentenFederal Energy
Regulatory Commission, Docket Nos. EL01-10-000, s¢q., and Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, Case Nd03-74139
(collectively, Pacific Northwest Refund proceeding)

In July 2001, the FERC called for a preliminaryd®ritiary hearing to explore whether there may Heaen unjust and unreasonable
charges for spot market sales of electricity inRlaeific Northwest from December 25, 2000 througieJ20, 2001. During that
period, PGE both sold and purchased electricithénPacific Northwest. In June 2003, the FERC idsareorder terminating the
proceeding and denying the claims for refunds.i®a#dppealed various aspects of these FERC ow#re tJ.S. Ninth Circuit Court
of Appeals (Ninth Circuit).

In August 2007, the Ninth Circuit issued its demison appeal, concluding that the FERC failed ®gadtely explain how it
considered or examined new evidence showing irteatimarket manipulation in California and the
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potential ties to the Pacific Northwest and thatERC should not have excluded from the PacifidtiNeest Refund proceeding
purchases of energy made by the California EneggoRrces Scheduling (CERS) division in the Pablficthwest spot market. The
Ninth Circuit remanded the case to the FERC tadgress the new market manipulation evidence @ildetd account for th
evidence in any future orders regarding the awaxtkaial of refunds in the proceedings, (ii) inadushles to CERS in its analysis,
and (iii) further consider its refund decision iighit of related, intervening opinions of the codte Ninth Circuit offered no opinion
on the FERC's findings based on the record estadi®y the administrative law judge and did no¢ iuh the FERC's ultimate
decision to deny refunds. After denying requestsdbearing, the Ninth Circuit, in April 2009, igxlia mandate giving immediate
effect to its August 2007 order remanding the ¢cagbe FERC.

In October 2011, the FERC issued an Order on Rerastahlishing an evidentiary hearing to determihetiver any seller had
engaged in unlawful market activity in the Pacliorthwest spot markets during the December 25, 20@ugh June 20, 2001
period by violating specific contracts or tarifégd, if so, whether a direct connection existedvben the alleged unlawful conduct
and the rate charged under the applicable conifaetFERC held that thdobile-Sierrapublic interest standard governs challenges
to the bilateral contracts at issue in this progagdand the strong presumption untitabile-Sierrathat the rates charged under each
contract are just and reasonable would have tpéefically overcome before a refund could be cedeiThe FERC directed the
presiding judge, if necessary, to determine a ikfuethodology and to calculate refunds, but heddl hmarketvide remedy was n
appropriate, given the bilateral contract naturthefPacific Northwest spot markets. Certain pautiaiming refunds filed requests
for rehearing of the Order on Remand, contestingray other things, the applicable refund periotbotéd in the Order, the use of
the Mobile-Sierrastandard, any restraints in the Order on the tygidence that could be introduced in the hearamgl the lack of
market-wide remedy. The rehearing requests renexndipg.

In December 2012, the FERC issued an order graatirigterlocutory appeal of the trial judge’s rglian the scope of the remand
proceeding. In this order, the FERC held that itdeD on Remand was not intended to alter the gestia of the law regarding the
Mobile-Sierrapresumption. The FERC also held thatMhabile-Sierrapresumption could be overcome either by (i) a shgwfat a
respondent had violated a contract or tariff arad the violation had a direct connection to the i@targed under the applicable
contract or (ii) a showing that the contract rdatessue imposed an excessive burden or seriousitydtathe public interest.

In its October 2011 Order on Remand, the FERC tieldhearing procedures in abeyance pending thésedisettlement
discussions, which it ordered be convened beftiERC settlement judge. Pursuant to the settlemectpdings, the Company
received notice of two claims and reached agreesergettle both claims for an immaterial amoutite FERC approved both
settlements during 2012.

In May 2007, the FERC approved a settlement betWggis and certain parties in the California refuasgecin Docket No. EL00-95,
et seq. This resolved the claims between PGE an@#ftifornia parties named in the settlement dsattsactions in the Pacific
Northwest during the settlement period, JanuaB000 through June 20, 2001. The settlement witlC#ldornia parties did nc
resolve potential claims from other market particifs relating to transactions in the Pacific Nodhty

The above-referenced settlements resulted in agelef the Company as a named respondent in tlégngnggmand proceedings,

which are limited to initial and direct claims f@funds, but there remains a possibility that aoldi#l claims could be asserted
against the Company in future proceedings if refusue ordered against current respondents.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

PGE's common stock is traded on the New York Stexthange (NYSE) under the ticker symbol “POR”. A§ebruary 15, 2013,
there were 1,040 holders of record of PGE’s comstook and the closing sales price of PGE’s comnimeckn that date was
$28.98 per share. The following table sets fouh ttie periods indicated, the highest and lowdssgarices of PGE’s common stock
as reported on the NYSE.

Dividends
Declared
High Low Per Share
2012
Fourth Quarter $ 28.0¢ % 24.8¢ % 0.27(
Third Quarter 27.92 26.57 0.27(
Second Quarter 26.9¢ 24 .2¢ 0.27(
First Quarter 25.62 24.2¢ 0.26¢
2011
Fourth Quarter $ 255 % 2227 % 0.26¢
Third Quarter 26.0( 21.2¢ 0.26¢
Second Quarter 26.0¢ 23.3( 0.26¢
First Quarter 24.0( 21.6¢ 0.26(

While PGE expects to pay comparable quarterly éwis on its common stock in the future, the dettaraf any dividends is at ti
discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors. Hmeount of any dividend declaration depends upotofa that the Board of
Directors deems relevant and may include, but atdéimited to, PGE'’s results of operations and fiicial condition, future capital
expenditures and investments, and applicable remyland contractual restrictions.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The following consolidated selected financial dettauld be read in conjunction with Item 7.—*Managen's Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gyiiems” and Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Seimgintary Data.”

Statement of Income Data:
Revenues, net
Gross margin
Income from operations
Net income

Net income attributable to Portland General
Electric Company

Earnings per share—basic and diluted

Dividends declared per common share
Statement of Cash Flows Data:

Capital expenditures

Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets
Total long-term debt

Total Portland General Electric Company
shareholders’ equity

Common equity ratio

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(In millions, except per share amounts)
1,80¢ $ 1,81: $ 1,78: $ 1,80¢ $ 1,74t
60% 58% 54% 48% 50%
30z $ 30¢ $ 267 $ 20¢ $ 217
14C 147 121 89 87
141 147 12t 95 87
1.87 1.9¢ 1.6€ 1.31 1.3¢
1.07¢ 1.05¢ 1.03¢ 1.01(C 0.97(
303 30C 45C 69¢ 38¢
As of December 31,
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(Dollars in millions)
5,67( $ 5,73 $ 5,491 $ 5,17z $ 4,88¢
1,63¢ 1,73¢ 1,80¢ 1,74 1,30¢
1,72¢ 1,66: 1,59: 1,54z 1,35¢4
51.1% 48.€% 46.7% 46.% 47.2%
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS.

Forward-L ooking Statements

The information in this report includes statemdhtg are forward-looking within the meaning of févate Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statementdude, but are not limited to, statements teé&ite to expectations, beliefs,
plans, assumptions and objectives concerning fatnderesults of operations, business prospectggfltads, the outcome of
litigation and regulatory proceedings, future calpixpenditures, market conditions, future eventsesformance and other matters.
Words or phrases such as “anticipates,” “believéstimates,” “expects,” “i plans,” “prexds,” “projects,” “will likely

intends,
result,” “will continue,” “should,” or similar ex@ssions are intended to identify such forward-lnglstatements.

” ou ” W M,

LT

Forward-looking statements are not guaranteestofdwperformance and involve risks and uncertasritiat could cause actual
results or outcomes to differ materially from thes@ressed. PGE'’s expectations, beliefs and projecare expressed in good faith
and are believed by PGE to have a reasonableibakigling, but not limited to, management’s exartioraof historical operating
trends and data contained in records and otheradaitable from third parties, but there can bessurance that PGéEéexpectation:
beliefs or projections will be achieved or accorsipdid.

In addition to any assumptions and other factotsraatters referred to specifically in connectiothvguch forward-looking
statements, factors that could cause actual rezutiatcomes for PGE to differ materially from thatiscussed in forward-looking
statements include:

» governmental policies and regulatory proceediagsdlits, investigations and actions, includingsthof the FERC and OPUC
with respect to allowed rates of return, financirgectricity pricing and price structures, acdigsi and disposal of facilities
and other assets, construction and operation af faailities, transmission of electricity, recoyeaf power costs and capital
investments, and current or prospective wholesaderatail competition;

» economic conditions that result in decreasedashehfor electricity, reduced revenue from salesxafess energy during
periods of low wholesale market prices, impairegficial stability of vendors and service providand elevated levels of
uncollectible customer accounts;

» the outcome of legal and regulatory proceedargsissues including, but not limited to, the mattéescribed in Note 18,
Contingencies, in the Notes to Consolidated Firddrgfatements in Item 8.— “Financial Statements Smgplementary
Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K;

* unseasonable or extreme weather and other haheaomena, which could affect customer demangdarer and PGE’s
ability and cost to procure adequate power anddupplies to serve its customers, and could inerdas Company’s costs to
maintain its generating facilities and transmissaod distribution systems;

» operational factors affecting PGE’s power getienafacilities, including forced outages, hydradamind conditions, and
disruption of fuel supply, which may cause the Campto incur repair costs, as well as increasedepawsts for
replacement power;

» the failure to complete capital projects on stthe and within budget or the abandonment of chpitgects, which could
result in the Company'’s inability to recover prdjeosts;

» volatility in wholesale power and natural gages, which could require the Company to issuetamdil letters of credit or
post additional cash as collateral with counterespursuant to existing power and natural gashase agreements;

» capital market conditions, including accessdpital, interest rate volatility, reductions in demad for investment-grade
commercial paper, as well as changes in PGE'staratitigs, which could have an impact on the Corgisarost of capital
and its ability to access the capital markets fapsu requirements for working capital, constructamsts, and the
repayments of maturing debt;
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» future laws, regulations, and proceedings thatccincrease the Company’s costs or affect theadjpas of the Company’s
thermal generating plants by imposing requireméartadditional emissions controls or significantissions fees or taxes,
particularly with respect to coal-fired generatfanilities, in order to mitigate carbon dioxide, rgry and other gas
emissions;

» changes in wholesale prices for fuels, includiatural gas, coal and oil, and the impact of szi@nges on the Company’s
power costs, and changes in the availability anckepf wholesale power;

» changes in residential, commercial, and indaisttistomer growth, and in demographic patternBGiE's service territon

» the effectiveness of PGE's risk management @sliand procedures and the creditworthiness obmests and
counterpatrties;

» declines in the fair value of equity securitiesd for the defined benefit pension plans andrdbeaefit plans, which could
result in increased funding requirements for suahg

» changes in, and compliance with, environmentalemthngered species laws and poli

» the effects of climate change, including changeahle environment that may affect energy costsomsumption, increase the
Company’s costs, or adversely affect its operations

* new federal, state, and local laws that could tztxeerse effects on operating res

» cyber security attacks, data security breaabregther malicious acts that cause damage to tiep@ny’s generation and
transmission facilities or information technologgsems, or result in the release of confidentiatamer and proprietary
information;

» employee workforce factors, including a sigrafit number of employees approaching retiremengnpiad strikes, work
stoppages, and transitions in senior management;

» political, economic, and financial market condit

» natural disasters and other risks, such as eattbgtlaod, drought, lightning, wind, and fi

» financial or regulatory accounting principles ofipies imposed by governing bodies; .

» acts of war or terrorist
Any forward-looking statement speaks only as ofdate on which such statement is made, and, easagiquired by law, PGE
undertakes no obligation to update any forward-loglstatement to reflect events or circumstancies #fe date on which such
statement is made or to reflect the occurrencanafticipated events. New factors emerge from tonémie and it is not possible for

management to predict all such factors, nor cassess the impact of any such factor on the bissorebe extent to which any
factor, or combination of factors, may cause reswitdiffer materially from those contained in dagward-looking statement.
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Overview

Operating Activities —PGE is a vertically integrated electric utilitygaged in the generation, transmission, distribyitéon retail
sale of electricity in the state of Oregon, as waelthe wholesale purchase and sale of electdaitiynatural gas in the United States
and Canada. The Company generates revenues anfiosesprimarily from the sale and distributionelectricity to customers in i
service territory.

The Company’s revenues and income from operatianglactuate during the year due to the impactseakonal weather conditions
on demand for electricity. Changes in retail pritmselectricity and in customer usage patternsi¢ivisan be affected by the
economy) also have an effect on revenues, whilatadability and price of power and fuel can afficome from operations. PGE
is a winter-peaking utility that typically experigas its highest retail energy demand during theewimeating season, with a slightly
lower peak in the summer that generally resultsifedr conditioning demand.

Customers and DemanrdThe majority of the Company’s customers are |latatghin the Portland and Salem, Oregon metropolita
areas. The December 2012 seasonally adjusted uoxmght rate for the Portland area was 7.4%, whitestate of Oregon was
8.4%, compared with the national average of 7.8B&. §tate of Oregon forecasts that the average @megemployment rate will
remain slightly above the national average at 8dg2013.

Retail energy deliveries, as shown in the tablewgetlecreased 0.8% in 2012 from the 2011 leveéctfig the effect of cooler
weather during the heating season in 2011 whileemormal seasonal weather conditions prevailechdW@012. This weather impi
is most evident with decreased deliveries to regidecustomers, despite the growth in the numibeustomers served. Energy
efficiency and conservation efforts by retail cusévs continue to influence total deliveries, altjlothe financial effects of such
efforts are intended to be mitigated by the dedagphechanism.

The following table indicates the average numbeetdil customers and deliveries, by customer cldssng the past two years:

2012 2011

Increase/
Average Average (Decrease)
Number of Energy Number of Energy in Energy
Customers Deliveries * Customers Deliveries * Deliveries
Residential 723,44( 7,50¢ 719,97 7,73 (2.9%
Commercial 103,76t 7,402 102,941 7,41¢ (0.2
Industrial 261 4,28: 25k 4,19: 2.1
Total 827,46 19,19( 823,17 19,34t (0.8%

* |n thousands of MW

Adjusted for the effects of weather, total retaiéegy deliveries in 2012 increased 0.6% compar&did . PGE projects that retail
energy deliveries for 2013 will increase in thegaf 0.5% to 1.0% from 2012 weather adjusted &\adter allowing for energy
efficiency and conservation efforts.

Power Operation—PGE utilizes a combination of its own generatiegaurces and wholesale market transactions tothmet
energy needs of its retail customers. Based on rauadactors, including plant availability, custandemand, river flows, wind
conditions, and current wholesale prices, the Campgantinuously makes economic dispatch decisiomieffort to obtain
reasonably-priced power for its retail customers.aiesult, the amount of power generated and psechin the wholesale market to
meet the Company’s retail load requirement can fram period to period.
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Plant availability is impacted by planned maintezeand forced outages, during which the respeptauet is unavailable to provide
power. PGES thermal generating plants require varying leeésnnual maintenance, which is generally perforehatihg the secor
guarter of the year. More extensive planned semviamtenance was performed in 2011, compared t& a8d 2010. Availability of
the plants PGE operates approximated 94% , 93% 939 for the years ended December 31, 2012 , 28t4d 2010 , respectively,
with the availability of Colstrip, which PGE doestroperate, approximating 93% , 84% , and 95%peetb/ely.

During the year ended December 31, 2012 , the Coypagenerating plants provided approximately 5@%soretail load
requirement, compared to 48% in 2011 and 64% i®20he lower relative volume of power generatethe®t the Compang’retai
load requirement during 2012 and 2011 was primaluly to the economic displacement of thermal géioeray energy received
from hydro resources and lower-cost purchased power

Energy received from PGE-owned hydroelectric plamig under contracts from mid-Columbia hydroelegtrojects decreased 24%
in 2012 compared to 2011 , primarily due to theietn of a contract at the end of 2011 represgragipproximately 156 MW of
capacity. These resources provided approximately @Bthe Company’s retail load requirement for 20t2mpared with 25% for
2011 and 23% for 2010 . Energy received from tlseseces exceeded projections (or “normal”) inclutethe Company’s Annual
Power Cost Update Tariff (AUT) by approximately 184ring 2012 and 13% during 2011 , compared tinfahort of such
projections by approximately 8% during 2010 . Spabjections, which are finalized with the OPUC inWémber each year,
establish the power cost component of retail prioeshe following calendar year. “Normalépresents the level of energy foreca:
to be received from hydroelectric resources forydsar and is based on average regional hydro ¢onsglitAny excess in hydro
generation from that projected in the AUT generdisplaces power from higher cost sources, whilesortfall is generally
replaced with power from higher cost sources. Basececent forecasts of regional hydro condition2013 , energy from hydro
resources is expected to be below normal for 2013 .

Energy expected to be received from wind generaBisgurces is projected annually in the AUT arfobised on wind studies
completed in connection with the permitting procefsthe wind farm. Any excess in wind generatiamnirthat projected in the AUT
generally displaces power from higher cost sounwbde any shortfall is generally replaced with govirom higher cost sources.
Energy received from wind generating resourcessfadit of that projected in PGE’s AUT by 20% in 20113% in 2011 and 27% in
2010.

Pursuant to the Company’s PCAM, customer pricesbeaadjusted to reflect a portion of the differebeéwveen each year's
forecasted net variable power costs (NVPC) includgatices (baseline NVPC) and actual NVPC forythar, to the extent such
difference is outside of a pre-determined “deadiPamtlich ranges from $15 million below to $30 nilti above baseline NVPC. To
the extent actual NVPC is above or below the derdibilhe PCAM provides for 90% of the variance tabkected from or refunded
to customers, respectively, subject to a regulasedings test. The following is a summary of thpacts of the PCAM for 2012,
2011 and 2010.

 For 2012, actual NVPC was $17 million belowddae NVPC, and $2 millioabove the lower deadband threshold, resu
in a potential refund due to customers. Howevesetlan results of the regulated earnings teststimated refund to
customers was recorded as of December 31, 2012 .

e For 2011, actual NVPC was $34 million belowddame NVPC, which is $19 million above the loweradband threshold,
resulting in a potential refund to customers. A®etember 31, 2011, PGE recorded an estimateddéfucustomers of
approximately $10 million , which was reduced frdre potential refund based on the application efrdgulated earnings
test. During 2012, the estimated refund to custemers further reduced to $6 million after the agation of an updated
regulated earnings test.

* For 2010, actual NVPC was approximately $12iomlbelow baseline NVPC, but within the establglieadband range;
accordingly, no refund to customers was recordeaf 8ecember 31, 2010 .

Any estimated collection from customers pursuanh&PCAM is recorded in Purchased power and fuié Companyg statemen
of income in the period of accrual, while any rafua customers is recorded in Revenues.
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For further information concerning the PCAM $&mwer Costsinder “State of Oregon Regulationfi the Regulation and Rates
section of Iltem 1.—“Business.”

General Rate Case—On February 15, 2013, PGE filed with the OPUC 2£2General Rate Case, which is based on a 2014 test
year. PGE requested a $105 million increase in @mewenues, representing an approximate 6% oviecaflase in customer prices.
The requested increase includes improvements stimxipower plants and wind forecasting, new Clatks River fish-sorting
facilities, a disaster-preparedness center, teolggdhvestments, employee benefit costs and cong®iavith new federal
regulations. In addition, PGE is proposing a cagitaicture of 50% debt and 50% equity, a retureguity of 10%, a cost of capital
of 7.86%, and an average rate base of approxim@8lyhbillion.

Regulatory review of the 2014 General Rate Casecwaiitinue throughout 2013, with a final order esfieel to be issued by the
OPUC by mid-December 2013. New customer priceggpected to become effective January 1, 2014.

Capital Requirements and Financing—PGE'’s capital requirements of $303 million in 2Qd&#marily related to ongoing capital
expenditures for the upgrade, replacement, andnsiqgna of transmission, distribution and generatidrastructure, as well as
technology enhancements and expenditures relategbto licensing. During 2012 , cash from operaioh$494 million funded the
Company'’s capital requirements and the redemptiéi00 million of long-term debt.

Capital expenditures in 2013 are expected to apmate $514 million , which includes $161 milliorlated to the new natural gas-
fired capacity resource, Port Westward Unit 2, $&dnillion related to the Cascade Crossing transionsproject described below.
This estimate excludes additional costs, descrigdolv, that may be required in connection withdbiecome of the Company’s
RFPs for energy and renewable resources:

Power Resources-In accordance with PGE’s IRP and pursuant to tR&JO's competitive bidding guidelines, the Comp.
issued two RFPs during 2012 for additional genenatésources - one for capacity and energy (badeteaources and one
for renewable resources.

The RFP for capacity and energy resources is sgekimddition to capacity and flexible peakinga@ses, approximately
300 MW to 500 MW of baseload energy resources. R&Fevaluated the energy resource bids receivddyasdeveloped
short list of bids for negotiation, with final rasge selection expected by mid-2013. The baseloargg resources are
expected to be available in the 2014 to 2017 tiameé.

The RFP for renewable resources is seeking appedglyn100 MWa of renewable resources, which woel@éxpected to be
available to meet PGE'’s 2015 requirements undeg@rs renewable energy standard. The Company is&iag the
renewable resources bids received, and expeatslssfiort list in early March 2013, with final resoe selection by mid-
2013.

An independent evaluator selected by the OPUCI@rigeconduct the RFPs and reviewing bids to enanrebjective and
impartial process.

Transmission Capacity-Pursuant to the Company’s IRP, PGE has been ipriheess of developing new transmission
capacity from Boardman, Oregon to Salem, Oregodeua project known as Cascade Crossing Transmigsimject, or
“Cascade Crossing.” This project was originallygmseed as a 215-mile, 500 kV transmission projebetp meet future
electricity demand. As PGE has worked with BPAhe tormulation of the project and potential parshgrs, the scope of t
project has evolved. In January 2013, the Compatsred into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOUNEPA to
pursue modifications to PGE’s originally proposedjgct. Under this modified proposal, the transimisdine would
terminate at a new substation called Pine Grova, eawupin, Oregon (approximately midway betweenrBosn and
Salem), eliminating construction of approximatedi Iniles of the originally proposed transmissio®liThis modification
would avoid most impacts to the Confederated Tridféd/arm Springs Reservation, the
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Mt. Hood and Willamette national forests, and peviorest and agricultural land in Marion and Li@aunties, and would
reduce land acquisition, construction and enviramialeémpacts, as well as resulting mitigation costs

In addition to construction of the new transmisdiaoa, PGE would build the new Pine Grove substatiostall series
capacitors on existing BPA transmission lines aaterother enhancements to the regional grid thatdriacrease
transmission capacity. In return, PGE would recemain transmission capacity rights from BPA hahie details of such
rights subject to further negotiation. The MOU gisovides for the parties to negotiate an exchaviggreby PGE would
obtain from BPA ownership of additional transmiss@apacity in exchange for ownership and/or rightsertain PGE
assets. Subject to the outcome of negotiationantiified proposal would provide PGE a total oftaf2,600 MWs of
transmission capacity that could be staged to camlée in phases as needed,

Construction of the new transmission line from Rivaan to the Pine Grove substation could start dg @82017, with an
estimated construction period of at least two yeasshe parties continue negotiation of the teama conditions of the
modified proposal, the estimated costs and timedirtbe project will be clarified. However, PGE exjs the cost of the full
project scope, as modified, to be at least $800amil

For additional information concerning PGE’s IRP &nel projects discussed above, séaiture Energy Resource Stratégy the
Power Supply section of Item 1.—“Business” an@apital Requirementsin the Liquidity and Capital Resources sectiorttiis
ltem 7.

For 2013, PGE expects to fund estimated capitalireapents and contractual maturities of $100 millad long-term debt with cash
from operations, short-term debt, or long-termiiciags. Cash from operations is expected to apprata $468 million for 2013.
The Company expects that the timing and amounttofé issuances of debt and equity securitiesdelend primarily on the
outcome of the Company’s RFPs for energy and rebkwasources, as well as the timing and scopeast&le Crossing. For
further information, see the Liquidity and Debt d&glity Financings sections of this Item 7.

Legal, Regulatory and Environmental Matters—PGE is a party to certain proceedings, the ulénoattcome of which could have
a material impact on the results of operationsaash flows in future reporting periods. Such proasgs include, but are not limited
to, matters related to:

* Recovery of the Comparg/investment in its closed Trojan ple
» Claims for refunds related to wholesale enegggssduring 2000 2001 in the Pacific Northwest Refund proceedingl

* An investigation of environmental matters at Powdlddarbor

For additional information regarding the above atfter matters, see Note 18, Contingencies, in thtes\to Consolidated Financial
Statements in Item 8.—"“Financial Statements anc®apentary Data.”

The following discussion highlights certain regalgtitems, which have impacted the Company'’s reesntesults of operations, or
cash flows for 2012, or have affected customereggias authorized by the OPUC. In some cases,aimp&hy deferred the related
expenses or benefits as regulatory assets oriti@bjlrespectively, for later amortization andlirsion in customer prices, pending
OPUC review and authorization:

Boardman Operating Life Adjustme—In PGE's 2011 General Rate Case, the OPUC approved fthatfprovides a mechanism
future consideration of customer price changedaélto the recovery of the Company’s remaining stweent in Boardman over a
shortened operating life. Pursuant to the tatik, ©PUC approved recovery of increased depreciatipense reflecting a change in
the retirement date of Boardman from 2040 to 20t new prices effective July 1, 2011. The taaiffo provides for annual updz
to the revenue requirements with revised pricaake effect each January 1.
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Power Costs—Pursuant to the AUT process, PGE files annuallgstimate of power costs for the following yeartHa event a
general rate case is filed in any given year, fasezd power costs would be included in such fillngNovember 2011, the OPUC
issued an order on the 2012 AUT resulting in aimeded decrease in customer prices as a resulipeicéed lower power costs. The
new prices became effective January 1, 2012 and asected to result in a decline of approxima$g million in annual
revenues compared to 2011. Actual net variable poogs for 2012 were $17 million below what wapented in the AUT.

The 2013 AUT filing, which forecast power costs 213 to be lower than 2012, was approved by thd©&nd became effective
January 1, 2013, with an expected reduction in ahmavenues of $36 million.

In July 2012, the Company submitted to the OPUGd¢kalts of its PCAM for 2011 based on an updagedlated earnings test,
which resulted in a refund to customers of appraxety $6 million. In October 2012, the OPUC issaadrder approving the
refund, with the impact to customer prices effexthanuary 1, 2013. For further information, s&oiver Operations'’in the
Operating Activities section of this Overview, albov

Renewable Resource Costdursuant to a renewable adjustment clause (RAChareésm, PGE can recover in customer prices
prudently incurred costs of renewable resourcesatigaexpected to be placed in service in the ntigrear. The Company may
submit a filing to the OPUC by April 1st each yeaith prices to become effective January 1st offttlewing year. As part of the
RAC, the OPUC has authorized the deferral of diigdmsts not yet included in customer prices uhélJanuary 1st effective date.

In March 2012, PGE submitted, and the OPUC subsdlyuspproved, a filing for the installation of mall solar facility that
requested a nominal credit to customer prices favesyear period that began January 1, 2013, resultorg the gain on the sale ¢
lease-back transaction directly related to theqatoj

Decoupling Mechanism-The decoupling mechanism, which is currently ar#eal through 2013, is intended to provide for
recovery of margin lost as a result of a reductipelectricity sales attributable to energy efficg and conservation efforts by
residential and certain commercial customers. Taehanism provides for collection from (or refunyicastomers if weather
adjusted use per customer is less (or more) tretrptbjected in the Company’s most recent genatalgase. Collection or refund is
expected to occur over one-year periods, whichrbégne 1 of the following year. For the year endedember 31, 2012, the
Company recorded an estimated refund of $1 milkamch resulted primarily from slightly higher woat adjusted use per
customer than that projected in the 2011 Genertd Rase.

Capital deferral—In the 2011 General Rate Case, the OPUC authotime@ompany to defer the costs associated withdapital
projects that were not completed at the time tHelZBeneral Rate Case was approved. A regulatoeg as$15 million was
recorded in 2012, for potential recovery in custoprices, subject to an earnings test, with anetfifsg credit to Depreciation and
amortization expense. The Company expects to subfilibg to the OPUC by mi@013 for recovery of the deferral, with a resul
tariff effective January 1, 2014.
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Results of Operations

The following tables provide financial and operatibinformation to be considered in conjunctionhwitanagemerd’discussion an
analysis of results of operations.

The consolidated statements of income for the yer@sented (dollars in millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
As % As % As %
Amount of Rev Amount of Rev Amount of Rev
Revenues, net $ 1,80¢ 100% $ 1,81: 100% $ 1,78: 10(%
Purchased power and fuel 72€ 40 76C 42 82¢ 46
Gross margin 1,07¢ 60 1,052 58 954 54
Operating expenses:
Production and distribution 211 12 201 11 174 10
Administrative and other 21€ 12 21¢ 12 18€ 11
Depreciation and amortization 24¢ 14 227 13 23¢ 13
Taxes other than income taxes 10z 5 98 5 89 5
Total operating expenses 777 43 744 41 687 39
Income from operations 30z 17 30¢ 17 267 15
Other income:
Allowance for equity funds used during
construction 6 — 5 — 13 1
Miscellaneous income, net 4 — 1 — 4 —
Other income, net 10 — 6 — 17 1
Interest expense 10€ 6 11C 6 11C 6
Income before income taxes 204 11 20& 11 174 10
Income taxes 64 3 58 3 53 3
Net income 14C 8 147 8 121 7
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling iasts Q) — — — 4 —
Net income attributable to Portland General
Electric Company $ 141 8% $ 147 8% $ 12E 7%
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Revenues, energy deliveries (based in MWh), andageenumber of retail customers consist of thetalhg for the years presented:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Revenues® (dollars in millions):
Retail:
Residential $ 86( 48% $ 871 48% $ 80:3 45%
Commercial 63z 34 63t 3E 601 34
Industrial 22¢ 13 22¢ 13 221 12
Subtotal 1,71¢ 95 1,73¢ 96 1,62¢ 91
Other accrued (deferred) revenues, net 4 — (1€) D 39 2
Total retail revenues 1,72% 95 1,72 9t 1,66¢ 93
Wholesale revenues 49 3 6C 3 87 5
Other operating revenues 33 2 31 2 32 2
Total revenues $ 1,80¢ 10(% $ 1,81 10C% $ 1,78 10(%
Energy deliveries® (MWh in thousands):
Retail:
Residential 7,50¢ 35% 7,73 36 % 7,452 35%
Commercial 7,40z 35 7,41¢ 35 7,277 34
Industrial 4,28¢ 20 4,19¢ 1¢ 4,00¢ 19
Total retail energy deliveries 19,19( a0 19,34 9C 18,73 88
Wholesale energy deliveries 2,24¢ 10 2,14: 1C 2,58( 12
Total energy deliveries 21,43¢ 100% 21,48" 10C % 21,31 10C%
Average number of retail customers:
Residential 723,441 87% 719,97 87% 717,71¢ 88%
Commercial 103,76t 13 102,94( 13 102,28 12
Industrial 261 — 25E — 26E —
Total 827,46 100%  823,17: 10C% 820,26t 10C%

(1) Includes both revenues from customers who purctieeseenergy supplies from the Company and revefroesthe delivery of energy to
those commercial and industrial customers thathase their energy from ESSs.

(2) Includes both energy sold to retail customers aradtgy deliveries to those commercial and industugtomers that purchase their energy
from ESSs.
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PGE's sources of energy, including total systend lmad retail load requirement, for the years prieskare as
follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Sources of energy (MWh in thousands):
Generation:
Thermal:
Coal 3,61( 17% 4,12¢ 1% 4,98¢ 23%
Natural gas 2,88 14 2,13¢ 1C 4,46( 21
Total thermal 6,49: 31 6,26° 2¢ 9,44¢ 44
Hydro 1,94: 9 1,93 9 1,83( 9
Wind 1,12¢ 5 1,21¢ 6 83:< 4
Total generation 9,56( 45 9,41z 44 12,10° 57
Purchased power:
Term 7,38 35 6,252 2¢ 3,98¢ 19
Hydro 1,72¢ 8 2,891 13 2,415 11
Wind 31¢ 1 26¢ 1 297 1
Spot 2,28t 11 2,76: 13 2,61¢ 12
Total purchased power 11,71« 55 12,18 56 9,31¢ 43
Total system load 21,27« 10C% 21,59: 100% 21,42: 10C%
Less: wholesale sales (2,249 (2,142 (2,580
Retail load requirement 19,02¢ 19,45: 18,84

Net income attributable to Portland General Electrc Companyfor the year ended December 31, 2012 was $14lomillor$1.87
per diluted share, compared to $147 million , a®$lper diluted share, for the year ended Dece®be?011 . The $6 million , or

4% , decrease in net income was primarily drivethey3% decrease in retail energy deliveries teasial customers, primarily
resulting from warmer weather during the heatirgsea, which was partially offset by a 3% decrease/erage variable power cost.
Decreased average variable power cost was drivéowi®r wholesale power and natural gas prices. #dYPC was $17 million
below the baseline NVPC established in the AUT2@12, compared to $34 million below the baselin2dil. In addition, a higher
effective income tax rate and increased pensioermesg contributed to the decrease in net incomee@ifig these decreases, was the
deferral of $15 million of costs related to foupital projects during 2012.

Net income attributable to Portland General Elec@®mpany for the year endDecember 31, 2011 was $147 million , or $1.95 per
diluted share, compared to $125 million , or $IJpé6 diluted share, for the year ended Decembe2(®l) . The $22 million , or

18% , increase in net income was primarily duégnéodombined effects of a 3% increase in total Ireteérgy deliveries, a 4%
increase in customer retail prices, and a 9% deereaaverage variable power cost. Decreased avee@ble power cost was
driven by the economic displacement of a signifieanount of thermal generation with lower cost pased power and increased
energy received from lower cost hydro and wind veses. As a result of decreased NVPC, actual NVBE $84 million below
baseline NVPC in 2011, compared to $12 million@1@. Offsetting these increases to net income Wetteer employee-related
costs.
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2012 Compared to 2011

Revenuedecreased $8 million in 2012 compared with 2014 eesult of the net effect of the items discusssdvb.

Total retail revenuesvere comparable with the prior year due primaulyte net effect of the following items:

* An $18 million increase as a result of creditsvided to customers in 2011 (offset in Deprecratmd amortization), with no
comparable refund in 2012. The customer creditewe result of tax credits the Company had accatadlover several
years in relation to the Independent Spent Fugb8tolnstallation located at the former Trojan;site

* A $14 million increase related to the PCAM, asatimated refund to customers in the amount 6frillion was recorded
in 2011 compared with a $4 million reduction in #®imated PCAM refund for the 2011 year recorae20il2. No
estimated refund or collection was recorded undePCAM related to the 2012 year. For further disan of the PCAM,
see “Purchased power and fuel expense,” below; and

* A $17 million increase resulting from supplenanariffs and several small regulatory items, viargece primarily offset in
other line items in the statements of income and tlave no effect on income. The largest contrilsuimounted to $5
million for the recovery of costs under the solae#-In Tariff and $3 million for the recovery ofpenses related to the
Trojan refund; offset by

« A $34 million decrease related to the volume dditeinergy sold and delivered. Residential volumes: down 3%,
primarily driven by warmer temperatures during hieating season in 2012. Deliveries to industrigtamers were up 2%
due largely to increased demand from the high telclyy sector; and

« A 315 million decrease related to changes in thegage retail price, resulting primarily from tarithanges effective January
1, 2012 as authorized by the OPUC including loweicgpated power costs included in the AUT parjiaifset by a $7
million net annual increase related to the tanfffecovery of Boardman over a shortened operédifeigncremental
revenues under the Boardman tariff for the fullry2@12 were $14 million compared with $7 milliorr the last six months
of 2011.

Heating degree-days in 2012 were 2% less than3hear average provided by the National Weathevi€zras measured at
Portland International Airport, and decreased 10%mared with 2011 , which had 10% more heatingekegays than the 15-year
average. The following table indicates the numliexctual heating and cooling degree-days for thimgde presented, along with the
15-year averages:

Heating Cooling
Degree-Days Degree-Days
2012 2011 2012 2011
1st Quarter 1,967 1,974 — =
2nd Quarter 70¢ 94¢ 40 16
3rd Quarter 58 51 39t 34¢€
4th Quarter 1,43t 1,67¢ 1 —
Full Year 4,16¢ 4,65( 43€ 362
15-year Full Year average 4,23¢ 4,21¢ 45€ 464

On a weather adjusted basis, retail energy dedisen 2012 increased 0.6% compared to 2011 . Dedéo residential, commercial,
and industrial customers increased by 0.4%, 0.2fb,1a7%, respectively. PGE projects that retairgyéeliveries for 2013 will
increase in the range of 0.5% to 1.0% from 2@&2ather adjusted levels, after allowing for enezfficiency and conservation effor

Wholesale revenuessult from sales of electricity to utilities andvger marketers that are made in the Company’steftorsecure
reasonably priced power for its retail customeranage risk, and administer its current long-ternola$ale contracts. Such sales can
vary significantly from year to year as a resuleobnomic conditions, power and fuel prices, hyaitrd wind availability, and
customer demand.
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In 2012 , wholesale revenues decreased $11 mjlliwri8% , from 2011 levels as a result of theaffetct of the following:

» A $14 million decrease related to a 22% dedinghe average wholesale price the Company recedrdgen by lower
electricity market prices due to the relatively Iprice of natural gas and a surplus of hydro geiweran the region; partially
offset by

« A $3 million increase due to a 5% increase in wkale energy sales volur

Purchased power and fuekxpense includes the cost of power purchased ahdi$ed to generate electricity to meet PGE’slretai
load requirements, as well as the cost of setllectréec and natural gas financial contracts. In20Purchased power and fuel
expense decreased $34 million , or 4% , from 204ith, $19 million related to a 3% decrease in ageraariable power cost and $11
million related to a 1% decrease in total systeauld’he average variable power cost was $34.28 ¢ in 2012 compared to
$35.15 per MWh in 2011 . Actual NVPC was $17 milliselow baseline NVPC established in the AUT fat20compared with $34
million below baseline NVPC in 2011.

The mix of the decrease in Purchased power ancefyminse largely consisted of:

« A $49 million decrease in the cost of purchasedgroweonsisting of $30 million related to a 6% desein average cost and
$19 million related to a 4% decrease in purchaBes.decrease in average cost was primarily driyelower wholesale
power prices resulting from favorable hydro corutii and low natural gas prices; partially offset by

« A $19 million increase in the cost of generatiommgarily due to an increase in the proportion ofveo provided by the
Company’s natural gas-fired generating plants, mgei5% of PGE’s retail load requirement in 201thpared to 11% in
2011. Energy from natural gas-fired generationgased 35% and the average cost of such generaioeated 16% on
lower natural gas prices. The average cost of poeeerated increased 5% in 2012 compared to 2011.

Energy from PGE-owned wind generating resourcegldBi Canyon) decreased 7% from 2011 , and repredeéd® of the
Company’s retail load requirement in 2012 and it220The decrease from prior year was due to unée wind conditions, with
energy received from Biglow Canyon falling shorfpobdjections included in the Company’s AUT by apgneately 20% in 2012
compared to 13% in 2011 .

Hydroelectric energy, from PGE-owned hydroelegtricjects and from mid-Columbia projects combinextrdased 24% during
2012 from 2011, which was primarily the resultloé £xpiration of a contract related to a mid-Coliangroject that represented
approximately 156 MW of capacity. Favorable hydonditions in both 2012 and 2011 resulted in toyalrbelectric energy received
for each respective year exceeding that projectéldd Company’s AUT by approximately 11% for 2@ha13% for 2011 Based o
recent forecasts of regional hydro conditions ii@20energy from hydro resources is expected toe@v normal levels.
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The following table indicates the forecast of therikto-September 2013 runoff (issued February2l8,3) compared to the actual
runoffs for 2012 and 2011 (as a percentage of nipasaneasured over the 30-year period from 19utih 2000):

Runoff as a Percent of Normal

2013 2012 2011
Location Forecast Actual Actual
Columbia River at The Dalles, Oregon 8% 12€% 135%
Mid-Columbia River at Grand Coulee, Washington 90 12¢ 12¢
Clackamas River at Estacada, Oregon 98 135 13E
Deschutes River at Moody, Oregon 92 11¢€ 12C

*  Volumetric water supply forecasts for the Pacifiortiiwest region are prepared by the Northwest Rtegecast Center in conjunction
the Natural Resources Conservation Service and otfuperating agencies.

Gross margin,which represents the difference between Revenwkfarchased power and fuel expense, is among those
performance indicators utilized by management énathalysis of financial and operating results andtended to supplement the
understanding of PGE’s operating performance.dvigles a measure of income available to suppo#graiperating activities and
expenses of the Company and serves as a usefullirmdasunderstanding and analyzing changes inatipgrperformance between
reporting periods. It is considered a “non-GAARafigial measure,” as defined in accordance with BE&£S, and is not intended to
replace operating income as determined in accoedaith GAAP.

As a percent of Revenues, Gross margin was 60%18 2ompared to 58% in 201The increase in Gross margin was largely d
certain regulatory items that reduced gross marg2911. During 2011, PGE provided customers aetii credits in the amount of
$18 million and recorded an estimated refund taacusrs of $10 million related to the PCAM, bothtleése regulatory items redut
gross margin for 2011.

Production and distribution expense increased $10 million , or 5% , in 2012 pam@d to 2011 , primarily due to the following:
* A $4 million increase due to higher maintenacasts of the Company’generating plants and distribution sys
* A $3 million increase due to an insurance recovelgted to the Selective Water Withdrawal projeciorded in 2011; a

* A $3 million increase due to higher delivery systaivor cost:

Administrative and other expense decreased $2 million , or 1% , in 2012 ewatpto 2011 , primarily due to the net effecthef t
following:

» A $6 million decrease due to expenses relatedftorivation technology upgrades in 20
* A $3 million decrease related to higher widtiés of uncollectible customer accounts in 2(
* A $2 million decrease in compensation expense pifyndue to lower incentive compensation in 201&rtjally offset b

* A $7 million increase in employee pension exgsngsulting from a lower discount rate and love¢unn on pension trust
assets; and

» A 3$3 million increase due to the amortization ofedleed expenses related to the Trojan refund (bffsBevenues
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Depreciation and amortizationexpense increased $21 million , or 9% , in 2012pmaned to 2011 , due largely to the net effect of
the following:
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» An $18 million increase related to the amortizatidrcustomer refunds for the ISFSI tax credits@ X offset in Revenue:

* A $13 million increase in depreciation experalated to a shorter operating life for the Boardipkamt (effective July 2011
and offset in Revenues), and other capital additinoluding emissions control retrofits at the Rivaan plant;

» A $5 million increase in amortization relatedthe Solar Feeth Tariff (offset in Revenues); partially offset

» A $15 million decrease related to the 2012 dafef costs related to four capital projects asraped in the 2011 General
Rate Case.

Taxes other than income taxegcreased $4 million , or 4% , in 2012 compare@@a1 , primarily due to higher property taxes
resulting from increased property values and tgestaAlso contributing to the increase were highamnchise fees.

Other income, netwas $10 million in 2012 compared to $6 million iB12 . The increase is primarily due to higher inednom the
non-qualified benefit plan trust.

Interest expensedecreased $2 million , or 2% in 2012 , as comptweéD11 , primarily due to lower interest resultingm a lower
average outstanding balance of long-term debt.

Income taxesincreased $6 million , or 10% , in 2012 , compared011 , with effective tax rates of 31.4% and328for 2012 and
2011, respectively. The increase in the effedierate is primarily due to the change in appartient of state income taxes, which
resulted in an increase to deferred taxes. Thegehsmapportionment was caused by lower wholesdés sn Washington, which has
no corporate income tax, resulting in more taxaieme being apportioned to Oregon.

2011 Compared to 2010
Revenuesncreased $30 million , or 2% , in 2011 compared@0 as a result of the net effect of the itenssulised below.

Total retail revenuemcreased $58 million, or 3%, due primarily to fbowing items:

» A $62 million increase related to the volumeethil energy sold. Residential volumes were up géarily driven by
cooler temperatures in the heating seasons. Ii@gdtommercial and industrial deliveries were33p due largely to
increased demand from the paper sector;

= A $61 million increase related to changes in agerretail price that resulted primarily from th8% overall increase
effective January 1, 2011 authorized by the OPUthénCompanys 2011 General Rate Case and an increase effdclivd,
2011 related to the recovery of Boardman over atshed operating life; partially offset by

« An $18 million decrease as a result of the ISF$ktadits refund recorded in 2011 (offset in Defaéen and amortization),
with no comparable refund in 2010;

« An $18 million decrease related to the deferrakeknue requirements for Biglow Canyon in 2010,alhias included in
Other accrued revenues. In 2011, the recoverygbRi Canyon is included in the average retail pdiszussed above as a
result of the 2011 General Rate Case;

¢ A $10 million decrease related to the decouplingmaaism, which is included in Other accrued revenlre2011, a $2
million refund to customers was recorded, whichultesl primarily from slightly higher weather adjedtuse per customer
than that approved in the 2011 General Rate Casend other things, the 2011 General Rate Casettesbiseline used i
the decoupling mechanism. An $8 million collectfoom customers was recorded in 2010, resulting fimwer weather
adjusted use per customer than that approved i2d0@ General Rate Case;
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+ A $10 million decrease related to an estimatedne@to customers, pursuant to the PCAM, recordetdil and included in
Other accrued revenues, with no amount record@@1f. For further discussion of the PCAM, see “Rased power and
fuel expense,” below;

« A $7 million decrease related to the regulatorgtiment of income taxes (Senate Bill 408) primadlilie to an adjustment
recorded in 2010 that pertained to the 2009 lighivhich was included in Other accrued revenuesa& Bill 408 was
repealed in 2011 and no longer applies to tax yafdes 2009; and

« A $5 million decrease due to the 2010 reversal défarral for customer refunds pursuant to an OBter related to the
2005 Oregon Corporate Tax Kicker, which was inctlioleOther accrued revenues.

Heating degree-days in 2011 were 10% greater timf3-year average and increased 11% compared @, 2¢hile cooling degree-
days increased 15% from 2010 . The following tatticates the number of heating and cooling dedgeges for the periods
presented, along with 15-year averages providetidational Weather Service, as measured at Rdrifgernational Airport and
illustrates that weather effects increased the denfar electricity in 2011 over 2010 :

Heating Cooling
Degree-Days Degree-Days
2011 2010 2011 2010
1st Quarter 1,97¢ 1,62¢ — —
2nd Quarter 94¢ 861 16 18
3rd Quarter 51 117 34¢ 29¢€
4th Quarter 1,67¢ 1,58( — —
Full Year 4,65( 4,18 362 314
15-year Full Year average 4,21¢ 4,19 464 47z

On a weather adjusted basis, retail energy dedigen 2011 increased 1.4% compared to 2010 , Withattributable to the paper
production sector. Deliveries to residential, comeia, and industrial customers increased by 0.2%%0, and 5.3%, respectively.
Wholesale revenues 2011 decreased $27 million , or 31% , from 284@& result of the following:

* A 3$14 million decrease due to a 17% decline in whale energy sales volume;

* A $13 million decrease related to a 17% dedinthe average wholesale price the Company recedriagen by lower

electricity market prices due to abundant hydrthregion.

Purchased power and fuekxpense decreased $69 million , or 8% , in 201rh 2610 , with $75 million related to a 9% decreiase
average variable power cost, partially offset byn$llion related to a 1% increase in total systead. The average variable power
cost was $35.15 per MWh in 2011 and $38.68 per MiM2010 .

The mix of the decrease in Purchased power anceiyinse consisted of:

« A $71 million decrease in the cost of generatiaimarily driven by a decrease in the proportiorpotver provided by
Company-owned thermal generating resources. D@@g. , a significant amount of thermal generati@s wconomically
displaced by lower cost purchased power and inettasergy received from lower cost hydro and wiedegating resource
relative to 2010 . The average cost of power géeeracreased 1% in 2011 compared to 2010 ; and

« A $2 million increase in the cost of purchased powensisting of $151 million related to a 31% e&se in purchases,
substantially offset by $149 million related to202 decrease in average cost. The decrease in
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average cost was primarily driven by lower wholegawer prices resulting from favorable hydro ctinds.

Energy received from PGE-owned wind generatinguesss (Biglow Canyon) increased 46% from 2010 , r@pdesented 6%f the
Company’s retail load requirement in 2011 compaoet?s in 2010 . These increases were due to theigt®@P10 completion of the
third and final phase of Biglow Canyon and favoealvind conditions in 2011 relative to 2010 . Energgeived from wind
generating resources fell short of projectionsudel in the Company’s AUT by approximately 13% @12 and 27% in 2010 .

For 2011 , energy received from PGE-owned hydrdeteglants and under contracts from mid-Columbigjgxts exceeded that
projected in the Company’s 2011 AUT by 13% and b#¥pared to 2010 . For 2010 , energy received thase hydroelectric
resources fell short of projections included in @@mpany’s 2010 AUT by approximately 8% .

Actual NVPC was $34 million below baseline NVPQi0iL1, compared with $12 million below baseline NVIRQ010.

Gross marginwas 58% in 2011 compared to 54% in 2010 . The as&@én Gross margin was driven by the 9% decreagedrage
variable power cost and increases of 3% in retedtgy deliveries and 4% in retail customer prieessutting from the 2011 General
Rate Case, which became effective January 1, 20Mdla tariff for the recovery of Boardman over ardmed operating life, which
became effective July 1, 2011.

Production and distribution expense increased $27 million , or 16% , in 20Ihmared to 2010 , primarily due to the following:

» A $10 million increase due to increased opegatind maintenance expenses at the Company’s thgematating plants
(including extensive work performed during theiaqmhed annual outages) and at Biglow Canyon, tia fiilnase of which
was completed in August 2010;

* A $9 million increase to distribution system erpes primarily related to increased informatiaht®logy costs and tree
trimming activities; and

* An $8 million increase related to higher labor @ntployee benefit cos

Administrative and other expense increased $32 million , or 17% , in 20Thpared to 2010 , primarily due to the following:

» A $13 million increase primarily due to highersion and employee benefit expenses, and incréasetive compensation
related to an improvement in corporate financia aperating performance for 2011;

* A $5 million increase related to higher informattechnology cost
* A $4 million increase in fees related to variougdleand environmental proceedir
e A $3 million increase in the provision and wrd# of certain uncollectible customer accounts;

* A $2 million increase related to higher OPUCulegpry fees resulting from higher prices in 20filly offset in Retail
revenues).

Depreciation and amortizationexpense decreased $11 million , or 5% , in 2011pewed to 2010 , due largely to the net effect of
the following:

* An $18 million decrease related to the amortizatboustomers refunds for the ISFSI tax credités@ifin Revenues

* A $12 million decrease related to increasesstimated useful lives and reductions to estimagedoval costs of certain long-
lived assets due to an updated depreciation study;
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» A $4 million decrease related to the impairmess recognized in 2010 on photovoltaic solar pdiaeilities, the majority of
which was allocated to noncontrolling interest®tigh the Net loss attributable to the noncontrgllimterest. For additional
information, see Note 16, Variable Interest Enditie the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemgciuded in ltem 8.—
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”jgbrioffset by

* A $21 million increase in depreciation relatedhe August 2010 completion of the third and fiplahse of Biglow Canyon
wind farm, Boardman shortened operating life, theaB8 Meter project, and other capital additionkbe 2010 and in 2011,
and

* A 3$2 million increase in amortization related tadhyelectric license

Taxes other than income taxesicreased $9 million , or 10% , in 2011 compare#@a0 , primarily due to higher property taxes,
resulting from both increased property values amxdates, and higher city franchise fees relatéddieased Retail revenues.

Other income, netwas $6 million in 2011 compared to $17 million id1® . The decrease was primarily due to the fothguwi

* An $8 million decrease in the allowance for égfiinds used during construction, as a resulowilr construction work in
progress balances during 2011 , related primavithé August 2010 completion of third and final phaf Biglow Canyon
wind farm; and

* A $5 million decrease in income from non-qualifibenefit plan trust assets, resulting from ammahioss in the fair value of
the plan assets in 2011 compared to a $5 milliom iga2010 .

Interest expensean 2011 was comparable to 2010 , as a $6 milliaretese in the allowance for funds used during coasbn,
primarily driven by the August 2010 completion bétthird and final phase of Biglow Canyon wind famas offset by lower intere
on long-term debt and certain regulatory liabititie

Income taxesincreased $5 million , or 9% , in 2011 compare@t0, primarily due to higher income before taxes id2Qpartially
offset by increased federal wind production taxditee(PTCs) in that year. The effective tax rate8.8% in 2011 and 30.3% in
2010 ) differ from the federal statutory rate priityadue to benefits from PTCs and state tax ceedin increase in PTCs, related to
increased production from the completed Biglow @emwind farm, was partially offset by an increaséhe state income tax rate
and a reduction in state tax credits.

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interestsrepresents the noncontrolling interests’ portiothef net loss of PGE’s less-than-

wholly-owned subsidiaries, the majority of which2@10 consists of impairment losses recognizedemhotovoltaic solar power
facilities, discussed previously in Depreciationl @mortization.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Discussions, forward-looking statements and praastin this section, and similar statements irepfarts of the Form 10-K, are
subject to PGE’s assumptions regarding the avétiabind cost of capital. See “Current capital aneldit market conditions could
adversely affect the Company’s access to capitat, @f capital, and ability to execute its stratggian as currently scheduled.” in
Item 1A.—“Risk Factors.”

Capital Requirements

The following table indicates actual capital expumés for 2012 and future debt maturities andgmtgd cash requirements for 2013
through 2017 (in millions, excluding AFDC):

Years Ending December 31,

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Ongoing capital expenditures $ 263 $ 32z % 28t $ 252 % 26z $ 24k
Port Westward Unit 2 1 161 107 33 — —
Hydro licensing and construction 22 23 28 28 1 —
Cascade Crossing 24 8 — — — —
Total capital expenditures ~ $ 31C @ % 514 $ 42C % 314 $ 26 $ 24k
Long-term debt maturities $ 10C $ 10C % — 3 7C % 67 $ 58

(1) Amounts shown include removal costs, which areuiget! in other net operating activities in the ctidated statements of cash flo

Ongoing capital expenditures-Consists of upgrades to and replacement of trasgmnisdistribution, and generation infrastructus
well as new customer connections. Included in theunts presented is approximately $13 million ipested capital expenditures
for emissions controls at Boardman in 2013.

Preliminary engineering costs, which consist ofemditures for preliminary surveys, plans, and itigasions made for the purpose
of determining the feasibility of utility projectsicluding certain projects discussed in hiegrated Resource Plagection below,
amounted to $5 million in 2012. Included in Ongogapital expenditures in the table above are apmately $3 million of
Preliminary engineering the Company expects thatlitspend in 2013.

Port Westward Unit —In January 2013, PGE’s Port Westward Unit 2 (PWjible generating resource was selected as the
successful bid for the capacity resource in the gamg’s RFP for energy and capacity resources. R/#220 MW natural gas-fired
plant that will be located near PGE’s Port Westwamd Beaver natural gdised plants near Clatskanie, Oregon. Total cofR\WR is
estimated between $300 million and $310 milliorgleding AFDC, and the facility is expected to béditomin 2015.

Hydro licensing and constructi—PGE’ s hydroelectric projects are operated pursuanERC licenses issued under the Federal
Power Act. The licenses for the hydroelectric prtgeexpire as follows: Clackamas River, 2055; Wikdte River, 2035; and
Deschutes River, 2055. Capital spending requiresniliected in the table above relate primarilyntadifications to the Company’s
various hydro facilities to enhance fish passagksamvival, as required by conditions containethaoperating licenses.

Integrated resource pla—Pursuant to the energy and capacity RFP issu2@lg in accordance with the CompaniRP, PGE is il
negotiations with the top bidder from the shottdiswinning projects for energy resources, whiatiude power purchase
agreements and PGE-ownership options. The suctésddier for the energy resources component of RHPB is expected to be
selected by mid®013. A second RFP for approximately 100 MWa otreable resources was issued in 2012, for whiclCtrapany
expects the successful bidders to be
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selected by mid-2013. Selection of, and negotiatioith, the successful bidders for the energy andwable resources will clarify
timing and total cost of these projects.

In addition, the Company continues to work wittkstaolders in the development of, and the formadibpotential partnerships for
Cascade Crossing, to provide additional transmissépacity from northeastern Oregon to PGE’s senéaritory. As of December
31, 2012, approximately $46 million is includedcimnstruction work-in-progress related to this projés the parties continue
negotiations of the terms and conditions of the ifiexd proposal, the estimated costs and timelinghefproject will be clarified.

Due to the uncertainty of these IRP projects, thpital Requirements table presented at the begjrofithis section does not
include estimates for any amounts related to tpegjects beyond 2013.

For further information on the Company’s IRP, irdihg the projects subject to the RFP process oc&kesCrossing, seeFuture
Energy Resource Strategyn the Power Supply section and the Transmissioeh Distribution section contained in ltem 1.—
“Business” and “Capital Requirements and Financinghe Overview section of this Item 7.

Liquidity

PGE's access to short-term debt markets, includirglving credit from banks, helps provide necestiguidity to support the
Company’s operating activities, including the pasé of power and fuel. Long-term capital requiretsiane driven largely by
capital expenditures for distribution, transmissiand generation facilities to support both new exidting customers, as well as ¢
refinancing activities. PGE's liquidity and capitaljuirements can also be significantly affecteether working capital needs,
including margin deposit requirements related tolesale market activities, which can vary dependipgn the Company’s forward
positions and the corresponding price curves.

The following summarizes PGE's cash flows for tleeigds presented (in millions):
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Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year $ 6 $ 4 $ 31
Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities 494 45¢ 391

Investing activities (2949 (299) (430

Financing activities (199 (152) 12
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 6 2 (27)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 12 $ 6 $ 4

2012Compared t@011

Cash Flows from Operating ActivitiesCash flows from operating activities are generdtyermined by the amount and timing of
cash received from customers and payments madmttovs, as well as the nature and amount of ndmite&ss, including
depreciation and amortization, included in net meaduring a given period. The $41 million increaseash provided by operating
activities in 2012 compared to 2011 was largely wuthe impact of a combined contribution of $42iom to the pension plan and
the voluntary employees’ beneficiary associatiosts (VEBAS) in 2011 and a decrease in margin degagguirements, partially
offset by a decrease in net income after the censitn of non-cash items. The VEBAs fund the bigmef the Company’s non-
contributory postretirement health and life insweplans.

Cash provided by operations includes the recovenustomer prices non-cash charges for depreciatidramortization. The
Company estimates that such charges will approxi®2a44 million in 2013 . Combined with all otheustes, cash provided by
operations is estimated to be approximately $48Bomin 2013 . This estimate anticipates no chaimg@argin deposits held by
brokers as of December 31, 2012 , which is basdabtinthe timing of contract settlements and ptej@e@nergy prices. The
remaining $224 million in estimated cash flows froperations in 2013 is expected from normal opegaictivities.

Cash Flows from Investing ActivitiesCash flows used in investing activities consigtnarrily of capital expenditures related to new
construction and improvements to PGE’s distribytioensmission, and generation facilities. The $ian decrease in net cash us

in investing activities in 2012 compared to 201kwamarily due to proceeds received in the amofi8tL0 million for the sale of a
solar power facility during the first quarter of124) partially offset by a 1% increase in capitgyexditures.

The Company plans approximately $514 million ofitaxpenditures in 2013 related to upgrades tbraplacement of
transmission, distribution and generation infrasttite, including $161 million related to the constion of Port Westward Unit 2, a
new natural gas-fired generating resource. PGEsptafund the 2013 capital expenditures with thehaxpected to be generated
from operations during 2013, as discussed aboweehsas with short-term debt and long-term finaigs. For additional
information, see Capital Requirementsin the Liquidity and Capital Resources sectiontto$ Item 7.

Cash Flows from Financing ActivitiesFinancing activities provide supplemental cashbiath day-to-day operations and capital
requirements as needed. During 2012 , net cashimsedncing activities consisted of the repaymefiibng-term debt of $100
million, the payment of dividends of $81 milliondinet maturities of commercial paper of $13 milli@uring 2011 , net cash used
in financing activities primarily consisted of thayment of dividends of $79 million and the repaytf long-term debt of $80
million, including the premium paid, partially offsby net issuances of commercial paper of $1Zianill

2011 Compared t&®2010
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Cash Flows from Operating ActivitiesThe $62 million increase in cash provided by opegeactivities in 2011 compared to 2010
was largely due to an increase in net income #feeconsideration of non-cash items, as well ascaeéhise in margin deposit
requirements pursuant to certain power and nagaspurchase and sale agreements. Such increasepastially offset by a $44
million decrease in the income tax refunds recein€®D11 compared to 2010 and a $16 million contidn to the VEBAs in 2011.
The VEBAs fund the benefits of the Company’s notiibatory postretirement health and life insuraptamns.

Cash Flows from Investing ActivitiesThe $131 million decrease in cash used in invgditivities in 2011 compared to 2010 was
due to lower capital expenditures of $150 milliaredo decreased construction costs related todimpletion of Biglow Canyon
Phase Il in August 2010, as well as the effec 8.9 million distribution from the Nuclear deconssioning trust to PGE in 2010.

Cash Flows from Financing ActivitiesDuring 2011 , net cash used in financing actigifieimarily consisted of the payment of
dividends of $79 million and the repayment of afdeterm debt of $80 million, including the premiyaid, partially offset by net
issuances of commercial paper of $11 million. Dgr2®10 , net cash provided by financing activitieasisted primarily of proceeds
received from the issuance or remarketing of la@rgitdebt of $249 million, net issuances of comnadiaper of $19 million and
noncontrolling interests’ capital contributions®#f0 million, partially offset by the repayment ohp-term debt of $186 million and
the payment of dividends of $78 million .
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Dividends on Common Stock

The following table indicates common stock dividenigclared in 2012 :

Declared Per

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Common Share
February 22, 2012 March 26, 2012 April 16, 2012 $ 0.26¢
May 23, 2012 June 25, 2012 July 16, 2012 0.27(
August 2, 2012 September 25, 2012 October 15, 2012 0.27(
November 7, 2012 December 26, 2012 January 15, 2013 0.27(

While the Company expects to pay comparable giaidéridends on its common stock in the future, deelaration of any dividen
is at the discretion of the Company’s Board of Bioes. The amount of any dividend declaration dépend upon factors that the

Board of Directors deems relevant and may inclbdéare not limited to, PGE's results of operatiand financial condition, future
capital expenditures and investments, and appé&cagulatory and contractual restrictions.

On February 20, 2013, the Board of Directors dedar dividend of $0.27 per share of common stoatdokholders of record on
March 25, 2013, payable on or before April 15, 2013

Credit Ratings and Debt Covenants

PGE’s secured and unsecured debt is rated invesgreme by Moody’s and S&P, with current creditrrgs and outlook as follows:

Moody’s S&P
First Mortgage Bonds A3 A-
Senior unsecured debt Baa2 BBB
Commercial paper Prime-2 A-2
Outlook Positive Stable

Should Moody’s and/or S&P reduce their credit utim PGE’s unsecured debt to below investment gtadeCompany could be
subject to requests by certain of its wholesaleymodity and transmission counterparties to positiadd! performance assurance
collateral in connection with its price risk managmt activities. The performance assurance codlatan be in the form of cash
deposits or letters of credit, depending on thegeof the underlying agreements, and are baseldeotontract terms and commodity
prices and can vary from period to period. Castodiép provided as collateral are classified as ledgposits in PGE' consolidate
balance sheet, while any letters of credit issuedhat reflected in the Company’s consolidated tzdasheet.

As of December 31, 2012 , PGE had posted approglyng91 million of collateral with these countenes, consisting of $46
million in cash and $45 million in letters of credb18 million of which is related to master naftiagreements. Based on the
Company’s energy portfolio, estimates of energykegprices, and the level of collateral outstandiegf December 31, 2012 , the
approximate amount of additional collateral thaildde requested upon a single agency downgraleloav investment grade is
approximately $83 million and decreases to appratéty $27 million by December 31, 2013 . The amairadditional collateral
that could be requested upon a dual agency dowedodelow investment grade is approximately $28Bam and decreases to
approximately $92 million by December 31, 2013 .

PGE's financing arrangements do not contain ratiriggers that would result in the acceleratiomexfuired interest and principal
payments in the event of a ratings downgrade. Hewelie cost of borrowing under the credit fa@htwould increase.
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The issuance of First Mortgage Bonds requiresRIGE meet earnings coverage and security proviserrth in the Indenture of
Mortgage and Deed of Trust securing the bonds. B&ikhates that on December 31, 20Lider the most restrictive issuance te
the Indenture of Mortgage and Deed of Trust, thex@any could have issued up to approximately $70Bomiof additional First
Mortgage Bonds. Any issuances of First Mortgageddomould be subject to market conditions and anwcotld be further limited
by regulatory authorizations or by covenants aststeontained in other financing agreements. PG&lads the ability to release
property from the lien of the Indenture of Mortgagel Deed of Trust under certain circumstancefyditeg bond credits, deposits
cash, or certain sales, exchanges or other digpusivf property.

PGE’s credit facilities contain customary covenantd credit provisions, including a requirement timits consolidated
indebtedness, as defined in the credit agreement§% of total capitalization (debt ratio). As@écember 31, 2012 , the
Company’s debt ratio, as calculated under the tegpteements, was 48.9% .

Debt and Equity Financings

PGE'’s ability to secure sufficient lorigrm capital at a reasonable cost is determindtshiynancial performance and outlook, cap
expenditure requirements, alternatives availablauwestors, and other factors. The Company’s ghititobtain and renew such
financing depends on its credit ratings, as wetirasredit markets, both generally and for eledttilities in particular. Management
believes that the availability of credit facilitihe expected ability to issue long-term debt equity securities, and cash expected to
be generated from operations provide sufficientiliy to meet the Company’s anticipated capital aperating requirements.
However, the Company’s ability to issue long-teraidand equity could be adversely affected by céamy capital market
conditions. For 2013, PGE expects to fund estimasgital requirements and contractual maturitie$1df0 million of longterm deb
with cash from operations, short-term debt, or {grgn financings. The Company expects that thennaind amount of future
issuances of debt and equity securities in the higtars will depend primarily on the outcome & @ompany’s RFPs for energy
and renewable resources under its IRP, as wdlleaniing and scope of Cascade Crossing.

Short-term DebtPGE has approval from the FERC to issue stear debt up to a total of $700 million through kelry 6, 2014 ar
currently has the following unsecured revolvingdiréacilities:

* A $400 million syndicated credit facility, which s€heduled to terminate in November 2017;
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» A $300 million syndicated credit facility, which é£heduled to terminate in December 2

These credit facilities supplement operating céshif and provide a primary source of liquidity. uant to the terms of the
agreements, the credit facilities may be used émegal corporate purposes, as a backup for comah@agper borrowings, and the
issuance of standby letters of credit. As of Decend4, 2012 , PGE had no borrowings outstandingutige credit facilities, with
$17 million of commercial paper outstanding and $6lfion of letters of credit issued. As of DecemiB&, 2012 , the aggregate
unused available credit under the credit facilities $616 million .

Long-term DebtDuring 2012, $100 million of First Mortgage Bondsitored and were redeemed. As of December 31, 2012 ,
long-term debt outstanding was $1,636 million @100 million scheduled to mature in 2013, cdimgsof $50 million due on
each of April 1 and August 1. PGE owns $21 millafrits Pollution Control Revenue Bonds, which mayrbmarketed at a later
date, at the Company’s option, through 2033.

Capital StructurePGE'’s financial objectives include the balancinglebt and equity to maintain a low weighted aveags# of
capital while retaining sufficient flexibility to eet the Company’s financial obligations. The Conypaitempts to maintain a
common equity ratio (common equity to total cordated capitalization, including current debt maies) of approximately 50%.
Achievement of this objective while sustaining &iént cash flow is necessary to maintain acceptat#dit ratings and allow access
to long-term capital at attractive interest raRRGE’s common equity ratios were 51.1% and 48.6%f &=cember 31, 2012 and
2011, respectively.
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following indicates PGE’s contractual obligatcas of December 31, 2012 (in millions):

There-

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 after Total

Long-term debt $ 10 $ — $ 7 $ 67 $ 58 $1,341 $1,63¢

Interest on long-term debt 92 89 87 83 81 1,02¢ 1,457

Capital and other purchase commitments 81 10 11 9 2 72 18t
Purchased power and fuel:

Electricity purchases 154 83 82 64 36 44( 85¢

Capacity contracts 21 21 20 19 — — 81

Public Utility Districts 8 8 8 7 5 25 61

Natural gas 55 26 21 12 1C 6 13C

Coal and transportation 22 9 — — — — 31

Pension plan contributions — 15 32 44 44 64 19¢

Operating leases 9 9 9 10 11 18¢ 234

Total $ 54z $ 27C $ 34C $ 31t $ 247 $3,15¢ $ 4,87

(1) Future interest on long-term debt is calcwdiased on the assumption that all debt remairstaouting until maturity. For debt instruments
with variable rates, interest is calculated forfallire periods using the rates in effect as ofdddwer 31, 2012 .

Other Financial Obligations

PGE has entered into long-term power purchase austwith certain public utility districts in théage of Washington under which it
has acquired a percentage of the output (Allocatibthree hydroelectric projects (the Priest RapiWanapum and Wells
hydroelectric projects). The Company is requireday its proportionate share of the operating afut dervice costs of the projects
whether or not they are operable. The contracthduiprovide that, should any other purchaser gfuatudefault on payments as a
result of bankruptcy or insolvency, PGE would Hedated a pro rata share of both the output andpleeating and debt service cc
of the defaulting purchaser. For the Wells proj@&E would be allocated up to a cumulative maxinodir25% of the defaulting
purchaser’s percentage Allocation. For the Priegti®s and Wanapum projects, PGE would be alloagted a cumulative
maximum that would not adversely affect the taxnapestatus of any outstanding debt.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

PGE has no off-balance sheet arrangements otheptitatanding letters of credit from time to tirhatthave, or are reasonably
likely to have, a material current or future effentits consolidated financial condition, changenancial condition, revenues or
expenses, results of operations, liquidity, cagtqdenditures or capital resources.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of consolidated financial states@ntonformity with accounting principles geneyakcepted in the United States
of America requires that management apply accogmoiicies and make estimates and assumptiongffeat amounts reported in
the statements. The following accounting policEgzresent those that management believes are pamrjdmportant to the
consolidated financial statements and that regheaise of estimates, assumptions, and judgmedestéomine matters that are
inherently uncertain.

Regulatory Accounting

As a rate-regulated enterprise, PGE is requirexiboply with certain regulatory accounting requiretsewhich include the
recognition of regulatory assets and liabilitiestto® Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Regylassets represent probable
future revenue associated with certain incurredscbst are expected to be recovered from custotheysgh the ratemaking
process. Regulatory liabilities represent probdlitiere reductions in revenues associated with atsahiat are expected to be
credited or refunded to customers through the rakemy process. Regulatory accounting is appropdaat®ng as prices are



established or subject to approval by independerd-party regulators; prices are designed to rective specific enterprise’s cost of
service; and in view of demand for service, itdagonable to assume that prices set at levelsithatcover costs can be charged to
and collected from customers. Amortization of redgpily assets and liabilities is reflected in treteshent of income over the period
in which they are included in customer prices.

If future recovery of regulatory assets cease®tprbbable, PGE would be required to write themdtther, if PGE determines tl
all or a portion of its utility operations no lorrgmeet the criteria for continued application ajukatory accounting, the Company
would be required to write off those regulatoryedassand liabilities related to operations thatermler meet requirements for
regulatory accounting. Discontinued applicatiomegfulatory accounting would have a material impacthe Company'’s results of
operations and financial position.

Asset Retirement Obligations

PGE recognizes asset retirement obligations (AR@degal obligations related to dismantlement eegtoration costs associated
with the future retirement of tangible long-liveslsats. Upon initial recognition of AROs that areaswrable, the probability-
weighted future cash flows for the associatedeetent costs, discounted using a credit-adjust&efné® rate, are recognized as both
a liability and as an increase in the capitalizaaying amount of the related long-lived assetse Buthe long lead time involved, a
market-risk premium cannot be determined for iriclisn future cash flows. In estimating the liatyilimanagement must utilize
significant judgment and assumptions in determinitigther a legal obligation exists to remove ass&tser estimates may be
related to lease provisions, ownership agreembegsising issues, cost estimates, inflation, anthoelegal requirements. Changes
that may arise over time with regard to these aptioms and determinations can change future amoeatsded for AROs.
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Capitalized asset retirement costs related tor@adility plant are depreciated over the estinddife of the related asset and
included in Depreciation and amortization expensiné consolidated statements of income. Accraifdhe ARO liability is
classified as an operating expense in the consetidstatements of income. Accumulated asset redinenemoval costs that do not
gualify as AROs have been reclassified from accatedl depreciation to regulatory liabilities in d@nsolidated balance sheets.

Revenue Recognition

Retail customers are billed monthly for electriaige based on meter readings taken throughoutdhéhmAt the end of each month,
PGE estimates the revenue earned from the last neete date through the last day of the month, whis not yet been billed to
customers. Such amount, which is classified as lldbievenues in the Company’s consolidated balaheets, is calculated based
on each month’s actual net retail system loadntlraber of days from the last meter read date thralg last day of the month, and
current customer prices.

Contingencies

PGE has various unresolved legal and regulatoryensaabout which there is inherent uncertaintyhulie ultimate outcome
contingent upon several factors. Such contingerane®valuated using the best information availablless contingency is accrued,
and disclosed if material, when it is probable @ratisset has been impaired or a liability incuared the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated. If a range of probable Bsstablished, the minimum amount in the rangedsuad, unless some other
amount within the range appears to be a bettanatdi If the probable loss cannot be reasonahbiyatsd, no accrual is recorded,
but the loss contingency is disclosed to the effeat it cannot be reasonably estimated. Matesi&d tontingencies are disclosed
when it is reasonably possible that an asset hats ingpaired or a liability incurred. Establishedra@ls reflect management’s
assessment of inherent risks, credit worthiness camplexities involved in the process. There caimd assurance as to the ultimate
outcome of any particular contingency.

Price Risk Management

PGE engages in price risk management activitiesanage exposure to commodity and foreign curreranket fluctuations and to
manage volatility in net power costs for its retaiktomers. The Company utilizes derivative instnts, which may include forwa
futures, swap, and option contracts for electrjaigtural gas, oil, and foreign currency. Thesévddve instruments are recorded at
fair value, or “marked-to-market,” in PGE’s conslalied financial statements.

Fair value adjustments consist of reevaluatingdirevalue of derivative contracts at the end afreeeporting period for the
remaining term of the contract and recording argnge in fair value in Net income for the periodir Falue is the present value of
the difference between the contracted price andottreard market price multiplied by the total quanof the contract. For option
contracts, a theoretical value is calculated uBilagk-Scholes models that utilize price volatility, pricerrelation, time to expiratio
interest rate and forward commodity price curvds Tair value of these options is the differencevieen the premium paid or
received and the theoretical value at the fairaheasurement date.

Determining the fair value of these financial instients requires the use of prices at which a boiyseller could currently contract
to purchase or sell a commodity at a future daten@d “forward prices”). Forward price “curves” arged to determine the current
fair market value of a commodity to be deliveredha future. PGE's forward price curves are creétedtilizing actively quoted
market indicators received from electronic andpktme brokers, industry publications, and othercesi Forward price curves can
change with market conditions and can be mater#flycted by unpredictable factors such as weathdithe economy. PGE’s
forward price curves are validated using brokertgsiand market data from a regulated exchangeiffietedces for any single
location, delivery date and commodity are less thfn

Pension Plan
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Primary assumptions used in the actuarial valuaifadhe plan include the discount rate, the exgkoéurn on plan assets, mortality
rates, and wage escalation. These assumptionsatated by PGE, reviewed annually with the platnages and trust investment
consultants, and updated in light of market changesds, and future expectations. Significantedé#hces between assumptions and
actual experience can have a material impact omahmtion of the pension benefit plan obligatiow aet periodic pension cost.

PGE’s pension discount rate is determined basedpmrtfolio of high-quality bonds that match theation of the plan cash flows.
The expected rate of return on plan assets is aspdojected long-term return on assets in the plaestment portfolio. PGE
capitalizes a portion of pension expense baseti@prbportion of labor costs capitalized.

Changes in actuarial assumptions can also haveariai@ffect on net periodic pension expense.Z5% reduction in the expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets, or redndti the discount rate, would have the effechoféasing the 2012 net periodic
pension expense by approximately $2 million.

Discount rates applied to the pension liability é@d@entinued to decline due to general macroeconamdccredit market

conditions. The Federal Reserve Board’s continoadihterest rate policy and the general preferémdie financial markets for the
safety of high-quality bonds has continued to dtherates on high-quality bonds down throughoudt22@vhich lowers the discount
rate used to measure the pension liability.
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Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with accounting and reporting requénets, PGE applies fair value measurements tinasdial assets and liabilities.
Fair value is defined as the price that would leeired to sell an asset or paid to transfer alitgtn an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. Thep@oy’s financial assets and liabilities consistiefivative instruments, certain
assets held by the Nuclear decommissioning, Peipdéanand Non-qualified benefit plan trusts, anthlderm debt. In valuing these
items, the Company uses inputs and assumptiongidwdiet participants would use to determine thagirvalue, utilizing valuation
techniques that maximize the use of observableténgrud minimize the use of unobservable inputs.ddtermination of fair value
can require subjective and complex judgment ancCtrapany’s assessment of the inputs and the signide of a particular input to
fair value measurement may affect the valuatiothefinstruments and their placement within thealue hierarchy reported in its
financial statements.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSUR ES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

PGE is exposed to various forms of market risksegiimg primarily of fluctuations in commaodity peis, foreign currency exchange
rates, and interest rates, as well as credit Agl.variations in the Company’'market risk or credit risk may affect its futdireancial
position, results of operations or cash flows, iasutsed below.

Risk Management Committee

PGE has a Risk Management Committee (RMC) whichsponsible for providing oversight of the adequag effectiveness of
corporate policies, guidelines, and proceduresnfarket and credit risk management related to thegamy’s energy portfolio
management activities. The RMC consists of offigard Company representatives with responsibilityrisk management, finance
and accounting, legal, rates and regulatory affaimgver operations, and generation operations RME reviews and approves
adoption of policies and procedures, and monitorsgliance with policies, procedures, and limitssoregular basis through reports
and meetings. The RMC also reviews and recommaeskiimits that are subject to approval by PGE’'saBbof Directors.

Commodity Price Risk

PGE is exposed to commodity price risk as its prynfrusiness is to provide electricity to its retaistomers. The Company engages
in price risk management activities to manage exygo® volatility in net power costs for its retailstomers. The Company uses
power purchase contracts to supplement its thefmdtoelectric, and wind generation and to resporituctuations in the demand
for electricity and variability in generating plamperations. The Company also enters into contfacthe purchase of fuel for the
Company'’s natural gas- and coal-fired generatiagtsl These contracts for the purchase of powefusi@xpose the Company to
market risk. The Company uses instruments sucbragfd contracts, which may involve physical datwef an energy commodity;
financial swap and futures agreements, which mayire payments to, or receipt of payments fromntewparties based on the
differential between a fixed and variable pricetfoe commodity; and option contracts to mitigask that arises from market
fluctuations of commodity prices. PGE does not gega trading activities for non-retail purposes.

The following table presents energy commaodity detiike fair values as a net liability as of DecemBgr2012 that are expected to
settle in each respective year (in millions):

2013 2014 2015 Total
Commodity contracts:
Electricity $ 43 % 28 % 1 3 81
Natural gas 80 27 6 112

$ 122 $ 55  $ 16 $ 194
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PGE reports energy commodity derivative fair valags net asset or liability, which combines pusesaand sales expected to settle
in the years noted above. As a short utility, epexgmmodity fair values exposed to commodity prisk are primarily related to
purchase contracts, which are slightly offset hgsa

PGE’s energy portfolio activities are subject tguiation, with related costs included in retailges approved by the OPUC. The
timing differences between the recognition of gaind losses on certain derivative instruments hei tealization and subsequent
recovery in prices are deferred as regulatory asset regulatory liabilities to reflect the effeofgegulation, significantly mitigating
commodity price risk for the Company. As contraats settled, these deferrals reverse and are rizeapss Purchased power and
fuel in the statements of income and included @RICAM. PGE remains subject to cash flow risk mfttrm of collateral
requirements based on the value of open positindsegulatory risk if recovery is disallowed by @@UC. PGE attempts to
mitigate both types of risks through prudent engngycurement practices.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

PGE is exposed to foreign currency risk assocmittdnatural gas forward and swap contracts denatadhin Canadian dollars in
energy portfolio. Foreign currency risk is the riflkchanges in value of pending financial obligatian foreign currencies that could
occur prior to the settlement of the obligation tlwa change in the value of that foreign curreinaglation to the U.S. dollar. PGE
monitors its exposure to fluctuations in the Caaadixchange rate with an appropriate hedging giyate

As of December 31, 2012 , a 10% change in the w@#itiee Canadian dollar would result in an immatiechange in exposure for
transactions that will settle over the next tweivenths.

I nterest Rate Risk

To meet short-term cash requirements, PGE haslisbidba program under which it may from time todiissue commercial paper
for terms of up to 270 days; such issuances aneostenl by the Company’s unsecured revolving ceditities. Although any
borrowings under the commercial paper program stithie Company to fluctuations in interest rateflecting current market
conditions, individual instruments carry a fixederduring their respective terms. As of December2®12 , PGE had no borrowings
outstanding under its revolving credit facilitiesdeb17 million of commercial paper outstanding.

PGE currently has no financial instruments to ratiggrisk related to changes in short-term intemgsts, including those on
commercial paper; however, it may consider suctringents in the future as considered necessary.

As of December 31, 2012 , the total fair value eatying amounts by maturity date of PGE'’s longrtetebt are as follows (in
millions):

Total Carrying Amounts by Maturity Date
Fair There-
Value Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 after
First Mortgage Bonds $ 1811 $ 151t $ 10 $ — $ 7€ $ 67 $ 58 $ 1,2
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds 13¢ 121 — — — — — 121
Total $ 194¢ $ 163¢ $ 10 $ — ¢ 7C $ 67 $ 58 $ 1,341

As of December 31, 2012 , PGE had no long-termabégirate debt outstanding; accordingly, the Comisasutstanding long-term
debt is not subject to interest rate risk exposures

Credit Risk

PGE is exposed to credit risk in its commodity eniisk management activities related to potentaperformance by counterparti
PGE manages the risk of counterparty default adogro its credit policies by performing
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financial credit reviews, setting limits and moniihy exposures, and requiring collateral (in therf@f cash, letters of credit, and
guarantees) when needed. The Company also usesstened enabling agreements and, in certain casester netting agreements,
which allow for the netting of positive and negatxposures under multiple agreements with couatéeg. Despite such mitigati
efforts, defaults by counterparties may periodicattcur. Based upon periodic review and evaluatidioywances are recorded to
reflect credit risk related to wholesale accountsivable.

The large number and diversified base of residemiiemmercial, and industrial customers, combindti the Company’s ability to
discontinue service, contribute to reduce credk with respect to trade accounts receivable fretailrsales. Estimated provisions
for uncollectible accounts receivable related taitsales are provided for such risk.

As of December 31, 2012 , PGE'’s credit risk expessi$3 million for commodity activities with extelly-rated investment grade
counterparties and matures in 2013. The creditisighcluded in accounts receivable and price msikagement assets, offset by
related accounts payable and price risk managelmaeéiiities.

Investment grade includes those counterpartiesavittinimum credit rating on senior unsecured déBta@3 (as assigned by
Moody’s) or BBB- (as assigned by S&P), and alss¢hcounterparties whose obligations are guaramtesecured by an investment
grade entity. The credit exposure includes actifatyelectricity and natural gas forward, swap, aption contracts. Posted collateral
may be in the form of cash or letters of credit aral/ represent prepayment or credit exposure agseira

Omitted from the market risk exposures discussedahre long-term power purchase contracts wittacepublic utility districts in
the state of Washington and with the City of PoidlaOregon. These contracts provide PGE with agogage share of hydro facility
output in exchange for an equivalent percentageesfeoperating and debt service costs. These adstexpire at varying dates
through 2052. For additional information, seRublic Utility Districts” in Note 15, Commitments and Guarantees, in theslto
Consolidated Financial Statements in Iltem 8.—“FaialnStatements and Supplementary Data.” Managebwiatves that
circumstances that could result in the nonperfocediy these counterparties are remote.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

The following financial statements and report ai@uded in Item 8:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourtiingn

Consolidated Statements of Income for the yearscgibkcember 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incominéoyears ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 812011

Consolidated Statements of Equity for the yeargdrdecember 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ya@ded December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Portland General Electric Company
Portland, Oregon

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Portland General Electric Companysabdidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 , hadelated consolidated statements of income, celmgmisive income, equity,
and cash flows for each of the three years in g1 ended December 31, 2012 . We also have autliéeeCompany’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December&112 , based on criteria establishethternal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission. The Company’s managemeesponsible for
these financial statements, for maintaining effextnternal control over financial reporting, awd s assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting, included in the accompanying Managemeftisual Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsipiigt to express an opinion on these financial statés and an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reportingsed on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighaBlqUnited States). Tho
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of
material misstatement and whether effective infezaatrol over financial reporting was maintainedail material respects. Our
audits of the financial statements included exangnon a test basis, evidence supporting the arm@untt disclosures in the financ
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarsk significant estimates made by managementealdating the overall
financial statement presentation. Our audit ofrimi&control over financial reporting included dhiag an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing thk tiimt a material weakness exists and testing ealdiaing the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on thesseserisk. Our audits also included performing satbler procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. Wevbdliat our audits provide a reasonable basisuUfoopinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supemvidj the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or p@rs performing similar functions, and effected by tompany’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reaoassurance regarding the reliability of financégdorting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes toedance with generally accepted accounting priesipA company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes thoseigies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maartee of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettifansactions and dispositions of the assetsatdmpany; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necasparmit preparation of financial statementa@eordance with generally
accepted accounting principles and that receiplseapenditures of the company are being made ordgcordance with
authorizations of management and directors of timepany; and (3) provide reasonable assurance lieggpcevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, orai#ion of the company’s assets that could haveternal effect on the financial
statements.

69




Table of Contents

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcolnover financial reporting, including the podstip of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatemdue to error or fraud may not be preventatetected on a timely basis.
Also, projections of any evaluation of the effeetiess of the internal control over financial rejpgrto future periods are subject to
the risk that the controls may become inadequataus= of changes in conditions, or that the degfreempliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetagaferred to above present fairly, in all malenéapects, the financial position of
Portland General Electric Company and subsidiasesf December 31, 2012 and 2011 , and the resfith®ir operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years in the pegimded December 31, 2012 , in conformity with aatiog principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. Als@munopinion, the Company maintained, in all mategapects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 2012 , based on the criteria establisheldternal Controlintegrated Framewor
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Portland, Oregon
February 21, 2013
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PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Revenues, net $ 1,808 $ 1,81: % 1,78¢
Operating expenses:
Purchased power and fuel 72€ 76C 82¢
Production and distribution 211 201 174
Administrative and other 21¢€ 21¢ 18€
Depreciation and amortization 24¢ 227 23¢
Taxes other than income taxes 10z 98 89
Total operating expenses 1,50z 1,50¢ 1,51¢
Income from operations 30z 30¢ 267
Other income:
Allowance for equity funds used during construction 6 5 13
Miscellaneous income, net 4 1 4
Other income, net 10 6 17
Interest expense 10¢ 11C 11C
Income before income taxes 204 20t 174
Income taxes 64 58 53
Net income 14C 147 121
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling iatts @ — 4
Net income attributable to Portland General Electrc Company $ 141  $ 147  $ 12¢
Weighted-average shares outstanding (in thousands):
Basic 75,49¢ 75,33 75,27*
Diluted 75,64 75,35( 75,29:
Earnings per share—basic and diluted $ 187 % 198 % 1.6¢€
Dividends declared per common share $ 1.07t % 1.058 % 1.03¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financastistents.
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PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In millions)
Years Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010

Net income $ 14C ¢ 147 ¢ 121
Other comprehensive income (loss)—Change in congpiemsretirement benefits

liability and amortization, net of taxes of $1 i1 and 2010 — (D] 1
Comprehensive income 14C 14€ 122
Less: comprehensive loss attributable to the nanalting interests (D] — 4
Comprehensive income attributable to Portland Geneal Electric Company  $ 141 % 14 % 12¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financastistents.
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PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In millions)
As of December 31,
2012 2011
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12 6
Accounts receivable, net 152 144
Unbilled revenues 97 101
Inventories, at average cost:
Materials and supplies 38 37
Fuel 40 34
Margin deposits 46 80
Regulatory assets—current 144 21¢€
Other current assets 93 98
Total current assets 622 71€
Electric utility plant:
Production 2,89¢ 2,85¢
Transmission 41z 39:
Distribution 2,81¢ 2,704
General 327 314
Intangible 357 331
Construction work in progress 14C 12C
Total electric utility plant 6,951 6,71¢
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (2,559 (2,43))
Electric utility plant, net 4,39: 4,28
Regulatory assets—noncurrent 524 594
Nuclear decommissioning trust 38 37
Non-qualified benefit plan trust 32 36
Other noncurrent assets 62 65
Total assets $ 567( $ 5,73:

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@#tistents.
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PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS, continued

(In millions, except share amounts)

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Liabilities from price risk management activitiesarent

Short-term debt

Current portion of long-term debt

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Regulatory liabilities—noncurrent
Deferred income taxes
Unfunded status of pension and postretirement plans
Non-qualified benefit plan liabilities
Asset retirement obligations
Liabilities from price risk management activitiesenturrent
Other noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (see notes)
Equity:

Portland General Electric Company shareholdersitgqu

Preferred stock, no par value, 30,000,000 sharb®@azed; none issued and
outstanding

Common stock, no par value, 160,000,000 sharesargil; 75,556,272 and
75,362,956 shares issued and outstanding as ohibere31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings
Total Portland General Electric Company sharehsldsguity
Noncontrolling interests’ equity
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financastistents.
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As of December 31,

2012 2011
98 111
127 21¢
17 3C
10C 10C
17¢ 157
521 614
1,53¢ 1,63¢
765 72C
58¢ 52¢
247 19t
10z 101
94 87
73 17z
14 14
3,94( 4,06
841 83¢
(6) (6)
89¢ 83¢
1,72¢ 1,66:
2 3
1,73C 1,66¢
5,67( 5,73¢
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PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

Balance as of December 31, 2009

Shares issued pursuant to equity-
based plans

Noncontrolling interests’ capital
contributions

Stock-based compensation

Dividends declared

Net income (loss)

Other comprehensive income
Balance as of December 31, 2010

Shares issued pursuant to equity-
based plans

Noncontrolling interests’ capital
distributions

Stock-based compensation

Dividends declared

Net income

Other comprehensive loss
Balance as of December 31, 2011

Shares issued pursuant to equity-
based plans

Stock-based compensation
Dividends declared
Net income (loss)

Balance as of December 31, 2012

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(In millions, except share amounts)

Portland General Electric Company
Shareholders’ Equity

Accumulated

Common Stock Other Noncontrolling

Comprehensive Retained Interests’

Shares Amount Loss Earnings Equity
75,210,58 $ 82¢ $ 6) $ 71€ | $ 1
105,83¢ 1 — — —
— — — — 10
— 1 — — —
— — — (79) —
— — — 12t 4
— — 1 — —
75,316,41 831 (5) 76€ 7
46,53’ 1 — — —
— — — — (4)
— 4 — — —
— — — (80) —
— — — 147 —
— — 1) — —
75,362,95 83¢€ (6) 83z 3
193,31¢ 1 — — —
— 4 — — —
— — — (81) —
— — — 141 (1)
75,556,27 $ 841 $ 6) $ 89% | $ 2

See accompanying notes to consolidated financastistents.
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PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions)
Years Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 14C ¢ 147  $ 121

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activitie
Depreciation and amortization 24¢ 227 23¢
Deferred income taxes 47 56 67
Renewable adjustment clause deferrals 1 22 (12
Pension and other postretirement benefits 27 15 11
Regulatory deferral of settled derivative instrumsen 9 12 26
Power cost deferrals, net of amortization 4 10 @
(Decrease) increase in net liabilities from prisk management activities (17%) 9 11¢€
Regulatory deferrals—price risk management acésiti 172 (6) (118)
Allowance for equity funds used during construction (6) (5) 13
Decoupling mechanism deferrals, net of amortization 2 3 (20
Unrealized losses (gains) on non-qualified bernmdin trust assets 3 — (5)
Other non-cash income and expenses, net 16 16 3

Changes in working capital:
(Increase) decrease in receivables and unbilleshiess 4 (15) 24
Decrease (increase) in margin deposits 34 3 (27)
Income tax refund received 8 9 53
Increase in income taxes receivable — — (22)
Increase (decrease) in payables and accrued tiedbili 1 5 (11
Other working capital items, net 1 @) —
Contribution to pension plan — (26) (30)
Contribution to voluntary employees’ benefit asation trust 2 (16) (D]
Other, net (6) (6) (20)
Net cash provided by operating activities 494 457 391
Cash flows from investing activities:

Capital expenditures (303) (300 (450)
Purchases of nuclear decommissioning trust seesiriti (26) (50 (46)
Sales of nuclear decommissioning trust securities 23 46 50
Distribution from nuclear decommissioning trust — — 19
Proceeds from sale of solar power facility 10 — —
Other, net 2 5 3
Net cash used in investing activities (294) (299 (430

See accompanying notes to consolidated financastistents.
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PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS, continued

(In millions)
Years Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt $ — 3 —  $ 24¢
Payments on long-term debt (200 (73 (18¢€)
(Maturities) issuances of commercial paper, net (13 11 19
Borrowings on short-term debt — — 11
Payments on short-term debt — — (11
Dividends paid (82) (79 (78)
Premium paid on repayment of long-term debt — @) —
Debt issuance costs — — ()
Noncontrolling interests’ capital (distributiong)rdributions — 4 1C
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (1949) (152 12
Change in cash and cash equivalents 6 2 (27)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 6 4 31
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 12 % 6 $ 4
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized $ 97 % 105 % 98
Cash paid for income taxes 13 3 —
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Accrued capital additions 19 19 12
Accrued dividends payable 21 21 20
Preliminary engineering transferred to Constructiamk in progress from
Other noncurrent assets — 7 —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financastistents.
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PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1: BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Nature of Operations

Portland General Electric Company (PGE or the Cawypis a single, vertically integrated electridititiengaged in the generation,
purchase, transmission, distribution, and retdd e&electricity in the state of Oregon. The Comypalso sells electricity and natural
gas in the wholesale market to utilities, brokarg] power marketers. PGE operates as a single sggnith revenues and costs
related to its business activities maintained araly@ed on a total electric operations basis. P@&fporate headquarters is located
in Portland, Oregon and its service area is locatgilely within Oregon. PGE’s service area incli@@incorporated cities, of whic
Portland and Salem are the largest, within a stppgoved service area allocation of approximatddp@ square miles. As of
December 31, 2012 , PGE served 828,354 retail mugwwith a service area population of approxinyatel million , comprising
approximately 44% of the state’s population.

As of December 31, 2012 , PGE had 2,603 employeids 309 employees covered under two separate agmets with Local Union
No. 125 of the International Brotherhood of ElemtiWorkers. Such agreements cc775 and 34 employees and expire in
February 2015 and August 2014, respectively.

PGE is subject to the jurisdiction of the Publidlityt Commission of Oregon (OPUC) with respect ébail prices, utility services,
accounting policies and practices, issuances affges, and certain other matters. Retail priaesbased on the Company’s cost to
serve customers, including an opportunity to eameaonable rate of return, as determined by tHé@RFhe Company is also
subject to regulation by the Federal Energy RegafaCommission (FERC) in matters related to whdkesaergy transactions,
transmission services, reliability standards, redtgas pipelines, hydroelectric project licensiaggounting policies and practices,
short-term debt issuances, and certain other rsatter

Consolidation Principles

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of PGE and its wholly-owned subsidiaries twose variable interest
entities (VIES) where PGE has determined it isptimary beneficiary. The Company’s ownership studrdirect expenses and costs
related to jointly-owned generating plants are atstuded in its consolidated financial statemehitsercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated.

For entities that are determined to meet the defmbf a VIE and where the Company has determinisdthe primary beneficiary,
the VIE is consolidated and a noncontrolling insgie recognized for any third party interests.sThms resulted in the Company
consolidating entities in which it has less tha08&b equity interest. For further information, seméN16, Variable Interest Entities.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordamth accounting principles generally acceptethenUnited States of America
(GAAP) requires management to make estimates adrgstions that affect the reported amounts of assd liabilities, and
disclosures of gain or loss contingencies, asefitite of the financial statements and the repanealints of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results couiified materially from those estimates.

Reclassifications

To conform with the 2012 presentation, PGE hasrstglst presented Deferred income tax assets frdmerQ@urrent assets and Asset
retirement obligations (AROs) from Other noncurrgatilities, as well as reclassified $6 million ReEgulatory liabilities—current to
Accrued expenses and other current liabilitiedh@ 2011 consolidated
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PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continu ed

balance sheet. In addition, PGE has separatelgmied Pension and other postretirement benefiid ®fmillion and $11 million

from, and collapsed Senate Bill 408 amortizatio§dmillion in 2011 and $13 million in 2010 intofl@r non-cash income and
expenses, net in the operating activities sectfdheostatements of cash flows for the years efmbmber 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Highly liquid investments with maturities of threeonths or less at the date of acquisition are ifiedsas cash equivalents, of which
PGE had none as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 .

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at invoiced ansoand do not bear interest when recorded. Late eal/faes on balances in
arrears are first assessed 16 business dayshaftdue date. An inactive account balance is chaoffed the period in which the
receivable is deemed uncollectible, but no sodmam #5 business days after the final due date.

Estimated provisions for uncollectible accountsieable related to retail sales, charged to Admiaive and other expense, are
recorded in the same period as the related revenitbsan offsetting credit to the allowance forcoliectible accounts. Such
estimates are based on management’s assessmiatpobbability of collection of customer accouriging of accounts receivable,
bad debt write-offs, actual customer billings, atlder factors.

Provisions related to wholesale accounts receivafdeunsettied positions, charged to Purchasedmpaneefuel expense, are based
on a periodic review and evaluation that includasnterparty non-performance risk and contractugits of offset when applicable.
Actual amounts written off are charged to the alloae for uncollectible accounts.

Price Risk Management

PGE engages in price risk management activitidlizing financial instruments such as forward, swapd option contracts for
electricity, natural gas, oil and foreign curren€iese instruments are measured at fair valueesutded on the consolidated
balance sheets as assets or liabilities from pisgemanagement activities, unless they qualifytfer normal purchases and normal
sales exception. Changes in fair value are recedriizthe statement of income, offset by the effettregulatory accounting.

Certain electricity forward contracts that wereeeadl into in anticipation of serving the Companggulated retail load meet the
requirements for treatment under the normal pueshasd normal sales exception. Other activitiesisbof certain electricity
forwards, options and swaps, certain natural gasgaias, options, and swaps, and forward contractadquiring Canadian dollars.
Such activities are utilized as economic hedggsdtect against variability in expected future cfistvs due to associated price risk
and to manage exposure to volatility in net poweestg for the Company'’s retail customers.

In accordance with ratemaking and cost recoverggsses authorized by the OPUC, PGE recognizesilatery asset or liability to
defer unrealized losses or gains, respectivelgearivative instruments until settlement. At thediof settlement, PGE recognizes a
realized gain or loss on the derivative instrum@amntracts that qualify for the normal purchases rormal sales exception are not
required to be recorded at fair value.

Physical electricity sale and purchase transactoasecorded in Revenues and Purchased powenaheXipense upon settlement,
respectively, while financial transactions are rded on a net basis in Purchased power and fuelnsegpupon settlement
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Pursuant to transactions entered into in connegtithPGE’s price risk management activities, tt@rpany may be required to
provide collateral with certain counterparties. Tiodlateral requirements are based on the cortgatis and commaodity prices and
can vary period to period. Cash deposits providecbdlateral are classified as Margin deposith@édaccompanying consolidated
balance sheets and were $46 million and $80 miti®of December 31, 2012 and 2011 , respectivelfets of credit provided as
collateral are not recorded on the Company’s cadatad balance sheet and were $45 million and $1i0#n as of December 31,
2012 and 2011 , respectively.

| nventories

PGE’s inventories, which are recorded at averagg consist primarily of materials and suppliesdse in operations, maintenance
and capital activities and fuel for use in gena@lants. Fuel inventories include natural gasamid coal. Periodically, the
Company assesses the realizability of inventorytoposes of determining that inventory is recordetthe lower of average cost or
market.

Electric Utility Plant
Capitalization Policy

Electric utility plant is capitalized at its origihcost. Costs include direct labor, materials sungplies, and contractor costs, as we
indirect costs such as engineering, supervisiopl@mee benefits, and an allowance for funds usethgeonstruction (AFDC). Pla
replacements are capitalized, with minor items gbdtto expense as incurred. Periodic major maintanaspections and overhauls
at the Company’s generating plants are chargegperse as incurred, subject to regulatory accogmtinapplicable. Costs to
purchase or develop software applications for iidkeuse only are capitalized and amortized oveetttienated useful life of the
software. Costs of obtaining a FERC license forGbenpany’s hydroelectric projects are capitalizad amortized over the related
license period.

During the period of construction, costs expectedd included in the final value of the construcisdet, and depreciated once the
asset is complete and placed in service, are fitbsis Construction work in progress in Electttidity plant on the consolidated
balance sheets. If the project becomes probalileiofy abandoned, such costs are expensed in tioel gach determination is mau

If any costs are expensed, the Company may seekagcof such costs in customer prices, althoughetitan be no guarantee such
recovery would be granted.

PGE records AFDC, which is intended to represem@Qbmpany’s cost of funds used for constructiomppses and is based on the
rate granted in the latest general rate case fatyefynds and the cost of actual borrowings fdotdends. AFDC is capitalized as
part of the cost of plant and credited to the cidated statements of income. The average rate lms&GE was 7.5% in 2012 ,8%
in 2011 and 7.6% in 2010 . AFDC from borrowed fumads $4 million in 2012 , $3 million in 2011 , afi@l million in 2010 and is
reflected as a reduction to Interest expense. AFRD@ equity funds was $6 million in 2012 , $5 naliin 2011 , and $13 million in
2010 and is reflected as a component of Other iecoret.

Costs which are disallowed for recovery in custopréres are charged to expense at the time sualiadignce is probable.
Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation is computed using the straight-linéhod, based upon original cost, and includes amat# for cost of removal and
expected salvage. Depreciation expense as a perfcte related average depreciable plant in semwias 3.8% in 2012 , 3.7% in
2011, and 3.9% in 2010 . Estimated asset retireneemoval costs included in depreciation expense B85 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012 , with $49 million in 2@hdl $47 million in 2010 .
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Periodic studies are conducted to update depregipiirameters (i.e. retirement dispersion pattewerage service lives, and net
salvage rates), including estimates of AROs anetastirement removal costs. The studies are caadwvery five years and are
filed with the OPUC for approval and inclusion ifudure rate proceeding. In September 2010, PG&wed an order from the
OPUC authorizing new depreciation rates to be @ffedanuary 2011.

Thermal production plants are depreciated usiniga&pan methodology which ensures that plant itment is recovered by the
estimated retirement dates, which range from 202060 . Depreciation is provided on the Companter classes of plant in
service over their estimated average service liwbg;h are as follows (in years):

Production, excluding thermal:

Hydro 87
Wind 27
Transmission 53
Distribution 4Q
General 13

The original cost of depreciable property unitd,afeany related salvage value, is charged to actated depreciation when prope
is retired and removed from service. Cost of rerhexpenditures are recorded against AROs or toraatated asset retirement
removal costs, included in Regulatory liabilitiés, assets without AROs.

In June 2011, PGE received an order from the OPWkbazing an increase in customer prices effeclivy 1, 2011 for depreciati
expense and decommissioning costs related to thg&ay’s commitment to cease coal-fired operatiaf@ardman at the end of
2020.

Intangible plant consists primarily of computerta@fre development costs, which are amortized oitleerefive or ten years, and
hydro licensing costs, which are amortized overagglicable license term, which range from 30 to/&8rs. Accumulated
amortization was $151 million and $153 million dbecember 31, 2012 and 2011 , respectively, witlhriization expense of $22
million in 2012 , $19 million in 2011 , and $17 fiwh in 2010 . Future estimated amortization expegs of December 31, 2012 is as
follows: $20 million in 2013 ; $18 million in 201:4$16 million in 2015 ; $14 million in 2016 ; and % million in 2017 .

Marketable Securities

All of PGE’s investments in marketable securitias|uded in the Norgualified benefit plan trust and Nuclear decomnoissig trust
on the consolidated balance sheets, are classsigédhding. Trading securities are stated at &ierbased on quoted market prices.
Realized and unrealized gains and losses on thegMalified benefit plan trust assets are include@tiner income, net. Realized
unrealized gains and losses on the Nuclear decaiunisg trust fund assets are recorded as regulaatilities or assets,
respectively, for future ratemaking. The cost afsiies sold is based on the average cost method.

Regulatory Accounting
Regulatory Assets and Liabilities

As a rate-regulated enterprise, the Company apmgdatory accounting, resulting in regulatoryeas®r regulatory liabilities.
Regulatory assets represent (i) probable futureme® associated with certain actual or estimatet$ ¢bat are expected to be
recovered from customers through the ratemakingga® or (ii) probable future collections from cusers resulting from revenue
accrued for completed alternative revenue progranosjded certain criteria are met. Regulatoryilides represent probable future
reductions in revenue associated
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with amounts that are expected to be credited $tocuers through the ratemaking process. Regulatmrgunting is appropriate as
long as prices are established by or subject tooappby independent third-party regulators; priaes designed to recover the
specific enterprise’s cost of service; and in vigwdemand for service, it is reasonable to assiaEeprices set at levels that will
recover costs can be charged to and collected du@tomers. Once the regulatory asset or liab#ieflected in prices, the
respective regulatory asset or liability is amatizo the appropriate line item in the statemermadme over the period in which it
included in prices.

Circumstances that could result in the disconticeasf regulatory accounting include (i) increasedhpetition that restricts the
Company’s ability to establish prices to recovesdfic costs, and (ii) a significant change in thanner in which prices are set by
regulators from cost-based regulation to anothen fof regulation. PGE periodically reviews the erid& of regulatory accounting to
ensure that its continued application is approgriBased on a current evaluation of the varioumfa@and conditions, management
believes that recovery of the Company’s regulatmsets is probable.

For additional information concerning the Compamnggulatory assets and liabilities, see Note 6 uRegry Assets and Liabilities.
Power Cost Adjustment Mechanism

PGE is subject to a power cost adjustment mechaf@€AM) as approved by the OPUC. Pursuant to thaNPGhe Company can
adjust future customer prices to reflect a portibthe difference between each year's forecastédareable power costs (NVPC)
included in customer prices (baseline NVPC) andadiVPC. PGE is subject to a portion of the businisk or benefit associated
with the difference between actual NVPC and baeeMiPC by application of an asymmetrical “deadbandhich ranges from $15
million below to $30 millionabove baseline NVPC. If the difference betweenadtiVPC, as determined pursuant to the PCAM.
baseline NVPC falls within the established deadbrande, PGE absorbs the incremental cost or benétit any difference falling
outside the lower and upper thresholds of the dmadibange being shared 90/10 between customeith@i@bmpany, respectively.
Any customer refund or collection is also subjecatregulated earnings test. A refund occurs textent that it results in PGE’s
actual regulated return on equity (ROE) for thanfeeing no less than 1% above the Company’s amtbROE. A collection
occurs to the extent that it results in PGE’s dategulated ROE for that year being no greater tttarnbelow the Company’s
authorized ROE. PGE's authorized ROE was 10% fa220011 and 2010. A final determination of anyteoeer refund or
collection is made in the following year by the GPthrough a public filing and review.

PGE estimates and records amounts related to tAMRD a quarterly basis during the year. If thejpcted difference between
baseline and actual NVPC for the year exceedsigiehend of the established deadband, and if ésted earnings exceed the level
required by the regulated earnings test, a regyldittbility is recorded for any future amount pajato retail customers, with
offsetting amounts recorded to Purchased powefwgigxpense. If the difference is below the loerd of the established
deadband, a regulatory asset is recorded for @nyefamount due from retail customers, with offagttmounts recorded to
Revenues.

For 2012 , actual NVPC was below baseline NVPC by illion , and exceeded the lower deadband titdshf $15 million .
However, based on results of the regulated earne@sjsno estimated refund to customers was redasg®f December 31, 2012 . A
final determination regarding the 2012 PCAM resulil§ be made by the OPUC through a public filingdareview in 2013 .

For 2011 , actual NVPC was below baseline NVPC 3 iillion , and exceeded the lower deadband tiotdssf $15 million . PGE
recorded an estimated refund to customers of $1lldmj reduced from the $17 million potential raflito customers as a result of
the regulated earnings test. A final determinategarding the 2011 PCAM results was made by the ©fltbugh a public filing
and review in 2012 which, based upon the application of an updatgdlated earnings test, resulted in a revised defoircustomer
of $6 million to be returned to customers over a-gaar period beginning January 1, 2013.
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For 2010, actual NVPC was below baseline NVPC 1 illion , which is within the established deadthaange. Accordingly, no
customer refund was recorded as of December 30 28%inal determination regarding the 2010 PCAddults was made by the
OPUC through a public filing and review in 2011hieh confirmed that no customer refund was warihifde 2010 .

Asset Retirement Obligations

An ARO is recognized in the period in which itigurred if a reasonable estimate of fair valuelmmade. PGE recognizes those
legal obligations related to dismantlement andorasiobn costs associated with the future retireroétdingible longived assets. Du
to the long lead time involved until decommissignactivities occur, the Company uses present vakleiques because quoted
market prices and a market-risk premium are nolaha. The present value of estimated future remhexpenditures is capitalized
as an ARO on the consolidated balance sheets aisgdeperiodically, with actual expenditures chartgethe ARO as incurred.

The estimated capitalized costs of AROs are degetiover the estimated life of the related asdgaith is included in Depreciation
and amortization in the consolidated statemenisaafime.

Contingencies

Contingencies are evaluated using the best infeomatvailable at the time the consolidated finalsiatements are prepared. Loss
contingencies are accrued, and disclosed if méterieen it is probable that an asset has been neghair a liability incurred as of tt
financial statement date and the amount of thedaase reasonably estimated. If a reasonable astiof probable loss cannot be
determined, a range of loss may be establishaghich case the minimum amount in the range is &trunless some other amount
within the range appears to be a better estimatgallL.costs incurred in connection with loss corgimgies are expensed as incurred.

A loss contingency will also be disclosed whers itdasonably possible that an asset has been edpair liability incurred if the
estimate or range of potential loss is materigd pfrobable or reasonably possible loss cannatdmonably estimated, disclosure of
the loss contingency includes a statement to fifedteand the reasons.

If an asset has been impaired or a liability inedrafter the financial statement date, but prigdhtissuance of the financial
statements, the loss contingency is disclosedaternal, and the amount of any estimated losscsrded in the subsequent reporting
period.

Gain contingencies are recognized when realizechemdisclosed when material.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (AOCL) preskoh the consolidated balance sheets is compidbe difference between
the non-qualified benefit plans’ obligations recizgal in net income and the unfunded position.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized as electricity is deliveredistomers and include amounts for any serygo@gded. The prices charged to
customers are subject to federal (FERC), and g0##&JC) regulation. Franchise taxes, which are ctl# from customers and
remitted to taxing authorities, are recorded onasg basis in PGE'’s consolidated statements ofiecédmounts collected from
customers are included in Revenues, net and amduat® taxing authorities are included in Taxé®mpthan income taxes and
totaled $42 million in 2012 , $41 million in 201&Rd $39 million in 2010 .
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Retail revenue is billed monthly based on metedirggs taken throughout the month. Unbilled revereesents the revenue earned
from the last meter read date through the lastofilye month, which has not been billed as of #st ¢lay of the month. Unbilled
revenue is calculated based on each merabtual net retail system load, the number of flays the last meter read date througt
last day of the month, and current retail custopmniges.

As a rate-regulated utility, there are situationgvhich PGE accrues revenue to be billed to custeiefuture periods or defers the
recognition of certain revenues to the period ificlvlthe related costs are incurred or approvedbyQPUC for amortization. For
additional information, seeRegulatory Assets and Liabilitiésn this Note 2.

Stock-Based Compensation

The measurement and recognition of compensatioarsefor all share-based payment awards, inclugistgicted stock units, is
based on the estimated fair value of the awards fain value of the portion of the award that ignoétely expected to vest is
recognized as expense over the requisite servitedp®GE attributes the value of stock-based corsgigon to expense on a
straight-line basis.

I ncome Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the assdiadnility method, which requires the recognitiond#ferred tax assets and
liabilities for the expected future tax consequenaietemporary differences between financial stat@ncarrying amounts and tax
bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax sigset liabilities are measured using enacted tas expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary défifieies are expected to be recovered or settledeffért on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recogni@ethcome in current and future periods that ineithe enactment date. Any valua
allowance is established to reduce deferred teet®$s the “more likely than not” amount expeciethé realized in future tax
returns.

As a rateregulated enterprise, changes in deferred taxsaasetliabilities that are related to certain propare required to be pass
on to customers through future prices and are elbog credited directly to a regulatory asset gul&tory liability. These amounts
were recognized as net regulatory assets of $8médnd $87 million as of December 31, 2012 an@i1’20respectively, and will be
included in prices when the temporary differenea®rse.

Unrecognized tax benefits represent managementscted treatment of a tax position taken in a fileedreturn, or planned to be

taken in a future tax return, that has not bedeatefd in measuring income tax expense for findmeorting purposes. Until such
positions are no longer considered uncertain, P@Hdwnot recognize the tax benefits resulting fiumh positions and would rep
the tax effect as a liability in the Company’s colidated balance sheet.

PGE records any interest and penalties relatetctume tax deficiencies in Interest expense andr@tleeme, net, respectively, in
the consolidated statements of income.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2011-#84dir Value Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 828nendments to Achieve
Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Reqents in U.S. GAAP and IFR®SU 2011-04) changed the wording used
to describe principles and requirements to aligih Witernational Financial Reporting Standardssaaed by the International
Accounting Standards Board, and were not intendethéange the application of Topic 820. Some oftimendments clarify the
Financial Accounting Standards Board'’s intent andpplication of existing fair value guidance oawge a particular principle or
requirement for measuring fair value or fair vatligclosures. The amendments in ASU 2011-04 are &pbplied prospectively and
are effective for interim and annual periods beijigrafter December 15, 2011 for public entitieghvaarly application not
permitted. PGE adopted the amendments contain&8th2011-04 on January 1, 2012, which did
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not have an impact on the Company’s consolidatehfiial position, consolidated results of operatjan consolidated cash flows.

ASU 2011-11Balance Sheet (Topic 210) - Disclosures about @iffigeAssets and LiabilitiegASU 2011-11) requires an entity to
disclose information about offsetting and relatad@gements to enable users of its financial staigsnto understand the effect of
those arrangements on its financial position. Theraments in ASU 2011-11 are to be applied for ahreporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and intgrmods within those annual periods. Disclosurgsired by ASU 20111 shall be
provided retrospectively for all comparative pesqaesented. PGE will adopt the amendments comtan&SU 201111 on Janual
1, 2013, which is not expected to have an impa¢herCompanys consolidated financial position, consolidatediitssof operations
or consolidated cash flows.

NOTE 3: BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS
Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable is net of an allowance for linctible accounts of $5 million and $6 million esDecember 31, 2012 and 2011
respectively. The following is the activity in talowance for uncollectible accounts (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Balance as of beginning of year $ 6 9 5 % 5
Increase in provision 6 11 7
Amounts written off, less recoveries @) (20 @)
Balance as of end of year $ 5 % 6 $ 5

Trust Accounts
PGE maintains two trust accounts as follows:
Nuclear decommissioning tr— Reflects assets held in trust to cover generalm™egssioning costs and operation of the
Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation (IS&Sd) represent amounts collected from customesslgalified expenditures plus
any realized and unrealized gains and losses onvthstments held therein.
Nor-qualified benefit plan trust-Reflects assets held in trust to cover the ohbgatof PGE’s non-qualified benefit plans and
represents contributions made by the Company leslfigd expenditures plus any realized and unzedligains and losses on the

investment held therein.

The trusts are comprised of the following investtaers of December 31 (in millions):

Nuclear Non-Qualified Benefit
Decommissioning Trust Plan Trust
2012 2011 2012 2011
Cash equivalents $ 15 3 14 % 2 % —
Marketable securities, at fair value:
Equity securities — — 5 1C
Debt securities 23 23 2 3
Insurance contracts, at cash surrender value — — 23 23
$ 38 3 37 % 32 3 36
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For information concerning the fair value measunetnoé those assets recorded at fair value helbertrusts, see Note 4, Fair Value
of Financial Instruments.

Other Current Assets and Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Other current assets and Accrued expenses andanitrent liabilities consist of the following (iniions):

As of December 31,

2012 2011
Other current assets:
Current deferred income tax asset $ 51 $ 33
Assets from price risk management activities 4 19
Income taxes receivable 1 12
Other 37 34
$ 93 % 98
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities:
Accrued employee compensation and benefits $ 46 8 44
Accrued interest payable 23 24
Dividends payable 21 21
Regulatory liabilities—current 12 6
Other 77 62
$ 17¢ 3 157

Other Noncurrent Assets

The Company incurs preliminary engineering codested to potential future capital projects, which eapitalized in Other
noncurrent assets in the consolidated balancessterediminary engineering costs consist of expenet for preliminary surveys,
plans, and investigations made for the purposeterchining the feasibility of utility projects bgrronsidered. Once the project is
approved for construction, such costs are reciadsid Construction work in progress within Electutility plant. If the project is
abandoned, such costs are expensed to Productiadisdribution expense in the period such detertiindas made. If any
preliminary engineering costs are expensed, thepgaosnmay seek recovery of such costs in custoneggralthough there can be
no guarantee such recovery would be granted. A&2=oémber 31, 2012 and 2011 , PGE has recordedngmally engineering costs
of $14 million and $10 million , respectively. Rive years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 , and,2@dtaterial preliminary
engineering costs were expensed.

NOTE 4: FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

PGE determines the fair value of financial instratseboth assets and liabilities recognized andetxignized in the Company’s

consolidated balance sheets, for which it is pcable to estimate fair value as of December 31220 2011 , and then classifies

these financial assets and liabilities based @iravélue hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy isdito prioritize the inputs to the

valuation techniques used to measure fair values@lthree broad levels and application to the Cagnpee discussed below.
Level 1 Quoted prices are available in active marketsdentiical assets or liabilities as of the reportiage

Level 2 Pricing inputs include those that are directlyraliiectly observable in the marketplace as of éporting date
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Level 3 Pricing inputs include significant inputs which amobservable for the asset or liabi

Financial assets and liabilities are classifieth&ir entirety based on the lowest level of infattis significant to the fair value
measurement. The Company’s assessment of theisagué of a particular input to the fair value meament requires judgment,
and may affect the valuation of fair value assat$labilities and their placement within the faalue hierarchy.

PGE recognizes transfers between levels in thesédire hierarchy as of the end of the reportingagkfor all of its financial
instruments. Changes to market liquidity conditjadhe availability of observable inputs, or changethe economic structure of a
security marketplace may require transfer of tleeisies between levels. There were no significearisfers between levels during
each of the years ended December 31, 2012 , 2@lL2C40 , except those net transfers out of Levell3vel 2 presented in this
note.

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities vehealues were recognized at fair value are asvislloy level within the fair value
hierarchy (in millions):

As of December 31, 2012

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Nuclear decommissioning trust
Money market funds $ —  $ 15 $ — % 15
Debt securities:
Domestic government 7 8 — 15
Corporate credit — 8 — 8
Non-qualified benefit plan truét:
Money market funds — 2 — 2
Equity securities:
Domestic 2 2 — 4
International 1 — — 1
Debt securities - domestic government 2 — — 2
Assets from price risk management activitte¥:
Electricity — 1 — 1
Natural gas — 3 2 5
$ 12 8 38 ¢ 2 % 53
Liabilities - Liabilities from price risk managenten
activities @@
Electricity $ — 3 72 % c 3 82
Natural gas — 11C 8 11¢
$ —  $ 18z % 18 % 20C

(1) Activities are subject to regulation, with certgiamins and losses deferred pursuant to regulat@guating and included in regulatory asset
regulatory liabilities as appropriate.

(2) Excludes insurance policies of $23 milliowhich are recorded at cash surrender v

(3) For further information, see Note 5, Price Risk [sigemen
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As of December 31, 2011

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Nuclear decommissioning trust
Money market funds $ —  $ 14 $ —  $ 14
Debt securities:
Domestic government 3 9 — 12
Corporate credit — 11 — 11
Non-qualified benefit plan truét:
Equity securities:
Domestic 7 2 — 9
International 1 — — 1
Debt securities - domestic government 3 — — 3
Assets from price risk management activitie3:
Electricity — 2 — 2
Natural gas — 17 — 17
$ 14 % 50 ¢ —  $ 6¢
Liabilities - Liabilities from price risk managenten
activities™®:
Electricity $ — 3 10e  $ 29 % 137
Natural gas — 201 5C 251
$ —  $ 30¢ % 79 % 38¢

(1) Activities are subject to regulation, with certgiamins and losses deferred pursuant to regulat@guating and included in regulatory asset
regulatory liabilities as appropriate.

(2) Excludes insurance policies of $23 milliowhich are recorded at cash surrender v

(3) For further information, see Note 5, Price Risk [sigemen

Trust assets held in the Nuclear decommissioning and Non-queadifbenefit plan trusts are recorded at fair vaiuRGE's
consolidated balance sheets and invested in sesutiit are exposed to interest rate, credit aadteh volatility risks. These assets
are classified within Level 1, 2 or 3 based onftilewing factors:

Money market funds-PGE invests in money market funds that seek totaiai a stable net asset value. These funds invest
in high-quality, short-term, diversified money marknstruments, short-term treasury bills, fedaggncy securities,
certificates of deposits, and commercial paper. &amarket funds are classified as Level 2 in tlevidue hierarchy as the
securities are traded in active markets of sinsurities but are not directly valued using quatedket prices.

Debt securities—PGE invests in highly-liquid United States tregssecurities to support the investment objectividb®
trusts. These domestic government securities assified as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy tuthe availability of
quoted prices for identical assets in an activeketaas of the reporting date.

Assets classified as Level 2 in the fair valuedriey include domestic government debt securisiesh as municipal debt,
and corporate credit securities. Prices are deteunby evaluating pricing data such as broker guiatesimilar securities
and adjusted for observable differences. Signifiggouts used in valuation models generally inclbodachmark yield and
issuer spreads. The external credit rating, coupta) and maturity of each security are considardle valuation as
applicable.
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Equity securities—Equity mutual fund and common stock securitiespaimarily classified as Level 1 in the fair value
hierarchy due to the availability of quoted prifesidentical assets in an active market as oféperting date. Principal
markets for equity prices include published exclearguch as NASDAQ and the New York Stock ExchaNy6SE). Certait
mutual fund assets included in commingled trustseparately managed accounts are classified ag 2é@vehe fair value
hierarchy as pricing inputs are directly or indthgobservable in the marketplace.

Assets and liabilities from price risk management activities are recorded at fair value in PGE’s consolidatddrize sheets and
consist of derivative instruments entered intol®y Company to manage its exposure to commodite pis& and foreign currency
exchange rate risk, and reduce volatility in nat/@ocosts for the Company’s retail customers. [eoliteonal information regarding
these assets and liabilities, see Note 5, Pride R@agement.

For those assets and liabilities from price riskhagement activities classified as Level 2, faiueak derived using present value
formulas that utilize inputs such as quoted forwarides for commaodities and interest rates. Sultisignall of these assumptions ¢
observable in the marketplace throughout the &uihtof the instrument, can be derived from obsdevdata, or are supported by
observable levels at which transactions are exddntthe marketplace. Instruments in this categociude over-the-counter
forwards, commaodity futures and swaps.

Assets and liabilities from price risk managemenivities classified as Level 3 consist of instrurtgefor which fair value is derived
using one or more significant inputs that are riagepvable for the entire term of the instrumenesehinstruments consist of longer
term over-the-counter swap derivatives. Commodityom contracts whose fair value is derived usitagndardized valuation
techniques, such as Black-Scholes, are also d¢$sis Level 3. Inputs into the valuation of comihodption contracts include
forward commaodity prices, forward interest ratex] aistoric volatility and correlation factors.

The Company values its Level 3 assets and liadslitiom price risk management activities usingsaalinted cash flow valuation
technique in which quoted forward prices for thepective commaodity are significant unobservableiispQuantitative information
regarding the significant, unobservable inputs useétle measurement of Level 3 assets and liadslitiom price risk management
activities as of December 31, 2012 is presenteaviel

Range and Weighted Average
Price per Unit

Weighted
Fair Value Low High Average Unit
Assets from price risk management activities: (in millions)
Natural gas financial swaps $ 2 3.7¢ % 521 $ 4.3¢€ Dth
Liabilities from price risk management activities:
Electricity financial swaps and commodity futures 10 7.12 51.7:% 41.1¢  MWh
Natural gas financial swaps 8 3.67 5.21 4.20 Dth

Long-term forward prices for commodity derivativesiploy the mid-point of the market's bask spread and are derived u:
observed transactions in active markets, as wdllsisrical experience as a participant in thoseketa.

The Company’s Risk Management department, whicbrtepo the Chief Financial Officer, prepares vétuzgs for all derivative
transactions. This process includes managemeheahtrk-to-market process, which ultimately detaessithe fair value
measurement for assets and liabilities from piigle management activities. On a daily basis, mariiarket valuations for
derivatives are calculated using the Company’sesysif record. Inputs used in performing daily marknarket calculations are
uploaded into the system of record after reviewdasonableness against expectations and subséguwatitiation against broker
guotes and market data from a
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regulated exchange. In addition, the overall changeark-to-market is evaluated based on priciqmiirexpectations. Any
discrepancies identified during this process maultén adjustment of an input.

PGE’s Level 3 assets and liabilities from pricé nsanagement activities are sensitive to markeeprhanges in the respective
underlying commodities. The significance of the &opis dependent upon the magnitude of the priaegh and the Company’s
position as either the buyer or seller of the aitrAs the buyer of a commodity financial swapjramease in the underlying
commodity price would result in a favorable chatghe fair value measurement. Conversely, a deergathe underlying
commodity price would result in an unfavorable dmeto the fair value measurement. As the selleraimmaodity financial swap,
the fair value measurements are sensitive to phie@ges in a manner opposite to the buy sideoakdtip discussed above.

Changes in the fair value of net liabilities fromice risk management activities (net of assets fpoice risk management activities)
classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchgrevas follows (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011
Net liabilities from price risk management actegias of beginning of year $ 79 $ 12C
Net realized and unrealized losses 15 @ 86
Purchases @ 3
Issuances D —
Settlements — D
Net transfers out of Level 3 to Level 2 (76) (129
Net liabilities from price risk management actiegtias of end of year $ 1€ $ 79
Level 3 net unrealized losses that have been édfset by the effect of regulatory accountirfg 14 $ 88

(1) Includes $1 milliorof realized losses, n

The comparable information contained in the preugttble was as follows for the year ended Dece®beP010 (in millions):

Net liabilities from price risk management actiegias of beginning of year $ 154
Net realized and unrealized los$es 65
Purchases, issuances, and settlements, net 27
Net transfers out of Level 3 to Level 2 (126€)

Net liabilities from price risk management actieftias of end of year $ 12C

Level 3 net unrealized losses that have been &ifset by the effect of regulatory accounting $ 95

(1) Contains nominal amounts of realized losses

Transfers into Level 3 occur when significant irgpused to value the Compasylerivative instruments become less observabdd
as a delivery location becoming significantly légsid. Transfers out of Level 3 occur when thendfigant inputs become more
observable, such as the time between the valuddtsmand the delivery term of a transaction bec@hesder.

Long-term debt is recorded at amortized cost in PGE’s consolidhtddnce sheets. The fair value of long-term debiassified as a
Level 2 fair value measurement and is estimateddas the quoted market prices for the same otagilissues or on the current
rates offered to PGE for debt of similar remainmaturities. As of
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December 31, 2012, the estimated aggregate faie v PGE’s long-term debt was $1,949 million mgmred to its $1,636 million
carrying amount. As of December 31, 2011 , thevesttd aggregate fair value of PGE’s long-term eetst $2,091 million ,
compared to its $1,735 million carrying amount.

For fair value information concerning the Comparmession plan assets, see Note 10, Employee Benefit
NOTE 5: PRICE RISK MANAGEMENT

PGE patrticipates in the wholesale marketplacederoto balance its supply of power, which consi$ti$s own generating resources
combined with wholesale market transactions, totreeneeds of its retail customers, manage ristt,a@minister its existing long-
term wholesale contracts. Such activities include ind power purchases and sales resulting freamosgic dispatch decisions for
its own generation. As a result of this ongoingihess activity, PGE is exposed to commaodity prisk and foreign currency
exchange rate risk, where adverse changes in @iadsr rates may affect the Company’s financiaifpan, performance, or cash
flow.

PGE utilizes derivative instruments in its wholesalectric utility activities to manage its expastw commodity price risk and
foreign exchange rate risk in order to manage Wityain net power costs for its retail customerfiese derivative instruments may
include forward, futures, swap, and option congdot electricity, natural gas, oil and foreignmncy, which are recorded at fair
value on the consolidated balance sheet, with a@simgfair value recorded in the statement of ineolm accordance with
ratemaking and cost recovery processes authoriz&tebtOPUC, PGE recognizes a regulatory assedloitity to defer the gains and
losses from derivative activity until settlementtloé associated derivative instrument. PGE maygdese certain derivative
instruments as cash flow hedges or may use derévatstruments as economic hedges. PGE does nagetig trading activities for
non-retail purposes.

PGE has elected to report gross on the consolidetieahce sheets the positive and negative exposesehing from derivative
instruments entered into with counterparties wiaengaster netting arrangement exists. As of Dece®be2012 and 2011 , the
Company had $18 million and $26 million , respeadijy in collateral posted with these counterpaytiessisting entirely of letters of
credit.

PGE’s net volumes related to its Assets and Liabilitiem price risk management activities resultingnirits derivative transactior
which are expected to deliver or settle at varidates through 2016, were as follows (in millions):

As of December 31,

2012 2011
Commodity contracts:
Electricity 11  MWh 13 MWh
Natural gas 86  Decatherms 79  Decatherms
Foreign currency exchange $ 7  Canadian $ 6 Canadian
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The fair values of PGE’s Assets and Liabilitiesfrprice risk management activities consist of thi¥ing (in millions):

As of December 31,

2012 2011
Current assets:
Commodity contracts:
Electricity $ 1 $ 2
Natural gas 3 17
Total current derivative assets 4 o 19 @
Noncurrent assets:
Commodity contracts:
Natural gas 2@ —
Total derivative assets not designated as hedgstgiments $ 6 $ 19
Total derivative assets $ 6 $ 19
Current liabilities:
Commodity contracts:
Electricity $ 44 $ 66
Natural gas 83 15C
Total current derivative liabilities 127 21¢€
Noncurrent liabilities:
Commodity contracts:
Electricity 38 71
Natural gas 35 101
Total noncurrent derivative liabilities 73 17z
Total derivative liabilities not designated as hiadgnstruments $ 20C $ 38¢
Total derivative liabilities $ 20C $ 38¢

(1) Included in Other current assets on the consolida#tance shee
(2) Included in Other noncurrent assets on the cora@liibalance she

Net realized and unrealized losses on derivataestictions not designated as hedging instrumentdassified in Purchased pov
and fuel in the consolidated statements of inconteveere as follows (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Commodity contracts:
Electricity $ 56 $ 117 $ 127
Natural Gas 19 98 192

Net unrealized losses and certain net realize@$opsesented in the table above are offset wittgrstatement of income by t
effects of regulatory accounting. Of the net lassognized in net income for the years ended Dece81he€012 , 2011 , and 2010,
$42 million , $192 million , and $258 million , @Eexctively, have been offset.
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Assuming no changes in market prices and inteagss rthe following table indicates the year inchirthe net unrealized loss
recorded as of December 31, 2012 related to PGigative activities would be realized as a resfithe settlement of the
underlying derivative instrument (in millions):

2013 2014 2015 Total
Commodity contracts:
Electricity $ 43 % 28 % 1 3 81
Natural gas 80 27 6 113
Net unrealized loss $ 12z % 558  $ 1€ % 194

The Company’s secured and unsecured debt is clyrraied at investment grade by Moody'’s Investas/i8e (Moody’s) and
Standard and Poor’s Ratings Services (S&P). Shidolody’s and/or S&P reduce their rating on the Conymunsecured debt to
below investment grade, PGE could be subject toastg by certain wholesale counterparties to mifitianal performance
assurance collateral, in the form of cash or Iettércredit, based on total portfolio positionshwéiach of those counterparties and
some other counterparties will have the right tanteate their agreements with the Company.

The aggregate fair value of all derivative instrutsewith credit-risk-related contingent featureattivere in a liability position as of
December 31, 2012 was $163 million , for which @@mpany had $45 million in posted collateral, cetisg entirely of letters of
credit. If the credit-risk-related contingent fe@tsi underlying these agreements were triggerecegber 31, 2012 , the cash
requirement to either post as collateral or sétégeinstruments immediately would have been $15[fom.i.

Counterparties representing 10% or more of Asgedd @bilities from price risk management activstiwere as follows:

As of December 31,

2012 2011
Assets from price risk management activities:
Counterparty A 21% 19%
Counterparty B 13 2
Counterparty C 11 16
Counterparty D 10 9
Counterparty E 6 13
61% 59%
Liabilities from price risk management activities:
Counterparty F 24% 23%
Counterparty G 14 10
Counterparty H 10 6
48% 3%

For additional information concerning the deterrimraof fair value for the Company’s Assets andhiliies from price risk
management activities, see Note 4, Fair Value ofif¢ial Instruments.
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NOTE 6: REGULATORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The majority of PGES regulatory assets and liabilities are reflecteclistomer prices and are amortized over the périadhich the
are reflected in customer prices. Items not culyeeflected in prices are pending before the ratguy body as discussed below.

Regulatory assets and liabilities consist of tHefang (dollars in millions):

VXeighted As of December 31,
5 e‘ﬁ;ﬁﬁﬁg 2012 2011
Life @ Current Noncurrent Current Noncurrent
Regulatory assets:
Price risk managemefit 2years % 128 $ 71 $ 194 $ 172
Pension and other postretirement plédns ® — 321 — 29k
Deferred income taxé? @ — 8C — 87
Deferred broker settlemerits 1 year 2C 1 11 —
Debt issuance cosfs 7 years — 22 — 28
Deferred capital projects & — 16 — —
Other® Various 1 13 11 12
Total regulatory assets $ 144 $ 524 $ 21€ $ 594
Regulatory liabilities:
Asset retirement removal co$ts @ $ — $ 692 $ = $ 637
Asset retirement obligations @ — 3¢ — 36
Power cost adjustment mechanism 1yea 6 — — 10
Other Various 6 34 6 37
Total regulatory liabilities $ 12 ® $ 765 $ 6 ® $ 72C

(1) As of December 31, 2012

(2) Does not include a return on investm

(3) Recovery expected over the average servieefiemployees. For additional information, seeeNitSummary of Significant Accounting
Policies.

(4) Recovery expected over the estimated lives of $kete

(5) Recovery period not yet determin

(6) Of the total other unamortized regulatory abséances, a return is recorded on $15 million $2t million as of December 31, 2012 and
2011 , respectively.

(7) Included in rate base for ratemaking purpc

(8) Included in Accrued expenses and other currenilitials on the consolidated balance she

As of December 31, 2012 , PGE had regulatory as$&31 million earning a return on investmentra following rates: (i) $18
million at PGE’s cost of debt of 6.065% ; (ii) $&0llion earning a return by inclusion in rate baaed (i) $3 million at the
approved rate for deferred accounts under amadizatanging from 1.47% to 2.24% , depending onytb&r of approval.

Price risk managemeirrepresents the difference between the net unredlisses recognized on derivative instrumentseeltd
price risk management activities and their reatimand subsequent recovery in customer pricestuftbrer information regarding
assets and liabilities from price risk managemetivities, see Note 5, Price Risk Management.
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Pension and other postretirement plaepresents unrecognized components of the berafis funded status, which are
recoverable in customer prices when recognize@impariodic benefit cost. For further informatisee Note 10, Employee Benefits.

Deferred income taxerepresents income tax benefits resulting from pityprelated timing differences that previously flesvto
customers and will be included in customer priceemthe temporary differences reverse. For fuitifermation, see Note 11,
Income Taxes.

Deferred broker settlemerconsist of transactions that have been financgslyled by clearing brokers prior to the contrasivery
date. These gains and losses are deferred foeftggovery in customer prices during the corresppgncontract settlement month.

Debt issuance cosrepresents unrecognized debt issuance costs rétatiedht instruments retired prior to the stipulateaturity
date.

Deferred capital projectrepresents costs related to four capital projéetswere deferred for future accounting treatmemsyant tc
the Company'’s last general rate case. The recafahgese project costs in future customer pricesiiect to a regulated earnings
test and approval by the OPUC.

Asset retirement removal corepresent the costs that do not qualify as AROsaa@@ component of depreciation expense allowed
in customer prices. Such costs are recorded aguatery liability as they are collected in pricasd are reduced by actual removal
costs incurred.

Asset retirement obligatiorrepresent the difference in the timing of recogmitof (i) the amounts recognized for depreciation
expense of the asset retirement costs and accuadtibe ARO, and (i) the amount recovered in costo prices.

Power cost adjustment mechanirepresents the estimated refund to customers redqrarsuant to this regulatory mechanism. For
further information, see Power Cost Adjustment Mechanisiim the Regulatory Accounting section in Note 2n8nary of
Significant Accounting Policies.

NOTE 7: ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

AROs consist of the following (in millions):

As of December 31,

2012 2011
Trojan decommissioning activities $ 42 % 37
Utility plant 39 38
Non-utility property 13 12
Asset retirement obligations $ 94 % 87

Trojan decommissioning activitiegpresents the present value of future decommisgjaxpenditures for the plant, which ceased
operation in 1993. The remaining decommissionirtyiéies primarily consist of the lonterm operation and decommissioning of
Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation (ISE®Ijnterim dry storage facility that is licendsdthe Nuclear Regulatory
Commission. The ISFSI is to house the spent nu@legiat the former plant site until an off-sitersige facility is available.
Decommissioning of the ISFSI and final site redioraactivities will begin once shipment of all tepent fuel to a U.S. Department
of Energy (USDOE) facility is complete.
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In 2004, the co-owners of Trojan (PGE, Eugene Wa&tEtectric Board, and PacifiCorp, collectively eefed to as Plaintiffs) filed a
complaint against the USDOE for failure to accegard nuclear fuel by January 31, 1998. PGE hadaced with the USDOE for
the permanent disposal of spent nuclear fuel ieroi@ allow the final decommissioning of Trojan.eTRlaintiffs paid for permanent
disposal services during the period of plant openadnd have met all other conditions precedent. Hlaintiffs were seeking
approximately $112 million in damages incurred tiyio 2009.

A trial before the U.S. Court of Federal Claims coaemced in the fourth quarter of 2011 and concludesghrly 2012. On November
30, 2012, the United States Court of Federal Clagsised a judgment awarding certain damages tBldirtiffs. The judgment does
not state the precise amount of the damages atvarrdjrects the parties to consult and proposénbyehd of February 2013 a final
amount for the Plaintiffs’ recovery that is basedcertain adjustments specified in the court’sngiliPGE estimates that the total
amount of the award, as calculated pursuant tquthkgament, will range from approximately $65 milliGm$75 million . Any award
amount would be allocated among the Plaintiffs. jlidgment includes damages incurred through 2008.Flaintiffs may seek
damages for subsequent years through a separatetegeeding.

The USDOE will likely appeal, which will defer amlamage payment indefinitely. The Trojan ARO wilt be impacted by the
outcome of this case as such potential recoveforigast decommissioning costs and the ARO refleatg future decommissioning
expenditures. Any proceeds received related tdegisl matter would flow to the benefit of customar offset amounts previously
collected from customers in relation to Trojan daaussioning activities.

Utility plant represents AROs that have been recognized for ¢hgp@ny’s thermal and wind generation sites, digtiiim and
transmission assets where disposal is governedvyiso@mental regulation, as well as the Bull Runlfoyproject. Decommissioning
work was substantially completed at Bull Run in 201

During 2011, an updated decommissioning study @E®R Boardman codired plant was completed, which included the agsion
that Boardman'’s coal-fired operations cease in 28#ter than 2040. As a result of the study, PGEemsed its ARO related to
Boardman by approximately $20 milligrwvith a corresponding increase in the cost bédiseoplant, included in Electric utility pla
net on the consolidated balance sheet. Such ttamsés non-cash and is excluded from investingvais in the consolidated
statement cash flows for the year ended Decemhe2(31l.

Nor-utility propertyprimarily represents ARO’s which have been recagphior portions of unregulated properties leasatitd
parties.

The following is a summary of the changes in then@any’s AROs (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Balance as of beginning of year $ 87 % 64 $ 63
Liabilities incurred — 1 1
Liabilities settled (©)] (@) (©)]
Accretion expense 6 4 4
Revisions in estimated cash flows 4 22 D
Balance as of end of year $ 94 3 87 $ 64

Pursuant to regulation, the amortization of utiptgnt AROs is included in depreciation expenseiaralistomer prices. Any
differences in the timing of recognition of costs financial reporting and ratemaking purposesdaferred as a regulatory asset or
regulatory liability. Recovery of Trojan decommimsing costs is included in
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PGE's retail prices, currently at approximatelyriflion annually, with an equal amount recordedigpreciation and amortization
expense.

PGE maintains a separate trust account, Nucleantleéssioning trust in the consolidated balance tsheefunds collected from
customers through prices to cover the cost of firdgcommissioning activities. Sed@fust Account$ in Note 3, Balance Sheet
Components, for additional information on the Nacldecommissioning trust.

The Oak Grove hydro facility and transmission aistirithution plant located on public right-of-waysdaon certain easements meet
the requirements of a legal obligation and willuieg removal when the plant is no longer in servige ARO liability is not
currently measurable as management believes thse tissets will be used in utility operations lierforeseeable future. Removal
costs are charged to accumulated asset retirem@olval costs, which is included in Regulatory ligilbs on PGE’s consolidated
balance sheets.

NOTE 8: REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITIES

PGE has two unsecured revolving credit facilitiesh an aggregate borrowing capacity of $700 millias follows:
* A $400 million syndicated credit facility, whigk scheduled to terminate in November 20aric

» A $300 million syndicated credit facility, whidk scheduled to terminate in December 2016

Pursuant to the terms of the agreements, bothtdemlities may be used for general corporate pses and as backup for
commercial paper borrowings, and also permit thedace of standby letters of credit. PGE may bofamwene , two , three , or six
months at a fixed interest rate established atite of the borrowing, or at a variable interesefmr any period up to the then
remaining term of the applicable credit facilityotB credit facilities contain two, one-year extems subject to approval by the
banks, require annual fees based on PGE’s unsecrgéit ratings, and contain customary covenandsdafiault provisions,
including a requirement that limits consolidatedahtedness, as defined in the agreement, to 65.@8tabcapitalization. As of
December 31, 2012 , PGE was in compliance withabigenant with a 48.9% debt ratio.

The Company has a commercial paper program undehvthmay issue commercial paper for terms ofw@0 days, limited to the
unused amount of credit under the credit facilities

Pursuant to an order issued by the FERC, the Coynipauthorized to issue short-term debt up to $mdilon through February 6,
2014 . The authorization provides that if utilitysats financed by unsecured debt are divestedatherportionate share of the
unsecured debt must also be divested.

As of December 31, 2012 , PGE had no borrowing®utite credit facilities, with $17 million of commuéal paper outstanding,

which is classified as Short-term debt in the ctidated balance sheet, and $67 million of lettdrsredit issued. As dDecember 3:
2012 , the aggregate unused available credit uheesredit facilities was $616 million .
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Short-term borrowings under these credit facilidesl related interest rates were as follows (doitamillions):

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Average daily amount of short-term debt outstanding 4 2 9
Weighted daily average interest rate * 0.4% 0.4% 0.4%
Maximum amount outstanding during the year 44 44 51

*  Excludes the effect of commitment fees, facilitgdeand other financing fe

NOTE 9: LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt consists of the following (in mitis):

As of December 31,

2012 2011

First Mortgage Bonds, rates range from 3.46% to 9.31%, with a weiglategtage rate of
5.84% in 2012 and 5.83% in 2011, d t varioussdtrough 2040

6 in an 6 in , due at various: oug $ 151§ 161t
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds 5% rate, due 2033 14z 14z
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds owned by PGE (21) (21)
Unamortized debt discount — (0]

Total long-term debt 1,63¢ 1,73¢
Less: current portion of long-term debt (100 (100

Long-term debt, net of current portion $ 153 $ 1,63t

First Mortgage Bond—In accordance with the terms of the debt agreen®BE repaid during October 2012 the 5.6675% Sefies
First Mortgage Bonds in the amount of $100 millicFhe Indenture securing PGE’s outstanding Firsttlysme Bonds constitutes a
direct first mortgage lien on substantially all wéged utility property, other than expressly exedmproperty.

Pollution Control Revenue Bon—PGE has the option to remarket $21 million of &adin Control Revenue Bonds held by the
Company through 2033. At the time of any remarlgtiGE can choose a new interest rate period thed de daily, weekly, or a
fixed term. The new interest rate would be basetharket conditions at the time of remarketing. Podlution Control Revenue
Bonds could be backed by first mortgage bondshark letter of credit depending on market condgion

As of December 31, 2012 , the future minimum ppatpayments on long-term debt are as follows (ihans):

Years ending December 31:

2013 $ 10C
2014 —
2015 70
2016 67
2017 58
Thereafter 1,341

$ 1,63¢

Interest is payable semi-annually on all long-telebt instruments.
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NOTE 10: EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans

Defined Benefit Pension P—PGE sponsors a non-contributory defined benefisjpenplan. The plan has been closed to most nev
employees since January 31, 2009 and to all neviogess since January 1, 2012, with no changesrieflie provided to existing
participants.

The assets of the pension plan are held in adangtire comprised of equity and debt instrumestsal as alternative asset
investment vehicles, all of which are recordechatalue. Pension plan calculations include sdassumptions which are reviewed
annually and are updated as appropriate, with #@sorement date of December 31.

PGE made no contributions to the pension plan k22@wvith contributions of $26 million and $30 ot in 2011and2010 ,
respectively. No contributions to the pension @amexpected in 2013 .

Other Postretirement BenefitsRGE has non-contributory postretirement healthlé@dsurance plans, as well as Health
Reimbursement Accounts (HRAS) for its employeediéctively “Other Postretirement Benefitsi the following tables). Employet
are covered under a Defined Dollar Medical Berfifin which limits PGE’s obligation pursuant to ffestretirement health plan by
establishing a maximum benefit per employee witiplegrees paying the additional cost.

The assets of these plans are held in voluntaryames’ beneficiary association trusts and are c@a@ of money market funds,
common stocks, common and collective trust fundgingrships/joint ventures, and registered investroempanies, all of which a
recorded at fair value. Postretirement health gadrisurance benefit plan calculations includeesavassumptions which are
reviewed annually with PGE’s consulting actuaried &rust investment consultants and updated a®ppate, with measurement
dates of December 31.

Contributions to the HRAs provide for claims byimets for qualified medical costs. For bargainingptoyees, the participants’
accounts are credited with 58% of the value ofetilmployee’s accumulated sick time as of April 302 stated amount per
compensable hour worked, plus 100% of their eatinegl off accumulated at the time of retirement. &ttive non-bargaining
employees, the Company grants a fixed dollar amthattwill become available for qualified medicapenses upon their retireme

Nor-Qualified Benefit Plans—The Non-Qualified Benefit Plans (NQBP) in the éolling tables include obligations for a
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, and atirepension plan, both of which were closed to pawticipants in 1997. The
NQBP also include pension meup benefits for employees that participate inthfunded Management Deferred Compensation
Plan (MDCP). Investments in a non-qualified bengifiin trust, consisting of trust-owned life insuramolicies and marketable
securities, provide funding for the future requiemts of these plans. These trust assets are inclndee accompanying tables for
informational purposes only and are not considesgftegated and restricted under current accoustamglards. The investments in
marketable securities, consisting of money matkatd, and equity mutual funds, are classified aditig and recorded at fair value.
The measurement date for the non-qualified bepkits is December 31.

Other NQBP—In addition to the non-qualified benefit plansalissed above, PGE provides certain employees dsdeuwlirectors
with deferred compensation plans, whereby partitgpanay defer a portion of their earned compensalibese unfunded plans
include the MDCP and the Outside Directors’ Deféi@mmpensation Plan. The Company also providesati@d employees with
death benefits through a split dollar life insurapolicy which pays a fixed amount to the beneficend for which the Company
a security interest for the amount of premiums pREE holds investments in a non-qualified ber@éih trust which are intended to
be a funding source for these plans.
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Trust assets and plan liabilities related to theBR(Qncluded in PGE’s consolidated balance sheetasfollows as of December 31
(in millions):

2012 2011
Other Other
NQBP NQBP Total NQBP NQBP Total
Non-qualified benefit plan trust $ 15 3 17 3 32 % 17  $ 18 % 36
Non-qualified benefit plan liabilities * 25 77 10z 25 76 101

* For the NQBP, excludes the current portion ofdilion in 2012 and 2011 , which is classified@ther current liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheets.

See “Trust Account$ in Note 3, Balance Sheet Components, for infoiamabn the Non-qualified benefit plan trust.

Investment Policy and Asset Allocat—The Board of Directors of PGE appoints an Investn@mmittee, which is comprised of
officers of the Company. In addition, the Boardadstablishes the Company’s asset allocation. ifrestment Committee is then
responsible for implementation and oversight ofahset allocation. The Company’s investment pdticyts pension and other
postretirement plans is to balance risk and returough a diversified portfolio of equity securstjdixed income securities and other
alternative investments. The commitments to eaabschre controlled by an asset deployment andnsashgement strategy that
takes profits from asset classes whose allocatiams shifted above their target ranges to fundfitgreeyments and investments in
asset classes whose allocations have shifted kblintarget ranges.

The asset allocations for the plans, and the tal{patation, are as follows:

As of December 31,

2012 2011
Actual Target * Actual Target *
Defined Benefit Pension Plan:
Equity securities 68% 67% 68% 67%
Debt securities 32 33 32 33
Total 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C%
Other Postretirement Benefit Plans:
Equity securities 63% 72% 61% 72%
Debt securities 37 28 39 28
Total 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C%
Non-Qualified Benefits Plans:
Equity securities 17% 17% 30% 23%
Debt securities 6 10 7 14
Insurance contracts 77 73 63 63
Total 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C%

* The Target for the Defined Benefit Plan représe¢he mid-point of the investment target rangee Buthe nature of the investment vehicles in
both the Other Postretirement Benefit Plans andNthre Qualified Benefit Plans, these Targets areatbighted average of the mid-point of
the respective investment target ranges approvedebinvestment Committee. Due to the method usedltulate the weighted average
Targets for the Other Postretirement Benefit Peams NonQualified Benefit Plans, reported percentages fieetad by the fair market valu
of the investments within the pools.
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The Company’s overall investment strategy is totritee goals and objectives of the individual plameugh a wide diversification

of asset types, fund strategies, and fund managqusty securities primarily include investmentsass the capitalization ranges and
style biases, both domestically and internation&lyed income securities include, but are nottiahito, corporate bonds of
companies from diversified industries, mortgagekledcsecurities, and U.S. Treasuries. Other typ@svektments include
investments in hedge funds and private equity fuhdsfollow several different strategies.

The fair values of the Company’s pension plan assed other postretirement benefit plan assetssst @ategory are as follows (in
millions):

As of December 31, 2012

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Defined Benefit Pension Plan assets:
Money market funds $ — 3 1 3 — % 1
Equity securities:
Domestic 15C 15 — 165
International 16€ — — 16€
Debt securities:
Domestic government and corporate credit — 165 — 165
Corporate credit 8 — — 8
Private equity funds — — 32 32
$ 324 % 181 $ 32 % 537
Other Postretirement Benefit Plans assets:
Money market funds $ — 3 8 $ — % 8
Equity securities:
Domestic 8 1 — 9
International 8 — — 8
Debt securities—Domestic government 3 — — 3
$ 1 9 4 — 3 28
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As of December 31, 2011

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Defined Benefit Pension Plan assets:
Money market funds $ — 3 3 % — 3 3
Equity securities:
Domestic 151 12 — 163
International 54 51 — 10t
Debt securities:
Domestic government and corporate credit — 78 — 78
Corporate credit 76 — — 76
Private equity funds — — 32 32
Alternative investments — — 30 30
$ 281 % 144  $ 62 $ 487
Other Postretirement Benefit Plans assets:
Money market funds $ — 3 7 % — 3 7
Equity securities:
Domestic 12 1 — 13
International 2 2 — 4
Debt securities—Domestic government 3 — — 3
$ 17 % 1C  $ — 3 27

An overview of the identification of Level 1, 2,&8 financial instruments is provided in Note 4irM&alue of Financial Instrument
The following methods are used in valuation of easbet class of investments held in the pensiorotiie postretirement benefit
plan trusts.

Money market fun— PGE invests in money market funds that seek to taiaia stable net asset value. These funds inwvdsgh-
quality, short-term, diversified money market instients, short term treasury bills, federal ageecysties, certificates of deposit,
and commercial paper. Money market funds held énttthsts are classified as Level 2 instrumentbexg are traded in an active
market of similar securities but are not directijued using quoted prices.

Equity securitie— Equity mutual fund and common stock securitiespaiarily classified as Level 1 securities basedinadjusted
prices in an active market. Principal markets fquity prices include published exchanges such aSD¥Q and NYSE. Certain
mutual fund assets included in commingled trusiseparately managed accounts are classified a$ 2eeeurities due to pricing
inputs that are not directly or indirectly obsereain the marketplace.

Debt securitie— PGE invests in highly-liquid United States treasamg corporate credit mutual fund securities tqsuipthe
investment objectives of the trusts. These seegrdie classified as Level 1 instruments due thitjidy observable nature of prici
in an active market.

Fair values for Level 2 debt securities, includingnicipal debt and corporate credit securities,tgawre-backed securities and asset-
backed securities are determined by evaluatingngridata, such as broker quotes, for similar séearadjusted for observable
differences. Significant inputs used in valuatioodals generally include benchmark yield and isspeeads. The external credit
rating, coupon rate, and maturity of each secuaigé/considered in the valuation if applicable.

Private equity func— PGE invests in a combination of primary and seconfiand-of-funds which hold ownership positions in
privately held companies across the major domesiicinternational private equity sectors, includig not limited to, venture
capital, buyout and special situations. Privatatgqavestments are classified as Level 3 securitiee to fund valuation
methodologies that utilize discounted cash flowtkecomparable and limited
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secondary market pricing to develop estimates rd fealuation. PGE valuation of individual fund perhance compares stated fund
performance against published benchmarks.

Alternative investmer— Investments in a portable alpha strategy are caagrof long positions in S&P 500 futures contractd a
hedge fund-of-funds comprised of diversified grooyp sector and market capitalization of long oslyort only and/or both
long/short equity hedge funds. Valuation of hedgadk included within this vehicle is provided bydumanagers using
unobservable internally modeled inputs. PGE perfovalidation procedures of manager performanceobyparing stated
performance against published benchmarks. Alteradtivestments are classified as Level 3 due todhobservable market inputs
and relative illiquidity of the fund.

Changes in the fair value of assets held by theiparplan classified as Level 3 in the fair valirr&érchy presented in the table
above were as follows for the three years endeeémber 31, 2012 (in millions):

Private Alternative Total
equity funds investments Level 3
Balance as of December 31, 2009 $ 17 % 23 3 40
Purchases and sales, net 4 2 6
Realized gain on sales 1 — 1
Unrealized gain on assets 1 3 4
Balance as of December 31, 2010 23 28 51
Purchases 7 — 7
Realized loss on sales 2 — 2
Unrealized gain on assets 4 2 6
Balance as of December 31, 2011 32 3C 62
Purchases and sales, net (D] (30) (31
Realized gain (loss) on sales D 6 5
Unrealized gain (loss) on assets 2 (6) (4)
Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 32 % — 3 32
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The following tables provide certain informationtivrespect to the Company’s defined benefit penglian, other postretirement
benefits, and non-qualified benefit plans as of famdhe years ended December 31, 2012 and 20ifdrmation related to the Other
NQBP is not included in the following tables (dedlan millions):

Defined Benefit Pensior Other Postretirement Non-Qualified
Plan Benefits Benefit Plans
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
Benefit obligation:

As of January 1 $ 634 $ 55C $ 7% 3% 7% % 27 % 25
Service cost 14 12 2 2 — —
Interest cost 31 29 3 4 1 1
Participants’ contributions — — 2 2 — —
Actuarial loss (gain) 77 69 7 (5) 1 3
Contractual termination benefits — — 1 — — —
Benefit payments (28) (26) (6) (7) ) 2

As of December 31 $ 726 $ 634 $ 84 $ 7 $ 27 $ 27

Fair value of plan assets:

As of January 1 $ 487 % 472 % 27 % 1€ $ 17 $ 1¢
Actual return on plan assets 78 14 3 — — —
Company contributions — 26 2 16 — —
Participants’ contributions — — 2 2 — —
Benefit payments (28) (26) (6) @) 2 2

As of December 31 $ 537 % 487 % 28 % 27 % 15 3 17

Unfunded position as of December 31 $  (19)) $ (147) $ (56) $ 48 % (12) % (10)
Accumulated benefit plan obligation as of

December 31 $ 64C $ 56€ N/A N/A $ 27 % 27
Classification in consolidated balance

sheet:

Noncurrent asset $ — 3 — % —  $ — % 15 17

Current liability — — — — 2 2

Noncurrent liability (197 (147) (56) (48) (25) (25)
Net liability $ (19) & (149 ¢ (56) $ 48 % (12 $ (10)
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Defined Benefit Other Postretirement Non-Qualified
Pension Plan Benefits Benefit Plans
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Amounts included in comprehensive
income:

Net actuarial loss (gain) $ 40 % 97 % 5 $ 4 3 2 9 2

Amortization of net actuarial loss @an (8 Q) (D) D D

Amortization of prior service cost — (D) D @ — —

$ 23 $ 88 $ 3 $ (6) $ 1 $ 1

Amounts included in AOCL*:

Net actuarial loss $ 29 % 27t % 18 $ 15 $ 1 10

Prior service cost 1 1 4 4 — —

$ 29¢ $ 27€ $ 22 $ 19 $ 11 $ 10

Assumptions used:

Discount rate for benefit obligation 4.28% 5.0(% 2.71% - 3.76% - 4.24% 5.0(%

4.1%% 4.9(%
Discount rate for benefit cost 5.0(% 5.47% 3.76€% - 4.02% - 5.0(% 5.47%
4.9(% 5.4(%

Weighted average rate of compensation

increase for benefit obligation 3.65% 3.71% 4.58% 4.58% N/A N/A

Weighted average rate of compensatis

increase for benefit cost 3.71% 3.8(% 4.58% 4.82% N/A N/A

Long-term rate of return on plan assets

for benefit obligation 8.25% 8.25% 6.5(% 7.0% N/A N/A

Long-term rate of return on plan asset

for benefit cost 8.25% 8.5(% 7.0<% 6.44% N/A N/A

*  Amounts included in AOCL related to the Compangtefined benefit pension plan and other postratire benefits are transferred to
Regulatory assets due to the future recoveralfitity retail customers. Accordingly, as of the baksheet date, such amounts are includ
Regulatory assets.

Net periodic benefit cost consists of the followiog the years ended December 31 (in milliol

Defined Benefit Other Postretirement Non-Qualified

Pension Plan Benefits Benefit Plans
2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
Service cost $ 14 $ 12 $ 11 $ 2 3 2 3 2 $ — $ — $ —
Interest cost on benefit obligation 31 29 28 3 4 4 1 1 1
Expected return on plan assets (41) (42) (39) (D) (D) (D) — — —
Amortization of prior service cost — 1 1 1 1 1 — — —
Amortization of net actuarial loss 17 8 3 1 1 1 1 1 1
Net periodic benefit cost $ 21 $ 8 $ 4 3 6 $ 7 9% 7 9% 2 % 2 $ 2

PGE estimates that $27 million will be amortizeahfr AOCL into net periodic benefit cost in 2013, sisting of a net actuarial loss
of $24 million for pension benefits, $1 million fabn-qualified benefits and $1 million for otherspretirement benefits, and prior
service cost of $1 million for other postretirembenefits.
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The following table summarizes the benefits expmbtdebe paid to participants in each of the nesd fiears and in the aggregate for
the five years thereafter (in millions):

Payments Due

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 - 2022
Defined benefit pension plan  $ 32 3 33 % 35 % 37 % 38 % 21t
Other postretirement benefits 5 5 5 5 5 26
Non-qualified benefit plans 2 2 2 2 2 10
Total $ 3¢ 9 4C 9 42 9 44 3 45 9 251

All of the plans develop expected long-term rateeturn for the major asset classes using longrteistorical returns, with
adjustments based on current levels and forectstflation, interest rates, and economic growtksdAincluded are incremental ra
of return provided by investment managers whosemstare expected to be greater than the marketkiagh they invest.

For measurement purposes, the assumed healthasreend rates, which can affect amounts repddethe health care plans, were
as follows:

* For 2012, 8% annual rate of increase in thecppita cost of covered health care benefits waisnasd for 2013, and
assumed to decrease 0.5% per year thereafterjmgdi in 2019;

* For 2011, 8% annual rate of increase in thecppita cost of covered health care benefits wasnaed for 2012 through
2013, and assumed to decrease 0.5% per year teereafiching 5% in 2019; and

» For 2010, 8% annual rate of increase in thecppita cost of covered health care benefits waisnaed for 2011 through
2013, and assumed to decrease 0.5% per year tleereahiching 5% in 2019.

A one percentage point increase or decrease iabibree health care cost assumption would have nermabimpact on total service
or interest cost, or on the postretirement bewdligation.

401(k) Retirement Savings Plan

PGE sponsors a 401(k) Plan that covers substgrgihémployees. For eligible employees who arescest by PGE defined benet
pension plan, the Company matches employee cotitnitsuup to 6% of the employeebase pay. For eligible employees who are
covered by PGE’s defined benefit pension planQbmpany contributes 5% of the employee’s baseysaldrether or not the
employee contributes to the 401(k) Plan, and alatches employee contributions up to 5% of the eygais base pay.

For bargaining employees, who are subject to tterational Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Lotab agreements, the
Company contributes 1% of the employee’s baseysaldrether or not the employee contributes to BiEK) Plan.

All contributions are invested in accordance witpéoyees’ elections, limited to investment optiavsilable under the 401(k) Plan.
PGE made contributions to employee accounts of§ill®n in each of 2012 and 2011 , and $15 millior2010 .
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NOTE 11: INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense (benefit) consists of the fdlgwin millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Current:

Federal $ 16 $ 2 3 (20)
State and local 1 — —
17 2 (20

Deferred:
Federal 30 43 61
State and local 17 13 12
47 56 73
Income tax expense $ 64 $ 58 % 53

The significant differences between the U.S. feldgedutory rate and PGE’s effective tax rate foamcial reporting purposes are as
follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Federal statutory tax rate 35.C% 35.C% 35.C%
Federal tax credits (11.9 (22.9) (10.9
State and local taxes, net of federal tax benefit SLE 2.€ 4.4
Adjustment to deferred taxes for change in blermedposite state
tax rate 2.€ — —
Flow through depreciation and cost basis difference 2.4 2.1 0.1
Other (0.6 1.2 1.z

Effective tax rate 31.1% 28.2% 30.2%
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities cortdishie following (in millions):

As of December 31,

2012 2011
Deferred income tax assets:
Employee benefits $ 16z $ 13t
Price risk management 77 14t
Tax credits, net of valuation allowance 55 56
Regulatory liabilities 20 22
Tax loss carryforwards —
Total deferred income tax assets 314 35¢
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization 62: 57z
Regulatory assets 224 274
Other 4 9
Total deferred income tax liabilities 851 85¢
Deferred income tax liability, net $ (537 $ (49¢6)
Classification of net deferred income taxes:
Current deferred income tax asSet $ 51 $ 33
Noncurrent deferred income tax liability (58¢) (529)
$ (537) $ (49¢€)

(1) Included in Other current assets in the consoldibtdance shee

PGE has federal and state tax credit carryforwaf@l1 million and $14 million , respectively, whigvill expire at various dates
from 2014 through 2031 .

PGE believes that it is more likely than not thatdeferred income tax assets as of December 32, &@d 2011 will be realized;
accordingly, no valuation allowance has been resbr®uring the year ended December 31, 2011, thetian allowance decreased
$2 million as a result of the expiration of unusgate credits.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011 , PGE had no agnézed tax benefits. As of December 31, 2010atheunt of the Company’s
unrecognized tax benefit was $2 million , includintgrest, resulting from a gross increase in dtipostaken in a prior period.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynaognized $1 million in interest and no penaltiBuring 2011, the
unrecognized tax benefit of $2 million was recogdias a result of filing for a federal tax accongtmethod change.

PGE files income tax returns in the U.S. federatgiction, the states of Oregon and Montana, anthm local jurisdictions. The

Internal Revenue Service (IRS) is in the procedmafizing an examination of PGE’s income tax ratifor 2006, 2009, and 2010,
for which no material findings have been identifigtie Company is not currently under examinatiorstaye or local tax authorities.
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NOTE 12: STOCK PURCHASE PLANS
Employee Stock Purchase Plan

PGE has an employee stock purchase plan (ESPR;, whith a total of 625,000 shares of the Compaogtemon stock may be
issued. The ESPP permits all eligible employegaitchase shares of PGE common stock through regayeioll deductions, which
are limited to 10% of base pay. Each year, employesy purchase up to a maximum of $25,000 in constack (based on fair
value on the purchase date) or 1,500 shares, wieclieless. There are two six-month offering pegsieach year, January 1 through
June 30 and July 1 through December 31, duringhlwligible employees may purchase shares of PGEnwonstock at a price
equal to 95% of the fair value of the stock onghechase date, the last day of the offering pedsdof December 31, 2012 , there
were 478,758 shares available for future issuancsuant to the ESPP.

Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase Plan

On April 1, 2011, PGE’s Dividend Reinvestment ariceEt Stock Purchase Plan (DRIP) became effectimder which a total of
2,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stocklreagsued. Under the DRIP, investors may electiyodhares of the
Company’s common stock or elect to reinvest cagiteinds in additional shares of the Company’s comstock. As of
December 31, 2012 , there were 2,490,267 shardalaledor future issuance pursuant to the DRIP.

NOTE 13: STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE

Pursuant to the Portland General Electric Comp&96 Stock Incentive Plan (the Plan), the Company gnant a variety of equity-
based awards, including restricted stock units tuitie-based vesting conditions (Restricted Stockd)and performance-based
vesting conditions (Performance Stock Units) to-eamployee directors, officers and certain key elygés. Service requirements
generally must be met for stock units to vest.éairh grant, the number of Stock Units is determnedividing the specified award
amount for each grantee by the closing stock pmicthe date of grant. A total of 4,687,500 shafesommmon stock were registered
for future issuance under the Plan, of which 3,824 shares remain available for future issuancd Becember 31, 2012 .

Restricted Stock Units vest in either equal instalits over a one-year period on the last day df ealendar quarter, over a three-
year period on each anniversary of the grant datat the end of a three-year period following ghant date.

Performance Stock Units vest if performance goadsaet at the end of a thrgear performance period; such goals include retai
equity and regulated asset base growth measurssny®ef Performance Stock Units is calculated mtiplying the number of unii
granted by a performance percentage determineldeb@€dmpensation and Human Resources Committee BsHR®ard of

Directors. The performance percentage is calculbésed on the extent to which the performance goalset. In accordance with
the Plan, however, the committee may disregardfseithe effect of extraordinary, unusual or neotrrring items in determining
results relative to these goals. Based on thenattait of the performance goals, the awards careritog zero to 150% of the grant.

Outstanding Restricted and Performance Stock nitgide for the payment of one Dividend EquivalRight (DER) for each stock
unit. DERs represent an amount equal to dividemits jo shareholders on a share of PGE’s commotk statt vest on the same
schedule as the stock units. The DERSs are settledsh (for grants to non-employee directors) areshof PGE common stock
valued either at the closing stock price on thdingglate (for Performance Stock Unit grants) eidénd payment date (for all other
grants). The cash from the settlement of the DERsdn-employee directors may be deferred undetetimes of the Portland
General Electric Company 2006 Outside Directordelred Compensation Plan.
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Restricted and Performance Stock Unit activityisimarized in the following table:

Weighted Average

Grant Date

Units Fair Value
Outstanding as of December 31, 2009 422,26 % 19.8:
Granted 191,46¢ 19.1¢
Forfeited (45,08)) 23.4¢
Vested (103,22) 25.7¢
Outstanding as of December 31, 2010 465,42¢ 17.8¢
Granted 152,65 23.8¢
Forfeited (106,979 22.3¢
Vested (19,709 23.3¢
Outstanding as of December 31, 2011 491,40:- 18.5¢
Granted 186,49! 24.7:
Forfeited (22,947 18.9¢
Vested (214,390 15.67
Outstanding as of December 31, 2012 440,56: 225/

The number of vested Restricted and Performanazk &taits presented above exceed the number of siesaed for the vesting of
restricted and performance stock units on the dteted statements of equity because, upon vestiegCompany withholds a
portion of the vested shares for the payment ajrime taxes on behalf of the employees. The totalevaf Restricted and
Performance Stock Units vested during the yearsaicember 31, 2012 , 2011 , and 2010 was $3mill$1 million and $3
million , respectively. The weighted average failue is measured based on the closing price of &@&tnon stock on the date of
grant. PGE recorded $4 million of stock-based camspgon expense for the years ended December 32,&@ 2011 , respectively,
and $2 million in 2010, which is included in Adristrative and other expense in the consolidateérsints of income. Such
amounts differ from those reported in the constdidastatements of equity for Stock-based compensdtie primarily to the impact
from the income tax payments made on behalf of eygas. The net impact to equity from the incomeptyments, partially offset
by the issuance of DERSs, resulted in a chargeudyeqf $1 million in 2012 , and less than $1 nailliin each of 2011 and 2010 ,
which is not included in Administrative and othe@penses in the consolidated statements of income.

As of December 31, 2012, unrecognized stock-basatpensation expense was $4 million , of whichraxmately $3 million and
$1 million is expected to be expensed in 2013 &idi2 respectively. Stock-based compensation expeas calculated assuming
the attainment of performance goals that wouldnatloe vesting of 111.6% , 115.0% , and 114.8% dairaed Performance Stock
Units for 2012 , 2011 , and 2010 , respectivelfhvain estimated 5% forfeiture rate. No stock-basadpensation costs have been
capitalized and the Plan had no material impaatash flows for the years ended December 31, 20021 , or 2010 .
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NOTE 14: EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed based ondighted average number of common shares outstaddiirgg the year. Diluted
earnings per share is computed using the weighteihge number of common shares outstanding areffinet of dilutive potential
common shares outstanding during the year usingdhsury stock method. Dilutive potential commbarss consist of Restricted
Stock Units, employee stock purchase plan sharsharse Performance Stock Units and related DERscaded with the thregear
performance period ended December 31, 2012, aspmrfitrmance criteria was attained. Unvested Pmidace Stock Units and
related DERSs are not included in the computatiodilotive securities because vesting of these umsénts is dependent upon the
attainment of required criteria over three-yearfqrenance periods. For additional information onf@enance Stock Units and
DERs, see Note 13, Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Components of basic and diluted earnings per sdraras follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Numerator (in millions):

Net income attributable to Portland General Elecompany common

shareholders $ 141 % 147 % 12t
Denominator (in thousands):

Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic 75,49¢ 75,33: 75,27

Dilutive effect of unvested restricted stock uritsl employee stock

purchase plan shares 14¢ 17 1€

Weighted average common shares outstanding—diluted 75,64 75,35( 75,29
Earnings per share—basic and diluted $ 187 % 198 % 1.6€

Basic and diluted earnings per share amounts &elated based on actual amounts rather than tivedel amounts presented in the
table above and on the consolidated statementgofrie. Accordingly, calculations using the roundatunts presented for net
income and weighted average shares outstanding/ialayresults that vary from the earnings per skaneunts presented in the
table above.
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NOTE 15: COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES
Commitments

As of December 31, 2012 , PGE’s future minimum pagts pursuant to purchase obligations for the Vatig five years and
thereafter are as follows (in millions):

Payments Due

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total
Capital and other purchase
commitments $ 81 $ 10 $ 11 $ 9 ¢ 2 $ 72 $ 18t
Purchased power and fuel:
Electricity purchases 154 83 82 64 3€ 44C 85¢
Capacity contracts 21 21 2C 19 — — 81
Public Utility Districts 8 8 8 7 5 25 61
Natural gas 55 26 21 12 1C 6 13C
Coal and transportation 22 9 — — — — 31
Operating leases 9 9 9 10 11 18¢€ 234
Total $ 35C $ 16€ $ 151 ¢ 121 % 64 $ 72¢ $ 1,581

Capital and other purchase commitment&ertain commitments have been made for capitab#mer purchases for 2013 and
beyond. Such commitments include those relategdochlicenses, upgrades to production, distribudad transmission facilities,
decommissioning activities, information systems] agstem maintenance work. Termination of theseeagents could result in
cancellation charges.

Electricity purchases and Capacity contre—PGE has power purchase contracts with counterpartieich expire at varying dates
through 2037, and power capacity contracts thr@@fté. As of December 31, 2012 , PGE has powercsaizacts with
counterparties of approximately $7 million in 20d4r&d $2 million in 2014 .

Public Utility Districts—PGE has long-term power purchase contracts witlaicepublic utility districts in the state of Wasgton
and with the City of Portland, Oregon. The Compegquired to pay its proportionate share of therating and debt service costs
of the hydroelectric projects whether or not they @perable. The future minimum payments for thieliedtility Districts in the
preceding table reflect the principal payment arg do not include interest, operation, or mainteraxpenses. Selected
information regarding these projects is summaraeébllows (dollars in millions):

Revenue Bonds PGE Cost,

as of : . .
December 31, PGE Share Contract including Debt Service
2012 Output Capacity Expiration 2012 2011 2010
(in MW)

Priest Rapids and
Wanapum $ 92¢ 9.(% 181 2052 % 14 % 14 % 10
Wells 23¢ 19.¢ 15¢ 2018 1C 10 7
Portland Hydro 9 100.( 36 2017 4 4 4

Under contracts with the public utility districBGE has acquired a percentage of the output (Altmogeof Priest Rapids and
Wanapum and Wells. The contracts provide that, Ishay other purchaser of output default on paysiasta result of bankruptcy
or insolvency, PGE would be allocated a pro ratasslf the output and operating and debt servisesad the defaulting purchaser.
For Wells, PGE would be allocated up to a cumugativ
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maximum of 25% of the defaulting purchasguercentage Allocation. For Priest Rapids and \pama PGE would be allocated ug
a cumulative maximum that would not adversely dffee tax exempt status of any outstanding debt.

Natural ga— PGE has agreements for the purchase and transporséinatural gas from domestic and Canadian ssufar its
natural gas-fired generating facilities. The Compalso has a natural gas storage agreement, wkjgites in April 2017, for the
purpose of fueling the Company’s Port Westward Beaver generating plants.

Coal and transportatior—PGE has coal and related rail transportation agee¢s with take-or-pay provisions related to Boaadm
which expire at various dates through 2014.

Operating leases—PGE has various operating leases associatedtwitieadquarters and certain of its productionstrassion, and
support facilities. The majority of the future mimim operating lease payments presented in theadhblee consist of (i) the
corporate headquarters lease, which expires in,2fit8ncludes renewal period options through 2@4@ (ii) the Port of St. Helens
land lease, where PGE’s Beaver and Port Westwarergeng plants operate, which expires in 2096 tRRgpense was $10 million
in 2012 and $9 million in 2011 and 2010 .

The future minimum operating lease payments presdaatnet of sublease income of: $3 million in 202814 and 2015 ; $2 million
in 2016 ; and $1 million in 2017 . Sublease incomas $3 million in each of 2012 , 2011, and 2010 .

Guarantees

PGE entered into a sale transaction in 1985 in litisold an undivided 15% interest in Boardman andd).714% undivided interest
in the Pacific Northwest Intertie (Intertie) trarission line (jointly the Boardman Assets) to analated third party (Purchaser). The
Purchaser leased the Boardman Assets to a lessege@) unrelated to PGE or the Purchaser. CondyrieGE assigned to the
Lessee certain agreements for the sale of powetransimission services from Boardman and the iet@P&T Agreements) to a
regulated electric utility (Utility) unrelated ta@E, the Purchaser, or the Lessee. The paymentelytility under the P&T
Agreements exceed the payments to be made by Hseé&¢o the Purchaser under the lease. In excf@ng&E undertaking certain
obligations of the Lessee under the lease, thegeassassigned to PGE certain rights, includingetteess payments, under the P&T
Agreements. However, in the event that the Utdiéfaults on the payments it owes under the P&T &guents, PGE may be
required to pay the damages owed by the Lessée tBurchaser under the lease. Assuming no recérnaenythe Utility and no
reduction in damages from mitigating sales or leastated to the Boardman Assets and P&T Agreemérsnaximum amount th
would be owed by PGE in 2013 is approximately $4lfian . Management believes that circumstancesdbald result in such
amount, or any lesser amount, being owed by thepgaosnare remote. The P&T Agreements expire on Dbeeidil, 2013, and
PGE’s obligation to pay damages owed by the Letsstee Purchaser under the lease will terminate.

PGE enters into financial agreements and powenatital gas purchase and sale agreements thadénicidemnification provisions
relating to certain claims or liabilities that manyse relating to the transactions contemplatethbge agreements. Generally, a
maximum obligation is not explicitly stated in timelemnification provisions and, therefore, the allamaximum amount of the
obligation under such indemnifications cannot lesomably estimated. PGE periodically evaluatesikbéhood of incurring costs
under such indemnities based on the Company’sridat@xperience and the evaluation of the spedaifiemnities. As of

December 31, 2012 , management believes the ldaidilis remote that PGE would be required to perfonaier such
indemnification provisions or otherwise incur aiyrsficant losses with respect to such indemnitidgge Company has not recorded
any liability on the consolidated balance sheeth vaspect to these indemnities.
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NOTE 16: VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

PGE has determined that it is the primary benefjad three VIEs and, therefore, consolidates thigsvvithin the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. All three areamgnts were formed for the sole purpose of desigmieveloping, constructing,
owning, maintaining, operating and financing phaottaic solar power facilities located on real pndp@®wned by third parties and
selling the energy generated by the facilities. Toepany is the Managing Member and a financiditiri®on is the Investor
Member in each of the Limited Liability Compani¢$.Cs), holding equity interests of less than 1% arate than 99% ,
respectively, in each entity. PGE has determinatlith interests in these VIEs contain the oblgato absorb the variability of the
entities that could potentially be significant ke tVIEs, and the Company has the power to direcattivities that most significantly
affect the entities’ economic performance.

Determining whether PGE is the primary beneficiaira VIE is complex, subjective and requires the ofsjudgments and
assumptions. Significant judgments and assumptitade by PGE in determining it is the primary betiafy of these LLCs include
the following: (i) PGE has the experience to owd aperate electric generating facilities and idarized to operate the LLCs
pursuant to the operating agreements, and, thetdf&E has control over the most significant ati¢isiof the LLCs; (ii) PGE
expects to own 100% of the LLCs shortly after fjars have elapsed, at which time the facilitidsiveive approximately 75% of
their estimated useful life remaining; and (iii)sked on projections prepared in accordance witlopieeating agreements, PGE
expects to absorb a majority of the expected losktdse LLCs.

During 2010, an impairment loss of $4 million wasagnized on the photovoltaic solar power facgitield by one of the LLCs and
classified in Depreciation and amortization expand@GE’s consolidated statements of income. BaseldlGE's intent to ultimately
acquire 100% of the LLC and the fact that the @digitd cost of the photovoltaic solar power faigtexceeded the undiscounted
cash flows of the respective facilities over itéreated useful lives, an impairment analysis wa$gpmed. The impairment loss was
equal to the excess of the carrying amounts oweestimated fair value of the photovoltaic solaveofacilities. Estimated fair vali
was determined using the discounted cash flow ndetigsuming a discount rate (after taxes) of apprabely 7% , which is PGE’s
allowed rate of return, and estimated useful loe20years. The new cost basis of the photovoltaic gmarer facilities is amortize
over their remaining estimated useful lives. Thieagon technique used to measure fair value optieovoltaic solar power
facilities at the impairment date is considereddled/in the fair value hierarchy, as described aie\4, Fair Value of Financial
Instruments.

As noted above, PGE has consolidated the VIEs thaargh it has less than a 1% ownership interetedri LCs. The participating
members are allocated their proportionate shatieeofL Cs net losses based on the respective mehdvensrship percent.
Accordingly, the majority of the impairment lossae attributable to the noncontrolling interestetigh the Net losses attributable
noncontrolling interests in PGE’s consolidatedestagnts of income for the year ended December 31).20

Included in PGE’s consolidated balance sheets Beoémber 31, 2012 and 2011 are LLC net asset8 ofiion consisting of Cash

and cash equivalents of $1 million and Electriditytplant, net of $5 million . These assets calydre used to settle the obligations
of the consolidated VIEs and their creditors haveetourse to the general credit of PGE.
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NOTE 17: JOINTLY-OWNED PLANT
PGE has interests in three jointly-owned generdtiedities. Under the joint operating agreemeetsh participating owner is
responsible for financing its share of constructigmerating and leasing costs. PGE’s proportioslaéee of direct operating and

maintenance expenses of the facilities is includdte corresponding operating and maintenancernsepeategories in the
consolidated statements of income.

As of December 31, 2012 , PGE had the followingegiments in jointly-owned plant (dollars in millgn

Construction
PGE Plant Accumulated Work In
Share In-service Date In-service Depreciation* Progress
Boardman 65.0(% 1980 $ 47¢ % 306 ¢ 8
Colstrip 20.0¢ 1986 507 32¢ 3
Pelton/Round Butte 66.6' 1958 / 1964 21¢ 48 5
Total $ 1,201 $ 684 $ 16

*  Excludes asset retirement obligations and accuedisset retirement removal cc

NOTE 18: CONTINGENCIES

PGE is subject to legal, regulatory, and envirortalgoroceedings, investigations, and claims thigedrom time to time in the
ordinary course of its business. Contingenciesaatuated using the best information availabldattiime the consolidated financial
statements are prepared. Legal costs incurredninemion with loss contingencies are expensedasred. The Company may seek
regulatory recovery of certain costs that are ireniin connection with such matters, although tlvarebe no assurance that such
recovery would be granted.

Loss contingencies are accrued, and disclosedténmag when it is probable that an asset has bapaired or a liability incurred as
of the financial statement date and the amourh@fdss can be reasonably estimated. If a reasoeabimate of probable loss can
be determined, a range of loss may be establigh@djich case the minimum amount in the range ¢swed, unless some other
amount within the range appears to be a bettenatdi

A loss contingency will also be disclosed whers itéasonably possible that an asset has been edpaia liability incurred if the
estimate or range of potential loss is materiah frobable or reasonably possible loss cannatdmonably estimated, then the
Company (i) discloses an estimate of such loskerange of such loss, if the Company is able terdeéne such an estimate, or (ii)
discloses that an estimate cannot be made.

If an asset has been impaired or a liability inedrafter the financial statement date, but prigdh&issuance of the financial
statements, the loss contingency is disclosedaternal, and the amount of any estimated losscsrded in the subsequent reporting
period.

The Company evaluates, on a quarterly basis, denredots in such matters that could affect the amotany accrual, as well as the
likelihood of developments that would make a lomstimgency both probable and reasonably estimahie.assessment as to whe
a loss is probable or reasonably possible, and atéther such loss or a range of such loss isvabte, often involves a series of
complex judgments about future events. Managensasftén unable to estimate a reasonably possibte &y a range of loss,
particularly in cases in which (i) the damages $wage indeterminate or the basis for the damalgésed is not clear, (i) the
proceedings are in the early stages, (iii) discpi®enot complete, (iv) the matters involve noveliasettled legal theories, (v) there
are significant facts in dispute, (vi) there alarge number of parties (including where it is uteti@ how liability, if any, will be
shared among multiple defendants), or (vii) thera wide range of potential outcomes. In such ¢#éisese is considerable
uncertainty regarding the timing or ultimate resiolo, including any possible loss, fine, penaltypasiness impact.
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Trojan | nvestment Recovery

Regulatory Proceedingln 1993, PGE closed Trojan and sought full recowdnand a return on, its Trojan costs in a genextal
case filing with the OPUC. In 1995, the OPUC issaegtneral rate order that granted the Companyeegof, and a return oB,7%
of its remaining investment in Trojan.

Numerous challenges and appeals were subsequiggiyrf various state courts on the issue of th&JC's authority under Oregon
law to grant recovery of, and a return on, the @mapivestment. In 1998, the Oregon Court of Appepltseld the OPUC’s order
authorizing PGE’s recovery of the Trojan investménit held that the OPUC did not have the authaoitsilow PGE to recover a
return on the Trojan investment and remanded the tathe OPUC for reconsideration.

In 2000, PGE entered into agreements to settlétitpation related to recovery of, and return ds,investment in Trojan. The
settlement, which was approved by the OPUC, alloR@&€& to remove from its balance sheet the remainwvgstment in Trojan as
of September 30, 2000, along with several largéletting regulatory liabilities. After offsettintpe investment in Trojan with these
credits, the remaining Trojan regulatory assetrizadaf approximately $5 million (after tax) was erped. As a result of the
settlement, PGE’s investment in Trojan was no lomgeuded in prices charged to customers, eitherugh a return of or a return
on that investment. The Utility Reform Project (URRJ not participate in the settlement and filecbanplaint with the OPUC
challenging the settlement agreements. In 20020®6C issued an order (2002 Order) denying alhefdRPS challenges. In 200
following several appeals by various parties, thegon Court of Appeals issued an opinion that refadrihe 2002 Order to the
OPUC for reconsideration.

The OPUC then issued an order in 2008 (2008 OtHat)equired PGE to provide refunds, includingiast from

September 30, 2000, to customers who receivedcseindm the Company during the period from Octdhe2000 to

September 30, 2001. The Company recorded a ch&&g38d. million in 2008 related to the refund andraied additional interest
expense on the liability until refunds to customeese completed in the first quarter of 2010. THRRUand the plaintiffs in the class
actions described below separately appealed the @@der to the Oregon Court of Appeals. On FebréaB013, the Oregon Court
of Appeals issued an opinion that upheld the 20680

Class Actionsln two separate legal proceedings, lawsuits wéed fn Marion County Circuit Court against PGE B03 on behalf ¢
two classes of electric service customers. Thesaaton lawsuits seek damages totaling $260 milliglus interest, as a result of |
Company’s inclusion, in prices charged to customara return on its investment of Trojan.

In 2006, the Oregon Supreme Court issued a rulidgring the abatement of the class action procgedintil the OPUC responded
to the 2002 Order (described above). The OregomeBug Court concluded that the OPUC has primargdigiion to determine
what, if any, remedy can be offered to PGE custspthrough price reductions or refunds, for any am@f return on the Trojan
investment that the Company collected in prices.

The Oregon Supreme Court further stated that ifdR&C determined that it can provide a remedy t&'B@Gustomers, then the cl
action proceedings may become moot in whole oam Jhe Oregon Supreme Court added that, if the©Betermined that it
cannot provide a remedy, the court system may haeée to play. The Oregon Supreme Court also riiatithe plaintiffs retain the
right to return to the Marion County Circuit Coiot disposition of whatever issues remain unresblvem the remanded OPUC
proceedings. The Marion County Circuit Court sulbbsely abated the class actions in response twttmg of the Oregon Supreme
Court.

As noted above, on February 6, 2013, the Oregomt@bppeals issued an opinion that upheld the820@der. Because the time
periods in which to seek reconsideration or Oregopreme Court review of this decision have nolge$ed and because the class
actions described above remain pending, managdmeéates that it is reasonably possible that tiyalegory proceedings and class
actions could result in a loss to the Company tess of the amounts previously recorded and disdussove. However, because
these matters involve unsettled legal

116




Table of Contents
PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continu ed

theories and have a broad range of potential owgspsufficient information is currently not avaikalbo determine PGE'’s potential
liability, if any, or to estimate a range of potahtoss.

Pacific Northwest Refund Proceeding

In 2001, the FERC called for a hearing to explohetver there may have been unjust and unreasocizdniges for spot market sales
of electricity in the Pacific Northwest from Deceenl25, 2000 through June 20, 2001 (Pacific North\wesund proceeding). Durir
that period, PGE both sold and purchased elegtiicithe Pacific Northwest. In 2003, the FERC isbaa order terminating the
proceeding and denying the claims for refunds.i®aseppealed various aspects of the FERC ordéett1S. Ninth Circuit Court of
Appeals (Ninth Circuit).

In August 2007, the Ninth Circuit issued its demisiconcluding that the FERC failed to adequatgfpjian how it considered or
examined new evidence showing intentional marketimdation in California and the potential tiesthe Pacific Northwest and that
the FERC should not have excluded from the Palifichwest Refund proceeding purchases of energyermgadhe California
Energy Resources Scheduling (CERS) division irPteific Northwest spot market. The Ninth Circuinanded the case to the
FERC to: (i) address the new market manipulatiadence in detail and account for the evidence infature orders regarding the
award or denial of refunds in the proceedingsijriijude sales to CERS in its analysis; and (uiifHer consider its refund decision
light of related, intervening opinions of the codrhe Ninth Circuit offered no opinion on the FER@hdings based on the record
established by the administrative law judge andnditrule on the FERC'’s ultimate decision to desfyinds. After denying requests
for rehearing, the Ninth Circuit in April 2009 issia mandate giving immediate effect to its AuQut7 order remanding the cas
the FERC.

In October 2011, the FERC issued an Order on Reneatablishing an evidentiary hearing to determihether any seller had
engaged in unlawful market activity in the Pacliorthwest spot markets during the December 25, 20@ugh June 20, 2001
period by violating specific contracts or tarifégd, if so, whether a direct connection existedvben the alleged unlawful conduct
and the rate charged under the applicable conifaetFERC held that thdobile-Sierrapublic interest standard governs challenges
to the bilateral contracts at issue in this progagdand the strong presumption untitabile-Sierrathat the rates charged under each
contract are just and reasonable would have tpéefically overcome before a refund could be cedeiThe FERC directed the
presiding judge, if necessary, to determine a kfuethodology and to calculate refunds, but heddl dhmarketvide remedy was n
appropriate, given the bilateral contract naturthefPacific Northwest spot markets. Certain pautiaiming refunds filed requests
for rehearing of the Order on Remand, contestingray other things, the applicable refund periotbotéd in the Order, the use of
the Mobile-Sierrastandard, any restraints in the Order on the tyidence that could be introduced in the hearamgl, the lack of
market-wide remedy. The rehearing requests renexidipg.

In December 2012, the FERC issued an order graatirigterlocutory appeal of the trial judge’s rglian the scope of the remand
proceeding. In this order, the FERC held that itdeD on Remand was not intended to alter the gestia of the law regarding the
Mobile-Sierrapresumption. The FERC also held thatMhabile-Sierrapresumption could be overcome either by (i) a shgwfat a
respondent had violated a contract or tariff arad the violation had a direct connection to the @targed under the applicable
contract or (ii) a showing that the contract rdtessue imposed an excessive burden or seriousitydtathe public interest.

In its October 2011 Order on Remand, the FERC tieldhearing procedures in abeyance pending thésedisettlement
discussions, which it ordered be convened beftiERC settlement judge. Pursuant to the settlemectepdings, the Company
received notice of two claims and reached agreesergettle both claims for an immaterial amoutite FERC approved both
settlements during 2012.

The settlement between PGE and certain other pantigne California refund case in Docket No. EI9H)-et seq., approved by the
FERC in May 2007, resolved all claims between P@dtae California parties named in the settlemierdding CERS) as to
transactions in the Pacific Northwest during thilesment period,
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January 1, 2000 through June 20, 2001, but didettie potential claims from other market particigarelating to transactions in the
Pacific Northwest.

The above-referenced settlements resulted in asel®r the Company as a named respondent in g@rmremand proceedings,
which are limited to initial and direct claims fa@funds, but there remains a possibility that aolidét claims related to this matter
could be asserted against the Company in futureepiings if refunds are ordered against currepbregents.

Management believes that this matter could reaudtlbss to the Company in excess of the settleamapunts referenced above.
However, management cannot predict whether the FEIRGrder refunds in the Pacific Northwest Refumceeding, which
contracts would be subject to refunds, or how sefdnds, if any, would be calculated. Due to th@seertainties, sufficient
information is currently not available to determP@&E’s liability, if any, or to estimate a rangeredsonably possible loss.

EPA Investigation of Portland Harbor

A 1997 investigation by the United States EnvirontakProtection Agency (EPA) of a segment of thdlakfiette River known as
the Portland Harbor revealed significant contanimasf river sediments. The EPA subsequently inetu®ortland Harbor on the
National Priority List pursuant to the federal Caetpensive Environmental Response, Compensatiori, iabdity Act (CERCLA)

as a federal Superfund site and listed 69 PotgniRasponsible Parties (PRPs). PGE was includechgri® PRPs as it has
historically owned or operated property near thiertiln January 2008, the EPA requested informdtimm various parties, includir
PGE, concerning additional properties in or neardhginal segment of the river under investigatisnwvell as several miles beyond.
Subsequently, the EPA has listed additional PRBg;hwnow number over one hundred .

The Portland Harbor site is currently undergoingraedial investigation (RI) and feasibility studyS) pursuant to an Administrati
Order on Consent (AOC) between the EPA and se&Bls known as the Lower Willamette Group (LWG),ahhiloes not include
PGE.

In March 2012, the LWG submitted a draft FS toERA for review and approval. The draft FS, alonghwie RI, provide the
framework for the EPA to determine a clean-up reyrfed Portland Harbor that will be documented iRecord of Decision, which
the EPA is expected to issue in 2015.

The draft FS evaluates several alternative cleaapypoaches. These approaches would take fromot®8 years with costs ranging
from $169 million to $1.8 billion , depending oretkelected remedial action levels and the choicer&dy. The draft FS does not
address responsibility for the costs of clean-lipcate such costs among PRPs, or define precigedavies for the clean-up.
Responsibility for funding and implementing the EP#Aselected clean-up will be determined after teedace of the Record of
Decision.

Management believes that it is reasonably pos#ilalethis matter could result in a loss to the Canyp However, due to the
uncertainties discussed above, sufficient inforarats currently not available to determine P&Hability for the cost of any requirt
investigation or remediation of the Portland Harsite or to estimate a range of potential loss.

DEQ Investigation of Downtown Reach

The Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQs executed a memorandum of understanding hatiEPA to administer
and enforce clean-up activities for portions of Widlamette River that are upriver from the Portdadarbor Superfund site (the
“Downtown Reach”). In January of 2010, the DEQ &san order requiring PGE to perform an investigatif certain portions of
the Downtown Reach. PGE completed this investigatiddecember 2011 and entered into a consent aridethe DEQ in July
2012 to conduct a feasibility study of
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alternatives for remedial action for the portiofishe Downtown Reach that were included within shepe of PGE investigation. |
is expected that the feasibility study will be cdeted by the end of 2013.

Management believes that it is reasonably possilalethis matter could result in a loss to the Canyp However, because the
feasibility study continues, sufficient informatiagncurrently not available to determine PGE'siligbfor the cost of any required
investigation or remediation of the Downtown Reaith or to estimate a range of potential loss.

EPA Investigation of Harbor Qil

Harbor Oil, Inc. operated an oil reprocessing besson a site located in north Portland (Harboy, Qiitil about 1999. Subsequent
other companies have continued to conduct opesatarthe site. Until 2003, PGE contracted withdperators of the site to provi
used oil from the Company’s power plants and akdtdistribution system to the operators for uséheir reprocessing business.
Other entities continue to utilize Harbor Oil fbetreprocessing of used oil and other lubricants.

In 2003, the EPA included the Harbor Oil site oa Mational Priority List as a federal Superfuné sSRGE received a Notice from
the EPA in 2005, in which the Company was nameahasof fourteen PRPs with respect to Harbor Oibs&guently, an AOC was
signed by the EPA and six other parties, includ@k, to implement an RI/FS at Harbor Oil. In 20thg, final draft of the RI report
was submitted to the EPA.

In March 2012, the EPA approved the Rl and stdtatit intends to recommend no action on the baised on the conclusions of
risk assessment conducted under the CERCLA. Fallgpaipublic notice and comment period, the EPAjxeeted to issue a final
Record of Decision in March 2013.

Management believes that it is reasonably postilalethis matter could result in a loss to the Canyp However, sufficient
information is currently not available to determP@&E’s liability for the cost of any remediationtbé Harbor Oil site or to estimate
a range of potential loss.

Alleged Violation of Environmental Regulations at Colstrip

On July 30, 2012, PGE received a Notice of Interwe for violations of the Clean Air Act (CAA) @blstrip Steam Electric Station
(Notice) from counsel on behalf of the Sierra Céuldl the Montana Environmental Information CenteE(®). The Notice was also
addressed to the other Colstrip co-owners, inci@RL Montana, LLC - the operator of Colstrip. P&S a 20% ownership interest
in Units 3 and 4 of Colstrip. The Notice allegestai@ violations of the CAA, including New SourceRew, Title V, and opacity
requirements, and states that the Sierra Club aakCMill: i) request a United States District Cotatimpose injunctive relief and
civil penalties; ii) require a beneficial environntal project in the areas affected by the allegegdalution; and iii) seek
reimbursement of Sierra Club’s and MEIC’s costéitmfation and attorney’s fees.

Since July 2012, the Sierra Club and MEIC have alaértheir Notice three times. The first amendmerrttained in a letter dated
August 30, 2012, asserts that the Colstrip ownielated the Title V air quality operating permitrthg portions of 2008 and 2009.
The second amendment, contained in a letter dapté@ber 27, 2012, asserts that the owners halaedahe CAA by failing to
timely submit a complete air quality operating pempplication to the Montana Department of Enviramtal Quality (MDEQ). Th
third amendment, received in December 2012, doematerially alter the prior assertions. Due totheertainties concerning this
matter, PGE cannot predict the outcome or determirether it is reasonably possible that the claifresserted, would have a
material impact on the Company.
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Challenge to AOC Related to Colstrip Wastewater Facilities

In August 2012, the operator of Colstrip enterad am AOC with the MDEQ, which established a corhpresive process to
investigate and remediate groundwater seepage impeated to the wastewater facilities at ColsWifithin five years, under this
AOC, the operator of Colstrip is required to pravithancial assurance to MDEQ for the costs assatiaith closure of the waste
water treatment facilities. This will establish@loligation for asset retirement, but the operatd@astrip is unable at this time to
estimate these costs, which will require both puaiid agency review.

In September 2012, Earthjustice filed an affidaguitsuant to Montana’s Major Facility Siting Act (I8R) that sought review of the
AOC by Montana’s Board of Environmental Review (BE&n behalf of environmental groups Sierra Clble, MEIC, and the
National Wildlife Federation. In September 2012 tperator of Colstrip filed an election with thEB to have this proceedil
conducted in Montana state district court as coptatad by the MFSA. In October 2012, Earthjustae pehalf of Sierra Club, the
MEIC and the National Wildlife Federation, filedtivithe Montana state district court a petitiondarrit of mandamus and a
complaint for declaratory relief alleging that th@©C fails to require the necessary actions undeMRSA and the Montana Water
Quiality Act with respect to groundwater seepagmftbe wastewater facilities at Colstrip. PGE caraidhis time predict the
outcome of this matter or determine whether iessonably possible that it would have a materigbichon the Company.

Revenue Bonds

In 2008, PGE repurchased $5.8 million of Pollut@ontrol Revenue Bonds Series 1996 (Bonds) issuedgh the Port of Morrow,
Oregon. In connection with the repurchase, PGE 5.8 million repurchase price to Lehman Braghec. (Lehman) as
remarketing agent for the Bonds, who in turn pdidre beneficial owner of the Bonds. As a restilthe payment, PGE became the
beneficial owner of the Bonds and requested thhatriam safe-keep the Bonds in Lehman’s Depositorgtl@aompany participant
account until such time as the Bonds could be rkated. After repurchase of the Bonds, PGE remawediability for the Bonds
from its financial statements.

In September 2008, Lehman filed for protection urcleapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. PGE sylesatly filed a claim for
return of the Bonds from Lehman. In November 2@b8,trustee appointed to liquidate the assets bimam (Trustee) allowed
PGE's claim as a net equity claim for securities.

It is not certain that the Company will receive falk amount of the Bonds but could, along withatielaimants, potentially receive
pro-rata share of certain assets. The timing atehéxf distributions on claims are subject todlemate disposition of numerous
claims in the proceedings and certain major coetieges which the Trustee must resolve. PGE canmagrtly estimate how much
of the value of the Bonds will ultimately be retachto the Company or the timing of the distributioom Lehman.

Oregon Tax Court Ruling

On September 17, 2012, the Oregon Tax Court isguating contrary to an Oregon Department of Reednterpretation and a
current Oregon administrative rule, regarding tieatment of wholesale electricity sales. The uydleglissue is whether electricity
should be treated as tangible or intangible prgertstate income tax apportionment purposes.@tegon Department of Revenue
has appealed the ruling of the Oregon Tax CouftédOregon Supreme Court. It is uncertain whetheraling would apply
retroactively to all open tax years, which, for BGt€lude 2006 through 2012.

If the ruling is upheld, PGE estimates that itsome tax liability could increase by as much as §ilZon due to the impact of the
increased assessment of prior years’ liability amdncrease in the tax rate at which deferreditdilities would be recognized in
future years. Due to the uncertainty concerningd¢iselution of this matter, PGE
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cannot predict the outcome. The Company may seghatry recovery of any incremental tax, althotiggre can be no assurance
that such recovery would be granted.

Other Matters
PGE is subject to other regulatory, environmeraadl legal proceedings, investigations, and clalrasdrise from time to time in the
ordinary course of its business, which may resujtdgments against the Company. Although managemerently believes that

resolution of such matters will not have a matezfééct on its financial position, results of opg@ras, or cash flows, these matters
subject to inherent uncertainties, and managemeias of these matters may change in the future.
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
(Unaudited)

Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
(In millions, except per share amounts)

2012
Revenues, net $ 47¢ % 41 % 45C % 467
Income from operations 88 61 82 71
Net income 49 26 37 28
Net income attributable to Portland General Electt
Company 49 26 38 28
Earnings per share—basic and diluteéd 0.6 0.3 0.5 0.3¢
2011
Revenues, net $ 484 % 411 % 43¢ % 47¢
Income from operations 11F 57 68 69
Net income 69 22 27 29
Net income attributable to Portland General Electr
Company 69 22 27 29
Earnings per share—basic and diluted 0.9 0.2¢ 0.3¢ 0.3¢

(1) Earnings per share are calculated independfamteach period presented. Accordingly, the sdith@ quarterly earnings per share amounts
may not equal the total for the year.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE.

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management of the Company, under the supervisidndti the participation of the Chief Executive O#r and the Chief Financial
Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the gamy’s disclosure controls and procedures (as eéfim Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (tkeli&hge Act”)) as of the end of the period covdredhis report pursuant to
Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act. Based dretfeduation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chi@fancial Officer have
concluded that, as of the end of such period, thagainy’s disclosure controls and procedures aeciie.

(b) Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Gardver Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estabfj and maintaining adequate internal controt émancial reporting (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Aldie Company’s internal control over financial rdpuy is a process designed by,
or under the supervision of, the Chief Executiveidef and Chief Financial Officer to provide reaable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepaoat of the Company’s financial statements for exaépurposes in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in thed¢hStates of America.

Management of the Company, under the supervisidnadth the participation of the Chief Executive 0éfr and Chief Financial
Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the @amy’s internal control over financial reportingaghe end of the period covered
by this report pursuant to Rule 13a-15(c) unde&kehange Act. Managemestassessment was based on the framework estak
in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issuedhsy Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of thea@lwvay Commission. Based
on this assessment, management has concludedstatpecember 31, 2012 , the Company’s internatrobover financial

reporting is effective.

The Company’s internal control over financial repay, as of December 31, 2012 , has been auditdagitte & Touche LLP, the
independent registered public accounting firm whdi@ the Company’s consolidated financial statemeas stated in their report
included in Item 8.—“Financial Statements and Sepmntary Data,” which expresses an unqualifiediopion the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial repay, as of December 31, 2012 .

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Finan&aborting

There have not been any changes in the Comparngisal control over financial reporting during floeirth quarter of 2012 that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, the Company’s internal cohtreer financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.

123




Table of Contents
PART I

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORP ORATE GOVERNANCE.

The information required by Item 10 is incorporabedein by reference to the relevant informatiodarrthe captions “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” “Corgie Governance,” “Proposal 1: Election of Directoasid “Executive
Officers” in the Company’s definitive proxy statem¢o be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with 8&C in connection with the
Annual Meeting of Shareholders scheduled to be delitflay 22, 2013 .

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by Item 11 is incorporabedlein by reference to the relevant informatiodearrthe captions “Corporate
Governance—Non-Employee Director Compensation,rff0cate Governance—Compensation Committee Inteslackl Insider
Participation,” “Compensation and Human Resouraas@ittee Report,” “Compensation Discussion and #sial” and “Executive
Compensation Tables” in the Company’s definitivexyrstatement to be filed pursuant to Regulatiof d4th the SEC in
connection with the Annual Meeting of Shareholdsiseduled to be held on May 22, 2013 .

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

The information required by Item 12 is incorporabenein by reference to the relevant informatioderrthe captions “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners, Directansl &xecutive Officers” and “Equity Compensationridld in the Company’s
definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuanRiegulation 14A with the SEC in connection with fenual Meeting of
Shareholders scheduled to be held on May 22, 2013 .

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by Item 13 is incorporakbedein by reference to the relevant informatiodarrthe caption “Corporate
Governance” in the Comparsytefinitive proxy statement to be filed pursuanRegulation 14A with the SEC in connection with
Annual Meeting of Shareholders scheduled to be belflay 22, 2013 .

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES .

The information required by Item 14 is incorporabedein by reference to the relevant informatioderrthe captions “Principal
Accountant Fees and Services” and “Pre-Approvakiébr Independent Auditor Services” in the Comyardefinitive proxy

statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14#hwie SEC in connection with the Annual Meetingsbfireholders scheduled to
be held on May 22, 2013 .
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ITEM 15.

PART IV

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE S.

(&) Financial Statements and Schedules

The financial statements are set forth under Itesht@is Annual Report on Form 10-K. Financial staent schedules have been
omitted since they are either not required, notieglple, or the information is otherwise included.

(b) Exhibit Listing

Exhibit
Number

Description

(3)
3.1

3.2*

(4)
4.1*

4.2*
4.3*
4.4*
4.5*
4.6*

4.7
4.8
4.9
4.10*
(10)
10.1

10.2*

10.3
10.4

10.5

Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws

Second Amended and Restated Articles of lpa@tion of Portland General Electric Company (FA0xQ filed
August 3, 2009, Exhibit 3.1).

Ninth Amended and Restated Bylaws of Portland Gariglectric Company (Form 8-K filed October 27, 201
Exhibit 3.1).

Instruments defining the rights of security holders including indentures

Portland General Electric Company Indenture of age and Deed of Trust dated July 1, 1945 (Form 8,
Amendment No. 1 dated June 14, 1965) (File No. 0&832-99).

Fortieth Supplemental Indenture dated Octdhdr990 (Form 10-K for the year ended Decembefd 320, Exhibit
4) (File No. 001-05532-99).

Fifty-sixth Supplemental Indenture dated May 1,20Borm 8-K filed May 25, 2006, Exhibit 4.1)(FileoNOO1-
05532-99).

Fifty-seventh Supplemental Indenture datedddeber 1, 2006 (Form 8-K filed December 22, 2006ilkit 4.1)
(File No. 001-05532-99).

Fifty-eighth Supplemental Indenture dated ApriR007 (Form 8-K filed April 12, 2007, Exhibit 4.1Fi{fe No. 001-
05532-99).

Fifty-ninth Supplemental Indenture dated Metol, 2007 (Form 8-K filed October 5, 2007, Exhibl) (File No.
001-05532-99).

Sixtieth Supplemental Indenture dated April 1, 20B8rm 8-K filed April 17, 2008, Exhibit 4.1).
Sixty-first Supplemental Indenture dated Jayul5, 2009 (Form 8-K filed January 16, 2009, bBih.1).
Sixty-second Supplemental Indenture dated Apr2QN9 (Form 8-K filed April 16, 2009, Exhibit 4.1).
Sixty-third Supplemental Indenture dated Bimber 1, 2009 (Form 8-K filed November 4, 2009, iBitH.1).
Material Contracts

Credit Agreement dated November 14, 201 2ydwt Portland General Electric Company, Wells F&gok,
National Association, as Administrative Agent, JRin Chase Bank, N.A. and U.S. Bank National Asgami, as
Co-Syndication Agents, and a group of lenders.

Credit Agreement dated December 8, 2011, betwedtaRd General Electric Company, Bank of AmericaANas
Administrative Agent, Barclays Capital, as SyndmatAgent, and a group of lenders (Form 10-K filezbruary 24,
2012, Exhibit 10.3).

First Amendment dated April 10, 2012 to Crédjreement dated December 8, 2011, between Pdr@Gameral
Electric Company, Bank of America, N.A., as Admirasive Agent, and a group of lenders.

Second Amendment dated October 31, 2012 to Cregtiégenent dated December 8, 2011, between Portlandr&
Electric Company, Bank of America, N.A., as Admirasive Agent, and a group of lenders.

Third Amendment dated January 7, 2013 to iCAegteement dated December 8, 2011, between drtBeneral
Electric Company, Bank of America, N.A., as Admirasive Agent, and a group of lenders.

125




Table of Contents

Exhibit

Number

Description

Exhibits 10.6 through 10.17 were filed in connegtwith the Company’s 1985 Boardman/Intertie Sale:

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

10.9*

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

10.15*

10.16*

10.17*

10.18*

10.19*

10.20*

10.21*

10.22*

10.23*

10.24*

10.25*

Long-term Power Sale Agreement dated Noverb&985 (Form 10-K for the year ended Decemberl 985,
Exhibit 10) (File No. 001-05532-99).

Long-term Transmission Service Agreement dated Ndpex 5, 1985 (Form 10-K for the year ended Decerher
1985, Exhibit 10) (File No. 001-05532-99).

Participation Agreement dated December 8851(Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1B8Bibit 10)
(File No. 001-05532-99).

Lease Agreement dated December 30, 1985 (Form ftd-#ke year ended December 31, 1985, Exhibit E0¢ (No.
001-05532-99).

PGE-Lessee Agreement dated December 30, 1985 (Ednfor the year ended December 31, 1985, Exhibjt
(File No. 001-05532-99).

Asset Sales Agreement dated December 30, 1985 (Eo+ihfor the year ended December 31, 1985, Exhibjt
(File No. 001-05532-99).

Bargain and Sale Deed, Bill of Sale, and Grantagdinents and Licenses dated December 30, 1985 (FeKrfor
the year ended December 31, 1985, Exhibit 10) (fle001-05532-99).

Supplemental Bill of Sale dated December 30, 18881 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1985jkixt0)
(File No. 001-05532-99).

Trust Agreement dated December 30, 1985 (Form fdrkhe year ended December 31, 1985, Exhibit Ed¢ (No.
001-05532-99).

Tax Indemnification Agreement dated December 3851%orm 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1985,
Exhibit 10) (File No. 001-05532-99).

Trust Indenture, Mortgage and Security Agreemetadi®ecember 30, 1985 (Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1985, Exhibit 10) (File No. 001-059®3-

Restated and Amended Trust Indenture, MortgagesSaedrity Agreement dated February 27, 1986 (For+K 16y
the year ended December 31, 1985, Exhibit 10) (Rle001-05532-99).

Portland General Electric Company SeverdaePlan for Executive Employees dated June 1 #orm 8-K
filed June 20, 2005, Exhibit 10.1) (File No. 001582-99). +

Portland General Electric Company Outplacementsdasce Plan dated June 15, 2005 (Form 8-K fileg 20n
2005, Exhibit 10.2) (File No. 001-05532-99). +

Portland General Electric Company 2005 Mgemaent Deferred Compensation Plan dated Janu2805, (Form
10-K filed March 11, 2005, Exhibit 10.18) (File N@01-05532-99). +

Portland General Electric Company Management Dede@ompensation Plan dated March 12, 2003 (For@ 10-
filed May 15, 2003, Exhibit 10.1) (File No. 001-(&599). +

Portland General Electric Company Suppldaaldexecutive Retirement Plan dated March 12, 26@8m 109 filed
May 15, 2003, Exhibit 10.2) (File No. 001-05532-99)

Portland General Electric Company Senior Officére Insurance Benefit Plan dated March 12, 200&1t10-Q
filed May 15, 2003, Exhibit 10.3) (File No. 001-@&599). +

Portland General Electric Company Umbré&Hast for Management dated March 12, 2003 (FornQ1fled May
15, 2003, Exhibit 10.4) (File No. 001-05532-99). +

Portland General Electric Company 2006 Stock IrigcerRlan, as amended (Form 10-K filed February22D8,
Exhibit 10.23). +
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.26*
10.27*
10.28*
10.29*
10.30*
10.31*
10.32*
10.33*

(12)
12.1
(23)
23.1
(31)
31.1
31.2
(32)
32.1
(101)
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Portland General Electric Company 2006 Annual Gaséntive Master Plan (Form 8-K filed March 17, 800
Exhibit 10.1) (File No. 001-05532-99). +

Portland General Electric Company 2006 @et®irectors’ Deferred Compensation Plan (Form 8léd May 17,
2006, Exhibit 10.1) (File No. 001-05532-99). +

Portland General Electric Company 2008 Annual Gaséntive Master Plan for Executive Officers (F®8rK filed
February 26, 2008, Exhibit 10.1). +

Form of Portland General Electric Compargréement Concerning Indemnification and Relateddisi{Form 8-K
filed December 24, 2009, Exhibit 10.1). +

Form of Portland General Electric Company Agreen@aricerning Indemnification and Related Matters for
Officers and Key Employees (Form 8-K filed Februa®y 2010, Exhibit 10.1). +

Form of Directors’ Restricted Stock Unitrsgment (Form 8-K filed July 14, 2006, Exhibit 1)0(Eile No. 001-
05532-99). +

Form of Officers’ and Key Employees’ PerformancecBtUnit Agreement (Form 10-Q filed May 3, 2012,
Exhibit 10.1). +

Employment Agreement dated and effectivey I@a2008 between Stephen M. Quennoz and Portlam i@l
Electric Company (Form 10-Q filed May 7, 2008, EbihiL0.3). +

Statements Re Computation of Ratios
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed (Qles.
Consents of Experts and Counsel
Consent of Independent Registered Public éatog Firm Deloitte & Touche LLP.
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications
Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer.
Section 1350 Certifications
Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chlghancial Officer.
Interactive Data File
XBRL Instance Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuine
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition LinkleaBocument.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation LagdDocument.

* Incorporated by reference as indica
+ Indicates a management contract or compensatonyoplarrangemer

Certain instruments defining the rights of holdefsther long-term debt of PGE are omitted purstiaiitem 601(b)(4)(iii)(A) of
Regulation K because the total amount of securities authonizeter each such omitted instrument does not ext@¥#dof the tote
consolidated assets of the Company and its subigislidGE hereby agrees to furnish a copy of ank smstrument to the SEC upon

request.

Upon written request to Investor Relations, Podl@eneral Electric Company, 121 S.W. Salmon StRmt|and, Oregon 97204, t
Company will furnish shareholders with a copy of &xhibit upon payment of reasonable fees for répetion costs incurred in
furnishing requested Exhibits.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisthas duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersignedetivgo duly authorized on February 21, 2013 .

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY

By: /sl JAMES J. PIRO
James J. Piro
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblptihe following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacitiesciadid on February 21, 2013 .

Signature Title
/sl JAMES J. PIRO President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director
James J. Piro (principal executive officer)
/s/ MARIA M. POPE Senior Vice President, Finance, Chief Financiali€ff, and
i : Treasurer
Maria M. Pope

(principal financial and accounting officer)

/s/ JOHN W. BALLANTINE Director
John W. Ballantine

/s RODNEY L. BROWN, JR. Director
Rodney L. Brown, Jr.

/s JACK E. DAVIS Director
Jack E. Davis
/s/ DAVID A. DIETZLER Director

David A. Dietzler

/s/ KIRBY A. DYESS Director
Kirby A. Dyess

/sl MARK B. GANZ Director
Mark B. Ganz
/s/ CORBIN A. MCNEILL, JR. Director

Corbin A. McNeill, Jr.

/s/ NEIL J. NELSON Director
Neil J. Nelson

/s/ M. LEE PELTON Director
M. Lee Pelton




/sl ROBERT T. F. REID Director

Robert T. F. Reid
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Exhibit 10.1

Published CUSIP number: 73651GA

CREDIT AGREEMENT
DATED AS OF NOVEMBER 14, 2012

AMONG

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY,

THE LENDERS,

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
AS ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT,

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.
AND
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
AS CO-SYNDICATION AGENTS,

WELLS FARGO SECURITIES, LLC,
AS SOLE LEAD ARRANGER AND SOLE BOOK RUNNER
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SCHEDULES
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Exhibit 10.1

EXHIBIT C FORM OF COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

EXHIBIT D FORM OF NOTE

EXHIBIT E FORM OF BORROWING NOTICE

EXHIBIT F FORM OF CONVERSION/CONTINUATION NOTIE
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Exhibit 10.1

This CREDIT AGREEMENT , dated as of November 14, 2012, is among Portf@aaderal Electric Company (the “
Borrower”), the Lenders party hereto and Wells Fargo Baddtjonal Association, as administrative agent fer tenders.

The parties hereto agree as follows:
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ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS
As used in this Agreement:
“ Adjusted Eurodollar Raté means, with respect to a Eurodollar Advance forrdhevant Interest Period, the quotient o

the Eurodollar Base Rate applicable to such Intefesiod, divided by (b) one minus the Reserve Rement (expressed a
decimal) applicable to such Interest Period.

“ Advance” means a borrowing hereunder (i) made by the Lendershe same Borrowing Date, or (ii) converte
continued by the Lenders on the same date of ceimvenr continuation, consisting, in either cadethe aggregate amount of
several Loans of the same Type and, in the caBemidollar Loans, for the same Interest Period.

“ Affected Lender’ is defined in_Section 2.17

“ Affiliate " of any Person means any other Person directlydireictly controlling, controlled by or under commoontro
with such Person.

“ Agent” means Wells Fargo, in its capacity as administeagigent for and contractual representative of #halers pursua
to Article X, and not in its individual capacity as a Lended any successor Agent appointed pursuant to ArKcl

“ Adgregate Commitment means the aggregate of the Commitments of all #wedérs, as changed from time to 1
pursuant to the terms hereof. The Aggregate Comemtnas of the date of this Agreement is FOUR HUNDRHKILLION
DOLLARS ($400,000,000).

“ Agagregate Outstanding Credit Expostireneans, at any time, the aggregate of the Outstgr@iadit Exposure of all tl
Lenders.

“ Agreement’ means this Credit Agreement, as amended or oikenmodified from time to time.

“ Agreement Accounting Principlésmeans United States generally accepted accountingigdes as in effect from time
time, applied in a manner consistent with that usqateparing the financial statements referreih t8ection 5.11

“ Alternate Base Raté means, for any day, a floating rate of interestgm@rum equal to the highest of (i) the rate ofrad
in effect for such day as publicly announced frometto time by Wells Fargo as its “prime rateil) (he sum of Federal Fun
Effective Rate for such day plus 0.50% per annuth (@i the sum of (a) the quotient of (x) LIBOR @irable for a one month U,
dollar deposit on such day (or if such day is n8uaginess Day, the immediately preceding Businesg divided by (y) one mini
the Reserve Requirement (expressed as a decin@lyape to a Eurodollar Advance with a omenth Interest Period plus
1.00%. The “prime rate” is a rate set by Wells Bab@sed on various factors including Wells Fasgoosts and desired rett
general economic conditions and other factors,ignded as a reference point for pricing some loahgh may be priced at, abc
or below such announced rate. Any change in sudmégprate”announced by Wells Fargo shall take place at tiemiog of busine:
on the day specified in the public announcemesuch change.
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“ Applicable Margin” means, for any day, (i) with respect to the EurladdRate, the percentage rate per annum oppos
heading “Applicable Eurodollar Margirih the Pricing Schedule which is applicable at stiote, (ii) with respect to the Floati
Rate, the percentage rate per annum opposite Hdinge“Applicable ABR Margin’in the Pricing Schedule which is applicabl
such time and (iii) with respect to Letter of Cidélees, the percentage rate per annum oppositeetiting “Letter of Credit Feei
the Pricing Schedule which is applicable at sucteti

\]

“ Approved Fund’ means any Fund that is administered or managea)og Lender, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender or (c
entity or an Affiliate of an entity that adminisseor manages a Lender.

“ Arranger” means Wells Fargo Securities, LLC and its sucamesssn its capacity as sole lead arranger andismdé& runner.

“ Assignee Groug means two or more assignees that are Affiliatesnefanother or two or more Approved Funds mar
by the same investment advisor.

“ Article " means an article of this Agreement unless analbeument is specifically referenced.

“ Assignment Agreemeritmeans an Assignment Agreement in the form of BiiA .

“ Benefit Plan” of any Person, means, at any time, any employeefib@han (including a Multiemployer Benefit Plartie
funding requirements of which (under Section 302E&ISA or Section 412 of the Code) are, or at ame twithin six year
immediately preceding the time in question weraylle or in part, the responsibility of such Perso

“ Borrower” is defined in the preamble.

“ Borrowing Date” means a date on which an Advance is made hereunde

“ Borrowing Notice” is defined in_Section 2.2(c)

“ Business Day means (i) with respect to any borrowing, paymentate selection of Eurodollar Advances, a day ithatsc
a London Banking Day and (ii) for all other purpssa day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on wbactks generally are oper
California for the conduct of substantially all thieir commercial lending activities and interbanikentransfers can be made on
Fedwire system.

“ Capitalized Leasé of a Person means any lease of Property by sudoas lessee which would be capitalized
balance sheet of such Person prepared in accordaticAgreement Accounting Principles.

“ Capitalized Lease Obligatiorisof a Person means the amount of the obligatiormioi Person under Capitalized Le:
which would be shown as a liability on a balanceetiof such Person prepared in accordance withefsggat Accounting Principle

“ Cash Collateralizé means to pledge and deposit with or deliver toAent, for the benefit of the Agent or the L/C Is&
and the Lenders, as collateral for L/C Obligation®bligations of Lenders to fund participationsré@spect thereof, cash or dep
account balances or, if the applicable L/C Issuarefitting from such collateral shall agree insitde discretion, other credit supp
in each case pursuant to documentation in formsabdtance satisfactory to (a) the Agent and (bafipdicable L/C Issuer. “Cash

3
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Collateral” shall have a meaning correlative to the foregoing shall include the proceeds of such cash codlbterd other crec
support.

“ Change in Control means the acquisition by any Person, or two or rRemsons acting in concert, of beneficial ownel
(within the meaning of Rule 13d3 of the SEC unther $ecurities Exchange Act of 1934) of 30% or nofréhe outstanding shares
voting stock of the Borrower.

“ Change in Law’ means the occurrence, after the Effective Datengfof the following: (a) the adoption or takindeet of
any law, rule, regulation or treaty, (b) any chamgeany law, rule, regulation or treaty or in theémanistration, interpretatio
implementation or application thereof by any Goweental Authority or (c) the making or issuance 0§ aequest, rule, guideline
directive (whether or not having the force of lawy) any Governmental Authority; providedat notwithstanding anything hereir
the contrary, (x) the DodBrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protectioh g all requests, rules, guidelines or direc
thereunder or issued in connection therewith arjda(ly requests, rules, guidelines or directivesnputyated by the Bank f
International Settlements, the Basel Committee ankiBig Supervision (or any successor or similahauitly) or the United Stat
regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant &eB#l, shall in each case be deemed to be a “G@&damLaw”, regardless of the d¢
enacted, adopted or issued.

“ Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amtemdformed or otherwise modified from time todim

“ Commitment” means, for each Lender, the obligation of such kefa) to make Loans to the Borrower and (b) teipas:
participations in L/C Obligations and Swing Linedts, in an aggregate amount not exceeding the d@mmetiforth on Scheduled
as set forth in any Assignment Agreement relatingry assignment that has become effective pursagction 12.3(a)as suc
amount may be modified from time to time pursuarthie terms hereof.

“ Consolidated IndebtedneSsmeans at any time all Indebtedness of the Borrcaver its Subsidiaries calculated o
consolidated basis as of such time.

“ Conversion/Continuation Noticeis defined in_Section 2.2(d)

“ Credit Extensior’ means each of the following: (a) an Advance drdah L/C Credit Extension.

“ Debt” means any liability that constitutes “debt” or ébt” under Section 101(11) of the United States Banksu@ode ¢
under the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act, théfddm Fraudulent Transfer Act or any analogous maple law, rule ¢
regulation, Governmental Approval, order, writumgtion or decree of any court or Governmental Atitip.

“ Default” means an event described. in Article VII

“ Defaulting Lender” means, subject to Section 2.21(bany Lender that, as determined by the Agenthém) failed t
perform any of its funding obligations hereundexluding in respect of its Loans or participationgespect of Letters of Crec
within three Business Days of the date requirededunded by it hereunder, unless such Lenderiestihe Administrative Age
and the Borrower in writing that such failure i® tresult of such Lendex’determination that one or more conditions pregeth
funding (each of which conditions precedent, togethith any applicable default, shall be specificalentified in such writing) he
not been satisfied, (b) has notified the Borrowethe Agent that it does not intend to comply
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with its funding obligations or has made a pubt&Etement to that effect with respect to its fundoidigations hereunder or uni
other agreements in which it commits to extendicrér) has failed, within three Business Days raftetten request by the Agent,
confirm in writing to the Agent that it will complyith its funding obligations (_providethat such Lender shall cease to |
Defaulting Lender pursuant to this clause (c) upeceipt of such written confirmation by the Admingdive Agent and tt
Borrower), or (d) has, or has a direct or indirgatent company that has, (i) become the subjeatpobceeding under any bankrug
or similar debtor relief law, (ii) had a receivegnservator, trustee, administrator, assigneeHerbienefit of creditors or simi
Person charged with reorganization or liquidatibitsobusiness or a custodian appointed for ifjigrtaken any action in furtheran
of, or indicated its consent to, approval of oriaegcence in any such proceeding or appointmeavigedthat a Lender shall not
a Defaulting Lender solely by virtue of the ownépsbr acquisition of any equity interest in thatnider or any direct or indire
parent company thereof by a Governmental Authaitylong as such ownership interest does not rasualt provide such Lend
with immunity from the jurisdiction of courts withithe United States or from the enforcement of joelgts or writs of attachment
its assets or permit such Lender (or such Govertahekuthority) to reject, repudiate, disavow or affim any contracts «
agreements made with such Lender.

“ Disclosure Documentsmeans (i) the Borrower’'s Annual Report on FormKL@or the year ended December 31, 2011
the Borrower’s Quarterly Reports on Form QCfor the quarters ended March 31, 2012, June G2 2nd September 30, 2012,
(i) the Borrower’s reports on Form 8-K since ttiate of the most recent Quarterly Report referceih iclause (iiJand prior to th
date hereof, in each case filed with the SEC.

“ Effective Date” is defined in_Section 4.1

“ Environmental Laws’ means any and all federal, state, local and forsigtutes, laws, judicial decisions, regulati
ordinances, rules, judgments, orders, injunctipesmits, grants, franchises, licenses, agreemeaudit®thher governmental restrictic
relating to (i) the protection of the environmefii) the effect of the environment on human healfti), emissions, discharges
releases of pollutants, contaminants, hazardoustautes or wastes into surface water, ground watand, or (iv) the manufactu
processing, distribution, use, treatment, stordggosal, transport or handling of pollutants, aominants, hazardous substance
wastes or the cleanp or other remediation thereof.

“ ERISA " means the Employee Retirement Income Security Adi934, as amended from time to time, and any ot
regulation issued thereunder.

“ ERISA Affiliate " means, with respect to any Person, any other Parsdnding a Subsidiary or other Affiliate of sufifst
Person, that is a member of any group of orgamizatwithin the meaning of Code Sections 414(b),(f) or (0) of which such fir
Person is a member.

“ Eurodollar Advance€ means an Advance which bears interest at a Eusrd@lite requested by the Borrower pursus
Section 2.2

“ Eurodollar Base Ratémeans, with respect to a Eurodollar Advance forrédevant Interest Period, LIBOR quoted twao
London Banking Days prior to the first day of sunterest Period, applicable to dollar deposits witimaturity equal to such Inter
Period. If such rate is not available at such tforeany reason, then “LIBORfor such Interest Period shall be the rate per @
determined by the Agent to be the rate at whictodigpin U.S. dollars for delivery on the first dafysuch Interest Period in sa
day funds in the approximate amount of the Eur@doldvance being made, continued or converted byAthent and with a ter
equivalent to such Interest Period would be offéngthe Agent’s London Branch
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to major banks in the London interbank eurodollarket at their request at approximately 11:00 glrandon time) two Londc
Banking Days prior to the commencement of suchréstePeriod.

“ Eurodollar Loan” means a Loan which bears interest at a Eurod8l&e requested by the Borrower pursuaréatior

2.2.

“ Eurodollar Rate” means, with respect to a Eurodollar Advance forrdevant Interest Period, the sum of (i) Adju:
Eurodollar Rate applicable to such Interest Perpduas (ii) the Applicable Margin.

“ Excluded Taxe$ means, in the case of each Lender or applicabldibgrinstallation and the Agent, (A) taxes impose
its overall net income, and franchise taxes or gyresenue taxes in the nature of net income tarekiding without limitation th
Washington Business and Occupation Tax, the Ohimr@ercial Activity Tax and other similar taxes, byher (i) any jurisdictiol
under the laws of which such Lender or the Agenhésrporated or organized or (ii) the jurisdictionwhich the Agens or suc
Lender’s principal executive office or such Lendespplicable Lending Installation is located andl #By U.S. federal withholdit
taxes imposed under FATCA.

“ Exhibit ” refers to an exhibit to this Agreement, unlessthar document is specifically referenced.
“ Facility ” means the credit facility established under thigeement.

“ Facility Fee Raté& means, at any time, the percentage rate per ammpoosite the heading “Facility Fee Raite'the Pricin
Schedule which is applicable at such time.

“ EATCA " means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, Hwealate of this Agreement (or any amended oresso
version that is substantively comparable and nderi@ly more onerous to comply with) and any catrer future regulations
official interpretations thereof.

“ Federal Funds Effective Ratemeans, for any day, an interest rate per annuml ¢gjtize weighted average of the rate:
overnight Federal funds transactions with membétheFederal Reserve System arranged by Federds forokers on such day,
published for such day (or, if such day is not aiBess Day, for the immediately preceding Busi2sg) by the Federal Rese
Bank of New York, or, if such rate is not so pubéd for any day which is a Business Day, the aeeiafgthe quotations
approximately 11:00 a.m. (New York time) on sucly da such transactions received by the Agent frioreet Federal funds brok
of recognized standing selected by the Agent isdte discretion.

“ Final Termination Datg’ means the latest Scheduled Termination Date for laamder (without giving effect to a
extension any Lender may elect to agree to pursieaBection 2.1&inless and until such extension shall have becdfeetige in
accordance with the terms of Section 2)X8 any earlier date on which the Aggregate Committ is reduced to zero or otherv
terminated pursuant to the terms hereof.

“ Floating Raté’ means, for any day, a rate per annum equal thgiternate Base Rate for such day, changing veime
as the Alternate Base Rate changes plus (ii) th@iégble Margin.

“ Floating Rate Advancé means an Advance which, except as otherwise geavin_Section 2.9 bears interest at t
Floating Rate.

“ Fronting Exposur€ means, at any time there is a Defaulting Lendgrith respect to the applicable L/C Issuer, ¢
Defaulting Lender’s Pro Rata Share of the outstaydliC Obligations other than L/C
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Obligations as to which such Defaulting Lendgrarticipation obligation has been reallocatedtber Lenders or Cash Collaterali
in accordance with the terms hereof and (b) widpeet to the Swing Line Lender, such Defaultingdesfs Pro Rata Share of 1
outstanding Swing Line Loans other than Swing Lilmans as to which such Defaulting Lendeparticipation obligation has be
reallocated to other Lenders in accordance withehmas hereof.

“ Fund ” means any Person (other than a natural person)ghar will be) engaged in making, purchasing,diul ol
otherwise investing in commercial loans and simgteiensions of credit in the ordinary course ofittvities.

“ Governmental Approval means any authorization, consent, approval, licengxception of, registration or filing with,
report or notice to, any governmental unit.

“ Governmental Authority means the government of the United States or amgr atation, or of any political subdivisi
thereof, whether state or local, and any agencthoaity, instrumentality, regulatory body, courterdral bank or other ent
exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxinggulatory or administrative powers or functiafsor pertaining to governme
(including any supra-national bodies such as the@aan Union or the European Central Bank).

“ Granting Lendef is defined in_Section 12.6

“ Guaranty” of a Person means any agreement, undertakingamgement (including, without limitation, any coniftetter
operating agreement, take or pay contract, appicdbr a letter of credit or the obligations ofyasuch Person as general partner
partnership with respect to the liabilities of thartnership) by which such Person (i) assumes,agtees, endorses, continge
agrees to purchase or provide funds for the paywietr otherwise becomes or is contingently lialgh®n, the obligation or liabili
of any other Person, (ii) agrees to maintain thtewwarth or working capital or other financial cotidn of any other Person, or (
otherwise assures any creditor of such other Pexgaimst loss.

“ Honor Date” is defined in_Section 2.19(c)

“ Indebtedness of a Person means such Persofi) obligations for borrowed money, (i) obligatis representing t
deferred purchase price of Property or servicdsefahan accounts payable arising in the ordinatrse of such Persanbusines
payable on terms customary in the trade), (iiijgdilons, whether or not assumed, secured by loepsyable out of the proceed:
production from Property now or hereafter owne@daguired by such Person, (iv) obligations whichearieenced by notes, bankers’
acceptances, or other instruments, (v) obligat@rsich Person to purchase accounts, securitiether Property arising out of or
connection with the sale of the same or substénsahilar accounts, securities or Property, (vp@alized Lease Obligations, (\
any other obligation for borrowed money or otheraficial accommodation which in accordance with Agrent Accountin
Principles would be shown as a liability on the smidated balance sheet of such Person, (viii)iakilities under interest rate sw.
exchange or cap agreements, obligations or othbilities with respect to accounts or notes, (alesand leaseback transacti
which do not create a liability on the consolidatelance sheet of such Person, (x) other transectidhich are the functior
equivalent, or take the place, of borrowing butahkhilo not constitute a liability on the consolidbibalance sheet of such Person
(xi) Guaranties of Indebtedness: providbdt there shall be excluded from this definitiah (except for the purposes of Section)’.5
Interest Deferral Obligations up to an amount @unding at any one time equal to 15% of the amoaatiibed in clause (@f the
definition of “Total Capitalization,’excluding in the calculation thereof for the pum®of this proviso, however, preferred
preference stock, and (2) the agreements listégcbedule &nd similar agreements
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entered into for the operation and maintenanceowfep plants or the purchase of power or transmiss@vices (_providedfor the
avoidance of doubt, that this Agreement shall retdbemed to be such an agreement as a resulbeing available to suppt
collateral requirements under the Borrower’s engngrehase and sale agreements).

“ Interest Deferral Obligations means obligations and guaranties related therdtimwhwobligations and guaranties are ju
and subordinated in all respects to all amountsiwgwinder the Loan Documents, that contain provssiallowing the obligor 1
extend the interest payment period from time toetiand defer any interest payments (however dendedhalue during su
extended interest payment period.

“ Interest Period means with respect to a Eurodollar Advance, a desfoone, two, three or six months commencing
Business Day selected by the Borrower pursuanhit Agreement. Such Interest Period shall end endéy which correspon
numerically to such date one, two, three or six t@nhereafter, providethat if there is no such numerically correspondilag ir
such next, second, third or sixth succeeding mantbh Interest Period shall end on the last Busibeg of such next, second, tt
or sixth succeeding month. If an Interest Periodildmtherwise end on a day which is not a Busilisg such Interest Period st
end on the next succeeding Business Day, providadif said next succeeding Business Day falla imew calendar month, st
Interest Period shall end on the immediately prege@usiness Day. Notwithstanding any other prawisof this Agreement tl
Borrower may not select any Interest Period thaildiextend beyond the Scheduled Termination DatngfLender.

“ ISP” means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, thernational Standby Practices 199&lblished by the Institute
International Banking Law & Practice, Inc. (or suater version thereof as may be in effect at itine f issuance).

“ Issuer Documents means with respect to any Letter of Credit, thedredf Credit Application, and any other docum
agreement and instrument entered into by a L/Celsand the Borrower (or any Subsidiary) or in fawbrsuch L/C Issuer ai
relating to such Letter of Credit.

“ L/C Advance” means, with respect to each Lender, such Lerderiding of its participation in any L/C Borrowing
accordance with its Pro Rata Share.

“ L/C Borrowing " means an extension of credit resulting from a dngwinder any Letter of Credit which has not |
reimbursed on the date when made or refinanced Aslzance of Loans.

“ L/C Credit Extension” means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, tleiasmce thereof or extension of the expiry
thereof, or the increase of the amount thereof.

“ L/C Issuer” means, with respect to a particular Letter of Qrdd) Wells Fargo in its capacity as issuer ofhsletter o
Credit, (b) JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. in its cayaas issuer of such Letter of Credit, (c) U.S. Baational Association in i
capacity as issuer of such Letter of Credit, (dnBomo Mitsui Banking Corporation in its capacity iasuer of such Letter of Cre:
(e) any other Lender that agrees to issue Letfe@eadit hereunder, in each case, in its capadtgraissuer of such Letter of Cre
hereunder and/or (f) any successor issuer of lsetieCredit hereunder. The term “L/C Issue#ien used with respect to a Lette
Credit or the L/C Obligations relating to a LettéiCredit shall refer to the L/C Issuer that isssadh Letter of Credit.

“ L/C Obligations” means, as at any date of determination, the aggregaount available to be drawn under all outstay
Letters of Credit plus the aggregate of all Unrainsed Amounts, including
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all L/C Borrowings. For purposes of computing thecaint available to be drawn under any Letter ofd@rehe amount of su
Letter of Credit shall be determined in accordamgéh Section 9.15. For all purposes of this Agreement, if on anyedal
determination a Letter of Credit has expired bytétsns but any amount may still be drawn thereubgereason of the operation
Rule 3.14 of the ISP, such Letter of Credit shalbleemed to be “outstanding” in the amount so neimgiavailable to be drawn.

“ Lender Funding Obligatiohis defined in_Section 12.6(a)

“ Lenders” means the financial institutions from time to tirparties hereto as lenders, together with their aetbyE
successors and assigns, and including, as thextoatgiires, the L/C Issuers and/or the Swing lliaader.

“ Lending Installation’ means, with respect to a Lender or the Agent, tfieep branch, subsidiary or affiliate of such Lex
or the Agent listed on Schedule 18rlotherwise selected by such Lender or the Agergyant tQ Section 2.15

“ Letter of Credit’ means any standby letter of credit issued hereund

“ Letter of Credit Applicatiorf means an application and agreement for the issuamamendment of a letter of credit in
form from time to time in use by the applicable L&Suer.

“ Letter of Credit Expiration Dateé means, as to any L/C Issuer, the day that is thiadys prior to the Scheduled Termina
Date of such L/C Issuer in its capacity as a Lertden in effect (or, if such day is not a BusinBsg, the next preceding Busin
Day).

“ Letter of Credit Feé has the meaning specified_in Section 2.19(h)

“ Letter of Credit Sublimif’ means an amount equal to the lesser of (a) theefyatg Commitments and (b) $200,000,
The Letter of Credit Sublimit is part of, and notaddition to, the Aggregate Commitments.

“LIBOR " means the rate of interest per annum determindtiebasis of the rate for deposits in Dollars fgresiod equz
to the applicable Interest Period which appearReuters Screen LIBORO1 Page (or any applicableessoc page) at approximat
11:00 a.m. (London time) two (2) Business Daysptiacthe first day of the applicable Interest Perfoounded upward, if necess:
to the nearest 1/100th of 1%). If, for any reassch rate does not appear on Reuters Screen LIBPRO& (or any applical
successor page), then “LIBORhall be determined by the Agent to be the aritioveaterage of the rate per annum at which def
in Dollars in minimum amounts of at least $5,000,0@uld be offered by first class banks in the Lamdnterbank market to t
Agent at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) &) Business Days prior to the first day of th@layable Interest Period fol
period equal to such Interest Period. Each caicudty the Agent of LIBOR shall be conclusive aridding for all purposes, abs:
manifest error.

“ LIBOR Market Index Raté means, for any day, the one month rate of intggestannum appearing on Reuters Sc
LIBORO1 Page (or any successor page) as the Loimderbank offered rate for deposits in Dollars ppraximately 11:00 A.N
(London time) on such day, or if such day is nbbadon Banking Day, then the immediately precedingdon Banking Day (or
not so reported, then as determined by the Agem finother recognized source or interbank quotgt@mranother rate as agree:
by the Agent and the Borrower.
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“Lien " means any lien (statutory or other), mortgage, ggetiypothecation, assignment, deposit arrangeragatymbranc
or preference, priority or other security agreenmanpreferential arrangement of any kind or natuhatsoever (including, witha
limitation, the interest of a vendor or lessor unaley conditional sale, Capitalized Lease or otiierretention agreement).

“Loan” means, with respect to a Lender, any loan (incgény Swing Line Loan) made by such Lender purst@Article
1l (including, in the case of a loan made pursuagction 2.2 any conversion or continuation thereof).

“ Loan Document$ means this Agreement, each Note, each Issuer Dattland any agreement creating or perfecting r
in Cash Collateral pursuant to the provisions dftita 2.20.

“ London Banking Day’ means any day on which dealings in Dollar depaaiésconducted by and between banks il
London interbank eurodollar market.

“ Margin Stock” means margin stock as defined in Regulation U.

“ Material Adverse Effect means a material adverse effect on (i) the busioefsancial condition of the Borrower and
Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (ii) the abilitytred Borrower to perform its obligations under theah Documents, or (iii) the valid
or enforceability of any of the Loan Documents agathe Borrower or the material rights or remediethe Agent or the Lende
thereunder,_ibeingunderstoodhat if the Moodys Rating and/or the S&P Rating (as such terms efieetl in the Pricing Schedu
is downgraded to Baa3 or below or BB8 below, respectively, such downgrade in and sdlitshall not constitute a Matel
Adverse Effect (but shall only constitute a MateAdverse Effect if such downgrade results in aeriat adverse effect of the ty

described in clause (r (ii) above).

“ Material Indebtednessis defined in_Section 7.5

“ Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and anysssor thereto.

“ Mortgage” is defined in_Section 6.10(v)

“ Multiemployer Benefit Plar’ means any Benefit Plan that is a multiemployer @andefined in Section 4001(a)(3)
ERISA.

“ Note " is defined in_Section 2.11

“ Obligations” means all unpaid principal of and accrued and uhjpaerest with respect to any Loan or Letter oédiY, al
accrued and unpaid fees and all expenses, reimhards, indemnities and other obligations of ther@wer to the Lenders orto ¢
Lender, the Agent or any indemnified party arisumgler the Loan Documents.

“ Other Agents' is defined in_Section 10.15

“ Other Taxes is defined in_Section 3.5(ii)

“ Qutstanding Credit Exposuremeans, as to any Lender at any time, the sum dhépggregate principal amount of
Loans outstanding at such time plus (b) its PraR&tare of all L/C Obligations and Swing Line Loansstanding at such time.
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“ Participant Registel has the meaning specified in Section 12.2(c)

“ Participants’ is defined in_Section 12.2(a)

“ Payment Daté means the last Business Day of each March, Jsegtember and December.

“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporatioang successor thereto.

“ Person” means any natural person, corporation, firm, jeiahture, partnership, limited liability company sasiation
enterprise, trust or other entity or organizatiam, any government or political subdivision or angeacy, department

instrumentality thereof.

“ Pricing Schedulé means Schedule ditached hereto.

“ Property” of a Person means any and all property, whethérpeesonal, tangible, intangible, or mixed, of sUrRerson, ¢
other assets owned or leased by such Person.

“ Pro Rata Sharémeans, with respect to any Lender, the percentaatethe amount of such LendeCommitment is of tt
Aggregate Commitment (or, if the Commitments harentnated, that such LendsiOutstanding Credit Exposure is of the Aggre
Outstanding Credit Exposure). The Pro Rata Shasel@nder shall be subject to adjustment as proviid&ection 2.21

“ Purchasel’ means any Person that meets the requirements emkassignee under Sections 12.3(agni)_(v)(subject ti
such consents, if any, as may be required unddin8ek?2.3(a)(iii)).

Reqgulation D” means Regulation D of the Board of Governors ofRfbderal Reserve System as from time to time et
and any successor thereto or other regulation fariafinterpretation of said Board of Governordatiang to reserve requireme
applicable to member banks of the Federal Reseyse.

“ Requlation U’ means Regulation U of the Board of Governors offibderal Reserve System as from time to time &
and any successor or other regulation or officitdrpretation of said Board of Governors relatinghte extension of credit by bai
for the purpose of purchasing or carrying margatktapplicable to member banks of the Federal Resgystem.

“ Reportable Event means a reportable event described in Sectiol 40£RISA.

“ Required Lenders means Lenders in the aggregate having more than &O8be Aggregate Commitment or, if
Aggregate Commitment has been terminated, Lendettsei aggregate holding more than 50% of the Aggee@utstanding Cre:
Exposure; provided, however, that if any Lenderlldba a Defaulting Lender at such time then thdrallsbe excluded from tl
determination of Required Lenders the Commitmenti{dhe Aggregate Commitment has been terminateel Outstanding Cre:
Exposure) of such Lender at such time.

“ Reserve Requiremeiitmeans, with respect to an Interest Period, the maxi aggregate reserve requirement (includir
basic, supplemental, marginal and other reserveg)ws imposed under Regulation D on Eurocurrdiabjlities.
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“ SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.
“ Schedulé’ refers to a specific schedule to this Agreemantess another document is specifically referenced.

“ Scheduled Termination Datemeans, for any Lender, November 14, 2017 or suel tiate as may be established for :
Lender in accordance with Section 2.18

“ Section” means a numbered section of this Agreement, ardasther document is specifically referenced.

“ Significant Subsidiary means a “significant subsidiary” (as defined iagRlation SX of the SEC as in effect on the ¢
of this Agreement) of the Borrower.

“SPV " is defined in_Section 12.6

“ Subsidiary” of a Person means (i) any corporation more than 60%e outstanding securities having ordinary rvg
power of which shall at the time be owned or cdiedy directly or indirectly, by such Person ordaye or more of its Subsidiaries
by such Person and one or more of its Subsidiagie$j) any partnership, limited liability compangissociation, joint venture
similar business organization more than 50% ofotlveership interests having ordinary voting powewbich shall at the time be
owned or controlled. Unless otherwise expresslyidex, all references herein to a “Subsidiasjiall mean a Subsidiary of
Borrower.

“ Substantial Portiori means, with respect to the Property of the Borraavet its Subsidiaries, Property which (i) repres
more than 25% of the consolidated assets of theoBer and its Subsidiaries as would be shown incivesolidated financi
statements of the Borrower and its Subsidiarieatdse beginning of the twelvaonth period ending with the month in which s
determination is made, or (ii) is responsible farenthan 25% of the consolidated net sales orettnsolidated net income of
Borrower and its Subsidiaries as reflected in tharfcial statements referred to in clausakipve.

“ Swing Line Lendef means Wells Fargo in its capacity as swing leredler hereunder or any successor thereto.

“ Swing Line Loan” means any swing line loan made by the Swing Lllieader to the Borrower pursuant_ to Section 2.22
and all such swing line loans collectively as thatext requires.

“ Swing Line Raté’ means, for any date, a rate per annum equal tog(i.IBOR Market Index Rate for such day plustfig
Applicable Margin for the Eurodollar Rate.

“ Swing Line Sublimit’ means the lesser of (a) $40,000,000 and (b) thgrégate Commitments.

“ Tax-Free Debt” means Debt of the Borrower to a state, territorypossession of the United States or any pol
subdivision thereof issued in a transaction in Wwhscich state, territory, possession or politicdddévision issued obligations t
interest on which is excludable from gross incomespant to the provisions of Section 103 of the & @at similar provisions), as
effect at the time of issuance of such obligati@m& debt to a bank issuing a letter of credit watbpect to the principal of or inter
on such obligations.
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“ Taxes” means any and all present or future taxes, dudegs, imposts, charges or withholdings imposeabgayable t
any governmental or regulatory authority or ageraryd any and all liabilities with respect to theefgoing, but excluding Exclud
Taxes and Other Taxes.

“ Total Capitalization” means, at any time, the sum of the following far Borrower and its Subsidiaries, determined
consolidated basis in accordance with Agreementodating Principles (without duplication and exclugliminority interests |
Subsidiaries):

(&) the amount of capital stock, including prefd and preference stock (less cost of treasuayesh plus ar
amounts deducted from stockholders’ equity as ureghcompensation on the Borrovgebalance sheet, plus (or minus in
case of a deficit) capital surplus and earned sarfut including current sinking fund obligatioptys

(b) the aggregate outstanding principal amoudninterest Deferral Obligations excluded by the vigo in the
definition of “Indebtedness”; plus

(c) the aggregate outstanding principal amotiaticConsolidated Indebtedness.
“ Transfere€' is defined in_Section 12.4
“ Type” means, with respect to any Advance, its nature Bating Rate Advance or a Eurodollar Advance.

“ Unmatured Default means an event which but for the lapse of timehergiving of notice, or both, would constitut
Default.

“ Unreimbursed Amounitis defined in_Section 2.19(c)(i)

“Wells Fargo” means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association.

The foregoing definitions shall be equally applieato both the singular and plural forms of theimed terms.

ARTICLE Il
THE CREDITS

2.1 _The Facility.

(a) _Description of Facility The Lenders grant to the Borrower a revolvinglitriacility pursuant to which, subje
to the terms and conditions herein set forth:

(i) each Lender severally agrees to make Loatiset Borrower in accordance with Section 2.2

(i) each L/C Issuer agrees to issue Letter€refdit for the account of the Borrower and its Sdibsies ir
accordance with Section 2.19
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(i) the Swing Line Lender shall make Swing kihoans to the Borrower in accordance with SeQi@?;
and

(iv) each Lender severally agrees to participratx) the Letters of Credit in accordance w8hction 2.1
and (y) the Swing Line Loans in accordance withtifac.22.

(b) _Amount of Facility. In no event may the Aggregate Outstanding CrEdjposure exceed the Aggrec
Commitment.

(c) Availability of Facility. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the fgdd available from the Effective De
to the Final Termination Date, and the Borrower rhayrow, repay and reborrow at any time prior te Binal Terminatio
Date;_providedhat, if not earlier terminated in accordance wfith terms hereof, the Commitment of each Lenddt ekjpire
on such Lender's Scheduled Termination Date.

(d) _Repayment of Facility The Aggregate Outstanding Credit Exposure andthir unpaid Obligations (to 1
extent that such Obligations have accrued andriuat thereof has been determined) shall be pdidllily the Borrowe
on the Final Termination Date; providéuht, if not earlier paid in accordance with thente hereof, all of the Outstand
Credit Exposure of each Lender and all other Obibiga owed to such Lender shall be paid on suchdéesn Schedule
Termination Date.

2.2 Advances

(& _Advances Each Advance hereunder shall consist of Loansenigdthe several Lenders ratably accordir
their Pro Rata Share.

(b) _Types of AdvancesThe Advances may be Floating Rate Advances ocodaliar Advances, or a combinat
thereof, as selected by the Borrower in accordaritteSection 2.2(c)

(c) _Method of Selecting Types and Interest dtbsifor Advances The Borrower shall select the Type of Adve
and, in the case of each Eurodollar Advance, ttexdst Period applicable thereto, from time to tifitee Borrower shall gi\
the Agent irrevocable notice in substantially tbenf of Exhibit Ehereto (a “_ Borrowing Notic&) not later than 11:30 a.
(New York time) on the Borrowing Date of each FingtRate Advance and each Swing Line Loan and &t lhree (7
Business Days before the Borrowing Date for eaatodallar Advance. Each Borrowing Notice shall speci

(i) the Borrowing Date, which shall be a Busm&ay, of such Advance,

(i) the aggregate amount of such Advance,

(iii) the Type of Advance selected,

(iv) inthe case of each Eurodollar Advance,lttierest Period applicable thereto; and

(v) whether such Advance is to be a Swing Lioar
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(d) Conversion and Continuation of Outstanding Adances. Floating Rate Advances shall continue as Flo
Rate Advances unless and until such Floating RakeaAces are either converted into Eurodollar Adearia accordan:
with this Section 2.2(ddr are repaid in accordance with Section.Zach Eurodollar Advance shall continue as a Ealtax
Advance until the end of the then applicable Irgerf@eriod therefor, at which time such Eurodollatv&nce shall t
automatically converted into a Floating Rate Adwannless (x) such Eurodollar Advance is or wasidejpeaccordance wi
Section 2.7or (y) the Borrower shall have given the Agent an@asion/Continuation Notice (as defined below)uesting
that, at the end of such Interest Period, such dallar Advance continue as a Eurodollar Advancetlier same or anott
Interest Period. Subject to the terms of Sectién 2he Borrower may elect from time to time to com\adl or any part of
Floating Rate Advance into a Eurodollar Advancee Borrower shall give the Agent irrevocable nofitesubstantially th
form of Exhibit Fhereto (a “_Conversion/Continuation Notite of each conversion of a Floating Rate Advance &
Eurodollar Advance, or continuation of a Eurodoladvance, not later than 11:30 a.m. (New York tirag)east three (
Business Days prior to the date of the requestadarsion or continuation, specifying:

(i) the requested date, which shall be a Busibesy, of such conversion or continuation,
(i) the aggregate amount and Type of the Adeamhich is to be converted or continued, and

(iii) the amount of such Advance which is to dmnverted or continued as a Eurodollar Advancethe
duration of the Interest Period applicable thereto.

2.3 _Increases and Reductions of the Aggregat®@mitment .

(@) _ncreases of the Aggregate Commitmeihe Borrower may increase the Aggregate Commitrbgnup tc
$100,000,000 in the aggregate in one or more iseeat any time prior to the date that is six meprior to the Schedul
Termination Date, upon at least five Business Daysr written notice to the Agent, subjedtowever, in any such case,
satisfaction of the following conditions precedent:

(i) the Aggregate Commitment shall not excee@$300,000 without the consent of the Required kesid

(i) no Default or Unmatured Default shall hawecurred and be continuing on the date on whictn
increase is to become effective;

(iii) the representations and warranties comrtziim_Article Vare true and correct in all material respec
of the date such increase is to become effectiveep to the extent any such representation oramgyrris stated
relate solely to an earlier date, in which caséhsepresentation or warranty shall have been tngecarrect in a
material respects on and as of such earlier date.

(iv) such increase shall be in a minimum amafr$10,000,000 and in integral multiples of $5,Q0, ir
excess thereof;
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(v) such requested increase shall only be éffectpon receipt by the Agent of (A) additio
Commitments in a corresponding amount of such r&qdeincrease from either existing Lenders (subjedhe
consent of the L/C Issuers and the Swing Line Lenaled/or one or more other institutions that ¢fyas Purchase
(it being understood and agreed that no existingdee shall be required to provide an additional @wment) an
(B) documentation from each institution providing additional Commitment evidencing its additionan@nitmen
and its obligations under this Agreement in forrd anbstance acceptable to the Agent;

(vi) the Agent shall have received all documefitigluding resolutions of the board of directorfstioe
Borrower) it may reasonably request relating to ¢bgporate or other necessary authority for sucheese and tl
validity of such increase in the Aggregate Commitmend any other matters relevant thereto, alfoimn anc
substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent;

(vii) if any Loans are outstanding at the tinfettee increase in the Aggregate Commitment, thed@oe!
shall, if applicable, prepay one or more existirgahs (such prepayment to be subject to Sectioh iB.4an amour
necessary such that after giving effect to theease in the Aggregate Commitment, each Lenderholll its Pr
Rata Share (based on its Pro Rata Share of theaised Aggregate Commitment) of outstanding Loans;

(viii) the Agent shall have received evidenaefdarm and substance reasonably satisfactory tcAgent
that the Borrower has obtained the approval ofRtklic Utility Commission of Oregon to increasetlie Aggregat
Commitment; and

(ix) approval of the Borrower’s Board of Direcddo increase the Aggregate Commitment.

(b) _Reductions of the Aggregate Commitment

() The Borrower may terminate or permanentlduee the Aggregate Commitment (i) in part rat
among the Lenders in integral multiples of $5,000,0upon at least five (5) Business Dawsitten notice to th
Agent, which notice shall specify the amount of angh reduction, or (ii) in whole upon at least ¢heBusines
Days’ written notice to the Agent, providéuht in either case the amount of the Aggregate r@ioment may not k
reduced below the Aggregate Outstanding Credit Exy If the Aggregate Commitment is being ternadait
whole, all fees accrued with respect to theretd the effective date of such termination shallgagd on the effectiv
date of such termination and upon receipt of albants owed, the Loan Documents shall be terminated.

(i) The Aggregate Commitment shall be reduaeddro following the occurrence of a Change in @u
upon the Borrowes receipt of notice thereof from the Required Lead@r the Agent with the consent of
Required Lenders).

(i) On the Scheduled Termination Date for edemder, the Aggregate Commitment shall be reduoy

the amount of the Commitment of such Lender asfeceimmediately prior to such date (and the PataRShares
the Lenders shall be adjusted accordingly).
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(iv) For the avoidance of doubt, in the everdl @am such occasion that (1) Aggregate Outstandiraglit
Exposure exceeds the Aggregate Commitment, theo®err shall concurrently therewith prepay Advanaesai
aggregate amount equal to such excess; providedvever, that (1) if, after giving effect to amngduction of th
Aggregate Commitment, the Letter of Credit Sublimiteeds the amount of the Aggregate Commitmeatl étte
of Credit Sublimit shall be automatically reduceg the amount of such excess, (2) if, after givirfifpa to an
reduction of the Aggregate Commitment, the SwingeLiSublimit exceeds the amount of the Aggre
Commitment, the Swing Line Sublimit shall be autticaly reduced by the amount of such excess ahdn(ghe
event that Aggregate Outstanding Credit Exposupeeds the Aggregate Commitment as a result of @ctied ir
the Aggregate Commitment pursuant to subsectiofii)(l@bove, the Borrower shall not be required tepga)
Advances in an aggregate amount equal to such £xodess and until the Borrower shall have receiweitten
notice thereof from the Required Lenders (or frbva Agent with the consent of the Required Lenders).

2.4 _Method of Borrowing. Not later than 1:00 p.m. (New York time) on e&urrowing Date, each Lender shall (or
the case of an Advance of Swing Line Loans, then§wviine Lender shall) make available its Loan oah® in funds immediate
available to the Agent at its address specifiecyamt to_Article XlIll. The Agent will make the funds so received from tlender
available to the Borrower on the day received anthé form received, at the Borrower’ccount specified by the Borrower to
Agent. Loans to be made for the purpose of refun@wing Line Loans shall be made by the Lendem@gsided in_Section 2.22(b)

2.5 _Facility Fee The Borrower agrees to pay to the Agent for tepant of each Lender a facility fee at a per annata
equal to the Facility Fee Rate on the average daitpunt of such Lender’Commitment (whether used or unused) from the
hereof to and including such Lendeischeduled Termination Date (and, if any Loansmfsuch Lender or L/C Obligations of si
Lender remain outstanding after such Lender's SdeedTermination Date, thereafter on the unpaid wmh®f such Lendes’
Outstanding Credit Exposure), payable on each Palyiate and on such LenderScheduled Termination Date (and thereaft
applicable, on demand), subject to adjustment@gged in_Section 2.21

2.6 _Minimum Amount of Each Advance. Each Advance (other than an Advance of Swing ILLioans) shall be in ti
minimum amount of $5,000,000 (or a higher integnaltiple of $1,000,000), providettiat any Floating Rate Advance may be ir
amount of the unused Aggregate Commitment. EactaAck of Swing Line Loans shall be in the minimunoant of $500,000 (or
higher integral multiple of $100,000). The Borrovetrall not request a Eurodollar Advance if, aftetirg effect to the request
Eurodollar Advance, more than ten (10) separatednilar Advances would be outstanding.

2.7 _Optional Principal Payments. The Borrower may from time to time pay, withouwtnalty or premium, (i) &
outstanding Floating Rate Advances, or, in a mimmaggregate amount of $5,000,000 or any highegiatenultiple of $1,000,00
any portion of the outstanding Floating Rate Adwanand (ii) all outstanding Swing Line Loans, araiminimum aggregate amo
of $500,000 or any higher integral multiple of $J3D, any portion of the outstanding Swing Line hsain each case, upon p
notice to the Agent not later than 11:30 a.m. (Néwk time) on the date of payment (which shall lBusiness Day). The Borrow
may from time to time pay, subject to the paymenamy funding indemnification amounts required bgcon 3.4but withou
penalty or premium, all outstanding Eurodollar Adees or, in a minimum aggregate amount of $5,0@0d@0Cany higher integr
multiple of $1,000,000, any portion of the outstagdEurodollar Advances upon prior notice to theeAgnot later than 1:00 p.
(New York time) three (3) Business Days prior te ttate of payment (which shall be a Business Day).
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2.8 _Changes in Interest Rate, etccach Floating Rate Advance shall bear interesthenoutstanding principal amol
thereof, for each day from and including the datehsAdvance is made or is converted from a Eurad@didvance into a Floatil
Rate Advance pursuant to_Section 2.2(@)but excluding the date it becomes due, is peepaiis converted into a Eurodol
Advance pursuant to Section 2.2(dt a rate per annum equal to the Floating Rateuch day. Changes in the rate of interest ol
portion of any Advance maintained as a FloatingeRatvance will take effect simultaneously with eablange in the Alternate Be
Rate. Each Eurodollar Advance shall bear intereghe outstanding principal amount thereof from anwuding the first day of tt
Interest Period applicable thereto to (but notudaig) the last day of such Interest Period orhwéspect to any principal amo
prepaid pursuant to Section 2.%the date of such prepayment, at the interest datermined as applicable to such Eurod
Advance. Each Swing Line Loan shall bear interesthe outstanding principal amount thereof, forheday from and including de
such Advance is made to but excluding the dategébmes due or is prepaid, at a rate per annum éqjtiaé Swing Line Rate f
such day. Changes in the rate of interest on toationm of any Advance maintained as a Swing LinearLowill take effec
simultaneously with each change in the LIBOR Matkeex Rate.

2.9 _Rates Applicable After Default Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contdime Section 2.2(cdr Section 2.2

(d) , during the continuance of a Default or Unmatubedflault the Required Lenders may, at their optlnnotice to the Borrow
(which notice may be revoked at the option of theglired Lenders notwithstanding any provision_ott®a 8.2 requiring
unanimous consent of the Lenders to changes irestteates), declare that no Advance may be madmasgerted into or continu
as a Eurodollar Advance. During the continuancargf such Default, the Required Lenders may, at thgiion, by notice to tf
Borrower (which notice may be revoked at the optibthe Required Lenders notwithstanding any pliowi®f Section 8.2equiring
unanimous consent of the Lenders to changes inestteates), declare that (i) each Eurodollar Adeashall bear interest for 1
remainder of the applicable Interest Period atrtite otherwise applicable to such Interest Period g% per annum, (ii) ea
Floating Rate Advance (and any Eurodollar Advanbékvis not paid at the end of the applicable kgePeriod) shall bear inter
at a rate per annum equal to the Floating Rate Zgper annum, (iii) each Swing Line Loan shall rhieéerest a rate per ann
equal to the Swing Line Rate plus 2% per annum(and._etter of Credit Fees shall be equal to thepkgable Margin for Letter «
Credit Fees plus 2% per annum, provitleat, during the continuance of a Default undettiSec.6or 7.7, the interest rates set fo
in clauses (iand_(ii) above and the increase in Letter of Credit Feefostt in clause (iiilabove shall be applicable to all applic:
Credit Extensions without any election or actiontlo® part of the Agent or any Lender.

2.10 _Method of Payment Except as otherwise provided herein, all paymehtfie Obligations shall be made, with
setoff, deduction, or counterclaim, in immediatelailable funds to the Agent at the Agent's addsgsecified pursuant térticle
X, or at any other Lending Installation of the Agepécified in writing by 1:00 p.m. (New York timeh the Business Day pr
to the date when due by the Agent to the Borrolgach payment delivered to the Agent for the accadirgny Lender shall |
delivered promptly by the Agent to such Lenderhia same type of funds that the Agent receivedsadtress specified pursuar
Article Xl or at any Lending Installation specified in a netreceived by the Agent from such Lender. Each gayrdelivered t
the Agent on account of the principal of or intém@s the Swing Line Loans or of any fee, commissiommther amounts payable
the Swing Line Lender shall be made in like manhat,for the account of the Swing Line Lender.

2.11 _Evidence of Indebtedness; Recordkeeping

() Each Lender shall maintain in accordancehwts usual practice an account or accounts evidgnthe
indebtedness of the Borrower to such Lender reguftom each Loan
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made by such Lender from time to time, including #mounts of principal and interest payable and fmasuch Lender fro
time to time hereunder.

(i) Upon the request of any Lender, the Loarglenby such Lender also may be evidenced by a psonyi note i
favor of each Lender, substantially in the formEshibit D (a “ Note”). In such event, the Borrower shall prepare, ext
and deliver to such Lender a Note payable to tHeraof such Lender.

(i) The Agent shall also maintain accountsaihich it will record (a) the amount of each Crelfktension mac
hereunder, and if applicable, the Type thereofthedinterest Period with respect thereto, (b) tmeunt of any principal
interest due and payable or to become due and leafyaln the Borrower to each Lender hereunder ahthé amount of ar
sum received by the Agent hereunder from the Bagramd each Lender’s share thereof.

(iv) The entries set forth in the accounts naimed pursuant to paragraphs dnd (iii)) above, in the absence
manifest error, shall berima facieevidence of the existence and amounts of the Qigigmtherein recorded and outstan:
hereunder;_providethat the failure of the Agent or any Lender to nt&iim such accounts or any error therein shall matniy
manner affect the obligation of the Borrower toagghe Obligations in accordance with their terms.

2.12 _Telephonic Notices The Borrower hereby authorizes the Lenders aedAthent to extend, convert or contil
Advances, effect selections of Types of Advancekstariransfer funds based on telephonic noticeserhgicany person or persons
Agent or any Lender in good faith believes to béngoon behalf of the Borrower, it being understaboat the foregoing authorizati
is specifically intended to allow Borrowing Noticaad Conversion/Continuation Notices to be givdepieonically. The Borrow:
agrees to deliver promptly to the Agent a writtemfemation (signed by an authorized representativéhe Borrower) of ear
telephonic notice, if such confirmation is requdshy the Agent or any Lender. If the written comfittion differs in any mater
respect from the action taken by the Agent andLéreders, the records of the Agent and the Lendesali govern absent manifi
error.

2.13 _Interest Payment Dates; Interest and FeeaBis. Interest accrued on each Floating Rate Advana# kb payabl
on each Payment Date, on any date on which suciifidpRate Advance is prepaid, whether due to ecatbn or otherwise, and
maturity. Interest accrued on that portion of thdstanding principal amount of any Floating Ratevawte converted into
Eurodollar Advance on a day other than a Paymerte Blaall be payable on the date of conversionréateaccrued on each Sw
Line Loan shall be payable on each Payment Dateargndate on which such Swing Line Loan is prepaitiether due 1
acceleration or otherwise, and at maturity. Inteeesrued on each Eurodollar Advance shall be gayab the last day of i
applicable Interest Period, on any date on whiahdaurodollar Advance is prepaid, whether by acediten or otherwise, and
maturity. Interest accrued on each Eurodollar Adedmaving an Interest Period longer than three hsositall also be payable on
last day of each threeonth interval during such Interest Period. Intems Floating Rate Advances shall be calculatedaftiua
days elapsed on the basis of a 365-day year om apgropriate, a 36@ay year. All other interest and all fees shalthkulated fc
actual days elapsed on the basis of a-86§ year. Interest shall be payable for the dafdrance is made but not for the day of
payment on the amount paid if payment is receivedr jo noon (New York time) at the place of paymdf any payment ¢
principal of or interest on an Advance shall becaine on a day which is not a Business Day, sucmpay shall be made on -
next succeeding Business Day and, in the casepoheipal payment, such extension of time shalifmduded in computing intere
in connection with such payment.
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2.14 _Notification of Advances, Interest RateRrepayments and Commitment Reductions Promptly after recei
thereof, the Agent will notify each Lender of thentents of each Aggregate Commitment reductioncaptBorrowing Notice
Conversion/Continuation Notice and repayment natemeived by it hereunder; provided, however, thatfailure of the Agent
provide such notice to the Lenders shall not afteet validity or binding nature of such notice defied to the Agent by t
Borrower. The Agent will notify each Lender of timberest rate applicable to each Eurodollar Advgmoenptly upon determinatis
of such interest rate and will give each Lendengbnotice of each change in the Alternate Base.Rat

2.15 _Lending Installations. Each Lender may book its Loans at any Lendintpliagion selected by such Lender and
change its Lending Installation from time to tin#dl terms of this Agreement shall apply to any sua@nding Installation. Eac
Lender may, by written notice to the Agent and Bogrower in accordance with Article Xlll designate replacement or additic
Lending Installations through which Loans will bade by it and for whose account Loan paymentsoae tmade.

2.16 _NonReceipt of Funds by the Agent Unless the Borrower or a Lender, as the casebaawnotifies the Agent pri
to the date on which it is scheduled to make paynwethe Agent of (i) in the case of a Lender, pineceeds of a Loan or (ii) in t
case of the Borrower, a payment of principal, ies¢ror fees to the Agent for the account of thedees, that it does not intend
make such payment, the Agent may assume that sychgmt has been made. The Agent may, but shalleobligated to, make t
amount of such payment available to the intendepbient in reliance upon such assumption. If suehder or the Borrower, as -
case may be, has not in fact made such paymehetéddent, the recipient of such payment shall, emand by the Agent, repay
the Agent the amount so made available togethdr wwierest thereon in respect of each day duriegpériod commencing on 1
date such amount was so made available by the Agegihthe date the Agent recovers such amountrateaper annum equal to
in the case of payment by a Lender, the Federati$-iffective Rate for such day for the first th(8¢ days and, thereafter, -
interest rate applicable to the relevant Loan piir{\the case of payment by the Borrower, the @gerate applicable to the relev
Loan.

2.17 _Replacement of Lender If (a) the Borrower is required pursuant to Sect.1, 3.20r 3.5t0 make any addition
payment to any Lender or if any Lendeobligation to make or continue, or to convertafilog Rate Advances into, Eurodo
Advances is suspended pursuant_to Section, I8 any Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender orafty Lender shall have
Scheduled Termination Date that is earlier thanthemeffective Final Termination Date (any Lender sceeféd as described
subclauses (a), (b) or (c), an “ Affected Lenfethe Borrower may (but only, in the case_of daya), if such amounts continue
be charged or such suspension is still effectilejteo replace such Affected Lender as a Lenddy fa this Agreementprovidec
that no Default or Unmatured Default shall haveund and be continuing at the time of such replem#, and providefurthel
that, concurrently with such replacement, (i) arothank or other entity which is reasonably satisfiy to the Borrower, the Age
and the L/C Issuers shall agree, as of such dapyrchase for cash the Credit Extensions dueg@ffected Lender pursuant to
Assignment Agreement substantially in the form ghiBit A and to become a Lender for all purposes underAbisement and -
assume all obligations of the Affected Lender tadreninated as of such date and to comply withrédmgiirements oSection 12.
applicable to assignments, and (ii) the Borrowelgtay to such Affected Lender in same day funnlshe day of such replacem
(A) all interest, fees and other amounts then axthut unpaid to such Affected Lender by the Boaotereunder to and includi
the date of termination, including, without limitat, any payments due to such Affected Lender ugetions 3.1 3.2and_3.5, anc
(B) an amount, if any, equal to the payment whiculd have been due to such Lender on the day &f eptacement undé&ectior
3.4had the Loans and L/C Obligations of such Affedtedder been prepaid on such date rather than stkektreplacement Lender.
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2.18 _Extension of Final Termination Date The Borrower may, up to two times during the tesfrthis Agreemen
request a one-year extension of each Lender’s std@dermination Date by submitting a request foeatension to the Agent (an “
Extension Reques) no more than ninety (90) days, but not less thaty $60) days, prior to any anniversary of the Effiee Date
commencing with the first anniversary thereof (thextension Dat€). Any Extension Request shall specify the date (whiclst b
at least thirty (30) days after the Extension Retjigdelivered to the Agent but no later thantyh{BO) days prior to the Extensi
Date) as of which the Lenders must respond to stxtlension Request (the " Response DatePromptly upon receipt of i
Extension Request, the Agent shall notify each keemd the contents thereof. Each Lender shalllatet than the Response Date
any Extension Request, deliver a written respoadbd Agent approving or rejecting such Extensi@gulest (and any Lender t
fails to deliver such a response by the Response &all be deemed to have rejected such Extemguest). If (i) Lenders tt
collectively have a Pro Rata Share of more than &p@sove an Extension Request (which approval steadlt the sole discretion
each Lender) and (ii) all of the Aggregate OutstagpdCredit Exposure shall have been paid in fulttlb@ Extension Date, then -
theneffective Final Termination Date, and the Scheddletmination Date for each such approving Lendeall e extended to t
date that is one year after the theffective Final Termination Date or, if such daseniot a Business Day, to the next prece
Business Day (but the thaffective Scheduled Termination Date for each otltesrder shall remain unchanged). The Agent
promptly (and in any event not later than twefitg- (25) days prior to the Extension Date for eaththe Lenders) notify tt
Borrower, in writing, of the Lenders’ elections puant to this Section 2.18f Lenders that collectively have a Pro Rata 8hal
50% or more reject an Extension Request, thenitred Fermination Date, and the Scheduled Termimabate of each Lender, st
remain unchanged. The Borrower may elect to repdagedeclining Lender under this Section 2pl8suant to the terms &ectior
2.17. Prior to the effectiveness of any Extension Retjuader this_Section 2.18he Agent shall have received evidence, in-
and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agsaitthe Borrower has obtained the approval ofRthiblic Utility Commission ¢
Oregon in connection with such Extension Request.

2.19 Letters of Credit.

(@) _The Letter of Credit Commitment

(i) Subject to the terms and conditions settfdrerein, (A) each L/C Issuer agrees, in reliarqmenuthe agreemet
of the Lenders set forth in this Section 2,19) from time to time on any Business Day duriihg period from the Effecti
Date until the Letter of Credit Expiration Date,issue Letters of Credit in U.S. dollars for the@mt of the Borrower or a
of its Subsidiaries, and to amend or extend LetiéSredit previously issued by it, in accordandehvgubsection (b) belo
and (2) to honor drawings under the Letters of ©ramd (B) the Lenders severally agree to parsiggn Letters of Crec
issued for the account of the Borrower or its Sdibsies and any drawings thereunder; provitihed after giving effect to al
L/C Credit Extension with respect to any LetterGgdit, (w) the Aggregate Outstanding Credit Expesshall not excet
the Aggregate Commitments, (x) the aggregate qudstg amount of the Loans of any Lender, gdush Lendes Pro Rat
Share of the outstanding amount of all L/C Obligrasi,_plussuch Lendes Pro Rata Share of the outstanding amount
Swing Line Loans, shall not exceed such Lersl@bmmitment and (y) the outstanding amount ofLit@ Obligations sha
not exceed the Letter of Credit Sublimit. Each exilby the Borrower for the issuance or amendmeatleetter of Cred
shall be deemed to be a representation by the Berrdhat the L/C Credit Extension so requested d@sipvith the
conditions set forth in the proviso to the precgdsentence. Within the foregoing limits, and subj@cthe terms ar
conditions hereof, the Borrower’s ability to obtaietters of Credit shall be fully
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revolving, and accordingly the Borrower may, durihg foregoing period, obtain Letters of Creditaplace Letters of Cre:
that have expired or that have been drawn uponembursed.

CHAR1\1285208v7

(i) No L/C Issuer shall issue any Letter of Qitef:

(A) subject to_Section 2.19(b)(iij)the expiry date of such requested Letter of Greduld occur mor
than twelve months after the date of issuancestregtension of such Letter of Credit, unless teaders (other thi
Defaulting Lenders) holding a majority of the Contrménts have approved such expiry date; or

(B) the expiry date of such requested LetteCiafdit would occur after the Letter of Credit Exgtion Date
unless all the Lenders that have Commitments hppeoaed such expiry date.

(i) No L/C Issuer shall be under any obligati issue any Letter of Credit if:

(A) any order, judgment or decree of any Goveantal Authority or arbitrator shall by its termsrpart tc
enjoin or restrain such L/C Issuer from issuinghsletter of Credit, or any law applicable to sudi Lssuer or ar
request or directive (whether or not having thedoof law) from any Governmental Authority withigdiction ove
such L/C Issuer shall prohibit, or request thathsiwC Issuer refrain from, the issuance of let@rsredit generall
or such Letter of Credit in particular or shall ioge upon such L/C Issuer with respect to such Left€redit an
restriction, reserve or capital requirement (forickihsuch L/C Issuer is not otherwise compensateeumger) not i
effect on the Effective Date, or shall impose upaoh L/C Issuer any unreimbursed loss, cost orresgevhich we
not applicable on the Effective Date and which s Issuer in good faith deems material to it;

(B) the issuance of such Letter of Credit wotitlate one or more policies of such L/C Issuerl@pple tc
borrowers generally;

(C) except as otherwise agreed by the Agentsaotl L/C Issuer, such Letter of Credit is in atidhistate
amount less than $500,000;

(D) such Letter of Credit is to be denominated icurrency other than U.S. dollars;

(E) such Letter of Credit contains any provisidor automatic reinstatement of the stated amafiat an’
drawing thereunder; or

(F) any Lender is at that time a Defaulting Lendinless such L/C Issuer has entered into arnaeges
including the delivery of Cash Collateral, satisfag to such L/C Issuer (in its sole discretionjiwihe Borrower ¢
such Lender to eliminate such L/C Issuer’s actuglaiential Fronting Exposure (after giving efféatSection 2.21
(a)(iv) ) with respect to the Defaulting Lender arisingnfreither the Letter of Credit then proposed todseiéd ¢
that Letter of Credit and all other L/C Obligatioas to which such L/C Issuer has actual or potefiianting
Exposure, as it may elect in its sole discretion.
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(iv) No L/C Issuer shall amend any Letter of @téf such L/C Issuer would not be permitted attstime to issu
the Letter of Credit in its amended form underttrens hereof.

(v) No L/C Issuer shall be under any obligatioramend any Letter of Credit if (A) such L/C Issuweuld have n
obligation at such time to issue the Letter of @radits amended form under the terms hereof B)rtlie beneficiary of tf
Letter of Credit does not accept the proposed amendlto the Letter of Credit.

(vi) Each L/C Issuer shall act on behalf of ttenders with respect to any Letters of Credit iglshg it and th
documents associated therewith, and such L/C Ishal have all of the benefits and immunities pAvided to the Age
in Article X with respect to any acts taken or omissions sufféne such L/C Issuer in connection with LettersGr&dit
issued by it or proposed to be issued by it andels®ocuments pertaining to such Letters of Cradifully as if the ter
“Agent” as used in Article Xncluded such L/C Issuer with respect to such actemissions, and (B) as additionally provi
herein with respect to such L/C Issuer.

(b) _Procedures for Issuance and Amendment iéitseof Credit; AuteExtension Letters of Credit

(i) Each Letter of Credit shall be issued or adesl, as the case may be, upon the request ofoitievider delivere
to the applicable L/C Issuer (with a copy to theeAf) in the form of a Letter of Credit Applicaticappropriately complet
and signed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrovgeich Letter of Credit Application may be sentfégsimile, by Unite
States mail, by overnight courier, by electroninsmission using the system provided by the appéch/C Issuer, b
personal delivery or by any other means acceptabdech L/C Issuer. Such Letter of Credit Applioatmust be received
the applicable L/C Issuer and the Agent not latant11:00 a.m. (New York time) at least five Busmi®ays (or such lai
date and time as the Agent and such L/C Issueragese in a particular instance in their sole dismng prior to the propost
issuance date or date of amendment, as the cas®enéy the case of a request for an initial issaaof a Letter of Cred
such Letter of Credit Application shall specifyform and detail satisfactory to the applicable IL$8uer: (A) the propos
issuance date of the requested Letter of Creditcfwbhall be a Business Day); (B) the amount tHer@) the expiry dai
thereof; (D) the name and address of the benefitiareof; (E) the documents to be presented bly baaeficiary in case
any drawing thereunder; (F) the full text of anytifieate to be presented by such beneficiary isecaf any drawin
thereunder; (G) the purpose and nature of the stgdd_etter of Credit; and (H) such other mattersich L/C Issuer m
require. In the case of a request for an amendofeany outstanding Letter of Credit, such LetteCoédit Application sha
specify in form and detail satisfactory to the @mddle L/C Issuer (A) the Letter of Credit to bearded; (B) the propos
date of amendment thereof (which shall be a Busiiesy); (C) the nature of the proposed amendmeiak;(B) such othe
matters as such L/C Issuer may require. Additignahe Borrower shall furnish to the applicable Li§€suer and tt
Agent such other documents and information pergind such requested Letter of Credit issuancemmnament, includir
any Issuer Documents, as such L/C Issuer or thetAgay require.

(i) Promptly after receipt of any Letter of @ieApplication, the applicable L/C Issuer will dnm with the Agen
(by telephone or in writing) that the Agent haseieed a copy of such Letter of Credit Applicatisarh the Borrower and,
not, such L/C Issuer will provide the Agent witlt@py thereof. Unless the applicable L/C Issuerrbasived written notic
from any Lender, the Agent or any Loan Party, asi@ne Business Day prior to the requested dasswénce or
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amendment of the applicable Letter of Credit, thia¢ or more applicable conditions contained in detiV shall not b
satisfied, then, subject to the terms and conditiereof, such L/C Issuer shall, on the requestitel dssue a Letter of Cre
for the account of the Borrower or the applicabldsSdiary or enter into the applicable amendmesntha case may be,
each case in accordance with such L/C Issuesual and customary business practices. Immédiapen the issuance
each Letter of Credit, each Lender shall be deetmednd hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agreo, purchase frc
the applicable L/C Issuer a risk participation utls Letter of Credit in an amount equal to the patdf such Lendes’ Prc
Rata Share timehe amount of such Letter of Credit.

(iif) If the Borrower so requests in any apphitaLetter of Credit Application, the applicableCLIssuer may, in i
sole discretion, agree to issue a Letter of Cribdit has automatic extension provisions (each, Antt-Extension Letter ¢
Credit™); providedthat any such Aut@&xtension Letter of Credit must permit such L/Quissto prevent any such extens
at least once in each twelwesnth period (commencing with the date of issuasfcsuch Letter of Credit) by giving pri
notice to the beneficiary thereof not later thadag (the “_NorExtension Notice Dat® in each such twelveaonth period t
be agreed upon at the time such Letter of Credisdsed. Unless otherwise directed by the appkcdldC Issuer, tF
Borrower shall not be required to make a specédipuest to such L/C Issuer for any such extensioge@n Autd=xtensiol
Letter of Credit has been issued, the Lenders siwatieemed to have authorized (but may not reqtheeapplicable L/
Issuer to permit the extension of such Letter oédirat any time to an expiry date not later thae Letter of Cred
Expiration Date;_provided however, that such L/C Issuer shall not permit any suctemsion if (A) such L/C Issuer
determined that it would not be permitted, or wobhhlilye no obligation, at such time to issue suchekeaif Credit in it
revised form (as extended) under the terms hetgofdason of the provisions of clause (ii) or (i) Section 2.19(apr
otherwise), or (B) it has received notice (whichyrba by telephone or in writing) on or before tlagy dhat is seven Busing
Days before the No&xtension Notice Date (1) from the Agent that thejired Lenders have elected not to permit
extension or (2) from the Agent, any Lender orBloerower that one or more of the applicable cood#ispecified irgectiot
4.2is not then satisfied, and in each case directing £/C Issuer not to permit such extension.

(iv) Promptly after its delivery of any Lettef Gredit or any amendment to a Letter of Crediatoadvising bar
with respect thereto or to the beneficiary theréwud, applicable L/C Issuer will also deliver to tBerrower and the Agent
true and complete copy of such Letter of Cred&mendment.

(c) _Drawings and Reimbursements; Funding ofi€pations.

(i) Upon receipt from the beneficiary of any tegtof Credit of any notice of drawing under suddtter of Credi
the applicable L/C Issuer shall notify the Borroveeid the Agent thereof. Not later than 11:00 aMew York time) on th
date of any payment by the applicable L/C Issueleuma Letter of Credit (each such date, an “ Hdpate”), the Borrowe
shall reimburse such L/C Issuer through the Agerati amount equal to the amount of such drawintpelfBorrower fails t
so reimburse the applicable L/C Issuer by such tittne Agent shall promptly notify each Lender oé tHonor Date, tf
amount of the unreimbursed drawing (the * Unreingledr Amount”), and the amount of such LenderPro Rata Sha
thereof. In such event, the Borrower shall be dektodave requested an Advance of Loans that aaiRty Rate Advanc
to be disbursed on the Honor Date in an amountldquidie Unreimbursed Amount, without regard to themimum ani
multiples specified in_Section 2fér the principal amount of Floating Rate Advandag, subject to the
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conditions set forth in_Section 4(8ther than the delivery of a Loan Notice) and jated that, after giving effect to st
Advance, the Aggregate Outstanding Credit Exposbedl not exceed the Aggregate Commitments. Anicadiven by th
applicable L/C Issuer or the Agent pursuant to 8estion 2.19(c)(ijnay be given by telephone if immediately confirnie
writing; providedthat the lack of such an immediate confirmationlgiat affect the conclusiveness or binding effecsuct
notice.

(il Each Lender shall upon any notice pursuanSection 2.19(c)(imake funds available (and the Agent |
apply Cash Collateral provided for this purpose) flee account of the applicable L/C Issuer at thgemt's Lending
Installation in an amount equal to its Pro RatarSloh the Unreimbursed Amount not later than 1:00.New York time)o
the Business Day specified in such notice by themdgwhereupon, subject to the provisions of SacBd 9(c)(iii), eacl
Lender that so makes funds available shall be déembave made a Floating Rate Advance to the B@aran such amour
The Agent shall remit the funds so received toaglicable L/C Issuer.

(i)  With respect to any Unreimbursed Amoundattiis not fully refinanced by a Advance of Loanattare Floatin
Rate Advances because the conditions set fortleatidh 4.2cannot be satisfied or for any other reason, thedseer shal
be deemed to have incurred from the applicablel&gQer an L/C Borrowing in the amount of the Uniigimsed Amount th
is not so refinanced, which L/C Borrowing shallchee and payable on demand (together with inteagst)shall bear intere
at the rate provided in Section 2.th such event, each Lendgepayment to the Agent for the account of the apple L/C
Issuer pursuant to Section 2.19(c)éhall be deemed payment in respect of its participan such L/C Borrowing and sh
constitute an L/C Advance from such Lender in &attson of its participation obligation under ttf8gction 2.19

(iv) Until each Lender funds its Loans or L/Cvaghce pursuant to this Section 2.13¢)yeimburse the applical
L/C Issuer for any amount drawn under any LetteCoddit, interest in respect of such LendePro Rata Share of st
amount shall be solely for the account of such Is&Tier.

(v) Each Lendes obligation to make Loans or L/C Advances to reirsb the applicable L/C Issuer for amo
drawn under Letters of Credit, as contemplatedhiyy $ection 2.19(c) shall be absolute and unconditional and shallbe
affected by any circumstance, including (A) anyfetounterclaim, recoupment, defense or othdntnghich such Lend
may have against such L/C Issuer, the Borrowernyr @her Person for any reason whatsoever; (B)ottmirrence ¢
continuance of a Default, or (C) any other occuregrevent or condition, whether or not similar tty @f the foregoing
provided, however, that each Lender’s obligation to make Loans pamsto this Section 2.19(@ subject to the conditio
set forth in_Section 4.pother than delivery by the Borrower of a BorrowiNgtice). No such making of an L/C Adval
shall relieve or otherwise impair the obligationtleé Borrower to reimburse the applicable L/C Isdoe the amount of ar
payment made by such L/C Issuer under any Lett@redit, together with interest as provided herein.

(vi) If any Lender fails to make available tcetlAgent for the account of the applicable L/C Issaiey amour
required to be paid by such Lender pursuant toféhegoing provisions of this Section 2.19wy the time specified
Section 2.19(c)(ii) then, without limiting the other provisions ofglAgreement, such L/C Issuer shall be entitlecetmve
from such Lender (acting through the Agent), on ded) such amount with interest thereon for thegglefriom the date su
payment is required to the date on which such payisémmediately available to such L/C Issuer
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at a rate per annum equal to the greater of therBe&unds Effective Rate and a rate determinedumh L/C Issuer |
accordance with banking industry rules on interbaoknpensation, plus any administrative, processingimilar fee
customarily charged by such L/C Issuer in connectith the foregoing. If such Lender pays such amdwith interest an
fees as aforesaid), the amount so paid shall ¢otessuch Lendes Loan included in the relevant Advance or L/C Aabair
respect of the relevant L/C Borrowing, as the casg be. A certificate of the applicable L/C Issgebmitted to any Lend
(through the Agent) with respect to any amountsngwinder this clause (vi) shall be conclusive absanifest error.

(d) _Repayment of Participations

(i) Atany time after the applicable L/C Issirrs made a payment under any Letter of Credit asddceived froi
any Lender such Lender’s L/C Advance in respedush payment in accordance with Section 2.19ifcthe Agent receive
for the account of such L/C Issuer any paymenespect of the related Unreimbursed Amount or isteteereon (wheth
directly from the Borrower or otherwise, includipgoceeds of cash collateral applied thereto byAthent), the Agent wi
distribute to such Lender its Pro Rata Share tliéngbe same funds as those received by the Agent.

(i) If any payment received by the Agent foe taccount of the applicable L/C Issuer pursua@dation 2.19(c)(
is required to be returned under any of the circames (including pursuant to any settlement edterte by such L/C Issu
in its discretion), each Lender shall pay to thestgfor the account of such L/C Issuer its Pro Fadtare thereof on deme
of the Agent, plus interest thereon from the ddtsuch demand to the date such amount is retumpedidh Lender, at a r:
per annum equal to the Federal Funds Effective Rata time to time in effect. The obligations ofthenders under tt
clause shall survive the payment in full of the i@&tions and the termination of this Agreement.

(e) _Obligations Absolute The obligation of the Borrower to reimburse tipplacable L/C Issuer for each drawing ur
each Letter of Credit and to repay each L/C Bormgwshall be absolute, unconditional and irrevocadutel shall be paid strictly
accordance with the terms of this Agreement unlieiraumstances, including the following:

(i) any lack of validity or enforceability of eh Letter of Credit, this Agreement or any otheabh@®ocument;

(i) the existence of any claim, counterclairatadf, defense or other right that any Loan Partyamy Subsidiar
may have at any time against any beneficiary orteaysferee of such Letter of Credit (or any Perf@wnvhom any suc
beneficiary or any such transferee may be actisgdh L/C Issuer or any other Person, whether imection with thi
Agreement, the transactions contemplated herelmy auch Letter of Credit or any agreement or ims&nt relating theret
or any unrelated transaction;

(i) any draft, demand, certificate or othercdment presented under such Letter of Credit pgotinbe forgec
fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respeectany statement therein being untrue or inaccureémy respect; or any Ic
or delay in the transmission or otherwise of anguhoent required in order to make a drawing undeh sietter of Credit;
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(iv) any payment by such L/C Issuer under suettdr of Credit against presentation ofiraft or certificate thi
does not strictly comply with the terms of suchteetf Credit; or any payment made by such L/Cdssunder such Letter
Credit to any Person purporting to be a trustebankruptcy, debtor-ipossession, assignee for the benefit of cred
liquidator, receiver or other representative ofsaccessor to any beneficiary or any transfereeuoh 4 etter of Credi
including any arising in connection with any prodieg under any bankruptcy or similar debtor reléef; or

(v) any other circumstance or happening whatsgavhether or not similar to any of the foregoimgluding an'
other circumstance that might otherwise constitutiefense available to, or a discharge of, any [Reaty or any Subsidiary.

The Borrower shall promptly examine a copy of ehetter of Credit and each amendment thereto thdelisered to it and, in tl
event of any claim of noncompliance with the Boreo\w instructions or other irregularity, the Borrowel immediately notify th
applicable L/C Issuer. The Borrower shall be cosiglely deemed to have waived any such claim ag#iestpplicable L/C Issu
and its correspondents unless such notice is giseaforesaid.

() Role of L/C Issuer Each Lender and the Borrower agree that, in magimy drawing under a Letter of Credit,
applicable L/C Issuer shall not have any respolitsilto obtain any document (other than any sigfatft] certificates and docume
expressly required by such Letter of Credit) oagzertain or inquire as to the validity or accuratyany such document or 1
authority of the Person executing or delivering augh document. None of the L/C Issuers, the Agany, of their respecti
affiliates, directors, officers, trustees or emgey, nor any correspondent, participant or assightee L/C Issuers shall be liable
any Lender for (i) any action taken or omitted noection herewith at the request or with the apgirof the Lenders or tl
Required Lenders, as applicable; (ii) any actikemaor omitted in the absence of gross negligeneltful misconduct (such gro
negligence or willful misconduct as determined ifinal, nonappealable judgment by a court of compiejurisdiction); or (iii) th
due execution, effectiveness, validity or enfordégbof any document or instrument related to amgtter of Credit or Issu
Document. The Borrower hereby assumes all riskb@facts or omissions of any beneficiary or tramsfavith respect to its use
any Letter of Credit; providedhowever, that this assumption is not intended to, andl stwd) preclude the Borrowes’pursuing suc
rights and remedies as it may have against thefioemg or transferee at law or under any otheragnent. None of the L/C Issut
the Agent, any of their respective affiliates, digrs, officers, trustees or employees, nor angespondent, participant or assigne
the L/C Issuers shall be liable or responsibleainy of the matters described in clauses (i) throyglof Section 2.19(e) provided,
however, that anything in such clauses to the contrarwitbstanding, the Borrower may have a claim againktC Issuer, and
L/C Issuer may be liable to the Borrower, to theeak but only to the extent, of any direct, asaggad to consequential or exempl
damages suffered by the Borrower which the Borropmaves were caused by such L/C Isssiesillful misconduct or gro:
negligence (as determined in a final, nonappealablgment by a court of competent jurisdiction)sach L/C Issues willful failure
to pay under any Letter of Credit after the preston to it by the beneficiary of a sight draft asattificate(s) strictly complying wi
the terms and conditions of a Letter of Credit.funtherance and not in limitation of the foregoirtbe L/C Issuers may acc
documents that appear on their face to be in ond@hout responsibility for further investigatiomegardless of any notice
information to the contrary, and no L/C Issuer kbal responsible for the validity or sufficiency afly instrument transferring
assigning or purporting to transfer or assign ddraif Credit or the rights or benefits thereundeproceeds thereof, in whole ol
part, which may prove to be invalid or ineffectifer any reason. A L/C Issuer may send a Letter ofd@ or conduct ar
communication to or from the beneficiary via theigty for Worldwide Interbank Financial Telecommeation (“SWIFT”) messag
or overnight courier, or any other commerciallys@aable means of communicating with a beneficiary.
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(9) _Applicability of ISP. Unless otherwise expressly agreed by the appiidal® Issuer and the Borrower when a Lette
Credit is issued, the rules of the ISP shall applgach Letter of Credit.

(h) _Letter of Credit FeesThe Borrower shall pay to the Agent for the actoaf each Lender in accordance with its
Rata Share a Letter of Credit fee (the " Lette€ofdit Fe€') for each Letter of Credit equal to the Applicatargin_timeghe daily
amount available to be drawn under such Letterrefiif, provided, however, any Letter of Credit Fees otherwise payable lia
account of a Defaulting Lender with respect to &ameyter of Credit as to which such Defaulting Lendas not provided Ca
Collateral satisfactory to the applicable L/C Igspersuant to this Section 2.%8all be payable, to the maximum extent permittg
applicable law, to the other Lenders in accordawitle the upward adjustments in their respective Rata Shares allocable to s
Letter of Credit pursuant to Section 2.21(a)(iwith the balance of such fee, if any, payabléhtoapplicable L/C Issuer for its o
account. For purposes of computing the daily amewailable to be drawn under any Letter of Cretiig, amount of such Letter
Credit shall be determined in accordance with $ac8.15. Letter of Credit Fees shall be (i) due and payain the first Busine
Day after the end of each March, June, SeptemlzbDaicember, commencing with the first such datectur after the issuance
such Letter of Credit, on the Letter of Credit Eation Date and thereafter on demand and (ii) cdethon a quarterly basis
arrears. If there is any change in the Applicabkrdih during any quarter, the daily amount avadabl be drawn under each Le
of Credit shall be computed and multiplied by thppAcable Margin separately for each period dursugh quarter that su
Applicable Margin was in effect. Notwithstandingyéring to the contrary contained herein, upon tbeguest of the Requir
Lenders, while any Default exists, all Letter ok@it Fees shall accrue at the rate set forth itidde2.9for Letter of Credit Fees.

(i) Fronting Fee and Documentary and ProcesSinarges Payable to L/C IssuefFhe Borrower shall pay directly to 1
applicable L/C Issuer for its own account a frogtfiee with respect to each Letter of Credit, atridie per annum agreed by
Borrower and the applicable L/C Issuer in writisgmputed on the daily amount available to be drangter such Letter of Cre
and on a quarterly basis in arrears. Such frorfeegshall be due and payable on the tenth BusiDagsafter the end of each Mar
June, September and December in respect of the maosttlyended quarterly period (or portion thereof, in tiese of the fir:
payment), commencing with the first such date tocuo@fter the issuance of such Letter of CreditflenLetter of Credit Expiratic
Date and thereafter on demand. For purposes of atimgpthe daily amount available to be drawn uraley Letter of Credit, tt
amount of such Letter of Credit shall be determimedccordance with Section 9.15n addition, the Borrower shall pay directly
the applicable L/C Issuer for its own account thetemary issuance, presentation, amendment and mtheessing fees, and ot
standard costs and charges, of such L/C Issudinglto letters of credit as from time to time ifieet. Such customary fees ¢
standard costs and charges are due and payabn@and and are nonrefundable.

()  Conflict with Issuer Documentsin the event of any conflict between the termeebkand the terms of any Iss
Document, the terms hereof shall control.

(k) Letters of Credit Issued for Subsidiaridsotwithstanding that a Letter of Credit issuedatstanding hereunder is
support of any obligations of, or is for the acdoof) a Subsidiary, the Borrower shall be obligatedeimburse the applicable L
Issuer hereunder for any and all drawings unden tetter of Credit. The Borrower hereby acknowleslgeat the issuance of Lett
of Credit for the account of Subsidiaries inureghte benefit of the Borrower, and that the Borrowdyusiness derives substar
benefits from the businesses of such Subsidiaries.
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2.20 _Cash Collateral

(a) _Certain Credit Support Eventdpon the request of the Agent or any L/C Issief such L/C Issuer has honored i
full or partial drawing request under any LetteiGrédit and such drawing has resulted in an L/G®&wing, or (ii) if, as of the Lett
of Credit Expiration Date, any L/C Obligation famareason remains outstanding, the Borrower simaflach case, immediately C.
Collateralize the then outstanding amount of al IBbligations. At any time that there shall exidfdefaulting Lender, immediate
upon the request of the Agent or any L/C Issuar,Bbrrower shall deliver to the Agent Cash Collaltén an amount sufficient
cover all Fronting Exposure (after giving effectSection 2.21(a)(ivind any Cash Collateral provided by the Defaultiagder).

(b) _Grant of Security Interesill Cash Collateral (other than credit support constituting funds subject to deposit) s
be maintained in blocked, nanterest bearing deposit accounts at Wells Fardg@ Borrower, and to the extent provided by
Lender, such Lender, hereby grants to (and subjedtse control of) the Agent, for the benefit bétAgent, the L/C Issuers and
Lenders, and agrees to maintain, a first priorégusity interest in all such cash, deposit accoants all balances therein, and
other property so provided as collateral pursuameto, and in all proceeds of the foregoing, alsesurity for the obligations
which such Cash Collateral may be applied purst@@ection 2.20(c) If at any time the Agent determines that CasHabedal i
subject to any right or claim of any Person otlhantthe Agent as herein provided, or that the ttabunt of such Cash Collatere
less than the applicable Fronting Exposure andr @thkégations secured thereby, the Borrower orrétevant Defaulting Lender wi
promptly upon demand by the Agent, pay or provalthe Agent additional Cash Collateral in an amaufficient to eliminate sut
deficiency.

(c) _Application. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contdimethis Agreement, Cash Collateral provided uraig
of this Section 2.20r Sections 2.72.19, 2.21or 8.1in respect of Letters of Credit shall be held apgdliad to the satisfaction of t
specific L/C Obligations, obligations to fund paipiations therein (including, as to Cash Collatgralvided by a Defaulting Lend
any interest accrued on such obligation) and othiigations for which the Cash Collateral was sovted, prior to any oth
application of such property as may be providechfmein.

(d) _ReleaseCash Collateral (or the appropriate portion th8rprovided to reduce Fronting Exposure or othaigations
shall be released promptly following (i) the elimiion of the applicable Fronting Exposure or otbieligations giving rise there
(including by the termination of Defaulting Lendstatus of the applicable Lender (or, as appropridse assignee followir
compliance with_Section 12.3(3)or (ii) the Agent’'s good faith determination thtaere exists excess Cash Collateral; provided
however, (x) that Cash Collateral furnished by or on belwdlthe Borrower shall not be released during toatinuance of
Unmatured Default or Default (and following apptica as provided in this Section 2.2@ay be otherwise applied in accorde
with this Agreement), and (y) the Person providBagsh Collateral and the applicable L/C Issuer ntagathat Cash Collateral st
not be released but instead held to support fitotieipated Fronting Exposure or other obligations.

2.21 Defaulting Lenders

(@) _Adjustments Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contdinia this Agreement, if any Lender become
Defaulting Lender, then, until such time as thatder is no longer a Defaulting Lender, to the expemmitted by applicable law:
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() Waivers and Amendment§ hat Defaulting Lendes right to approve or disapprove any amendmentyewvail
consent with respect to this Agreement shall beictsd as set forth in Section 8.2

(i) Reallocation of PaymentsAny payment of principal, interest, fees or otharounts received by the Agent
the account of that Defaulting Lender (whether atdly or mandatory, at maturity, pursuant to Sec8d. or otherwise, ar
including any amounts made available to the Aggnthlat Defaulting Lender pursuant to Section 1)1 .4hall be applied
such time or times as may be determined by the #Agsrfollows:_first, to the payment of any amounts owing by
Defaulting Lender to the Agent hereunder; second the payment on a pro rata basis of any amoowiag by ths
Defaulting Lender to any L/C Issuer or Swing Linender hereunder; thirdif so determined by the Agent or requeste
any L/C Issuer, to be held as Cash Collateral diturE funding obligations of that Defaulting Lenddrany participation i
any Letter of Credit;_fourth as the Borrower may request (so long as no UmedtDefault exists), to the funding of ¢
Loan in respect of which that Defaulting Lender fiaiged to fund its portion thereof as required thjs Agreement,
determined by the Agent_ fifthif so determined by the Agent and the Borrowerhé¢ held in a nomterest bearing depo
account and released in order to satisfy obligatiointhat Defaulting Lender to fund Loans undes thgreement;_sixth to
the payment of any amounts owing to the Lendees| I Issuers or the Swing Line Lender as a rasudiny judgment of
court of competent jurisdiction obtained by any den any L/C Issuer or the Swing Line Lender agaihat Defaultin
Lender as a result of that Defaulting Lender's bheaf its obligations under this Agreement; sevento long as r
Unmatured Default exists, to the payment of any ams owing to the Borrower as a result of any judgtrof a court ¢
competent jurisdiction obtained by the Borroweriagfathat Defaulting Lender as a result of thatddéifng Lenders breac
of its obligations under this Agreement; and eightto that Defaulting Lender or as otherwise dirdcty a court ¢
competent jurisdiction;_providethat if (x) such payment is a payment of the ppatiamount of any Loans or L
Borrowings in respect of which that Defaulting Lendhas not fully funded its appropriate share andch Loans or L/
Borrowings were made at a time when the conditgeisforth in_Section 4.@ere satisfied or waived, such payment she
applied solely to pay the Loans of, and L/C Bormga owed to, all noefaulting Lenders on a pro rata basis prior tog
applied to the payment of any Loans of, or L/C Bwaings owed to, that Defaulting Lender. Any paynseprepayments
other amounts paid or payable to a Defaulting Letla& are applied (or held) to pay amounts owea Defaulting Lend:t
or to post Cash Collateral pursuant to this Sec8dtil(a)(ii) shall be deemed paid to and redirected by that uléfg
Lender, and each Lender irrevocably consents hereto

(iif)  Certain Fees That Defaulting Lender (x) shall not be entittedeceive any facility fee pursuant3ection 2.
for any period during which that Lender is a Defiaigl Lender except to the extent allocable to tna sf (1) the outstandii
amount of the Loans funded by it and (2) its PréaR#hare of the stated amount of Letters of Craaalit Swing Line Loar
for which it has provided Cash Collateral pursuanSection 2.7, Section 2.19Section 2.20 or Section 2.21(a)(ii) as
applicable (and the Borrower shall (A) be requitegbay to each L/C Issuer the amount of such fleeable to its Frontin
Exposure arising from that Defaulting Lender andi Bt be required to pay the remaining amount chdee that otherwi:
would have been required to have been paid toDb&ulting Lender) and (y) shall be limited in itght to receive Letter
Credit Fees as provided in Section 2.19(h)

(iv) Reallocation of Pro Rata Shares to RedBoenting Exposure During any period in which there is
Defaulting Lender, for purposes of computing theoant of the obligation of
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each non-Defaulting Lender to acquire, refinanctund participations in Letters of Credit pursutmGection 2.1%r Swing
Line Loans pursuant to Section 2.2the “Pro Rata Share” of each nDefaulting Lender shall be computed without gi\
effect to the Commitment of that Defaulting Lendemgvided, that, (i) each such reallocation shall be giviéect only if, a
the date the applicable Lender becomes a Defaultamgler, no Unmatured Default or Event of Defauists; and (ii) th
aggregate obligation of each nBefaulting Lender to acquire, refinance or fundtipgrations in Letters of Credit and Sw
Line Loans shall not exceed the positive differentany, of (1) the Commitment of that non-Defaudt Lender_minug?2)
the aggregate outstanding amount of the Loansadfitbnder.

(b) _Cash Collateral, Repayment of Swing Lin@h®. If the reallocation described in clause (a)@bpove cannot, or ¢
only partially, be effected, the Borrower shallthaiut prejudice to any right or remedy availabléttbereunder or under applica
law, (x) first, prepay Swing Line Loans in an amount equal toSténg Line Lenders’ Fronting Exposure and (y) setpCasl
Collateralize the L/C Issuers’ Fronting Exposur@aatordance with the procedures set forth in Se@ig0.

(c) _Defaulting Lender Curdf the Borrower, the Agent, the Swing Line Lended the L/C Issuers agree in writing in t
sole discretion that a Defaulting Lender shouldargyer be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender, thenAgdl so notify the partie
hereto, whereupon as of the effective date specifiesuch notice and subject to any conditiondath therein (which may inclut
arrangements with respect to any Cash Collatettzd}, Lender will, to the extent applicable, pur@hdsat portion of outstandi
Loans of the other Lenders or take such other m&tis the Agent may determine to be necessarytedhe Loans and funded .
unfunded participations in Letters of Credit andirglLine Loans to be held on a pro rata basis leyLtenders in accordance w
their Pro Rata Shares (without giving effect_to tRec2.21(a)(iv)), whereupon that Lender will cease to be a Deafayltender
providedthat no adjustments will be made retroactively widspect to fees accrued or payments made by drebalf of th
Borrower while that Lender was a Defaulting Lenderd_provided further, that except to the extent otherwise expresslgeyb
the affected parties, no change hereunder fromultefg Lender to Lender will constitute a waiver r@tease of any claim of a
party hereunder arising from that Lender’s haviegrba Defaulting Lender.

2.22 Swing Line Loans

(&) _Availability. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreet, the Swing Line Lender shall, unless (x) aepde
is at such time a Defaulting Lender hereunder ghdhe Swing Line Lender has not entered into ayeaments satisfactory to it
eliminate its Fronting Exposure with respect tohsuefaulting Lender, in which case the Swing Linender may in its so
discretion, make Swing Line Loans to the Borrowemf time to time from the Effective Date throughut mot including, th
Scheduled Maturity Date; providedat after giving effect to any amount request@dthe Aggregate Outstanding Credit Expo:
shall not exceed the Aggregate Commitments, (&)abgregate outstanding amount of the Loans olLanger, plussuch Lendeg
Pro Rata Share of the outstanding amount of allQAiligations, plusuch Lendes Pro Rata Share of the outstanding amount
Swing Line Loans, shall not exceed such Lersi@dmmitment and (iii) the aggregate principal amani all outstanding Swing Lit
Loans (after giving effect to any amount requestskiqll not exceed the Swing Line Sublimit.

(b) Refunding

(i) Swing Line Loans shall be refunded by thendlers on demand by the Swing Line Lender. .
refundings shall be made by the Lenders in accaelaith their respective Pro Rata
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Shares and shall thereafter be reflected as Ldahg d.enders on the books and records of the Adeath Lender shall ful
its respective Pro Rata Share of Loans as requiredpay Swing Line Loans outstanding to the Swiige Lender upo
demand by the Swing Line Lender but in no evergrléihan 1:00 p.m. on the next succeeding Business diter suc
demand is made. No Lendgmbligation to fund its respective Pro Rata Sludre Swing Line Loan shall be affected by
other Lender’s failure to fund its Pro Rata Shdra 8wing Line Loan, nor shall any LendePro Rata Share be increase
a result of any such failure of any other Lendeiutad its Pro Rata Share of a Swing Line Loan.

(i) The Borrower shall pay to the Swing Linerider on demand the amount of such Swing Line Ldartfe
extent amounts received from the Lenders are rffitigmt to repay in full the outstanding Swing Eiroans requested
required to be refunded. In addition, the Borrowwereby authorizes the Agent to charge any accowittained by th
Borrower with the Swing Line Lender (up to the amibavailable therein) in order to immediately phg Swing Line Lend:
the amount of such Swing Line Loans to the extembunts received from the Lenders are not sufficierepay in full th
outstanding Swing Line Loans requested or requivdzk refunded. If any portion of any such amouwaitl po the Swing Lin
Lender shall be recovered by or on behalf of the@®weer from the Swing Line Lender in bankruptcyotiherwise, the loss
the amount so recovered shall be ratably sharedh@ralb the Lenders in accordance with their resped®ro Rata Shar
(unless the amounts so recovered by or on beh#iffeoBorrower pertain to a Swing Line Loan extendgdr the occurren
and during the continuance of a Default of whicé Agent has received notice in the manner requreduant tdSectiot
13.1and which such Default has not been waived by #guRed Lenders or the Lenders, as applicable).

(i) Each Lender acknowledges and agrees tisabhligation to refund Swing Line Loans in accorck
with the terms of this Section is absolute and addmnal and shall not be affected by any circianse whatsoeve
including, without limitation, non-satisfaction die conditions set forth in_Article 1V Further, each Lender agrees
acknowledges that if prior to the refunding of awtstanding Swing Line Loans pursuant to this ectone of the ever
described in_Section 7d¥ 7.7shall have occurred, each Lender will, on the tlaeapplicable Loan would have been m
purchase an undivided participating interest inSkhéng Line Loan to be refunded in an amount etuébk Pro Rata Share
the aggregate amount of such Swing Line Loan. Eactder will, by the time the applicable Loan wohlave been due to
made under clause (i) above, transfer to the Swiiimg Lender, in immediately available funds, the oamt of it
participation and upon receipt thereof the SwingelLLender will deliver to such Lender a certificaeidencing suc
participation dated the date of receipt of suchdfumnd for such amount. No funding of participaticahall relieve ¢
otherwise impair the obligations of the Borrowerépay Swing Line Loans together with intereste¢oer Whenever, at a
time after the Swing Line Lender has received faomg Lender such Lendesrparticipating interest in a Swing Line Loan,
Swing Line Lender receives any payment on accolbetebf, the Swing Line Lender will distribute tockuLender it
participating interest in such amount (appropnratadjusted, in the case of interest payments, flectethe period of tim
during which such Lender’s participating interesiswputstanding and funded).

(c) _Repayment of Swing Line Loanéf outstanding Swing Line Loans have not beeimegfced with Loans pursuant
Section 2.22(bhereof, Swing Line Loans shall be due and payalifleiwfourteen (14) days following the making ofcbuSwing
Line Loan.
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(d) _Defaulting Lenders Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contdime this Agreement, this Section 2.8Rall be
subject to the terms and conditions of Section arif)Section 2.21

ARTICLE 11l
YIELD PROTECTION; TAXES

3.1 _Yield Protection. If, on or after the date of this Agreement, afa@ge in Law:

(i) subjects any Lender or any applicable Legdinstallation to any Taxes, or changes the basis@tion o
payments (other than in each case with respect¢tuied Taxes) to any Lender in respect of its Hallar Loans or

(i) imposes or increases or deems applicabjeragserve, assessment, insurance charge, spepmagitder simila
requirement against assets of, deposits with othiaccount of, or credit extended by, any Lemtlemy applicable Lendit
Installation (other than reserves and assessmakes into account in determining the interest egiplicable to Eurodoll;
Advances), or

(i) imposes any other condition the resulwdfich is to increase the cost to any Lender orapplicable Lendin
Installation of making, funding or maintaining Eairodollar Loans or reduces any amount receivaplanty Lender or ar
applicable Lending Installation in connection with Eurodollar Loans, or requires any Lender or applicable Lendin
Installation to make any payment calculated byresfee to the amount of Eurodollar Loans or interestived by it, by ¢
amount deemed material by such Lender,

and the result of any of the foregoing is to inseethe cost to such Lender or applicable Lendistpliation, as the case may be
making, continuing, converting into or maintainitg Eurodollar Loans, Commitment or to reduce #tenn received by such Len
or applicable Lending Installation in connectiortwésuch Eurodollar Loans or Commitment, then, witfifteen (15) days of dema
by such Lender, the Borrower shall pay such Lerstdeh additional amount or amounts as will compensath Lender for su
increased cost or reduction in amount received.

3.2 _Changes in Capital Adequacy Regqulationdf a Lender determines that the amount of capéqlired or expected
be maintained by such Lender, any Lending Instatabf such Lender or any corporation controllingls Lender is increased &
result of a Change in Law, then, within fifteen Yt&ys of demand by such Lender, the Borrower g@llsuch Lender the amo
necessary to compensate for any shortfall in tteafareturn on the portion of such increased eapihich such Lender determine
attributable to this Agreement, its Outstandingd@r&xposure or its Commitment to make Loans (aféking into account su
Lender’s policies as to capital adequacy).

3.3 _Availability of Types of Advances If (x) any Lender determines that maintenancigsdEurodollar Loans at a suita
Lending Installation would violate any applicabévl rule, regulation, or directive, whether or having the force of law, or if (
the Required Lenders determine that (i) deposite ¢fpe and maturity appropriate to match fund Hallar Advances are n
available or (ii) the interest rate applicable tordlollar Advances does not accurately reflectabst of making or maintaini
Eurodollar Advances, then the Agent shall suspéredavailability of Eurodollar Advances and requiney affected Eurodoll
Advances to be repaid or converted to Floating Raleances, subject to the payment
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of any funding indemnification amounts required3sction 3.4

3.4 _Funding Indemnification. If any payment of a Eurodollar Advance occursaotiate which is not the last day of
applicable Interest Period, whether because ofl@@t®on, prepayment or otherwise, or a Euroddlldvance is not made, contint
or prepaid, or a Floating Rate Advance is not caredeinto a Eurodollar Advance, on the date spedifiy the Borrower for ai
reason other than default by the Lenders, the Barawill indemnify each Lender for any loss or casturred by it resultin
therefrom, including, without limitation, any logs cost in liquidating or employing deposits acqdirto fund or maintain su
Eurodollar Advance.

3.5 _Taxes

(i) All payments by the Borrower to or for thecaunt of any Lender or the Agent hereunder shathlade free a1
clear of and without deduction for any and all Taxexcept to the extent such Lender is entitledri@xemption from
reduction of withholding tax with respect to payrgennder this Agreement but fails to properly aingety complete ar
execute documentation as provided in Section 3.6(iSection 3.5(vi) as the case may be. Subject to each Lenderd th
Agent’s compliance with Section 3.5(ighd_Section 3.5(vi) if the Borrower or the Agent shall be requiredléy to deduc
any Taxes from or in respect of any sum payableureter to any Lender or the Agent, (a) the sumlgayshall be increas
as necessary so that after making all required atiexhs (including deductions applicable to addiibsums payable unc
this Section 3.9 such Lender or the Agent (as the case may bejuex an amount equal to the sum it would haveived
had no such deductions been made, (b) the Borrawehe Agent, as applicable, shall make such dashst (c) th
Borrower or the Agent, as applicable, shall pay fié amount deducted to the relevant authorityaccordance wi
applicable law and (d) the Borrower shall furnishthe Agent the original copy of a receipt evidegcpayment there
within thirty (30) days after such payment is made.

(i) In addition, the Borrower hereby agreesptty any present or future stamp or documentarystare any oth
excise (but excluding Excluded Taxes) or propegixes, charges or similar levies which arise frorg payment mac
hereunder or from the execution or delivery ofpthrerwise with respect to, this Agreement (* Othakes").

(i) Except as otherwise provided herein, tharBwer hereby agrees to indemnify the Agent andh eander fo
the full amount of Taxes or Other Taxes (includimgthout limitation, any Taxes or Other Taxes imgbson amoun
payable under this Section 3.paid by the Agent or such Lender and any liab{lihcluding penalties, interest and expen
arising therefrom or with respect thereto; providiedt the Borrower shall not be required to indemtiife Agent or ar
Lender for interest, penalties or associated exgmescribed in the foregoing if such liabilityfaund in a final non-
appealable judgment by a court of competent jurtgxh to have resulted from the gross negligenceilhiul misconduct o
the party seeking indemnification. Payments dueeutiiis indemnification shall be made within thi(80) days of the da
the Agent or such Lender makes demand therefoupnt$o_Section 3.6

(iv) Each Lender that is not incorporated untierlaws of the United States of America or a sta¢eeof (each a “
NonU.S. Lender’) agrees that it will, not less than ten (10) BusinBays after the date of this Agreement (or, iédater
(10) Business Days after such Lender shall becoirender pursuant to Section 13,3eliver to each of the Borrower ¢
the Agent two duly completed copies of United $tdtgernal Revenue Service Form W-8BEN or8BEl, certifying ir
either
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case that such Lender is entitled to receive pagsnemder this Agreement without deduction or witkivgy of any Unite:
States federal income taxes and is entitled taxamgption from United States backup withholding taach NonW.S. Lende
further undertakes to deliver to each of the Bosoand the Agent (x) renewals or additional copiesuch form (or ar
successor form) on or before the date that suah &xpires or becomes obsolete, and (y) after teeroence of any eve
requiring a change in the most recent forms soveedd by it, such additional forms or amendmen&dto as may |
reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Agdhtorms or amendments described in the precedemgence shall certi
that such Lender is entitled to receive paymenteuthis Agreement without deduction or withholdiofgany United Stat
federal income taxesinlessan event (including without limitation any changetieaty, law or regulation) has occurred
to the date on which any such delivery would otheevbe required which renders all such forms inapple or which woul
prevent such Lender from duly completing and deiinge any such form or amendment with respect @nid such Lend
advises the Borrower and the Agent that it is rajgable of receiving payments without any deductiorwithholding o
United States federal income tax.

(v) For any period during which a N&hS. Lender has failed to provide the Borrower wdth appropriate for
pursuant to_clause (iv) above (unless such failure is due to a changeemty, law or regulation, or any change in
interpretation or administration thereof by any @mmental Authority, occurring subsequent to thi da which a fort
originally was required to be provided), such NorslULender shall not be entitled to indemnificatiorder thisSection 3.
with respect to Taxes imposed by the United States/idedthat, should a Not).S. Lender which is otherwise exempt fi
or subject to a reduced rate of withholding taxdmee subject to Taxes because of its failure tosdek form required und
clause (iv), above, the Borrower shall take such steps as NookhU.S. Lender shall reasonably request to asseigt Non-
U.S. Lender to recover such Taxes.

(vi) Any Lender that is entitled to an exemptidtom or reduction of withholding tax, including daug
withholding, with respect to payments under thiseggnent pursuant to the law of any relevant jucisai or any treaty shi
deliver to the Borrower (with a copy to the Agerst the time or times prescribed by applicable lsagh properly complet
and executed documentation prescribed by applidables will permit such payments to be made withwaithholding or &
a reduced rate. In the event such Lender has féiteely to provide the Borrower (with a copy to tAgent) with suc
properly completed and executed documentation, keadlder shall not be entitled to indemnificatiordan thisSection 3.
with respect to Taxes withheld to the extent suelteb would have been reduced or exempt from withinglhad suc
properly completed and executed documentation tehy provided to the Borrower (with a copy to thgent).

(vii) If the U.S. Internal Revenue Service oy arther Governmental Authority of the United Statesany othe
country or any political subdivision thereof assexrtclaim that the Agent did not properly withhtdst from amounts paid
or for the account of any Lender (because the gpjate form was not delivered or properly completeetause such Lent
failed to notify the Agent of a change in circunmstes which rendered its exemption from withholdmgffective, or for an
other reason), such Lender shall indemnify the Adelty for all amounts paid, directly or indiregflby the Agent as ts
withholding therefor, or otherwise, including pered and interest, and including taxes imposed my jarisdiction ol
amounts payable to the Agent under this subsedidgether with all costs and expenses related tihéiecluding attorney
fees and time charges of attorneys for the Agehichvattorneys may be employees of the Agent); igemithat no Lende
shall be required to indemnify the Agent for anythad foregoing to the extent the failure
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of the Agent to withhold tax from amounts paid tofor the account of any Lender is found in a fiman-appealabl
judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction tovdaesulted from the gross negligence or willfuscainduct of the Ager
In addition, each Lender shall severally indemtiify Agent for any taxes attributable to such Lergdtzilure to comply wit
the provisions of Section 12.2(@lating to the maintenance of a Participant Regittat are payable or paid by the Agel
connection with any Loan Document, and any readeneipenses arising therefrom or with respect tbemhether or n
such taxes were correctly or legally imposed oewsd by the relevant Governmental Authority. Theigations of th
Lenders under this Section 3.5(\8hall survive the payment of the Obligations amthieation of this Agreement.

(viii) If a payment made to a Lender under amah Document would be subject to U.S. federal vaitthing tay
imposed by FATCA if such Lender were to fail to quynwith the applicable reporting requirements &TCA (including
those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) ef@ode, as applicable), such Lender shall delivéhé Borrower and tl
Agent at the time or times prescribed by law anduath time or times reasonably requested by theoBer or the Agel
such documentation prescribed by applicable lasl(tting as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C){i)he Code) and su
additional documentation reasonably requested &yBttrrower or the Agent as may be necessary foBtreower and th
Agent to comply with their obligations under FATGHd to determine that such Lender has complied suitth Lendes
obligations under FATCA or to determine the amaordeduct and withhold from such payment. Soletygarposes of th
paragraph (viii), “FATCA” shall include any amendnie made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement.

3.6 _Lender Statements; Survival of Indemnity. To the extent reasonably possible, each Lendall diesignate ¢
alternate Lending Installation with respect to Esrodollar Loans to reduce any liability of the Bawer to such Lender unc
Sections 3.1 3.2and_3.5or to avoid the unavailability of Eurodollar Advascunder Section 3,30 long as such designation is
in the judgment of such Lender, disadvantageowsuitt Lender. Each Lender shall notify the Borroseany amounts due unc
Section 3.1, 3.2, 3.4 0r 3.5as soon as reasonably practicable and, theredftbiver a written statement of such Lender tc
Borrower (with a copy to the Agent) as to the amiadune, if any, under such Section(s). Such wrigeEtement shall set forth
reasonable detail the calculations upon which duaider determined such amount and shall be fima¢lasive and binding on t
Borrower in the absence of manifest error. Deteatiim of amounts payable under such Sections imexion with a Eurodolli
Loan shall be calculated as though each Lenderefiiitd Eurodollar Loan through the purchase of @odi¢ of the type and matur
corresponding to the deposit used as a referendet@rmining the Eurodollar Rate applicable to duchn, whether in fact that is 1
case or not. Unless otherwise provided hereinatheunt specified in the written statement of angder shall be payable on dem
after receipt by the Borrower of such written stedat. The obligations of the Borrower under Sedidril, 3.2, 3.4and_3.5shal
survive payment of the Obligations and terminatibthis Agreement.

ARTICLE IV
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

4.1 _Effectiveness This Agreement shall become effective on the @aie “ Effective Date) on or before November 1
2012 that all of the following conditions have besatisfied: (a) the Agent shall have received edlsfand other amounts due
payable by the Borrower on or prior to the Effeetdate, including, to the extent invoiced, reimieansnt or payment of all out-of-
pocket expenses required to be
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reimbursed or paid by the Borrower hereunder ahdh@ Agent shall have received (with sufficienpies for the Lenders) each
the following:

(i) Copies of the articles or certificate of amporation of the Borrower, together with all amewhts, and
certificate of existence, certified by the apprafgigovernmental officer in its jurisdiction of orporation.

(i) Copies, certified by the Secretary or Atmi Secretary of the Borrower, of its bylaws affidt® Board o
Directors’ resolutions authorizing the executiorttid Loan Documents by the Borrower.

(i)  An incumbency certificate, executed by tBecretary or Assistant Secretary of the Borrowsrich shal
identify by name and title and bear the signatwfethe officers of the Borrower authorized to sitpe Loan Document
upon which certificate the Agent and the Lendemslldie entitled to rely until informed of any chan@ writing by th
Borrower.

(iv) A certificate, signed by the chief finankc@ficer or the controller of the Borrower, staginas of the Effectiy
Date, that (A) no Default or Unmatured Default lmeurred and is continuing, (B) the Borrower isciompliance wit
Section 6.115nd setting forth in reasonable detail the calgutadf the ratio set forth therein, determined BSeptember 3
2012, and (C) the representations and warrantiggiced in Article Vare true and correct.

(v) A written opinion of counsel to the Borrowsubstantially in the form of Exhibit B

(vi) Evidence, in form and substance satisfactorthe Agent, that the Borrower has obtainedgallernment:
approvals, if any, necessary for it to enter it Loan Documents.

(vii) A Note executed by the Borrower in favdreach Lender that has requested a Note pursu&ddiion 2.11

(viii) Evidence, in form and substance satigactto the Agent, that all outstanding amounts urttlat certai
Credit Agreement, dated as of May 27, 2005, ambadbrrower, the lenders party thereto and JPMo@Gjsase Bank, N.A
as administrative agent shall have been repaicdathmdmmitments thereunder terminated.

(ix) Such other documents as any Lender oritsisel may have reasonably requested.

Without limiting the generality of the provision$ 8ection 10.4, for purposes of determining compliance with thoditions
specified in this Section 4,leach Lender that has signed this Agreement bealeemed to have consented to, approved or ad
or to be satisfied with, each document or othertenatequired thereunder to be consented to or &pdrdy or acceptable
satisfactory to a Lender unless the Agent shaletraeeived notice from such Lender prior to theppsed Effective Date specifyi
its objection thereto.

4.2 _Each Credit Extension The Lenders shall not be required to make angiCExtension unless on the applicable
of such Credit Extension:

() No Default or Unmatured Default exists oflwesult after giving effect to such Credit Extems
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(i) The representations and warranties conthineArticle V (other than Section 5.10are true and correct in
material respects as of the date of such CrediriSion except to the extent any such representatiovarranty is stated
relate solely to an earlier date, in which caséhsepresentation or warranty shall have been tngecarrect in all materi
respects on and as of such earlier date.

Each request for a Credit Extension shall constitatrepresentation and warranty by the Borrowet tiiia condition
contained in_Sections 4.2@nd_(ii) have been satisfied.
ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
The Borrower represents and warrants to the Leratefsllows:
5.1 _Corporate Existence Each of the Borrower and its Significant Subsidst (a) is a corporation duly organiz
validly existing and in good standing under thedanf the jurisdiction of its incorporation; (b) halé requisite corporate power, ¢
has all material governmental licenses, authoomati consents and approvals necessary to owndpeRy and carry on its busin

as now being conducted; and (c) is qualified tobdsiness in all jurisdictions in which the natufetiee business conducted b
makes such qualification necessary and where &sarto qualify would have a Material Adverse Effec

5.2 _Litigation and Contingent Obligations. To the Borrowes knowledge, there are not, in any court or beforg
arbitrator of any kind or before or by any govermtaé body, any actions, suits or proceedings pandinthreatened in writing (
against or affecting (except as disclosed in treclDsure Documents or on Schedule)32e Borrower or any Significant Subsidi
or any of their respective businesses or propestiespt actions, suits or proceedings that theme imaterial likelihood would, sinc
or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effeathich seeks to prevent, enjoin or delay theingbf any Credit Extension
(b) affecting in an adverse manner the binding neatualidity or enforceability of any Loan Documeasd an obligation of ti
Borrower involving the Borrower or any Significa®ubsidiary or any of their respective businessegproperties or, to tt
Borrower’s knowledge, otherwise.

5.3 _No Breach None of the execution and delivery of this Agreein any other Loan Document, the consummatis
the transactions herein or therein contemplatetborpliance with the terms and provisions heredahereof will (a) contravene t
terms of the Articles of Incorporation or Bylawstbe Borrower, (b) except for any increase in tlggregate Commitment pursu
to Section 2.3(aand any extension of the Scheduled Termination patsuant to Section 2.1&onflict with or result in a breach
or require any consent under, any applicable lake or regulation, or any order, writ, injunction @ecree of any Governmer
Authority, or any agreement or instrument to whibk Borrower or any of itSignificant Subsidiaries is a party or by whichs
bound or to which it is subject, or (c) constitatalefault under any agreement or instrument to hwttie Borrower or any of |
Significant Subsidiaries is a party or by whiclisitbound or to which it is subject, or result i ttreation or imposition of any Li
upon any of the revenues or assets of the Borrowany of its Significant Subsidiaries pursuanthte terms of any such agreen
or instrument.

5.4 _Corporate Action. Except for any increase in the Aggregate Commmtrparsuant to
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Section 2.3(a) the Borrower has all necessary corporate poweiaathority to execute, deliver and perform itsigdtions under th
Agreement and the other Loan Documents; the exagutielivery and performance by the Borrower of hgreement and the otl
Loan Documents have been duly authorized by alessary corporate action on its part; and this Agerg has been duly a
validly executed and delivered by the Borrower awhstitutes its legal, valid and binding obligati@nforceable against i
Borrower in accordance with its terms, except ag bealimited by applicable bankruptcy laws or samilaws of general applicabil
affecting creditors’ rights.

5.5 _Approvals. Except for any increase in the Aggregate Commitrpeirsuant to_Section 2.3(@hd any extension of t
Scheduled Termination Date pursuant to Section 2th& Borrower has obtained all Governmental Apal®¥rom, and has made
will timely make all filings and registrations witmy federal, state or local governmental or re@uyaauthority or agency that t
authority over the Borrower or any of its SignifitéSubsidiaries, that are necessary for the exacutielivery or performance by 1
Borrower of this Agreement and each other Loan Dwnt or for the validity or enforceability hereof thereof, and sut
Governmental Approvals, filings and registratioms and shall continue to be in full force and dffécbeing understood that 1
Borrower may be required to make customary filimgth the SEC and other governmental or regulatargha@rities or agenci
disclosing the existence and/or material termshief Agreement, but failure to make any such filgi@ll not affect the validity
enforceability hereof or of any other Loan Document

5.6 _Use of Loans Neither the Borrower nor any of its SignificanitSidiaries is engaged principally, or as one g
important activities, in the business of extendangdit for the purpose, whether immediate, incidbwot ultimate, of buying «
carrying Margin Stock, as defined in Regulatioraldg no part of the proceeds of any Loan hereundiebevused to buy or carry a
Margin Stock. No part of the proceeds of any Loarehnder will be used to acquire stock of any c@jion the board of directors
which has publicly stated its opposition to sucuasition or fails to endorse such acquisition.

5.7 _ERISA. Except as disclosed in the Disclosure DocumehtsBorrower and its Significant Subsidiaries aiadihe
knowledge of the Borrower, the other ERISA Affikiat have fulfilled their respective obligations undee minimum fundin
standards of ERISA and the Code with respect tb 8anefit Plan of the Borrower or any ERISA Affika the Benefit Plans of t
Borrower and its Significant Subsidiaries and,lte knowledge of the Borrower, of the other ERISAilittes are in compliance
all material respects with the presently applicamevisions of ERISA and the Code or any rmmmmpliance is not reasona
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effectd ahe Borrower and its Significant Subsidiaries ,atdthe knowledge of tl
Borrower, the other ERISA Affiliates have not inced any liability to the PBGC (other than liabilityr premium payments whi
are paid when due) or to such Benefit Plan whiadldjvidually or in the aggregate, exceeds $10,0aD,Mithout limiting the
generality of the foregoing, except as disclosethénDisclosure Documents, the Borrower has naived notice with respect to &
of the foregoing events with respect to any ERISAliAte or such Benefit Plan.

5.8 _Taxes United States Federal income tax returns of tbedver and its Significant Subsidiaries have bexamine
and closed through the period ended December 3B @Rcept for the United States Federal incomeaeaaxns for the fiscal ye
ended December 31, 2006. The Borrower and its figignt Subsidiaries have filed all United Statesléfal and state income -
returns which are required to be filed by them hagle paid all taxes due pursuant to such returnmusuant to any assessn
received by the Borrower or any of its Signific&ubsidiaries, except such taxes, if any, as amgl=intested in good faith and
proper proceedings or the npayment of which, individually or in the aggregateyuld not reasonably be expected to ha
Material Adverse Effect. The charges, accrualsrasdrves on the books of the Borrower and its 8ggmt Subsidiaries in respeci
taxes and other governmental charges

39

CHAR1\1285208v7




Exhibit 10.1

are, in the opinion of the Borrower, adequate.

5.9 _Subsidiaries. Schedule 5.Fontains an accurate list of all Subsidiaries & Borrower as of the date of t
Agreement, setting forth their respective jurisidics of organization, the percentage of their reSpe capital stock or oth
ownership interests owned by the Borrower or oBwdnsidiaries and identifying which Subsidiaries @ignificant Subsidiaries. #
of the issued and outstanding shares of capitaksto other ownership interests of such Subsidiahni@ve been (to the extent s
concepts are relevant with respect to such owngisterests) duly authorized and issued and alhg ffiaid and nonassessable.

5.10 _No Material Adverse Change Since September 30, 2012, there has been no €harfe business or financ
condition of the Borrower and its Significant Swuiaries from that reflected in the Borrower's Qedst Report on Form 1@ for
the quarter ended September 30, 2012, which wealslonably be expected to have a Material Adverfsetf

5.11 _Financial Statements The Borrower has furnished the Disclosure Docum#mthe Lenders prior to the date hel
The financial statements contained in the Disclefwcuments and all financial statements furnigheduant to Section 6.9@y (ii)
fairly present in all material respects, in accomawith Agreement Accounting Principles, the cdidsted financial position of tt
Borrower and its Subsidiaries as at their respectiates and the consolidated results of operati@tained earnings and,
applicable, changes in financial position or cdskw$ of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for thepective periods to which st
statements relate.

5.12 _No Material Misstatements None of the following contained, contains or vgtintain as of the date thereof
material misstatement of fact or omitted, omitsadt omit as of the date thereof to state any matdact necessary to make
statements therein, in the light of the circumseanender which they were, are or will be made nmisteading:

(i) the Disclosure Documents (excluding any bihireferred to in any such Disclosure Documents);

(i) any report delivered to the Agent or anynder pursuant to Section 6.96 (ii) (excluding exhibits referred
in any such report); or

(i) to the best knowledge of the Borrower, tBe®nfidential Information Memorandum, dated Octol2€x2
delivered by the Borrower to the Lenders (when ti@agbnjunction with the items referred to_in nd_(ii) above).

To the best knowledge of the Borrower, no othettemi information delivered to the Agent or any Lengursuant t&Gection 6.
contained, contains or will contain as of the datreof any material misstatement of fact.

5.13 _Properties. As of the date of this Agreement, the Borrowes gaod right or title to all of its Properties teetexter
reflected in the Disclosure Documents, except faromrestrictions, reservations and defects whiohndt in any substantial w
interfere with the Borrowes' ability to conduct its business as now condueted except for such assets as have been dispc
since September 30, 2012 in transactions of thestgescribed in Sections 6.13(db) and_(c), and all such Properties are free
clear of any Liens, except as permitted by Sedidg.

5.14 _Environmental Matters. Except as described in the Disclosure Documéntie best of
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Borrower's knowledge, no event has occurred and no condétidsts related to Environmental Laws which wouéisonably
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Exespitherwise described in the Disclosure Documaesither the Borrower nor a
Subsidiary has received any notice from a federatate governmental agency to the effect thadpsrations are not in matel
compliance with any of the requirements of applieabnvironmental Laws or are the subject of anyefatlor state investigati
evaluating whether any remedial action is needetkspond to a release of any toxic or hazardousewars substance into t
environment, which noncompliance or remedial actimuld reasonably be expected to have a Materiabfsk Effect.

5.15 _Investment Company Act Neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary is anvéistment companybr a compan
“controlled” by an “investment company”, within tineeaning of the Investment Company Act of 194(Grasnded.

ARTICLE VI
COVENANTS

So long as any Bank has any Commitment hereundenprObligations are outstanding, the Borrower Ishalless th
Required Lenders otherwise consent in writing:

6.1 _Preservation of Existence and BusinessPreserve and maintain, and cause each Signififalsidiary to preser
and maintain, its corporate existence and allofriaterial rights, privileges, licenses and frasehj except as permitted Bectior
6.12, and carry on and conduct its business in suhatlgnithe same manner and in substantially the staites of enterprise as it
presently conducted.

6.2 _Preservation of Property. Maintain, and cause each Significant Subsidiarynaintain, all of its Property used
useful in its business in good working order anddition, ordinary wear and tear excepted (it baingerstood that this coven
relates only to the good working order and condité such Property and shall not be construedaweanant of the Borrower not
dispose of any such Property by sale, lease, tramsfotherwise or to discontinue operation theliédhe Borrower reasonak
determines that such discontinuation is necessary).

6.3 _Payment of Taxes Pay, and cause each Significant Subsidiary to pamptly when due all taxes, assessment:
governmental charges or levies imposed upon itpantits income or profits, or upon any of its Pntypebefore the same st
become in default; providethat neither the Borrower nor any Significant Sdlzsly shall be required to pay any such
assessment, charge or levy (i) in an amount in ssxod the amount shown on any related tax retura Borrower having
reasonable basis for the position reflected thgrin(ii) that is being contested in good faith dyypropriate proceedings and v
respect to which the Borrower has set aside olpoitks, in accordance with Agreement Accounting dfpies, adequate reserves
(iii) so long as such tax, assessment, chargevgr tesustained, would not have a Material AdveEstect.

6.4 _Compliance with Applicable Laws and Contrats . Comply, and cause each Significant Subsidiargotmply, with
the requirements of all applicable laws, rulesegutations, Governmental Approvals, and ordergswinjunctions or decrees of ¢
court or Governmental Authority, including, witholinitation, Environmental Laws, if failure to comypwith such requiremen
would have a Material Adverse Effect or an adveféect on the binding nature, validity or enforcdigbof any Loan Document i
an obligation of the Borrower.
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6.5 _Preservation of Loan Document Enforceabilt. Take all reasonable actions (including obtairang maintaining i
full force and effect consents and Governmentalrdpals), and cause each Significant Subsidiargplte &ll reasonable actions, 1
are required so that its obligations under the Lbaouments will at all times be legal, valid andding and enforceable against |
accordance with their respective terms.

6.6 _Insurance. Maintain, and cause each Significant Subsidiaryngaintain, with responsible insurance companie
through the Borrower’s program of satfsurance, insurance coverage against at leastrgkshand in at least such amounts
customarily maintained by similar businesses, omay be required by any applicable law, rule omufagon, any Governmen
Approval, or any order, writ, injunction or decrafeany court or Governmental Authority.

6.7 _Use of ProceedsUse, directly or indirectly, the proceeds of tlmans for general corporate purposes of the Bomr
(in compliance with all applicable legal and redoitg requirements), including, without limitatiotg provide backip liquidity for
the shortterm Indebtedness of the Borrower, to support coroiaepaper, to refinance existing IndebtednesthefBorrower, and
support collateral requirements under the Borrosveniergy purchase and sale agreements.

6.8 _Visits, Inspections and DiscussionsPermit, and cause each Significant Subsidiarpetmnit, representatives of 1
Agent or of any Lender with a Commitment of at te$,000,000 (provided, however, that Lenders witiommitment of less th
$5,000,000 shall be permitted to exercise rightieunihis_Section 6.8 such right is exercised jointly with the Agenta Lender wit
a Commitment of at least $5,000,000), and subieatlicases to such Lender being bound by the denfiality provisions ofectior
9.1, during normal business hours and upon reasompaiolewritten notice to the Borrower:

(i) if no Default or Unmatured Default shall sixand be continuing, to visit the principal offickthe Borrower, t
discuss its business and affairs with its officansl independent certified accountants (provided ttie Borrower shall t
permitted to attend any such discussions with siclountants), and to visit its material Propertiytoathe extent reasonat
requested by the Agent or such Lender; provithad such visits and discussions shall in no eventir more frequently th.
once during any calendar year; providdédrtherthat the Borrower reserves the right to restriceas to any of its generat
facilities in accordance with reasonably adoptedcedures relating to safety and security, and & ektent reasonat
requested to maintain normal operations of the @®wer; and_provided further, that, Sections 9.Gnd _10.8hereo
notwithstanding, the costs and expenses incurreahlpylender or the Agent or their agents or repriegiwes in connectic
with any such visits or discussions shall be sdi@hthe account of such Lender or the Agent, gidiegible; and

(i) if a Default or Unmatured Default shall skiand be continuing, to visit and inspect its Brop to examint
copy and make extracts from its books and recandd,to discuss its business and affairs with iteefs and independe
certified accountants, all to the extent reasonabtyuested by such Lender or the Agent, as oftemas be reasonal
requested; providethat the Borrower reserves the right to restricieas to any of its generating facilities in accaodawitt
reasonably adopted procedures relating to safedysacurity, and to the extent reasonably requestedaintain normi
operations of the Borrower.

6.9 _Information to Be Furnished. Furnish to the Agent and, if requested by anydegnfurnish to such Lender:
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() Form 10Q; Quarterly Financial Statement®romptly after filing and in any event within &ix60) days afte
the close of each of the first three quarterly aoting periods in each fiscal year of the Borroweopy of the Quartel
Report on Form 10-Q (or any successor form) forBbgower for such quarter.

(i  Form 10K; YearEnd Financial Statements; Accountar@ertificates. Promptly after filing and in any eve
within ninety (90) days after the end of each figezar of the Borrower, the Annual Report on For@aKL(or any success
form) for the Borrower for such year.

(i)  Officer's Certificate as to Calculation#\t the time that financial statements are furaglpursuant t&ectior
6.9(i) or (ii) , a certificate of the Chief Financial Officer, thieeasurer, an Assistant Treasurer or any othaniial officer o
the Borrower substantially in the form _of Exhibit C

(iv) Requested InformationFrom time to time, such other information regagdihe business, affairs, insuranc
financial condition of the Borrower or any of ital$idiaries (including, without limitation, any Befit Plan and any repo
of other information required to be filed under BR) as any Lender or the Agent may reasonably igque

(v) Notice of Defaults, Material Adverse Chasgnd Other Matters Promptly upon (and in any event wit
three (3) Business Days after) becoming aware d¢iiemetice of:

(@) any Default or Unmatured Default, and

(b) any circumstance that has resulted in a Ntéddverse Effect or an adverse effect on thediig
nature, validity or enforceability of any Loan Doeent as an obligation of the Borrower.

The Borrower may furnish information, documents attter materials that it is obligated to furnisithe Agent pursuant to the Lc
Documents, including all items described abovehia Section 6.%nd all other notices, requests, financial statésydimancial an
other reports, certificates and other informaticaterials, but excluding any communication thatdiptes to a request for a new
the conversion or continuation of an existing, Lo@i) relates to the payment of any amount dueenridis Agreement prior to t
scheduled date therefor or any reduction of the i@ments, (iii) provides notice of any Default ontdatured Default or (iv)
required to be delivered to satisfy any conditioecedent to the effectiveness of this Agreemerdanyr Loan hereunder (any non-
excluded communication described above, a “* Comaation”), electronically (including by posting such documeptsproviding
link thereto, on the Borrowes’Internet website). Notwithstanding the foregoitig, Borrower agrees that, to the extent requdst
the Agent, it will continue to provide “hard copies Communications to the Agent.

The Borrower further agrees that the Agent may n@semunications available to the Lenders by possimgh Communications
IntraLinks or a substantially similar secure elentc delivery system (the_* Platforii

THE PLATFORM IS PROVIDED “AS IS” AND “AS AVAILABLE”. THE AGENT DOES NOT WARRANT THE ACCURAC
OR COMPLETENESS OF ANY COMMUNICATION OR THE ADEQUAC OF THE PLATFORM AND EXPRESSL
DISCLAIMS LIABILITY FOR ERRORS OR OMISSIONS IN ANYCOMMUNICATION. NO WARRANTY OF ANY KIND,
EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING ANY WARRANY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A
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PARTICULAR PURPOSE, NONNFRINGEMENT OF THIRD PARTY RIGHTS OR FREEDOM FROMIRUSES OR OTHEI
CODE DEFECTS, IS MADE BY THE AGENT IN CONNECTION WH ANY COMMUNICATION OR THE PLATFORM. IN
NO EVENT SHALL THE AGENT HAVE ANY LIABILITY TO THE BORROWER, ANY LENDER OR ANY OTHER PERSC
FOR DAMAGES, LOSSES OR EXPENSES (WHETHER IN TORTNKTRACT OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF TF
BORROWER'S OR THE AGENTS TRANSMISSION OF COMMUNICATIONS THROUGH THE INTERRTI, EXCEPT T(
THE EXTENT SUCH DAMAGES ARE FOUND IN A FINAL NOMPPEALABLE JUDGMENT BY A COURT O
COMPETENT JURISDICTION TO HAVE RESULTED FROM SUCHERSONS GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFL
MISCONDUCT. WITHOUT LIMITING THE FOREGOING, UNDER B CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE AGENT BE LIABLI
FOR ANY INDIRECT, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENAL DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF THE USE OF TH
PLATFORM OR THE BORROWER'S OR THE AGEN$ TRANSMISSION OF COMMUNICATIONS THROUGH TF
INTERNET.

Each Lender agrees that notice to it (as provigethé next sentence) specifying that a Communicatias been posted to
Platform shall constitute effective delivery of BuEommunication to such Lender for purposes ofL.tben Documents. Each Len:
agrees (i) to notify the Agent from time to timetbe email address to which the foregoing notice may d&ra @nd (ii) that suc
notice may be sent to suchmeil address. For the avoidance of doubt, the faibf the Agent to provide notice to the Lender
explicitly required by this Agreement shall noteadf the validity or binding nature of a relatedicmtdelivered to the Agent by 1
Borrower; provided, that the Borrower shall remabligated to provide notice directly to the Agemdér Lenders when and
required by this Agreement.

6.10 _Liens. Not, and not permit any Significant Subsidiary daffer to exist any Lien upon any of its propedgsets (
revenues, whether now owned or hereafter acquisamkpt this Section 6.Xhall not apply to:

(i) Liens for taxes, assessments or chargessagpon the Borrower or any Subsidiary or any oir theoperty b
any Governmental Authority not yet due or which bBeing contested in good faith by appropriate pedoegs if adequa
reserves with respect thereto are maintained omadlo&s of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiarias,the case may be,
accordance with Agreement Accounting Principles;

(i) Liens imposed by law, such as carriers’r@usemen’s, mechanics’, materialmen'’s, repairmenother liki
Liens incurred in the ordinary course of businass securing obligations that are not yet due or éina being contested
good faith by appropriate proceedings, and Lierisirey out of judgments or awards which secure panof lega
obligations that would not constitute a Default en8ection 7.9

(i) pledges or deposits in connection with ker's compensation, unemployment insurance and othaal
security laws, or to secure the performance of,bielsders contracts (other than for borrowed maniegses, statutc
obligations, surety or appeal bonds, or indemmigrformance or other similar bonds, in the ordir@yrse of business;

(iv) easements, rights-@fay, restrictions and other similar encumbrancesuried in the ordinary course
business and encumbrances consisting of zoningctésts, easements, licenses, restrictions orufeeof property or min
imperfections in title thereto which, in the aggatsy are not material in amount, and which do ncanly case materia
detract from the value
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of the property subject thereto or interfere with brdinary conduct of the business of the Borroaveany of its Subsidiarie

(v) the Lien of the Indenture of Mortgage ancebB®f Trust dated July 1, 1945, as supplementedraefiect fron
time to time, from the Borrower to HSBC Bank USA((& Marine Midland Bank, N.A.) (the * Mortgade

(vi) Permitted Encumbrances (as defined in 8actill of the Mortgage);

(vii) Liens securing the payment of Tax-Free Dgbovidedthat each such Lien shall extend only to the priyg
and proceeds thereof, being financed by the Tag-Bebt secured thereby;

(viii) Liens on or over the whole or any parttbé assets of the Borrower as security for anghielness owing |
the Borrower to any Subsidiary whose primary fumttis that of acting as a financing Subsidiary teé Borrower an
consisting of one or more loans made to the Borrdwesuch Subsidiary and repayable on the sameasateloan or oth
indebtedness incurred by such Subsidiary; provitied the aggregate principal amount of the indeisssd secured by
such Liens shall not exceed the aggregate prin@pabunt of all such indebtedness incurred by sughbsifiiary; an
provided further that the aggregate principal amount of the indei#ed secured by all such Liens shall not ex
$100,000,000;

(ix) Liens over all or any part of the assetdted Borrower or any Subsidiary constituting a #peconstructior
project or generating plant as security for anyebtddness incurred for the purpose of financingruch part, as the ci
may be, of such construction project or generagtiagt, and Liens and charges incidental to suclstcoction;

(x) the right reserved to, or vested in, any mipality or public authority by the terms of anight, power
franchise, grant, license or permit, or by any siown of law, to purchase or recapture or desigm@afrchaser of al

property;

(xi) Liens on property or assets of any Subsydia favor of the Borrower;

(xii)  Liens with respect to which cash in theamt of such Liens has been deposited with the Agen

(xiii) Liens on or over specific assets hereaétequired which are created or assumed contemgouaty with, o
within 120 days after, such acquisition, for thdespurpose of financing or refinancing the acqgigsitof such asse
(including without limitation Liens to secure okdigons to make deferred payments, eauhpayments or royalty payme

where such obligations are incurred in connectidh the acquisition of such assets);

(xiv) Liens on conservation investment assetssesurity for obligations incurred in financing cefinancing
bondable conservation investments in accordande@iégon Revised Statutes Section 757.400-450;

(xv) Liens on cash collateral deposited by tloer8wver with counterparties in the ordinary courféhe Borrowers
purchase and sale of electric energy, coal, oilratdral gas; and
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(xvi) Liens, in addition to those listed in ctms (i) through (xv) above, incurred in the ordinaourse of th
Borrower’s business on collateral with a marketieahat in the aggregate does not exceed $50,000,00

6.11 _Indebtedness to Capitalization Ratio Not permit the aggregate outstanding principabamt of all Consolidate
Indebtedness to exceed 65% of Total Capitaliza®of the end of any fiscal quarter.

6.12 _Merger or Consolidation. Not merge with or into or consolidate with ordrany other corporation or entity, unl
(i) immediately after giving effect thereto, no aveshall occur and be continuing that would coottita Default or Unmatur
Default, (ii) the surviving or resulting person, e case may be, if not the Borrower, assumespayation of law or agrees
writing to pay and perform all of the obligatiorfstibe Borrower hereunder, (iii) the surviving osudting person, as the case may
qualifies or is qualified to do business in thet&taf Oregon, and (iv) the consolidated net woeth determined in accordance \
Agreement Accounting Principles) of the survivingresulting Person, as the case may be, would leastt equal to the consolida
net worth of the Borrower immediately prior to sunkrger or consolidation.

6.13 _Disposition of Assets Not sell, lease, assign, transfer or otherwispake of any Property or any interest the
except that this_Section 6.KBall not apply to (a) any disposition of any Prbp®r any interest therein in the ordinary couof
business, (b) any disposition of obsolete or rétlPeoperty not used or useful in its businessafg) disposition of any Property
any interest therein (i) for cash or cash equivatertii) in exchange for utility plant, equipmemt other utility assets, other than ne
or other obligations, in each case equal to the rfarket value (as determined in good faith by Buard of Directors of tt
Borrower) of such Property or interest therein, grdvided that such disposition does not constiteisposition of all ¢
substantially all of the Property of the Borrowadgd) any disposition of any Property or any iagtitherein in exchange for nc
or other obligations substantially equal to the faiarket value (as determined in good faith by Beard of Directors of tr
Borrower) of such asset or interest therein, predithat the aggregate amount of notes or other obdigatreceived after the di
hereof from any one obligor in one transaction ee@es of transactions shall not exceed 15% oh&hasset value of the Borrower.

ARTICLE VII
DEFAULTS
The occurrence of any one or more of the followengnts shall constitute a Default:
7.1 Any representation or warranty made or deemadenby the Borrower or any of its Subsidiariesh ltenders or tt
Agent under or in connection with this Agreememty 4oan, or any certificate or information deliveéran connection with th
Agreement or any other Loan Document shall be rizditefalse on the date as of which made.
7.2 Nonpayment of principal of any Loan or any L/C @hlion when due, or nonpayment of interest uponlaran, L/C

Obligation or of any facility fee or other Obligati under any of the Loan Documents within five ¢ays after the same becot
due.
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7.3 The breach by the Borrower of any of the teomprovisions of Sections 6(With respect to the Borrower), 6,5.9(Vv)
(a),6.10,6.11,6.12, or 6.13.

7.4 The breach by the Borrower (other than a bredulh constitutes a Default under another Seatiathis Article VII)
of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreemehich is not remedied within thirty (30) days afteritten notice from the Age
or any Lender.

7.5 (a) To the extent not waived, or if applicaldared, (i) the failure of the Borrower or any Sdiy to pay when dt
any Indebtedness aggregating in excess of $10,00¢;Material Indebtednes$; (ii) the default by the Borrower or any Signific
Subsidiary in the performance (beyond the appleaphce period with respect thereto, if any) of tayn, provision or conditic
contained in any agreement under which any suclefiéhindebtedness was created or is governedyobther event shall occur
condition exist, the effect of which default or avés to cause, or to permit the holder or holdg#rsuch Material Indebtedness
cause, such Material Indebtedness to become doetprits stated maturity; or (iii) any Materialdebtedness of the Borrower or .
Significant Subsidiary shall be declared to be dod payable or required to be prepaid or repurchésther than by a regula
scheduled payment) prior to the stated maturityetbie or (b) the Borrower or any of its SignificaBtbsidiaries shall not pay,
shall admit in writing its inability to pay, its s generally as they become due.

7.6 The Borrower or any Significant Subsidiary $if@dlhave an order for relief entered with respiecit under the Fedel
bankruptcy laws as now or hereafter in effect,ripke an assignment for the benefit of creditoii¥,apply for, seek, consent to,
acquiesce in, the appointment of a receiver, cimtodrustee, examiner, liquidator or similar officfor it or any Substantial Porti
of its Property, (iv) institute any proceeding segkan order for relief under the Federal bankmpdevs as now or hereafter in eff
or seeking to adjudicate it a bankrupt or insolyemt seeking dissolution, winding up, liquidatiaeorganization, arrangeme
adjustment or composition of it or its debts unaey law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorigation or relief of debtors
fail to file an answer or other pleading denying thaterial allegations of any such proceeding fdgdinst it, (v) take any corpor
or partnership action to authorize or effect anyhef foregoing actions set forth in this Sectio®iaf. (vi) fail to contest in good fai
any appointment or proceeding described in Sedidn

7.7 Without the application, approval or consenttlod Borrower or the applicable Significant Subeigdj a receive
trustee, examiner, liquidator or similar officidladl be appointed for the Borrower or such Sigaific Subsidiary or any Substan
Portion of its Property, or a proceeding describedection 7.6(iv)shall be instituted against the Borrower or sucgnifican
Subsidiary and such appointment continues undigeldlaor such proceeding continues undismissed dayed for a period of thir
(30) consecutive days.

7.8 Any court, government or governmental agencgllstondemn, seize or otherwise appropriate, oe telstody ¢
control of, all or any portion of Property of themBower and its Significant Subsidiaries which, whaken together with all ott
Property of the Borrower and its Significant Sulmigs so condemned, seized, appropriated, or taldstody or control of, durit
the twelve-month period ending with the month inakhany such action occurs, constitutes a Subsiapirtion.

7.9 The Borrower or any Significant Subsidiary $tall within sixty (60) days to pay, bond or otlese discharge
accordance with its terms one or more (i) judgmentsrders for the payment of money in excess € @0,000 (or the equivale
thereof in currencies other than U.S. Dollars)he &ggregate, or (ii) nonmonetary judgments orrsrddich, individually or in th
aggregate, would reasonably
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be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, Wiiclgment(s), in any such case, is/are not stayedppeal or otherwise be
appropriately contested in good faith.

7.10 Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Documents,Birrower or any ERISA Affiliate incurs any liaibjl to the
PBGC (other than liability for premium payments ethiare paid when due) or a Benefit Plan pursuaiitte IV of ERISA or the
Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate incurs any withdraWliability pursuant to Title IV of ERISA with rggct to a Benefit Plan
Multiemployer Benefit Plan (determined as of théedat notice of such withdrawal liability) in exeesf $10,000,000.

ARTICLE VI
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ACCELERATION, WAIVERS, AMENDMENTS AND REMEDIES

8.1 _Acceleration. If any Default described in Section %6 7.7 occurs with respect to the Borrower, the Commitnud
each Lender hereunder shall automatically termjrtae Obligations shall immediately become due jpaghble and the Borrow
shall automatically be required to Cash Collategathe L/C Obligations, in each case without furthe of the Agent or any Lenc
and without any election or action on the parthaf Agent or any Lender. If any other Default occtine Required Lenders (or -
Agent with the consent of the Required Lenders) riayterminate or suspend the Aggregate Commitmefiifs declare th
Obligations to be due and payable or (iii) reqtiirat the Borrower Cash Collateralize the L/C Oliliyas (in an amount equal to -
then Outstanding Amount thereof), or all of theefygoing, whereupon such Aggregate Commitments bealhmediately terminat:
or suspended and/or the Obligations shall beconmeenimately due and payable, without presentment,ademprotest or notice
any kind, all of which the Borrower hereby exprgsghives.

8.2 _Amendments Subject to the provisions of this Article Vilthe Required Lenders (or the Agent with the cohgn
writing of the Required Lenders) and the Borrowaynenter into agreements supplemental hereto fmpthrpose of adding
modifying any provisions to the Loan Documents loairrging in any manner the rights of the LendertherBorrower hereunder
waiving any Default hereunder or other provisiorsgof;_providedhat no such supplemental agreement shall, witth@itonsent «
all of the Lenders affected thereby:
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() Extend the final maturity of any Loan to ate after the Final Termination Date, or forgivieaalany portion c
the principal amount thereof, or reduce the ratextend the time of payment of interest or feesabie.

(i) Reduce the percentage specified in thenitedn of Required Lenders.

(i) Extend the Final Termination Date (exceg$ provided in_Section 2.18 increase the amount of -
Commitment of any Lender hereunder or permit thee@®wer to assign its rights under this Agreement.

(iv) Amend this Section 8.2
(v) Amend Section 11.2

No amendment of any provision of this Agreemendtief) to the Agent shall be effective without thetten consent of the Agel
No amendment, waiver or consent shall affect tgbtsi or duties of the L/C Issuers under this Agrestor any Issuer Docum
relating to any Letter of Credit issued or to beued by them without the written consent of the I9§liers. No amendment, wai
or consent shall affect the rights or duties of $veing Line Lender under this Agreement without Written consent of the Swi
Line Lender. The Agent may waive payment of anyrésgiired under Section 12.3(a)(ivjthout obtaining the consent of any of
party to this Agreement.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein,Defaulting Lender shall have any right to approveaisapprove any amendme
waiver or consent hereunder (and any amendmentewar consent which by its terms requires the eonsf all Lenders or ea
affected Lender may be effected with the consenthef applicable Lenders other than Defaulting Les)deexcept that (x) tl
Commitment of any Defaulting Lender may not be éased or extended without the consent of such lesmld (y) any waive
amendment or maodification requiring the consentlbfLenders or each affected Lender that by itsngenffects any Defaultit
Lender more adversely than other affected Lendeab sequire the consent of such Defaulting Lender.

8.3 _Preservation of Rights No delay or omission of the Lenders or the Agenexercise any right under the L«
Documents shall impair such right or be constriethd a waiver of any Default or an acquiescenceetineand the making of
Credit Extension notwithstanding the existence Diefault or the inability of the Borrower to satighe conditions precedent to s
Credit Extension shall not constitute any waivemoguiescence. Any single or partial exercise @f such right shall not preclu
other or further exercise thereof or the exercibarny other right, and no waiver, amendment or othariation of the term
conditions or provisions of the Loan Documents whaver shall be valid unless in writing signed g Lenders required pursu
to Section 8.2 and then only to the extent in such writing sfeaily set forth. All remedies contained in thedroDocuments or |
law afforded shall be cumulative and all shall teilable to the Agent and the Lenders until theigdtlons have been paid in full.

ARTICLE IX
GENERAL PROVISIONS

9.1 _Survival of Representations All representations and warranties of the Bornoa@ntained in this Agreement st
survive the making of the Credit Extensions heoeintemplated.
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9.2 _Governmental Requlation Anything contained in this Agreement to the cantmotwithstanding, no Lender shall
obligated to extend credit to the Borrower in vima of any limitation or prohibition provided by applicable statute or regulatir

9.3 _Headings Section headings in the Loan Documents are favenience of reference only, and shall not govhe
interpretation of any of the provisions of the Ldamcuments.

9.4 _Entire Agreement. The Loan Documents embody the entire agreemeahuaderstanding among the Borrower,
Agent and the Lenders and supersede all prior agrets and understandings among the Borrower, thentAgnd the Lende
relating to the subject matter thereof (includitng tndemnity, confidentiality, advisory and fidugiaprovisions in that certa
commitment letter dated as of October 2, 2012 antbadorrower, Wells Fargo and the Arranger), othean documentation of t
fees described in Sections 2/d 10.13

9.5 _Several Obligations; Benefits of this Agreeent . The respective obligations of the Lenders hereuace several a
not joint and no Lender shall be the partner onagéany other (except to the extent to whichAlgent is authorized to act as su
The failure of any Lender to perform any of itsightions hereunder shall not relieve any other keerdtbm any of its obligatiol
hereunder. This Agreement shall not be construeaissio confer any right or benefit upon any Pemsiher than the parties to t
Agreement and their respective successors andnasgitpvidedhat the parties hereto expressly agree that thenger shall enjc
the benefits of the provisions of Sections 9%10and_10.11to the extent specifically set forth therein andlshave the right 1
enforce such provisions on its own behalf andsroitn name to the same extent as if it were a pauttyis Agreement.

9.6 _Expenses; Indemnification

() The Borrower shall reimburse the Agent ahd Arranger for all reasonable costs, internal gésrand out
pocket expenses (including attornefees and time charges of attorneys for the Agehighvattorneys may be employee
the Agent, and any fees for the IntraLinks eledtratelivery system) paid or incurred by the Agenttloe Arranger i
connection with the preparation, negotiation, exeoy delivery, syndication, review, amendment, ifiodtion, anc
administration of the Loan Documents. The Borrowkso agrees to reimburse the Agent, the Arrandper,3wing Lin
Lender, the L/C Issuers and the Lenders for alkapable costs, internal charges and out of pocke¢rses (includir
attorneys’fees and time charges of attorneys for the Agdwat,Arranger, the Swing Line Lender, the L/C Issuatd thi
Lenders, which attorneys may be employees of thenAghe Arranger or the Lenders) paid or incultgdhe Agent, th
Arranger, the Swing Line Lender, any L/C Issueraay Lender in connection with the collection andoerement of th
Loan Documents.

(i The Borrower hereby further agrees to indéynthe Agent, the Arranger, each L/C Issuer, 8wing Line
Lender, each Lender, their respective affiliatesl @ach of their directors, officers, trustees emgloyees against all loss
claims, damages, penalties, judgments, liabilia@sl reasonable expenses (including, without limoitatall reasonab
expenses of litigation or preparation therefor Wwketor not the Agent, the Arranger, any L/C Isstieg, Swing Line Lend:
any Lender or any affiliate is a party thereto argkther or not such investigation, litigation oogeeding is brought by yc
your equityholders or creditors or any other partyjich any of them may pay or incur arising outoofrelating to thi
Agreement, the other Loan Documents, the transecttontemplated hereby or the application of tleegeds of any Crel
Extension
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hereunder except to the extent that they are datedmin a final norappealable judgment by a court of compe
jurisdiction to have resulted from the gross nemgiice or willful misconduct of the party seeking enthification. Th
obligations of the Borrower under this Section €héll survive the termination of this Agreement.

9.7 _Numbers of Documents All statements, notices, closing documents, augiests hereunder shall be furnished t
Agent with sufficient counterparts so that the Aigaiay furnish one to each of the Lenders.

9.8 _Accounting. Except as provided to the contrary herein, atloaating terms used herein shall be interpretedad
accounting determinations hereunder shall be nradedordance with Agreement Accounting Principlieat any time any change
the Agreement Accounting Principles would affect ttomputation of the financial ratio or requiremsst forth in any Loc
Document, and either the Borrower or the Requiredders shall so request, the Agent, the LendershenBorrower shall negotic
in good faith to amend such ratio or requiremenpteserve the original intent thereof in light ofck change in the Agreem
Accounting Principles (subject to the approval bé tRequired Lenders); providdtat , until so amended, (i) such ratio
requirement shall continue to be computed in aawrd with the Agreement Accounting Principles ptaosuch change therein ¢
(i) the Borrower shall provide to the Agent aneé thenders financial statements and other docunmeqtsred under this Agreemu
or as reasonably requested hereunder settingdamiconciliation between calculations of such ratisequirement made before i
after giving effect to such change in the Agreenfatounting Principles.

9.9 _Severability of Provisions Any provision in any Loan Document that is heddbe inoperative, unenforceable
invalid in any jurisdiction shall, as to that jufistion, be inoperative, unenforceable, or invakidhout affecting the remainii
provisions in that jurisdiction or the operationfaceability, or validity of that provision in argther jurisdiction, and to this end
provisions of all Loan Documents are declared tedesrable. Without limiting the foregoing provissof this_Section 9.9if and tc
the extent that the enforceability of any provisiam this Agreement relating to Defaulting Lendghsll be limited by bankruptcy
other similar debtor relief laws, as determined@wod faith by the Agent or the L/C Issuers, asiapple, then such provisions sl
be deemed to be in effect only to the extent ndinsited.

9.10 _Nonliability of Lenders. The relationship between the Borrower on thelwenred and the Lenders, the Arranger
the Agent on the other hand shall be solely thdtoofower and lender. None of the Agent, the Arearay any Lender shall have ¢
fiduciary responsibilities to the Borrower. None thie Agent, the Arranger or any Lender undertakes r@sponsibility to th
Borrower to review or inform the Borrower of any thea in connection with any phase of the Borrowdausiness or operations. -
Borrower agrees that none of the Agent, the Arrammgeany Lender shall have liability to the Borrawfer losses suffered by t
Borrower in connection with, arising out of, orany way related to, the transactions contemplateldtitze relationship established
the Loan Documents, or any act, omission or eveotiwing in connection therewith, except to theeakidetermined in a final non-
appealable judgment by a court of competent jutath. Neither the Agent, the Arranger or any Lemar the Borrower shall ha
any liability with respect to, and the Borrower {fwrespect to the Agent, the Arranger and each &grahd the Agent, the Arran
and each Lender (with respect to the Borrower)theveaives, releases and agrees not to sue for@agyad, indirect or consequen
damages suffered by any such party in connectidh, vairising out of, or in any way related to theahoDocuments or tl
transactions contemplated thereby.

9.11 _Confidentiality. The Agent, the Arranger and each Lender agreésltbany confidential information which it rr
receive from the Borrower pursuant to this Agreenieconfidence, except for disclosure (i) to it§illates and to other Lenders &
their respective Affiliates, (i) to legal counsel,
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accountants, and other professional advisors th tender or to a Transferee, (iii) to regulatoryiails, (iv) to any Person
requested pursuant to or as required by law, régoleor legal process, (v) to any Person in cotioravith any legal proceeding
which such Lender is a party, (vi) to such Lenglelirect or indirect contractual counterpartieswap agreements or to legal cour
accountants and other professional advisors to soighterparties, (vii) permitted by Section 12(#iii) to rating agencies if requir
by such agencies in connection with a rating nepto the Advances hereunder, and (ix) to the exeguired in connection with t
exercise of any remedy or any enforcement of tlgseAment by such Lender or the Agent; provithed, in the case of clauses (i)
(i), (vi) and (Lvii), the recipient of such information shall be addishat the information is confidential and shgleg to be bour
by the confidentiality obligations of this Secti®ri1; and_providedurther, that in the case of clausesafid (i), the recipient nee
to know such information in connection with suchntler's or applicable Transferseexercise of rights and performance
obligations under this Agreement.

Any Person required to maintain the confidentiatifyconfidential information as provided in thiscBen shall be consider
to have complied with its obligation to do so ithuPerson has exercised the same degree of caraittain the confidentiality
such confidential information as such Person waalcbrd to its own confidential information.

Each of the Agent and the Lenders acknowledges (#)athe confidential information may include makemonpublic
information concerning the Borrower or a Subsidiay the case may be, (b) it has developed conggliprocedures regarding
use of material non-public information and (c) itllwandle such material nogpublic information in accordance with applicablev)
including United States federal and state secaritie/s.

9.12 _Nonreliance. Each Lender hereby represents that it is notinglypn or looking to any Margin Stock for -
repayment of the Credit Extension provided for here

9.13 _No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship.

9.14 _USA PATRIOT ACT NOTIFICATION . The following notification is provided to the Bower pursuant to Secti
326 of the USA Patriot Act of 2001, 31 U.S.C. Sertb318:

IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT PROCEDURES FOR OPENING& NEW ACCOUNT. To help the governm
fight the funding of terrorism and money launderauivities, Federal law requires all financialtingions to obtain, verif
and record information that identifies each persorntity that opens an account, including any dépaccount, treasu
management account, loan, other extension of ¢reditther financial services product. What thisamsefor the Borrowe
When the Borrower opens an account, if the Borrdean individual, the Agent and the Lenders wsk &or the Borroweg
name, residential address, tax identification numbate of birth, and other information that willoav the Agent and tt
Lenders to identify the Borrower, and, if the Bavaey is not an individual, the Agent and the Lendeilt ask for the
Borrower’s name, tax identification number, business addrasd other information that will allow the Agentdathe
Lenders to identify the Borrower. The Agent and tlenders may also ask, if the Borrower is an irdlial, to see tf
Borrower’s driver’'s license or other identifying alonents, and, if the Borrower is not an individualsee the Borrowes’
legal organizational documents or other identifydlmguments.

9.15 Letter of Credit Amounts.

53

CHAR1\1285208v7




Exhibit 10.1

Unless otherwise specified herein, the amount bétéer of Credit at any time shall be deemed tdHgestated amount
such Letter of Credit in effect at such time; pded, however, that with respect to any Letter of Credit that,itis terms or the terr
of any Issuer Document related thereto, providesifi@ or more automatic increases in the statediantbereof, the amount of st
Letter of Credit shall be deemed to be the maxinstated amount of such Letter of Credit after givéffpct to all such increas
whether or not such maximum stated amount is iecetit such time.

ARTICLE X
THE AGENT

10.1 _Appointment; Nature of Relationship. Wells Fargo is hereby appointed by each of thedees as its contractt
representative (herein referred to as the “ Aggnhereunder and under each other Loan Document, ackl ef the Lende
irrevocably authorizes the Agent to act as the reotiial representative of such Lender with thetsigind duties expressly set fc
herein and in the other Loan Documents. The Aggntes to act as such contractual representativa thg express conditio
contained in this Article X Notwithstanding the use of the defined term “Ajeit is expressly understood and agreed that the t
shall not have any fiduciary responsibilities toydrender by reason of this Agreement or any othesrDocument and that 1
Agent is merely acting as the contractual repredimet of the Lenders with only those duties as expressly set forth in tr
Agreement and the other Loan Documents. In its @gpas the Lenderstontractual representative, the Agent (i) doeshaveb
assume any fiduciary duties to any of the Lend@)ds a “representative” of the Lenders withiretmeaning of Section-202(a)(72
of the Uniform Commercial Code and (iii) is actiag an independent contractor, the rights and dafiegich are limited to tho:
expressly set forth in this Agreement and the otlvem Documents. Each of the Lenders hereby agoeassert no claim against
Agent on any agency theory or any other theoryialility for breach of fiduciary duty, all of whichlaims each Lender here
waives.

10.2 _Powers The Agent shall have and may exercise such powetsr the Loan Documents as are specifically e
to the Agent by the terms of each thereof, togetitr such powers as are reasonably incidentabtbeiThe Agent shall have
implied duties to the Lenders, or any obligatiortite Lenders to take any action thereunder exagptation specifically provide
by the Loan Documents to be taken by the Agent.

10.3 _General Immunity. Neither the Agent nor any of its directors, dffis, agents or employees, in each case acting
capacity as Agent and not as Lender, shall bedisibthe Borrower, the Lenders or any Lender fgr action taken or omitted to
taken by it or them hereunder or under any othenLiDocument or in connection herewith or therewitbept for its or their brea
of the Agent’s obligations hereunder or thereunateto the extent such action or inaction is detagdiin a final norappealabl
judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction tedarisen from the gross negligence or willful roisguct of such Perso

10.4 _Responsibility for Loans, Recitals, et®Neither the Agent nor any of its directors, offeeagents or employees s
be responsible for or have any duty to ascertaiquire into, or verify (a) any statement, warraoty representation made
connection with any Loan Document or any borrowiregeunder; (b) the performance or observance ofcdrijle covenants
agreements of any obligor under any Loan Documimrduding, without limitation, any agreement by abligor to furnisl
information
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directly to each Lender; (c) the satisfaction of aondition specified in Article 1\, except receipt of items required to be deliv
solely to the Agent; (d) the existence or possédistence of any Default or Unmatured Default; ®r the validity, enforceabilit
effectiveness, sufficiency or genuineness of angrLBDocument or any other instrument or writing fsined in connection therewi
The Agent shall have no duty to disclose to thedees information that is not required to be furetby the Borrower to the Age
at such time, but is voluntarily furnished by ther®wer to the Agent (either in its capacity as Ager in its individual capacity).

10.5 _Action on Instructions of Lenders The Agent shall in all cases be fully protectedacting, or in refraining fro
acting, hereunder and under any other Loan Docuineatcordance with written instructions signedthg Required Lenders (
when expressly required hereunder, all of the Les)dand such instructions and any action takefaiture to act pursuant ther:
shall be binding on all of the Lenders. The Lendeeseby acknowledge that the Agent shall be undeduty to take ar
discretionary action permitted to be taken by itspiant to the provisions of this Agreement or atheolLoan Document unles
shall be requested in writing to do so by the RexgliLenders. The Agent shall be fully justifiedfailing or refusing to take au
action hereunder and under any other Loan Documngless it shall first be indemnified to its satetfan by the Lenders pro r:
against any and all liability, cost and expens¢ ithaay incur by reason of taking or continuinga@e any such action.

10.6 _Employment of Agents and CounselThe Agent may execute any of its duties as Agpeneunder and under ¢
other Loan Document by or through employees, agents$ attorneys in fact and shall not be answetabtke Lenders, except as
money or securities received by it or its authatizgents, for the default or misconduct of any saglnts or attorneys in f
selected by it with reasonable care. The Agent &igaéntitled to advice of counsel concerning thetactual arrangement betw
the Agent and the Lenders and all matters pertgitirthe Agent’s duties hereunder and under angrdtban Document.

10.7 _Reliance on Documents; Counselhe Agent shall be entitled to rely upon any ceticonsent, certificate, affidar
letter, telegram, statement, paper or documeng\edi by it to be genuine and correct and to haea s&gned or sent by the pro
person or persons, and, in respect to legal matigrsn the opinion of counsel selected by the Agaittich counsel may |
employees of the Agent.

10.8 _Agents Reimbursement and Indemnification. To the extent that the Borrower has not otheniisemnified th
Agent pursuant to Section 9.6(jieach Lender severally agrees to reimburse aratrindy the Agent ratably in proportion to tt
respective Commitments (or, if the Commitments hagen terminated, in proportion to their Commitrseimimediately prior 1
such termination) (i) for any amounts not reimbdréy the Borrower for which the Agent is entitled reimbursement by t
Borrower under the Loan Documents, (ii) for anyestbxpenses incurred by the Agent on behalf oLtveders, in connection wi
the preparation, execution, delivery, administratamd enforcement of the Loan Documents (includigfout limitation, for an
expenses incurred by the Agent in connection with dispute between the Agent and any Lender or detwwo or more of tl
Lenders) and (iii) for any liabilities, obligationssses, damages, penalties, actions, judgmerits, costs, expenses or disburserr
of any kind and nature whatsoever which may be Bepoon, incurred by or asserted against the Ageany way relating to
arising out of the Loan Documents or any other duent delivered in connection therewith or the teatisns contemplated there
(including, without limitation, for any such amosanhcurred by or asserted against the Agent in ection with any dispute betwe
the Agent and any Lender or between two or moth@fenders), or the enforcement of any of the seofthe Loan Documents
of any such other documents, providhdt (i) no Lender shall be liable for any of tleeegoing to the extent any of the foregoin
found in a final non-appealable judgment by a cotidompetent jurisdiction to have resulted froma gnoss
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negligence or willful misconduct of the Agent aiiijl dny indemnification required pursuant_to Seet®5(vii) shall, notwithstandir
the provisions of this Section 10.&e paid by the relevant Lender in accordance thighprovisions thereof. The obligations of
Lenders under this Section 1&Rall survive payment of the Obligations and teation of this Agreement.

10.9 _Notice of Default The Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledg®tice of the occurrence of any Defaul
Unmatured Default hereunder unless the Agent haevwed written notice from a Lender or the Borrowaferring to this Agreeme
describing such Default or Unmatured Default amdirsg that such notice is a “notice of defaulti’the event that the Agent recei
such a notice, the Agent shall give prompt notloeréof to the Lenders and, in the case of a “naiicdefault” received from
Lender, to the Borrower.

10.10 _Rights as a LenderNotwithstanding anything to the contrary in tAidicle X , in the event the Agent is a Lenc
the Agent shall have the same rights, powers, dligations hereunder and under any other Loan Deciinwith respect to i
Commitment and its Loans as any Lender and mayciseesuch rights and powers, and shall comply suith obligations, as thou
it were not the Agent, and the term “Lender” or fiders”shall, at any time when the Agent is a Lender, sg1tbe context otherwi
indicates, include the Agent in its individual caeja The Agent and its Affiliates may accept ddofrom, lend money to, a
generally engage in any kind of trust, debt, equoityther transaction, in addition to those contemep by this Agreement or &
other Loan Document, with the Borrower or any sfSubsidiaries in which the Borrower or such Subsjds not restricted here
from engaging with any other Person. The Agentsiindividual capacity is not obligated to remaibemder.

10.11 _Lender Credit Decision Each Lender acknowledges that it has, indepehldand without reliance upon the Age
the Arranger or any other Lender and based onittandial statements prepared by the Borrower amti sther documents a
information as it has deemed appropriate, madewts credit analysis and decision to enter into &gseement and the other Lc
Documents. Each Lender also acknowledges thatljtimdependently and without reliance upon the Atgéhe Arranger or any ott
Lender and based on such documents and informasom shall deem appropriate at the time, contittuenake its own crec
decisions in taking or not taking action under thisgeement and the other Loan Documents.

10.12 _Successor Agent The Agent may resign at any time by giving writteotice thereof to the Lenders and
Borrower, such resignation to be effective uponappointment of a successor Agent or, if no suare&gent has been appoint
forty-five (45) days after the retiring Agent gives netiaf its intention to resign. The Agent may be reetbat any time with «
without cause by written notice received by the Wigeom the Required Lenders, such removal to fecg¥e on the date specifi
by the Required Lenders. Upon any such resignaiioremoval, the Required Lenders shall have thetrig appoint with th
Borrower’s written consent, not to be unreasonably withlweldlelayed, on behalf of the Borrower and the Lesida success
Agent. If no successor Agent shall have been soiatgd by the Required Lenders within thirty (3@yd after the resigning Agest’
giving notice of its intention to resign, then thesigning Agent may appoint with the Borrovgemvritten consent, not to
unreasonably withheld or delayed, on behalf of Breerower and the Lenders, a successor Agent. Nmgteinhding the previo
sentence, the Agent may at any time without theseonof any Lender and with the consent of the ®wer, not to be unreasona
withheld or delayed, appoint any of its Affiliateghich is a commercial bank as a successor Agerduheer. If the Agent h
resigned or been removed and no successor Agetteleaisappointed, the Lenders may perform all thieslof the Agent hereunc
and the Borrower shall make all payments in respétite Obligations to the applicable Lender andafib other purposes shall d
directly with the Lenders. No successor Agent shaltleemed to be appointed hereunder until suaessier Agent has
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accepted the appointment. Any such successor Agjait be a commercial bank having capital and methiearnings of at le:
$100,000,000. Upon the acceptance of any appointmenAgent hereunder by a successor Agent, suotessmr Agent shi
thereupon succeed to and become vested with atights, powers, privileges and duties of the neisig or removed Agent. Up
the effectiveness of the resignation or removahefAgent, the resigning or removed Agent shaltliseharged from its duties &
obligations hereunder and under the Loan Documekiter the effectiveness of the resignation or realoof an Agent, th
provisions of this Article Xshall continue in effect for the benefit of suchefgjin respect of any actions taken or omittedetdaiel
by it while it was acting as the Agent hereunded ander the other Loan Documents. In the eventttiere is a successor to
Agent by merger, or the Agent assigns its duties @sligations to an Affiliate pursuant to this Sent10.12, then the termprime
rate” as used in this Agreement shall mean thegrate, base rate or other analogous rate of tiveAgent.

Any resignation by or removal of Wells Fargo as Agaeursuant to this Section shall also constitigedsignation or remos
as a L/C Issuer and Swing Line Lender. Upon theptance of a successprppointment as Agent hereunder, (i) such suck
shall succeed to and become vested with all ofrititets, powers, privileges, obligations and dutiégshe retiring L/C Issuer ai
Swing Line Lender, (ii) the retiring L/C Issuer aSaving Line Lender shall be discharged from alltlodir respective duties a
obligations hereunder or under the other Loan Dans) and (iii) the successor L/C Issuer shallddstters of credit in substituti
for the Letters of Credit, if any, outstanding la time of such succession or make other arrangsrsatisfactory to the retiring L
Issuer to effectively assume the obligations ofreing L/C Issuer with respect to such LettefrCoedit.

10.13 _Agent and Arranger Fees The Borrower agrees to pay to the Agent and thramer, for their own respect
accounts, the fees agreed to by the Borrower, tlenfiand the Arranger, including, without limitatjdhe fees agreed to pursuar
the letter agreement dated October 2, 2012, antenBadrrower, the Agent and the Arranger.

10.14 _Delegation to Affiliates The Borrower and the Lenders agree that the Aget delegate any of its duties ur
this Agreement to any of its Affiliates. Any sucHfifate (and such Affiliates directors, officers, agents and employees) v
performs duties in connection with this Agreememtlisbe entitled to the same benefits of the indéoation, waiver and oth:
protective provisions to which the Agent is enttlender_Articles IXand_X.

10.15 _Other Agents. The Lenders identified on the signature pagethisf Agreement or otherwise herein, or in
amendment hereof or other document related hesistbeing the “Syndication Agent” or a “Co-Documéinta Agent” (collectively
the “ Other Agents), shall have no rights, powers, obligations, lialgiit responsibilities or duties under this Agreentgher tha
those applicable to all Lenders as such. Withauittilng the foregoing, the Other Agents and the Ager shall not have or
deemed to have any fiduciary relationship with aepder. Each Lender acknowledges that it has tiedteand will not rely, on tt
Other Agents or the Arranger in deciding to entgo ithis Agreement or in taking or refraining fraaking any action hereunder
pursuant hereto.
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ARTICLE XI
SETOFF; RATABLE PAYMENTS

11.1 _Setoff In addition to, and without limitation of, anygtits of the Lenders under applicable law, if a Difaccurs
any and all deposits (including all account balaneehether provisional or final and whether or coliected or available) and &
other Indebtedness at any time owing by any Lendany Affiliate of any Lender to or for the creditaccount of the Borrower m
be offset and applied toward the payment of thegabbns owing to such Lender, whether or not thdigations, or any part there
shall then be due, providedch Lender agrees, solely for the benefit of therd_enders and not for the benefit of the Bormgvitear
it shall not exercise any right provided for instl8ection 11.Without the prior consent of the Required Lendgrsyided, further,
that in the event that any Defaulting Lender sleakrcise any such right of setoff, (x) all amousdsset off shall be paid o
immediately to the Agent for further applicationancordance with the provisions of Section Za2#l, pending such payment, s
be segregated by such Defaulting Lender from terofunds and deemed held in trust for the beoéfihe Agent and the Lende
and (y) the Defaulting Lender shall provide promptl the Agent a statement describing in reasonddtail the Obligations owing
such Defaulting Lender as to which it exercisechsught of setoff.

11.2 _Ratable Payments If any Lender, whether by setoff or otherwises lmayment made to it upon its Outstan
Credit Exposure (other than payments received pntsto_Section 2.203.1, 3.2, 3.40r 3.5) in a greater proportion than t
received by any other Lender, such Lender agreespgily upon demand, to purchase a portion of thgrAgate Outstanding Cre
Exposure held by the other Lenders so that aften purchase each Lender will hold its Pro Rata &béthe Aggregate Outstand
Credit Exposure. If any Lender, whether in conretivith setoff or amounts which might be subjecsetoff or otherwise, receiv
collateral or other protection for its Obligatioossuch amounts which may be subject to setofth disnder agrees, promptly ug
demand, to take such action necessary such thaeatlers share in the benefits of such collateatdhly in proportion to the
respective Pro Rata Shares. In case any such paysmisturbed by legal process, or otherwise, appate further adjustments st
be made.

ARTICLE XIi
BENEFIT OF AGREEMENT; ASSIGNMENTS; PARTICIPATIONS

12.1 _Successors and Assignghe terms and provisions of the Loan Documenédl &fe binding upon and inure to
benefit of the Borrower and the Lenders and thespective successors and assigns, except thae(Bdrrower shall not have 1
right to assign its rights or obligations under tlsan Documents and (ii) any assignment by any eemaust be made in compliat
with Section 12.3 The parties to this Agreement acknowledge theaisg (ii)of this Section 12.telates only to absolute assignmi
and does not prohibit assignments creating secutigyests, including, without limitation, any p@glor assignment by any Lende
all or any portion of its rights under this Agreath& a Federal Reserve Bank; providledt no such pledge or assignment creat
security interest shall release the transferor kerfibm its obligations hereunder unless and uhél parties thereto have comp
with the provisions of Section 12.3The Agent may treat the Person which made anwy lasavhich holds any Note as the ow
thereof for all purposes hereof unless and unthdRerson complies with Section 12 Brovidedthat the Agent may in its discreti
(but shall not be required to) follow instructioimnem the Person which made any Loan to direct payseelating to such Loan
another Person. Any assignee of the rights to amgnlagrees by acceptance of such assignment toursl loy all the terms a
provisions of the Loan Documents. Any
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request, authority or consent of any Person, whbeatime of making such request or giving suclhatity or consent is the owner
the rights to any Loan, shall be conclusive andlibigion any subsequent holder or assignee of giésrio such Loan.

12.2 _Participations.

(@) Permitted Participants; Effect. Any Lender may, in the ordinary course of itsibass and in accordar
with applicable law, at any time sell to one or mdwanks or other entities (* Participari}sparticipating interests in a
Outstanding Credit Exposure of such Lender, any @iament of such Lender or any other interest ohsuender under tt
Loan Documents. In the event of any such sale hyemder of participating interests to a Participasuch Lendeg
obligations under the Loan Documents shall remaichenged, such Lender shall remain solely resplensibthe othe
parties hereto for the performance of such obligati such Lender shall remain the owner of its taoting Credit Exposu
for all purposes under the Loan Documents, all artiopayable by the Borrower under this Agreemeall &fe determine
as if such Lender had not sold such participatirigrests, and the Borrower and the Agent shallicoatto deal solely al
directly with such Lender in connection with suatnder’s rights and obligations under the Loan Dasuts

(b)  Voting Rights. Each Lender shall retain the sole right to aperevithout the consent of any Participant,
amendment, modification or waiver of any provisiminthe Loan Documents other than any amendment;fivaiibn ol
waiver with respect to any Credit Extension or Catnmant in which such Participant has an interesictviforgives
principal, interest or fees or reduces the interagt or fees payable with respect to any such Lbo#n Obligation o
Commitment, extends the Final Termination Datefgm®es any date fixed for any regularly schedukeghpent of princip:
of, or interest or fees on, any such Credit Extmsir Commitment.

(c) Participant Reqister . Each Lender that sells a participation shalingcsolely for this purpose as a non-
fiduciary agent of the Borrower, maintain a regist@ which it enters the name and address of eacticipant and tr
principal amounts (and stated interest) of eachidf@ant's interest in the Loans or other obligations unther Loat
Documents (the * Participant Regist@r provided that no Lender shall have any obligatmnlisclose all or any portion
the Participant Register (including the identityamfy Participant or any information relating to atRipants interest in ar
commitments, loans, letters of credit or its otbigligations under any Loan Document) to any Peesaept to the extent tt
such disclosure is necessary to establish that smctimitment, loan, letter of credit or other obtiga is in registered for
under Section 5f.10%{c) of the United States Treasury Regulations.e Emtries in the Participant Register shal
conclusive absent manifest error, and such Lerfuedl seat each Person whose name is recordectiRdticipant Regist
as the owner of such participation for all purposéshis Agreement notwithstanding any notice te tdontrary. For tf
avoidance of doubt, the Agent (in its capacity gert) shall have no responsibility for maintainm@articipant Register.

12.3 _Assignments

(@) Assignments by Lenders Any Lender may at any time assign to one or na@sgnees all or a portion of
rights and obligations under this Agreement andother Loan Documents (including all or a portidrite Commitment an
the Loans (including for purposes of this subsec(lw), participations in L/C Obligations and Swihige Loans) at the tin
owing to it); provided that any such assignmentidgiesubject to the following conditions:
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() Minimum Amounts .

(A) in the case of an assignment of the entemaining amount of the assigning Lender’
Commitment and the related Loans at the time owang or in the case of an assignment to a Lenale
Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund, no minim amount need be assigned; and

(B) in any case not described in subsection)(A)(of this Section, the aggregate amount of
Commitment (which for this purpose includes Loansstanding thereunder) or, if the Commitment is
then in effect, the principal outstanding balan€¢he Loans of the assigning Lender subject to eaat
assignment, determined as of the date the AssignAggrement with respect to such assignment iveledt
to the Agent or, if “Trade Date’ specified in the Assignment Agreement, as ofTttedle Date, shall not
less than $5,000,000 unless each of the Agentsantihng as no Default has occurred and is continuhme
Borrower otherwise consents (each such consentonbe unreasonably withheld or delayed); provi
however, that concurrent assignments to membeesdkssignee Group and concurrent assignments
members of an Assignee Group to a single assigme® @n assignee and members of its Assignee ¢
will be treated as a single assignment for purpasetetermining whether such minimum amount has
met.

(i)  Proportionate Amounts . Each partial assignment shall be made as annassig of a proportions
part of all the assigning Lender’s Loans and Comnaiits, and rights and obligations with respectetoerassigned.

(i)  Required Consents. No consent shall be required for any assignmece@ to the extent required
subsection (a)(i)(B) of this Section and, in aduiti

(A) the consent of the Borrower (such consenttade unreasonably withheld or delayed) she
required unless (1) a Default has occurred andbigirtuing at the time of such assignment or (2)h
assignment is to a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lendean Approved Fund; provided that the Borroweallshe
deemed to have consented to any such assignmessunkhall object thereto by written notice te Agen
within five (5) Business Days after having receivetdice thereof;

(B) the consent of the Agent (such consent adbe unreasonably withheld or delayed) sha
required for assignments in respect of any Comnitrifesuch assignment is to a Person that is rigtrale
with a Commitment, an Affiliate of such Lender or Approved Fund with respect to such Lender; and

(C) the consent of the L/C Issuers and the Swing Lender (such consent not to be unreasol
withheld or delayed) shall be required for any grssient.

(iv) Assignment and Assumption The parties to each assignment shall executelalnkr to the Agel
an Assignment Agreement, together with a proce ity
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recordation fee in the amount of $3,500; providezlyever, that the Agent may, in its sole discret@lact to waiv
such processing and recordation fee in the casmpfassignment. The assignee, if it shall not therader, sha
deliver to the Agent an administrative questiomm&ira form acceptable to the Agent.

(v) No Assignment to Certain Persons No such assignment shall be made to (A) the Barmr any ¢
the Borrowers Affiliates or Subsidiaries, (B) any Defaultingrider or any of its Subsidiaries, or any Person
upon becoming a Lender hereunder, would constényeof the foregoing Persons described in thissdd®), or (C
a natural person.

(vi) Certain Additional Payments . In connection with any assignment of rights abtigations of an
Defaulting Lender hereunder, no such assignmenil bleaeffective unless and until, in addition toetlothe
conditions thereto set forth herein, the partiehtoassignment shall make such additional paynterttee Agent i
an aggregate amount sufficient, upon distributioeréof as appropriate (which may be outright paymaurchase
by the assignee of participations or subparticipesj or other compensating actions, including fagdiwith the
consent of the Borrower and the Agent, the applecabo rata share of Loans previously requestedibtfunded b
the Defaulting Lender, to each of which the appilieaassignee and assignor hereby irrevocably ctngenx) pa)
and satisfy in full all payment liabilities then ed by such Defaulting Lender to the Agent or anpdex hereund
(and interest accrued thereon) and (y) acquire fand as appropriate) its full pro rata share dflalans an
participations in Letters of Credit and Swing Lineans in accordance with its Pro Rata Share. Nbstanding th
foregoing, in the event that any assignment oftsigind obligations of any Defaulting Lender hereurghall becorr
effective under applicable law without compliancighwthe provisions of this paragraph, then the grese of suc
interest shall be deemed to be a Defaulting Lefateall purposes of this Agreement until such caanpte occurs.

Subject to acceptance and recording thereof byAgesnt pursuant to subsection (b) of this Sectiompfand after tr
effective date specified in each Assignment Agradntle assignee thereunder shall be a party softhieement and, to t
extent of the interest assigned by such Assignmdgmeement, have the rights and obligations of adeerunder thi
Agreement, and the assigning Lender thereundel, $bidhe extent of the interest assigned by suskighiment Agreemel
be released from its obligations under this Agrean{and, in the case of an Assignment Agreemener@oy all of th
assigning Lendes rights and obligations under this Agreement, suehder shall cease to be a party hereto but
continue to be entitled to the benefits_of Artilleand_Section 9.@vith respect to facts and circumstances occurriingy o
the effective date of such assignment). Upon rdgties Borrower (at its expense) shall execute degltver a Note to tt
assignee Lender. Any assignment or transfer byraldéreof rights or obligations under this Agreemiiat does not comg
with this subsection shall be treated for purpaxfehis Agreement as a sale by such Lender of icgaation in such righ
and obligations in accordance with Section 12.2

(b) Redister. The Agent, acting solely for this purpose as gena of the Borrower (and such agency being s
for tax purposes), shall maintain at the Agemiffice a copy of each Assignment Agreement dediddo it and a register 1
the recordation of the names and addresses ofahddrs, and the Commitments of, and principal ansoofthe Loans at
L/C Obligations owing to, each Lender pursuantmterms hereof from time to time (the “ Regis}eiThe entries
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in the Register shall be conclusive, and the Boemwhe Agent and the Lenders may treat each Perbmse name
recorded in the Register pursuant to the termsofieas a Lender hereunder for all purposes of thggeAmen
notwithstanding notice to the contrary. In addifidhe Agent shall maintain on the Register infoipratregarding th
designation, and revocation of designation, of deyder as a Defaulting Lender. The Register shallabailable fc
inspection by the Borrower and any Lender at aagaoaable time and from time to time upon reasonatide notice.

(c) Resignation as L/C Issuer or Swing Line Lender afte Assignment . Notwithstanding anything to t
contrary contained herein, if at any time an L/6uky or the Swing Line Lender assigns all of itsn@otment and Loar
pursuant to subsection (a) above, such L/C IssuSming Line Lender, as applicable, may, (i) uplinty days’notice to th
Borrower and the Lenders, resign as L/C Issueraar(@j upon thirty days’notice to the Borrower, resign as Swing L
Lender. In the event of any such resignation as Ie&Der or Swing Line Lender, the Borrower shallelngitled to appoit
from among the Lenders a successor L/C Issuer argSkine Lender hereunder; providethowever, that no failure by tt
Borrower to appoint any such successor shall affectesignation of such L/C Issuer or Swing Lirendler, as the case n
be. If an L/C Issuer resigns as L/C Issuer, it Istethin all the rights, powers, privileges andiesitof such L/C Issu
hereunder with respect to all Letters of Creditstartding as of the effective date of its resigmatie L/C Issuer and all L
Obligations with respect thereto (including thehtigo require the Lenders to make Floating Rate ahdes or fund ris
participations). If the Swing Line Lender resigrssSwing Line Lender, it shall retain all the rigbfsthe Swing Line Lend:
provided for hereunder with respect to Swing Lineahs made by it and outstanding as of the effediate of suc
resignation, including the right to require the ters to make Floating Rate Advances or fund riskigggations. Upon th
appointment of a successor L/C Issuer and/or Swimg Lender, (1) such successor shall succeedddanome vested w
all of the rights, powers, privileges and dutiesh retiring L/C Issuer or Swing Line Lender, s tase may be, and (2)
successor L/C Issuer shall issue letters of cieditibstitution for the Letters of Credit, if amgytstanding at the time of st
succession or make other arrangements satisfatidhe resigning L/C Issuer to effectively assutme obligations of tt
resigning L/C Issuer with respect to such LettérSredit.

12.4 _Dissemination of Information. The Borrower authorizes each Lender to disclosany Participant or Purchase
any other Person acquiring an interest in the LDaouments by operation of law (each a “ Transfé)eand any prospecti
Transferee any and all information in such Lersl@ossession concerning the creditworthiness oBtiteower and its Subsidiari
including without limitation any information contegd in any Annual Report on Form 10-K or any QurtReport on Form 1@;
providedthat each Transferee and prospective Transfereesigp be bound by Section 9dflthis Agreement.

12.5 _Tax Treatment. If any interest in any Loan Document is trangdrto any Transferee which is organized unde
laws of any jurisdiction other than the United 8taior any State thereof, the transferor Lenderl stzalse such Transfer
concurrently with the effectiveness of such transte comply with the provisions of Section 3.5(iahd _Section 3.5(vi) as
applicable.

12.6 _Designation of SPVs

(&) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary tedmed herein, any Lender (a_* Granting Lenfjemay grant to
special purpose funding vehicle (an_* SPMdentified as such in writing from time to time buch Granting Lender to t
Agent and the Borrower) the option to fund all aygpart of any Advance or fee or expense reimbuesgnor othe
obligation (each, a “ Lender Funding Obligati®rthat such Granting Lender would otherwise be obdigdo fund pursua
to
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this Agreement;_providethat (i) nothing herein shall constitute a commitinby any SPV to fund any Lender Func
Obligation, (ii) if an SPV elects not to exercisagls option or otherwise fails to fund all or anyrtpaf any such Lend
Funding Obligation, the Granting Lender shall bdigatted to fund such Lender Funding Obligation parg to the tern
hereof, (iii) no SPV shall exercise any voting tgpursuant to Section 8(&uch voting rights to be exercised instead by
Granting Lender) and (iv) with respect to notigegayments and other matters hereunder, the BorrdtverAgent and tt
Lenders shall not be obligated to deal with an SB\,may limit their communications and other degdi relevant to su
SPV to the applicable Granting Lender. The fundihgny Lender Funding Obligation by an SPV hereursthall utilize th:
Commitment of the Granting Lender to the same axteat, and as if, such Lender Funding Obligati@revfunded by sut
Granting Lender.

(b) As to any Lender Funding Obligations or mortthereof made by it, each SPV shall have allritjets that it
applicable Granting Lender making such Lender FumdObligations or portion thereof would have haddemthis
Agreement;_providethat each SPV shall have granted to its Grantingdee an irrevocable power of attorney to delived
receive all communications and notices under tigseAment (and any related documents) and to ereotissuch SP\¢’
behalf, all of such SP¥ voting rights under this Agreement. No additioNake shall be required to evidence the Le
Funding Obligations or portion thereof made by &V Sand the related Granting Lender shall be deeimdubld its Note ¢
agent for such SPV to the extent of the Lender kgn@bligations or portion thereof funded by sudVSIn addition, an
payments for the account of any SPV shall be maitstGranting Lender as agent for such SPV.

(c) Each party hereto hereby agrees that no SRl be liable for any indemnity or payment unttes Agreemer
for which a Lender would otherwise be liable forlang as, and to the extent, the Granting Lendeviges such indemni
or makes such payment. In furtherance of the fangg@ach party hereto hereby agrees (which agnetsnseall survive tf
termination of this Agreement) that, prior to thetalthat is one year and one day after the paymduotl of all outstandin
commercial paper or other senior indebtedness pi&&YV, it will not institute against, or join anyher person in institutir
against, such SPV any bankruptcy, reorganizatioangement, insolvency or liquidation proceedingdar the laws of tt
United States or any State thereof.

(d) In addition, notwithstanding anything to tt@ntrary contained in this Agreement, any SPV figgt any tima
and without paying any processing fee thereforigassr participate all or a portion of its intereéstany Lender Fundir
Obligations to the Granting Lender or to any finahénstitutions providing liquidity and/or cred#upport to or for tr
account of such SPV to support the funding or neaianhce of Lender Funding Obligations and (ii) diselon a confidenti
basis any nomublic information relating to its Lender Fundingl@ations to any rating agency, commercial pagpaier o
provider of any surety, guarantee or credit oriigy enhancements to such SPV. This Section 2§ not be amend
without the written consent of any Granting Lendiected thereby.
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ARTICLE Xl
NOTICES
13.1 _Notices

(&) Except as otherwise permitted_by Sectio @ith respect to borrowing notices, all notices,uests and oth
communications to any party hereunder shall be iiting (including electronic transmission, facsieitransmission
similar writing) and shall be given to such partyta address or facsimile number set forth on 8alee13.1or at such oth
address or facsimile number as such party may fieresgpecify for the purpose by notice to the Agentl the Borrower
accordance with the provisions of this Section 1E#&ch such notice, request or other communicatiati be effective (i)
given by facsimile transmission, when transmittedtiie facsimile number specified in this Section @onfirmation ¢
receipt is received, (i) if given by mail, 72 heuafter such communication is deposited in the snaith first class posta
prepaid, addressed as aforesaid, (iii) if giverahy other means, when delivered at the addressfiggein this Section ¢
(iv) if given by electronic transmission, as praaidin _Section 13.1(b) providedthat notices to the Agent undarticle |l
shall not be effective until received.

(b) Notices and other communications to the leesichereunder may be delivered or furnished bytreleic
communication (including eail and internet or intranet websites) pursuanprocedures approved by the Agent o
otherwise determined by the Agent, providiedt the foregoing shall not apply to notices tg hander pursuant térticle |
if such Lender has notified the Agent that it isapable of receiving notices under such Articlesl®ctronic communicatio
The Agent or the Borrower may, in its respective&oition, agree to accept notices and other conuatiions to it hereund
by electronic communications pursuant to procedagsroved by it or as it otherwise determines, ey that sucl
determination or approval may be limited to patdcunotices or communications. Unless the Agengéwtise prescribes,
notices and other communications sent to an e-address shall be deemed received upon the sendmipt of a
acknowledgement from the intended recipient (sihyathe “return receipt requested” function, agilable, return email
or other written acknowledgement), providdétdht if such notice or other communication is nateg during the norm
business hours of the recipient, such notice orncanication shall be deemed to have been giveneapplening of busine
on the next Business Day for the recipient, anch@itices or communications posted to an interngitoanet website shall
deemed received upon the deemed receipt by thedederecipient at its mail address as described in the foregoing ¢
(i) of natification that such notice or communicatiis available and identifying the website addthssefor.

13.2 _Change of Address The Borrower, the Agent and any Lender may edenge the address for service of nc
upon it by a notice in writing to the other partieseto.
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ARTICLE XIV
COUNTERPARTS
This Agreement may be executed in any number oftesparts, all of which taken together shall cdosti one agreeme

and any of the parties hereto may execute thiseékgeat by signinginy such counterpart. Delivery of an executed capait herec
or a signature page hereto by facsimile shall fectife as delivery of an original executed coupaet.
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ARTICLE XV
CHOICE OF LAW; CONSENT TO JURISDICTION
15.1 _CHOICE OF LAW . THE LOAN DOCUMENTS (OTHER THAN THOSE CONTAINING A CONTRARY

EXPRESS CHOICE OF LAW PROVISION) SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL
LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, BUT GIVING EFFECT TO FEDERAL LAWS APPLICABLE TO NATIONAL

BANKS.

15.2 _CONSENT TO JURISDICTION . THE BORROWER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS TO THE NO N-
EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF ANY UNITED STATES FEDERAL OR NEW YORK STATE COURT SITTING IN
NEW YORK, NEW YORK IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARIS ING OUT OF OR RELATING TO ANY LOAN
DOCUMENTS AND THE BORROWER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AGREE S THAT ALL CLAIMS IN RESPECT OF
SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING MAY BE HEARD AND DETERMIN ED IN ANY SUCH COURT AND
IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY OBJECTION IT MAY NOW OR HERE AFTER HAVE AS TO THE VENUE OF ANY
SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN SUCH A COURT OR THAT SUCH COURT IS AN
INCONVENIENT FORUM. NOTHING HEREIN SHALL LIMIT THE RIGHT OF THE AGENT OR ANY LENDER TO
BRING PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE BORROWER IN THE COURT S OF ANY OTHER JURISDICTION. ANY
JUDICIAL PROCEEDING BY THE BORROWER AGAINST THE AGE NT OR ANY LENDER OR ANY AFFILIATE OF
THE AGENT OR ANY LENDER INVOLVING, DIRECTLY OR INDI RECTLY, ANY MATTER IN ANY WAY ARISING
OUT OF, RELATED TO, OR CONNECTED WITH ANY LOAN DOCU MENT SHALL BE BROUGHT ONLY IN A
COURT IN NEW YORK, NEW YORK.

[ REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK ]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower, the Lenders amel Agent have executed this Agreement as of thefitat abov
written.

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY

By: /s/ Maria M. Pope

Name: Maria M. Pope

Title: Senior Vice President, Finance,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/ Yann Blindert
Name: Yann Blindert
Title: Director

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

and Swing
Line Lender

By: /s/ Yann Blindert
Name: Yann Blindert
Title: Director

Exhibit 10.1

, as Agent

, as a Lender, L/C Issuer

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. , as a Lender and L/C Issuer

By: /s/ Helen D. Davis
Name: Helen D. Davis
Title: Vice President

U.S. BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION , as a Lender and L/C Issuer

By: /s/ Holland H. Williams
Name:_Holland H. Williams
Title: AVP & Portfolio Mgr

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. , as a Lender

By: /s/ Daryl K. Hogge
Name: Daryl K. Hogge
Title: Senior Vice President

BARCLAYS BANK PLC , as a Lender

By: /s/ Diane Rolfe
Name: Diane Rolfe
Title: Director
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MORGAN STANLEY BANK , as a Lender

By: /s/ Kelly Chin
Name: KELLY CHIN

Title: Authorized Signatory

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION

By: /s/ Shuji Yabe
Name: Shuji Yabe
Title: Managing Director

BANK OF THE WEST , as a Lender
By: /s/ Brett German
Name:_Brett German
Title: Vice President

COBANK, ACB , as a Lender

By: /s/ Josh Batchelder
Name:_Josh Batchelder
Title: Vice President

Exhibit 10.1

, as a Lender and L/C Issuer

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY , as a Lender

By: /s/ Brandon C. Rolek
Name: Brandon C. Rolek
Title: Senior Vice President

MEGA INTERNATIONAL COMMERCIAL BANK CO., LTD. NEW YO RK

BRANCH , as a Lender

By: /s/ Luke Hwang
Name: Luke Hwang
Title: VP & DGM
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Exhibit 10.3
FIRST AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated af April 10, 2012 (this “ Amendmer), amends th
Credit Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2011 ‘(tGeedit Agreement’) among Portland General Electric Company (the *
Borrower "), the financial institutions from time to time padi¢hereto as lenders (collectively, together whbirt respectiv
successors and assigns, the “ Lendeed Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agfor the Lenders (in such capacity, the “
Agent”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defiherein have the meanings assigned to such terthe iCredit Agreement.

WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend thdiCAgreement as provided herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows

SECTION 1 Amendments Subject to the conditions precedent set fortBection 3, the Credit Agreement is amende
set forth below:

1.1  Amendment to Section 6.10(xiii) Section 6.10(xiii) of the Credit Agreement is arded in its entirety to read
follows:

(xiii)  Liens on or over specific assets hereafter acquit@dh are created or assumed contemporaneoudty e
within 120 days after, such acquisition, for thdespurpose of financing or refinancing the acqgigsitof such asse
(including without limitation Liens to secure okdigons to make deferred payments, eauhpayments or royalty payme
where such obligations are incurred in connectidh the acquisition of such assets);

1.2 Amendment to Section 6.10(xvi)Section 6.10(xvi) of the Credit Agreement is agehin its entirety to read
follows:

(xvi)  Liens, in addition to those listed in clauses Kijough (xv) above, incurred in the ordinary coun$ehe
Borrower's business on collateral with a marketigahat in the aggregate does not exceed $20,0R0,00

SECTION 2 Representations and Warranties; No Conflicts

2.1 Representations and Warranties of all Parti€ach party hereto represents and warrants that (es taken &
necessary action to authorize the execution, dgliemd performance of this Amendment, (b) this Adment has been dt
executed and delivered by such Person and comstifiutch Person's legal, valid and binding obligatemforceable in accordar
with its terms, except as such enforceability mayshbject to (i) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorgatiorg fraudulent conveyance
transfer, moratorium or similar laws affecting dtecs' rights generally and (ii) general principleisequity (regardless of whetl
such enforceability is considered in a proceedingw or in equity) and (c) no consent, approvatharization or order of, or filin
registration or qualification with, any court orvgsnmental authority or third party is requireddonnection with the executic
delivery or performance by such Person of this Admeent.

2.2 Representations and Warranties of Borrowdihe Borrower represents and warrants to the Lentteat (a) th
representations and warranties of the Borrowefaostt in Article V of the Credit Agreement (othdrain_Section 5.10f the Credi
Agreement) are true and correct in all materigbeets as of the date hereof, unless they spedyficter to an earlier date and (b)
event has occurred and is continuing which corteta Default or an Unmatured Default.

2.3 No Conflicts. Neither the execution and delivery of this Amedin nor the consummation of the transac
contemplated herein, nor performance of and comgdiavith the terms and provisions hereof by the




Borrower will (a) violate, contravene or conflicitivany provision of its respective articles ortifiate of incorporation, bylaws
other organizational or governing document or (b)ate, contravene or conflict with any law, rutegulation, order, writ, judgme!
injunction, decree, material contract or permitleable to the Borrower.

SECTION 3 Effective Date. This Amendment shall become effective as of thée dhat the Agent has recer
counterparts of this Amendment duly executed byBiheower and the Required Lenders.

SECTION 4 Miscellaneous

4.1 Continuing EffectivenessAs hereby amended, the Credit Agreement shalhirein full force and effect and is here
ratified and confirmed in all respects. After tHteetiveness hereof, all references in the Credjte&ment or other Loan Docume
to the “Agreement”, the “Credit Agreement” or siariterms shall refer to the Credit Agreement asrai®e hereby.

4.2 Counterparts This Amendment may be executed in any numbeowohierparts and by the different parties on seg
counterparts, and each such counterpart shall &melk to be an original but all such counterparél sbgether constitute one
the same Amendment. A counterpart hereof, or aatige page hereto, delivered to the Agent by fatsior electronic mail (i
a .pdf or similar file) shall be effective as deliy of a manually-signed counterpart hereof.

4.3 Expenses The Borrower agrees to pay all reasonable costsapenses of the Agent, including reasonable dae
charges of special counsel to the Agent, in conmreetith the preparation, execution and deliveryhoé Amendment.

4.4  Governing Law. This Amendment shall be construed in accordarite and governed by the internal laws (witk
regard to the conflict of laws provisions) of th@at® of New York.

4.5 Successors and Assign3his Amendment shall be binding upon the Borrqwtlee Lenders and the Agent and t
respective successors and assigns, and shall touttee benefit of the Borrower, the Lenders and Algent and the respecti
successors and assigns of the Lenders and the.Agent

[Signature Pages Follow]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exetthiss Amendment as of the date first above written

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY

By: /s/ Maria Pope

Name:_Maria Pope
Title: SVP Finance, CFO and Treasurer

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Administrative Agent

By: /s/ Dora A. Brown
Name:_ Dora A. Brown
Title: Vice President

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as a Lender

By: /s/ Daryl K. Hogge
Name: Daryl K. Hogge
Title: SVP

BARCLAYS BANK PLC, as a Lender

By: /s/ May Huang

Name:_May Huang
Title: Vice President

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender

By: /s/ Holland H. Williams
Name: Holland H. Williams
Title: AVP_& Portfolio Mar.

DEUTSCHE BANK AG NEW YORK BRANCH, as a Lender

By: /s/ Philippe Sandmeier
Name:_Philippe Sandmeier
Title: Managing Director

By: /s/ Ming K. Chu

Name:_Ming K. Chu
Title: Vice President




JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as a Lender

By: /s/ John E. Zur Il
Name: John E. Zur Il
Title: Authorized Officer

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY, as a Lender

By: /s/ Brandon Rolek
Name: Brandon Rolek
Title: Vice President

ASSOCIATED BANK, N.A., as a Lender

By: /s/ Kristin A. Isleib
Name: Kristin A. Isleib
Title: Senior Vice President

COBANK, ACB, as a Lender

By: /s/ Josh Batchelder
Name:_Josh Batchelder
Title: Vice President

BANK OF THE WEST, as a Lender

By: /s/ Brett German
Name: Brett German
Title: Vice President

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender

By: /s/ Yann Blindert
Name:_Yann Blindert
Title: Director




Exhibit 10.4

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated af October 31, 2012 (this_* Amendment amend
the Credit Agreement, dated as of December 8, ZOEL" Credit Agreement) among Portland General Electric Company (the *
Borrower "), the financial institutions from time to time padi¢hereto as lenders (collectively, together whkirt respectiv
successors and assigns, the “ Lendeend Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agor the Lenders (in such capacity, the “
Agent”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defiherein have the meanings assigned to such terthe iCredit Agreement.

WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend thdiCAgreement as provided herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows

SECTION 1 Amendments Subject to the conditions precedent set fortBeation 3, the Credit Agreement is amende
set forth below:

1.1 Amendment to Section 2.18 Section 2.18 of the Credit Agreement is amendeéts$ ientirety to read as follows:

2.18 Extension of Final Termination Datéfhe Borrower may, up to two times during the tefithis Agreemen
request a ongear extension of each Lender's Scheduled Terromdiate by submitting a request for an extensioth¢
Agent (an “_Extension Requegtno more than ninety (90) days, but not less thety $60) days, prior to any anniversary
the Effective Date commencing with the first anmsagy thereof (the “ Extension Datg Any Extension Request sh
specify the date (which must be at least thirty) @ys after the Extension Request is deliveratidoAgent but no later th
thirty (30) days prior to the Extension Date) asvbich the Lenders must respond to such ExtensemuBst (the Respons
Date”). Promptly upon receipt of an Extension Request,Agent shall notify each Lender of the contents ébérEacl
Lender shall, not later than the Response DatarfgrExtension Request, deliver a written responsked Agent approving
rejecting such Extension Request (and any Lendgrfélils to deliver such a response by the RespbDase shall be deem
to have rejected such Extension Request). If (jdegs that collectively have a Pro Rata Share atrtitan 50% approve
Extension Request (which approval shall be at the discretion of each Lender) and (ii) all of thggregate Outstandil
Credit Exposure shall have been paid in full onExéension Date, then the theffective Final Termination Date, and
Scheduled Termination Date for each such approkenger, shall be extended to the date that is @ae sfter the then-
effective Final Termination Date or, if such dasent a Business Day, to the next preceding Busibegy (but the then-
effective Scheduled Termination Date for each otl@rder shall remain unchanged). The Agent shalinptly (and in an
event not later than twenfive (25) days prior to the Extension Date for eatlthe Lenders) notify the Borrower, in writil
of the Lenders' elections pursuant to this Sec?id®8 . If Lenders that collectively have a Pro Rata 8hafr 50% or mor
reject an Extension Request, then the Final TertioimeDate, and the Scheduled Termination Date chdaender, she
remain unchanged. The Borrower may elect to repdagedeclining Lender under this Section 2pl8suant to the terms
Section 2.17. Prior to the effectiveness of any Extension Retueder this Section 2.18the Agent shall have recei
evidence, in form and substance reasonably satsfato the Agent, that the Borrower has obtainkes approval of tt
Public Utility Commission of Oregon in connectiofittwsuch Extension Request.

1.2 Amendment to Section 6.10(xvi)Section 6.10(xvi) of the Credit Agreement is adeghin its entirety to read
follows:

(xvi)  Liens, in addition to those listed in clauses [idough (xv) above, incurred in the ordinary coun$ehe
Borrower's business on collateral with a marketigahat in the aggregate does not exceed $50,0R0,00




SECTION 2 Representations and Warranties; No Conflicts

2.1 Representations and Warranties of all Parti&ach party hereto represents and warrants that (es taken &
necessary action to authorize the execution, dgliemd performance of this Amendment, (b) this Adment has been dt
executed and delivered by such Person and comstifitch Person's legal, valid and binding obligatemforceable in accordar
with its terms, except as such enforceability mayshbject to (i) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorgatiorg fraudulent conveyance
transfer, moratorium or similar laws affecting dteds' rights generally and (ii) general principlelsequity (regardless of whetl
such enforceability is considered in a proceedirigw or in equity) and (c) no consent, approvatharization or order of, or filin
registration or qualification with, any court orvgomnmental authority or third party is requiredcionnection with the execution
delivery by such Person of this Amendment.

2.2 Representations and Warranties of Borrowdihe Borrower represents and warrants to the Lentteat (a) th
representations and warranties of the Borrowefaost#t in Article V of the Credit Agreement (othdrain_Section 5.10f the Credi
Agreement) are true and correct in all materigbeets as of the date hereof, unless they spedyfictkr to an earlier date and (b)
event has occurred and is continuing which corteta Default or an Unmatured Default.

2.3 No Conflicts. Neither the execution and delivery of this Amemdin nor the consummation of the transac
contemplated herein, nor performance of and compdiawith the terms and provisions hereof by ther®meer will (a) violate
contravene or conflict with any provision of itsspective articles or certificate of incorporatidaylaws or other organizational
governing document or (b) violate, contravene arflicd with any law, rule, regulation, order, wrjydgment, injunction, decre
material contract or permit applicable to the Bareo.

SECTION 3 Effective Date. This Amendment shall become effective as of tae dhat the Agent shall have recei
counterparts of this Amendment duly executed byBtheower and the Required Lenders.

SECTION 4 Miscellaneous

4.1 Continuing EffectivenessAs hereby amended, the Credit Agreement shaldireim full force and effect and is here
ratified and confirmed in all respects. After thHteetiveness hereof, all references in the Credite®ment or other Loan Docume
to the “Agreement”, the “Credit Agreementr similar terms shall refer to the Credit Agreetmas amended hereby. T
Amendment is a Loan Document.

4.2 Counterparts This Amendment may be executed in any numbeowohierparts and by the different parties on seg
counterparts, and each such counterpart shall &meld to be an original but all such counterparédl sbgether constitute one
the same Amendment. A counterpart hereof, or aatige page hereto, delivered to the Agent by fatsior electronic mail (i
a .pdf or similar file) shall be effective as deliy of a manually-signed counterpart hereof.

4.3 Expenses The Borrower agrees to pay all reasonable costsapenses of the Agent, including reasonable dae
charges of special counsel to the Agent, in conmreetith the preparation, execution and deliveryhoé Amendment.

4.4  Governing Law. This Amendment shall be construed in accordarite and governed by the internal laws (witk
regard to the conflict of laws provisions) of th@ats of New York.

4.5 Successors and Assign3his Amendment shall be binding upon the Borrqwtlee Lenders and the Agent and t
respective successors and assigns, and shall touttee benefit of the Borrower, the Lenders and Algent and the respecti
successors and assigns of the Lenders and the.Agent

[Signature Pages Follow]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exetthiss Amendment as of the date first above written

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY

By: /s/ Maria M. Pope
Name: Maria M. Pope
Title: SVP, CFO and Treasurer

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Administrative Agent

By: /s/ Dora A. Brown
Name:_ Dora A. Brown
Title: Vice President

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as a Lender

By: /s/ Daryl K. Hogge
Name: Daryl K. Hogge
Title: Senior Vice President

BARCLAYS BANK PLC, as a Lender

By: /s/ May Huang

Name:_May Huang
Title: Assistant Vice President

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender

By: /s/ John M. Eyerman
Name:; John M. Eyerman
Title: Vice President

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as a Lender

By: /s/ John E. Zur Il
Name: John E. Zur lll
Title: Authorized Officer

THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA, as a Lender

By: /s/ Thane Rattew
Name: Thane Rattew
Title: Managing Director




THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY, as a Lender

By: /s/ Brandon C. Rolek
Name: Brandon C. Rolek
Title: Senior Vice President

ASSOCIATED BANK, N.A., as a Lender

By: /s/ Yolanda Meza
Name:_Yolanda Meza
Title: Vice President

COBANK, ACB, as a Lender

By: /s/ Josh Batchelder
Name: Josh Batchelder
Title: Vice President

MEGA INTERNATIONAL COMMERCIAL BANK CO., LTD.
NEW YORK BRANCH, as a Lender

By: /s/ Luke Hwang

Name:_Luke Hwang
Title: VP & DGM

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender

By: /s/ Yann Blindert
Name:_Yann Blindert
Title: Director




Exhibit 10.5
THIRD AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated ag January 7, 2013 (this_* Amendmeit amends th
Credit Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2011 “(t8eedit Agreement’) among Portland General Electric Company (the *
Borrower "), the financial institutions from time to time padi¢hereto as lenders (collectively, together whkirt respectiv
successors and assigns, the “ Lendeend Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agor the Lenders (in such capacity, the “
Agent”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defiherein have the meanings assigned to such terthe iCredit Agreement.

WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend thdiCAgreement as provided herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows

SECTION 1 Amendments Subject to the conditions precedent set fortBeation 3, the Credit Agreement is amende
set forth below:

1.1 Amendment to Article | The definition of “L/C Issuerin Article | of the Credit Agreement is amendedtgentirety
to read as follows:

" L/C Issuer" means, with respect to a particular Letter ofdiire(a) Bank of America or U.S. Bank, Natio
Association in its capacity as issuer of such letteCredit, (b) any other Lender that agrees guésLetters of Crec
hereunder, in each case, in its capacity as aerisdusuch Letter of Credit hereunder and/or (¢) aaccessor issuer
Letters of Credit hereunder. The term "L/C Issweinen used with respect to a Letter of Credit orltt& Obligations relatin
to a Letter of Credit shall refer to the L/C Isstleat issued such Letter of Credit.

1.2 Amendment to Article | The definition of “L/C Commitmentin Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is he
deleted in its entirety.

1.3 Amendment to Section 2.19(a)(i)Section 2.19(a)(i) of the Credit Agreement is adexl in its entirety to read
follows:

(i) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth nei@) each L/C Issuer agrees, in reliance uporatreemen
of the Lenders set forth in this Section 2,19) from time to time on any Business Day duriihg period from the Effecti
Date until the Letter of Credit Expiration Date,issue Letters of Credit in U.S. dollars for the@mt of the Borrower or a
of its Subsidiaries, and to amend or extend LetiéGredit previously issued by it, in accordandehvgubsection (b) belo
and (2) to honor drawings under the Letters of ©read (B) the Lenders severally agree to parsi@pn Letters of Crec
issued for the account of the Borrower or its Sdibsies and any drawings thereunder; provitied after giving effect to ai
L/C Credit Extension with respect to any LetterGredit, (w) the Aggregate Outstanding Credit Expesshall not excet
the Aggregate Commitments, (x) the aggregate mdstg amount of the Loans of any Lender, dush Lender's Pro R
Share of the outstanding amount of all L/C Obligasi, shall not exceed such Lender's Commitment@nithe outstandir
amount of the L/C Obligations shall not exceedLltbier of Credit Sublimit. Each request by the Barer for the issuance
amendment of a Letter of Credit shall be deemeblet@ representation by the Borrower that the L/€dErExtension <
requested complies with the conditions set fortlthia proviso to the preceding sentence. Withinftnegoing limits, an
subject to the terms and conditions hereof, theed®aer's ability to obtain Letters of Credit sha# kully revolving, an
accordingly the Borrower may, during the foregopeyiod, obtain Letters of Credit to replace Lettef<Credit that hav
expired or that have been drawn upon and reimbursed

1.4 Existing Letters of Credit. Effective asMbvember 14, 2012, the Letters of Credit listedSmiedule 2.20 attach
hereto shall be deemed to have been issued pursuidnet Credit Agreement, and from and after Novemb




14, 2012, shall be subject to and governed byeaimed and conditions of the Credit Agreement.

SECTION 2 Representations and Warranties; No Conflicts

2.1 Representations and Warranties of all Parti&ach party hereto represents and warrants that (es taken &
necessary action to authorize the execution, dgliamd performance of this Amendment, (b) this Adment has been dt
executed and delivered by such Person and comstifitch Person's legal, valid and binding obligatemforceable in accordar
with its terms, except as such enforceability mayshbject to (i) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorgatiorg fraudulent conveyance
transfer, moratorium or similar laws affecting dteds' rights generally and (ii) general principlelsequity (regardless of whetl
such enforceability is considered in a proceedirigw or in equity) and (c) no consent, approvatharization or order of, or filin
registration or qualification with, any court orvgomnmental authority or third party is requiredcionnection with the execution
delivery by such Person of this Amendment.

2.2 Representations and Warranties of Borrowdihe Borrower represents and warrants to the Lentteat (a) th
representations and warranties of the Borrowefas#t in Article V of the Credit Agreement (othdrain_Section 5.10f the Credi
Agreement) are true and correct in all materigbeets as of the date hereof, unless they spedyfictker to an earlier date and (b)
event has occurred and is continuing which corteta Default or an Unmatured Default.

2.3 No Conflicts. Neither the execution and delivery of this Amemdin nor the consummation of the transac
contemplated herein, nor performance of and compdiawith the terms and provisions hereof by ther®meer will (a) violate
contravene or conflict with any provision of itsspective articles or certificate of incorporatidaylaws or other organizational
governing document or (b) violate, contravene arflicd with any law, rule, regulation, order, wrjydgment, injunction, decre
material contract or permit applicable to the Bareo.

SECTION 3 Effective Date. This Amendment shall become effective as of tae dhat the Agent shall have recei
counterparts of this Amendment duly executed byBheower and the Required Lenders.

SECTION 4 Miscellaneous

4.1 Continuing EffectivenessAs hereby amended, the Credit Agreement shaldireim full force and effect and is here
ratified and confirmed in all respects. After thHteetiveness hereof, all references in the Credite®ment or other Loan Docume
to the “Agreement”, the “Credit Agreementr similar terms shall refer to the Credit Agreetmas amended hereby. T
Amendment is a Loan Document.

4.2 Counterparts This Amendment may be executed in any numbeoofterparts and by the different parties on seg
counterparts, and each such counterpart shall &meld to be an original but all such counterparédl sbgether constitute one
the same Amendment. A counterpart hereof, or aatige page hereto, delivered to the Agent by fatsior electronic mail (i
a .pdf or similar file) shall be effective as deliy of a manually-signed counterpart hereof.

4.3 Expenses The Borrower agrees to pay all reasonable costsapenses of the Agent, including reasonable dae
charges of special counsel to the Agent, in conmreetith the preparation, execution and deliveryhoé Amendment.

4.4  Governing Law. This Amendment shall be construed in accordarite and governed by the internal laws (witk
regard to the conflict of laws provisions) of th@at® of New York.

4.5 Successors and Assign3his Amendment shall be binding upon the Borrqwtlee Lenders and the Agent and t
respective successors and assigns, and shall touttee benefit of the Borrower, the Lenders and Algent and the respecti
successors and assigns of the Lenders and the.Agent

[Signature Pages Follow]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exetthiss Amendment as of the date first above written

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY

By: /s/ Maria M. Pope
Name: Maria M. Pope
Title: SVP, CFO and Treasurer

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Administrative Agent

By: /s/ Dora A. Brown
Name:_ Dora A. Brown
Title: Vice President

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as a Lender

By: /s/ Daryl K. Hogge
Name: Daryl K. Hogge
Title: Senior Vice President

BARCLAYS BANK PLC, as a Lender

By: /s/ May Huang

Name:_May Huang
Title: Assistant Vice President

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender

By: /s/ Holland H. Williams
Name: Holland H. Williams
Title: AVP_& Portfolio Mar.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as a Lender

By: /s/ John E. Zur Il
Name: John E. Zur lll
Title: Authorized Officer

THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA, as a Lender

By: /s/ Thane Rattew
Name: Thane Rattew
Title: Managing Director




THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY, as a Lender

By: /s/ Brandon C. Rolek
Name: Brandon C. Rolek
Title: Senior Vice President

ASSOCIATED BANK, N.A., as a Lender

By: /s/ Yolanda Meza
Name:_Yolanda Meza
Title: Vice President

FIRST COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., LOS ANGELES
BRANCH, as a Lender

By: /s/ Jenn Hwa Wang
Name:_ Jenn Hwa Wang
Title: VP _& General Manager

COBANK, ACB, as a Lender

By: /s/ Josh Batchelder
Name:_Josh Batchelder
Title: Vice President

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a
Lender

By: /s/ Yann Blindert
Name:_Yann Blindert
Title: Director




PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY

COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

Income from continuing operations before incomesax
Total fixed charges
Total earnings

Fixed charges:
Interest expense
Capitalized interest
Interest on certain long-term power contracts
Estimated interest factor in rental expense
Total fixed charges

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

(Dollars in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

EXHIBIT 12.1

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
$ 205,40t $ 204,71 178,15¢ 131,63t $ 121,82
122,85: 126,76t 131,48t 129,94 111,58¢
$ 32825 $ 331,48 309,64 261,58: $ 233,41
$ 107,990 $ 11041 110,24( 103,38¢ $ 90,257
3,69¢ 3,05¢ 9,097 11,81¢ 6,18¢
6,64 8,76¢ 8,06¢ 10,03¢ 10,01(
4,51 4,53( 4,081 4,70¢% 5,13¢
$ 122,850 $ 126,76t 131,48t 129,94t $ 111,58¢
2.67 2.61 2.3¢ 2.01 2.0¢




EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference ini®egion Statement No. 333-170686 on For® &d Registration Statement N
333-135726, 333-142694, and 333-158059 on Fornofe8r report dated February 21, 2013 , relatintheoconsolidated financial
statements of Portland General Electric Companysaibgidiaries, and the effectiveness of Portlande@d Electric Company’s

internal control over financial reporting, appegrin this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Portlandn@eal Electric Company for the
year ended December 31, 2012 .

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Portland, Oregon
February 21, 2013



EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, James J. Piro, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKLOf Portland General Electric Compa

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does natatomny untrue statement of a material fact ot émstate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in lighedafircumstances under which such statementswade, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods

presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danare responsible for establishing and maintgimiisclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a}Hhd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)1L&gr the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgdor caused such disclosure controls and proesdioitbe designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiakrinédion relating to the registrant, including itheolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is

being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeressurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and th
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguorinciples;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presentbib report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discéosantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by

this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsainternal control over financial reporting thatooed during th:
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evailly affect, the registrant’s internal contreler financial

reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dahhave disclosed, based on our most recent ei@tuaf internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’'s auditor&lahe audit committee of the registrant’s boardicdctors (or persons

performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material waakses in the design or operation of internal cbntrer financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversdfgct the registrant’s ability to record, procesanmarize and
report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a signifioéanin the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 21, 2013 /sl JAMES J. PIRO
James J. Piro

President and
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Maria M. Pope, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKLOf Portland General Electric Compa

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does natatomny untrue statement of a material fact ot émstate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in lighedafircumstances under which such statementswade, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods

presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danare responsible for establishing and maintgimiisclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a}Hhd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)1L&gr the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgdor caused such disclosure controls and proesdioitbe designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiakrinédion relating to the registrant, including itheolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is

being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeressurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and th
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguorinciples;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presentbib report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discéosantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by

this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsainternal control over financial reporting thatooed during th:
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evailly affect, the registrant’s internal contreler financial

reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dahhave disclosed, based on our most recent ei@tuaf internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’'s auditor&lahe audit committee of the registrant’s boardicdctors (or persons

performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material waakses in the design or operation of internal cbntrer financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversdfgct the registrant’s ability to record, procesanmarize and
report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a signifioéanin the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 21, 2013 /sl MARIA M. POPE
Maria M. Pope

Senior Vice President, Finance, Chief
Financial Officer, and Treasurer




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

We, James J. Piro, President and Chief Executifieddfand Maria M. Pope, Senior Vice Presidentghice, Chief Financial
Officer, and Treasurer, of Portland General Eledompany (the “Company”), hereby certify that @@mpany’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 201 Zilaeabwith the Securities and Exchange Commissior-ebruary 22, 2013
pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchakg of 1934 (the “Report”), fully complies witheé requirements of that section.

We further certify that the information containedtihe Report fairly presents, in all material redpgthe financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

/sl JAMES J. PIRO /sl MARIA M. POPE

James J. Piro Maria M. Pope
President and
Chief Executive Officer

Senior Vice President, Finance, Chief
Financial Officer, and Treasurer

Date: February 21, 2013 Date: February 21, 2013




